H CHGH CO

# **MOLECULAR DIAGNOSTICS** IN THE DETECTION OF **NEURODEGENERATIVE** DISORDERS

OH

н-с-он H-C-OH

EDITED BY: Megha Agrawal and William C. Cho **PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences and Frontiers in Neurology** and Frontiers in Neuroscience



CH.CH.CH.CH

DH

frontiers Research Topics



#### Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2017 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88945-194-4 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-194-4

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

## What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org** 

## MOLECULAR DIAGNOSTICS IN THE DETECTION OF NEURODEGENERATIVE DISORDERS

Topic Editors: **Megha Agrawal,** University of Illinois at Chicago, USA **William C. Cho,** Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Hong Kong



Molecular Diagnostics in the Detection of Neurodegenerative Disorders. Image by Megha Agrawal

Neurodegeneration is characterized by the progressive loss of neural tissue that result in various neurodegeneration-initiated cerebral failures and complex diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease. All these medical conditions are accompanied by the disruption of blood-brain barrier (BBB). The BBB is an interface, separating the brain from the circulatory system and protecting the central nervous system from potentially harmful chemicals

while regulating transport of essential molecules and maintaining a stable environment. Owing to the inability of the neurons to regenerate on their own after neurodegeneration or severe damage to the neural tissue, neurodegenerative disorders do not have natural cures on their own. Neuroregeneration is a viable way to curb neurodegeneration. One of the current approaches is stem cell-based therapy that has been shown to be potentially helpful for the application of neuronal cell replacement for neuroregeneration.

It is vital that the neurodegenerative disorder being detected at an early stage as it can provide a chance for treatment that may be helpful to prevent further progression of the fatal disease. Thus, research has focused on developing effective non-invasive diagnostic methods for early detection of these disorders. Molecular diagnostics can provide a powerful method to detect and diagnose various neurological disorders. Such diagnosis can enhance early detection, provide subsequent medical counsel based on medical pathway, as well as to gain better insight of neurogenesis and hopefully eventual cure of the neurodegenerative diseases.

With research reports, reviews, mini-reviews and commentary, this research topic covers a wide range of areas in neurodegeneration research, including diagnosis and prognosis; regulating central nervous system; biomarkers and brain injury induced neurobehavioral outcomes among other timely reports on neurodegeneration.

**Citation:** Agrawal, M., Cho, W. C., eds. (2017). Molecular Diagnostics in the Detection of Neurodegenerative Disorders. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-194-4

# Table of Contents

- **05** Editorial: Molecular Diagnostics in the Detection of Neurodegenerative Disorders Megha Agrawal and William C. Cho
- **07** *Age-Dependent Effects of Haptoglobin Deletion in Neurobehavioral and Anatomical Outcomes Following Traumatic Brain Injury* Alexander V. Glushakov, Rodrigo A. Arias, Emanuela Tolosano and Sylvain Doré
- 24 Potential Roles of Adropin in Central Nervous System: Review of Current Literature Shima Shahjouei, Saeed Ansari, Tayebeh Pourmotabbed and Ramin Zand
- 32 Advances in Stem Cell Research- A Ray of Hope in Better Diagnosis and Prognosis in Neurodegenerative Diseases

Shripriya Singh, Akriti Srivastava, Pranay Srivastava, Yogesh K. Dhuriya, Ankita Pandey, Dipak Kumar and Chetan S. Rajpurohit

45 Commentary: The C9orf72 Repeat Expansion Disrupts Nucleocytoplasmic Transport

Tudor Munteanu and Tim Lynch

- **47** *Copy Number Variations in the* Survival Motor Neuron *Genes: Implications for Spinal Muscular Atrophy and Other Neurodegenerative Diseases* Matthew E. R. Butchbach
- 57 Elevated Neuronal Excitability Due to Modulation of the Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel Nav1.6 by Aβ<sub>1-42</sub>
  Xi Wang, Xiao-Gang Zhang, Ting-Ting Zhou, Na Li, Chun-Yan Jang, Zhi-Cheng Xiao,
- Quan-Hong Ma and Shao Li *Proteomic and epigenomic markers of sepsis-induced delirium (SID)*Adonis Sfera, Amy I. Price, Roberto Gradini, Michael Cummings and Carolina Osorio
- 72 Dehydration and Cognition in Geriatrics: A Hydromolecular Hypothesis Adonis Sfera, Michael Cummings and Carolina Osorio
- 79 Corpora Amylacea of Brain Tissue from Neurodegenerative Diseases Are Stained with Specific Antifungal Antibodies

Diana Pisa, Ruth Alonso, Alberto Rábano and Luis Carrasco





## **Editorial: Molecular Diagnostics in the Detection of Neurodegenerative Disorders**

#### Megha Agrawal<sup>1\*</sup> and William C. Cho<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Bioengineering, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, IL, USA, <sup>2</sup> Department of Clinical Oncology, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, biomarkers, neurons, Parkinson's disease, stem cells

#### **Editorial on the Research Topic**

#### Molecular Diagnostics in the Detection of Neurodegenerative Disorders

Neurodegenerative disorders encompass a range of medical conditions which primarily affect the neurons in the human brains. Such conditions result in the disorders of the central nervous system which eventually lead to the progressive loss of neural tissues including death of neurons (Agrawal and Biswas, 2015). An impressive volume of research has been conducted over the last few decades to advance our understanding of this fatal disease. The challenge to treat neurodegenerative disorders lies in the inability of the neurons to regenerate on their own once they start functioning abnormally after the neural deterioration or once a severe damage occurs to a neural tissue. However, stem cell therapy has been proven to be potentially useful in neuroregeneration or even neuronal cell replacement (Chung et al., 2002; Rachakonda et al., 2004). One of the most important missions of diagnosis and prognosis of neurodegeneration is the ability of early detection of the onset of neurodegeneration. An early diagnosis of the disease is critical as it provides a chance for an early treatment that may be helpful to prevent further progression of the deadly neurodegeneration and its aftermaths that takes millions of lives every year globally (Miller and O'Callaghan, 2015).

With an aim to provide a discussion platform to neurologists, neuroscientists and pathologists for sharing the latest findings and knowledge on neurodegeneration and the molecular diagnostics to detect and combat neurodegeneration, we have launched this special research topic on molecular diagnostics in the detection of neurodegenerative disorders. We anticipate that molecular diagnostics will play an imperative role in near future for providing an effective diagnostic solution to the complex problem of neurodegenerative diseases. Based on the available research data, we firmly believe that molecular diagnostics can be effective to detect and diagnose various neurological diseases such as Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Huntington's, Alzheimer's, and Parkinson's disease, at an early stage (Gasser et al., 2001a,b, 2003; Agrawal and Biswas, 2015). Molecular diagnostics in neurodegenerative disorder is an emergent area of study, research and development. It represents a multidisciplinary research field that offers plenty of opportunities for collaboration between neurologists, psychologists, biologist and biomaterials scientists and other trained personnel with the necessary experience in managing the diseases. We expect that further developments in various molecular diagnostics will pave the way for the early detection of neurodegeneration and effective treatment.

This e-book showcases important and significant reports that cover a wide range of areas in neurodegeneration research and treatment. These include diagnosis and prognosis; role of neuroactive drugs in regulating central nervous system; advances in novel biomarkers; brain injury induced neurobehavioral outcomes and also connectivity between spinal muscular atrophy and loss of  $\alpha$ -motors neurons among other reports. One of the reports investigates the origin and

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Sanjeev Kumar Srivastava, Mitchell Cancer Institute, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Sanjeev Kumar Srivastava, Mitchell Cancer Institute, USA Rajeev Kumar, Affiliated Hospital of Guizhou Medical University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Megha Agrawal meghaagra@gmail.com; agrawalm@uic.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Diagnostics and Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences

Received: 23 January 2017 Accepted: 14 February 2017 Published: 02 March 2017

#### Citation:

Agrawal M and Cho WC (2017) Editorial: Molecular Diagnostics in the Detection of Neurodegenerative Disorders. Front. Mol. Biosci. 4:10. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2017.00010

potential function of corpora amylacea (CA) which are found in large numbers in the central nervous system of the patients with neurodegenerative diseases. Immunohistochemistry analyses were employed to reveal fungal proteins present in CA from patients diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease (Pisa et al.). An insight into the prospective roles of haptoglobin (Hp) (an endogenous hemoglobin-binding protein) in traumatic brain injury and other acute brain injuries is discussed in another report which portrays to be helpful in understanding the inconsistency in outcomes of clinical studies regarding the importance of Hp phenotypes in such brain injuries (Glushakov et al.). This study is a step forward to develop and progress with new therapeutics in the prevention of cerebral hemorrhage which is a common feature of traumatic brain injury and its associated chronic disabilities (Glushakov et al.). Furthermore, important and significant biomarkers for neurodegeneration have been investigated and studied for their sensitivity and specificity in this e-book that sheds new lights in treatment of irreversible cognitive deficit and dementia in elderly population. Biomarkers represent important molecular diagnostic tools and thus the development of novel biomarkers could bring significant breakthroughs in an early diagnosis of neurodegeneration (Sfera et al.).

In a particular review, the application of stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells in combating neurodegeneration is discussed that addresses the issues of diagnosis, modeling, and therapeutic transplantation strategies (Singh et al.). In another review, adropin is discussed as a biomarker for the diagnosis of central nervous system disorders and is considered as a potential therapeutic candidate in central nervous system injuries (Shahjouei et al.). It is believed that hyper excitability in neuronal network possibly contributes to the cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's disease and this is addressed in a research report that sheds light on the mechanism of aberrant neuronal networks in Alzheimer's disease (Wang et al.). To this end, researchers conducted investigations on the excitability in

#### REFERENCES

- Agrawal, M., and Biswas, A. (2015). Molecular diagnostics of neurodegenerative disorders. *Front. Mol. Biosci.* 2:54. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2015. 00054
- Chung, S., Sonntag, K. C., Andersson, T., Bjorklund, L. M., Park, J. J., Kim, D. W., et al. (2002). Genetic engineering of mouse embryonic stem cells by Nurr1 enhances differentiation and maturation into dopaminergic neurons. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 16, 1829–1838. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.2002.02255.x
- Gasser, T., Bressman, S., Durr, A., Higgins, J., Klockgether, T., and Myers, R. H. (2003). State of the art review: molecular diagnosis of inherited movement disorders. Movement Disorders Society task force on molecular diagnosis. *Mov. Disord.* 18, 3–18. doi: 10.1002/mds.10338
- Gasser, T., Dichgans, M., Finsterer, J., Hausmanowa-Petrusewicz, I., Jurkat-Rott, K., Klopstock, T., et al. (2001a). EFNS Task Force on Molecular Diagnosis of Neurologic Disorders: guidelines for the molecular diagnosis of inherited neurologic diseases. First of two parts. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 8, 299–314. doi: 10.1046/j.1468-1331.2001.00226.x
- Gasser, T., Dichgans, M., Finsterer, J., Hausmanowa-Petrusewicz, I., Jurkat-Rott, K., Klopstock, T., et al. (2001b). EFNS Task Force on Molecular

cultured pyramidal neurons from APP/PS1 mice using patch clamp recording techniques. This provides an important insight into the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease that could be helpful in developing new therapeutic avenues in the future (Wang et al.). This e-book covers another area of neurodegeneration: spinal muscular atrophy, which is an early-onset, autosomal recessive neurodegenerative disease that is characterized by the loss of spinal  $\alpha$ -motor neurons leading to infant deaths (Butchbach). The author highlights why a better understanding of the underlying mechanism causing spinal muscular atrophy and the accurate measurements thereof are crucial to control such neurodegenerative disease in infants (Butchbach). The molecular mechanisms of C9orf72 gene causing amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, frontotemporal dementias and atypical parkinsonian syndromes are also discussed (Munteanu and Lynch).

In concluding our thoughts and deliberations, we do hope that this discussion forum in the form of an edited e-book will advance our further understanding to have an enhanced insight of neurogenesis and eventual cure for neurodegenerative diseases. Future research directions might involve multifunctional biomolecular diagnostic markers and technology platforms that would significantly enhance and augment the accuracy, specificity and sensitivity that would drive an early diagnosis and prognosis of various neurodegenerative disorders.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Both authors have made substantial intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are thankful to the contributors to this Research Topic as well as the Editorial support of the Journal.

Diagnosis of Neurologic Disorders: guidelines for the molecular diagnosis of inherited neurologic diseases. Second of two parts. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 8, 407–424. doi: 10.1046/j.1468-1331.2001.00228.x

- Miller, D. B., and O'Callaghan, J. P. (2015). Biomarkers of Parkinson's disease: present and future. *Metabolism* 64(3 Suppl. 1), S40–S46. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol. 2014.10.030
- Rachakonda, V., Pan, T. H., and Le, W. D. (2004). Biomarkers of neurodegenerative disorders: how good are they? *Cell Res.* 14, 347–358. doi: 10.1038/sj.cr.7290235

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Agrawal and Cho. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Age-Dependent Effects of Haptoglobin Deletion in Neurobehavioral and Anatomical Outcomes Following Traumatic Brain Injury

#### Alexander V. Glushakov<sup>1\*</sup>, Rodrigo A. Arias<sup>1</sup>, Emanuela Tolosano<sup>2</sup> and Sylvain Doré<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, Center for Translational Research in Neurodegenerative Disease, University of Florida College of Medicine, Gainesville, FL, USA, <sup>2</sup> Departments of Molecular Biotechnology and Health Sciences, University of Torino, Torino, Italy, <sup>3</sup> Departments of Anesthesiology, Neurology, Psychiatry, Psychology, Pharmaceutics and Neuroscience, University of Florida College of Medicine, Gainesville, FL, USA

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

William Cho, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, China

#### Reviewed by:

Pedro José Carlos Rondot Radío, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina Anna Elizabeth King, University of Tasmania, Australia Vinita Ganesh Chittoor, Oregon Health & Science University, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Alexander V. Glushakov glushakov@bellsouth.net Sylvain Doré sdore@ufl.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Diagnostics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences

> **Received:** 01 April 2016 **Accepted:** 05 July 2016 **Published:** 19 July 2016

#### Citation:

Glushakov AV, Arias RA, Tolosano E and Doré S (2016) Age-Dependent Effects of Haptoglobin Deletion in Neurobehavioral and Anatomical Outcomes Following Traumatic Brain Injury. Front. Mol. Biosci. 3:34. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2016.00034 Cerebral hemorrhages are common features of traumatic brain injury (TBI) and their presence is associated with chronic disabilities. Recent clinical and experimental evidence suggests that haptoglobin (Hp), an endogenous hemoglobin-binding protein most abundant in blood plasma, is involved in the intrinsic molecular defensive mechanism, though its role in TBI is poorly understood. The aim of this study was to investigate the effects of Hp deletion on the anatomical and behavioral outcomes in the controlled cortical impact model using wildtype (WT) C57BL/6 mice and genetically modified mice lacking the Hp gene (Hp $^{-/-}$ ) in two age cohorts [2–4 mo-old (young adult) and 7-8 mo-old (older adult)]. The data obtained suggest age-dependent significant effects on behavioral and anatomical TBI outcomes and recovery from injury. Moreover, in the adult cohort, neurological deficits in  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice at 24 h were significantly improved compared to WT, whereas there were no significant differences in brain pathology between these genotypes. In contrast, in the older adult cohort,  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice had significantly larger lesion volumes compared to WT, but neurological deficits were not significantly different. Immunohistochemistry for ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1 (Iba1) and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) revealed significant differences in microglial and astrocytic reactivity between Hp<sup>-/-</sup> and WT in selected brain regions of the adult but not the older adult-aged cohort. In conclusion, the data obtained in the study provide clarification on the age-dependent aspects of the intrinsic defensive mechanisms involving Hp that might be involved in complex pathways differentially affecting acute brain trauma outcomes.

Keywords: controlled cortical impact, Iba1, GFAP, gliosis, hemoglobin, hemorrhage, trauma

## INTRODUCTION

Traumatic brain injury (TBI) is one of the major causes of morbidity and mortality in the United States and worldwide with no current effective treatment. It is widely recognized that chronic neurological and psychological disabilities following TBI largely result from potentially preventable or treatable secondary pathophysiological cascades, so-called

secondary injuries, initiated by the acute brain trauma. However, despite extensive research and promising results obtained in preclinical studies, numerous clinical trials failed primarily due to the heterogeneity and complexity of the TBI and mechanisms underlying acute vs. chronic anatomical pathologies and neurological deficits. Secondary injuries resulting from acute TBI, such as mechanical brain damage and intracranial hemorrhages, are triggered by complex coexisting pathways involving excitotoxicity, oxidative damage, and neuroinflammatory cascades (McIntosh et al., 1996; Diaz-Arrastia et al., 2000; Saatman et al., 2008). On the other hand, the presence of acute subarachnoid or, to a lesser degree, parenchymal hemorrhages following TBI is highly associated with brain-injury severity and chronic cognitive and physical disabilities; and it is believed that the mechanisms are mainly initiated by the toxicity of hemoglobin and its heme-containing breakdown products released into the brain tissues from erythrocytes during hemolysis of cerebral hematomas (Xi et al., 1998; Bhasin et al., 2002), causing oxidative damage to macromolecules such as lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids (Nakamura et al., 2005, 2006), as well as activation caspase proteolysis (Regan and Panter, 1993; Wang et al., 2002), resulting in disruption of the blood-brain barrier (Xi et al., 1998; Bhasin et al., 2002; Keep et al., 2008) and neuronal death (Koeppen et al., 1995; Aronowski and Hall, 2005; Xi et al., 2006).

One of the critical mechanisms involved in deactivation of cell-free hemoglobin in the mammalian body during the hemorrhagic event is formation of highly stable complexes of hemoglobin-binding protein present in blood plasma and almost absent within the brain itself (Wada et al., 1970; Philippidis et al., 2004; Schaer et al., 2006)—and subsequent clearance of the Hp-hemoglobin complexes primarily by tissue macrophages and circulating monocytes, and likely by other cell types such as astrocytes and microglial cells that are mediated via CD163 (Liu and Sturner, 1988; D'Armiento et al., 1997; Ascenzi et al., 2005; Schaer et al., 2005, 2007; Zhang et al., 2012). However, at this point, the contribution of Hp to acute brain injury is still not fully understood (D'Armiento et al., 1997).

The changes in Hp expression have been shown in various disorders and diseases associated with inflammation (Carter and Worwood, 2007). It is well recognized that under physiological conditions the plasma pool of Hp is relatively high and its levels further increase up to 10-fold in different types of injuries associated with hemorrhages as a part of the acute phase-2 response (Petersen et al., 2004). Early studies have shown that serum Hp concentrations are increased in patients with severe head injuries and that the serum Hp level could potentially be a predictive biomarker of the hemorrhagic brainlesion severity (Auer and Petek, 1978). In both physiological and pathophysiological conditions, Hp is synthesized mainly by hepatocytes and then released to the peripheral circulation (Bowman and Kurosky, 1982; Hoj et al., 1984; Yang et al., 2013). However, some studies suggest that Hp may have very limited expression within brain-cell types. The Hp mRNAs were found in the human retinal pigment epithelial cell line and post-mortem neural retina (Chen et al., 1998). Expression of Hp has also been demonstrated in human glioblastoma tissue but not in normal brain samples (Kumar et al., 2010). Few groups have documented that Hp is present within the brain of rodents following brain injuries (Lee et al., 2002; Zhao et al., 2009, 2011). Mouse studies from Dr. J. Aronowski and colleagues suggested that Hp is expressed and secreted by brain oligodendrocytes after experimental intracerebral hemorrhage and that brain-derived Hp plays a significant role in the protection of brain cells after injury (Zhao et al., 2009, 2011) in addition, a rat study by Dr. Kim and colleagues suggested Hp expression in the hippocampus following brain ischemia (Lee et al., 2002). Increased Hp immunoreactivity and upregulation of Hp mRNA in reactive astrocytes have been shown in an experimental ischemia model, suggesting de novo Hp synthesis in the brain (Lee et al., 2002). On the other hand, a human study of subarachnoid hemorrhage suggested an influx of Hp from peripheral circulation into cerebrospinal fluid, and that the intrathecal Hp-scavenging system could have limited capacity (Galea et al., 2012). Previously, Hp levels in cerebrospinal fluid have been proposed as a biomarker of blood-brain barrier disruption (Chamoun et al., 2001). It has also been demonstrated that, following TBI, the increase in brain Hp levels occurs due to extravasation of Hp, as well as other types of plasma proteins, into brain parenchyma resulting from the blood-brain barrier breakdown associated with intracranial hemorrhage and subsequent uptake of the plasma proteins by reactive astrocytes (Liu and Sturner, 1988).

Current interest is driven by recent studies suggesting that Hp phenotypes, primarily associated with different affinities to bind free hemoglobin and affinity of the hemoglobin-Hp complex to its receptors, may be associated with differential outcomes in subarachnoid hemorrhages (Chaichana et al., 2007, 2010; Leclerc et al., 2015) and that Hp may play an important role in the development of secondary injuries, particularly delayed arterial vasospasm and brain ischemia (Nonaka et al., 1979; Borsody et al., 2006). Of interest, post-traumatic cerebral vasospasm is a common complication of TBI, with incidences ranging from 2 to 63% mainly depending on the severity of injury and the method of diagnostics (Macpherson and Graham, 1978; Taneda et al., 1996; Mattioli et al., 2003). Although there is a strong association of cerebral vasospasm with traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage (Macpherson and Graham, 1978; Gomez et al., 1991; Steiger et al., 1994; Kordestani et al., 1997; Aminmansour et al., 2009), it is also common in patients with subdural hematomas, intraventricular hemorrhage, and contusions (Mattioli et al., 2003; Oertel et al., 2005; Kalanuria et al., 2013). In general, subarachnoid hemorrhages are associated with extremely high rates of mortality of about 45-50%, significant morbidity exists among survivors (van Gijn et al., 2007; Bederson et al., 2009) and chronic disabilities are common (Kantor et al., 2014). It should be noted that subarachnoid hemorrhage associated with TBI accounts for about half of all cases, and subsequent cerebral vasospasm following both aneurysmal and traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhages is among the leading causes of morbidity and mortality with no proven effective treatment (Suarez et al., 2006; Amyot et al., 2015). Thus, identifying the mechanisms underlying TBI pathologies and intrinsic, potentially protective responses involving acute reactants, such as Hp (Vejda et al., 2002; Campbell et al., 2005), will provide new insights into the development of novel strategies for TBI treatment.

Experimental and clinical data suggest that Hp phenotypes are differentially associated with occurrence of cerebral vasospasm, a common complication of subarachnoid hemorrhage, and that the patients with increased risk might be identified based on their Hp genotype (Chaichana et al., 2007, 2010; Leclerc et al., 2015). The human and mouse Hp cDNAs share homology of >80%, and although mice are homomorphic for the Hp genotype expressing only a "high" affinity Hp1–1 phenotype, Hp phenotypes were associated with differential neuropsychological outcomes after TBI; however, in this case, the Hp 1–1 phenotype, which is characterized by the highest affinity to hemoglobin, was associated with worse outcomes (Lee et al., 2002; Anderson et al., 2009).

Although Hp is implicated in the pathophysiology of different brain injuries, the published data suggest that its roles are complex, that upregulation of Hp might have either or both beneficial and detrimental effects, and that the outcomes might be predisposed by certain Hp genotypes. Thus, taking into account the heterogeneity of Hp phenotypes in humans, the goal of this preclinical study was to investigate the role of the "high" efficacy Hp phenotype in a controlled cortical impact (CCI) model of TBI using wild type (WT) C57BL/6 mice and genetically modified mice of the same background lacking the Hp gene (Hp<sup>-/-</sup>) and comparing anatomical and gliosis outcomes in two different adult-age cohorts.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Experimental Animals**

Two matched age cohorts [i.e., 2-4 mo-old (adult) and 7-8 moold (older adult)] of WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  C57BL/6 male mice were used in the study.  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice were maintained in the in-house facility from the breeding stock provided by Dr. E. Tolosano. The number of WT animals per group used for assessment of anatomical and immunohistochemical analyses were as follows: sham n = 5 and n = 5, and CCI n = 8 and n = 10 in the adult (2-4 mo-old) and older adult (7-8 mo-old) age cohorts, respectively. The number of  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice per CCI group used for assessment of anatomical and immunohistochemical outcomes per group for analyses were n = 9 and n = 4 in the adult and older adult age cohorts, respectively. In addition, small groups of sham  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice of both ages were used to confirm negligible effects of craniotomy. For assessment of the behavioral outcomes, the mice numbers were slightly inflated due to intrinsic mouse variability of the behavioral outcome measures and confirmation of behavioral test results. The numbers of animals used in the analyses are indicated in the figure legends. The experiments and procedures were carried out in strict accordance with the recommendations in the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the National Institutes of Health. All procedures used in this study were approved by The University of Florida Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. All surgery was performed under anesthesia, and all efforts were made to minimize the pain and distress of the experimental animals.

#### **CCI** Procedures

In this study, we used the same CCI or sham procedures as previously described (Glushakov et al., 2013). Briefly, mice were anesthetized with 4% isoflurane and maintained with 2% isoflurane during all surgery procedures. Mice were placed in the stereotaxic apparatus and the experimental contusive TBI of mild-to-moderate severity was induced using a conventional CCI model (PCI3000 PinPoint Precision Cortical Impactor, Hatteras Instruments, Cary, NC, USA) with an impact tip diameter of 3 mm, velocity of 3 m/s, and compression distance and time of 1 mm and 100 ms, respectively (Yu et al., 2009). The experimental injury in all cases was induced in the right hemisphere. Sham-injured mice underwent only the anesthesia and craniotomy surgeries. After closing the incision, the mice were removed from the stereotaxic apparatus, received an intraperitoneal injection of warm saline to prevent dehydration, and were placed into a temperature-controlled recovery chamber for at least 1 h before being transferred to the animal housing facility.

#### **Neurobehavioral Deficits**

Neurobehavioral deficits were assessed 24 and 48 h after CCI or sham procedures using a 24-point Neurological Deficit Score (NDS) scale as described in detail elsewhere (Glushakov et al., 2013). Briefly, the assessment comprised six tests, including body symmetry, gait, circling behavior, climbing on the incline plane, and tail suspension tests to access compulsory circling and front limb symmetry. Each of these individual tests was scored between 0 and 4 points for normal performance (score 0) and according to criteria of gradually increased severity from score 1 to 4; the NDS was calculated as a sum score obtained from the assessment. Prior to behavioral testing, the animals were allowed to acclimate in the testing room for about 30 min. For quantitative assessment of stereotypic activity and circling behavior, the neurobehavioral assessment was based on the moving pattern criteria used in the individual circling behavior test performed on the open bench top, which included a part of the NDS test. The circling behavior test preceded all other behavioral tests. The mouse was placed on the elevated open rectangular plane surface and allowed to move freely for at least for 2-5 min depending on the animal's moving activity. The activity was videotaped from above and analyzed offline by a blinded examiner. The number of left and right turns was counted for at least for 2 min or for a longer time period to obtain a total number of turns of at least about 20. Preferential turns to one side are indicative of stereotypic movement or circling behavior. The activity values were calculated as a total number of left and right turns per minute, and the circling behavior values were calculated as a percentage of right turns.

## Brain Histopathology and Immunohistochemistry

All mice used in the study were euthanized at 48 h and processed for quantitative stereological brain pathology using

cresyl violet staining and immunohistochemistry as described before (Glushakov et al., 2014). All slides (eight 30-µm-thick brain sections per slide cut from the same animal and spaced about 500 µm apart) were scanned using ScanScope (Aperio Technologies, Vista, CA, USA) and analyzed using ImageScope software (Aperio) in a blinded manner. The volumes of cortical lesions and tissue loss were estimated within 2-mm-thick brain segments positioned between the bregma and 2 mm posterior to the bregma (i.e., bregma coordinates from 0 to -2 mm). Cortical lesions were defined as histological alterations in the ipsilateral cortical structures within the site of impact and proximate areas characterized by abnormal cellular morphology and irregular cell density compared to the histological characteristic of their corresponding contralateral counterparts, and, in some cases, the presence of diffuse parenchymal hemorrhages and small hematomas, whereas cavitation was defined as complete loss of cortical tissue or the presence of enlarged hematomas without evident existence of cresyl violet staining. The volume of cortical injury was defined as a combined volume comprising the volumes of cortical lesions and cavitation. Hippocampal edema was assessed by measuring the volumes of ipsilateral and contralateral hippocampi as described before (Glushakov et al., 2013).

Reactive astrogliosis and microglial activation were assessed using immunohistochemistry for glial fibrillary acidic protein (anti-GFAP, 1:1000 DAKO, Carpinteria, CA, USA) and for ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1 (anti-Iba1, 1;100, Wako Bioproducts, Richmond, VA, USA), respectively; vector kits were then used for DAB antigen visualization (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). Immunoreactivity was calculated as a sum of positive and strong positive pixels in rectangular selections (500  $\times$  500  $\mu$ m) in selected brain regions with characteristic microglial and astrocytes morphological changes. The brain regions were identified using Allen Mouse Brain Atlas. To compare the astroglial and microglial reactivity distribution in the anteroposterior directions from the midline of cortical impact (between -1 and -2 mm from the bregma) coordinates, the assessment was performed in about 1-mm-thick brain segments starting from the bregma posteriorly (from 0 to -4 bregma coordinates). To calculate relative immunoreactivity, the images of two to three sections for each segment from each brain slide (i.e., up to eight sections per animal) were analyzed separately and the mean data for each section in each animal were included in group analysis.

## **Statistical Analyses**

The power analysis to determine approximate minimal group size was performed based on the assumption of obtaining statistical significance of anticipated differences of means equal to at least 1.5 standard deviation with a significance level of  $\alpha = 0.05$  and a power of  $1-\beta = 0.80$ . To compare the differences between anatomical and immunohistochemical outcomes and locomotor activity in mice groups with different surgical procedure (i.e., sham and CCI), genotype (i.e., WT and HP<sup>-/-</sup>), and age (i.e., young adult and older adult), the data were analyzed using multi-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) performed by mixed model regression data analysis

and Turkeys *post-hoc* comparison test between matched groups. To compare the differences between non-parametric NDS data, a series of ANOVA on ranks and Dunn's *post-hoc* test were been performed, taking into consideration multiple aforementioned factors (i.e., surgical procedure, age, and genotype) and repeated measurements. All parametric data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard error, and non-parametric data as median, range, and interquartile range (IQR). *P*-values less than 0.05 were considered significant (Macleod et al., 2009). Statistical analyses were performed using JMP (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) and GraphPad (GraphPad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA) software.

## RESULTS

## Effects of the Hp Knockout on Neurobehavioral Outcomes Following CCI in Different Age Cohorts

Neurological deficits after experimental TBI were assessed 24 and 48 h after CCI using the NDS and the differences between multiple group factors, including surgery type and age with repeated outcome measures, which were assessed using a series non-parametric multi-factor ANOVA on ranks and post-hoc Dunn's rank sum test. In adult mice (2-4 mo-old), the median NDS values in the CCI group at 24 and 48 h were 5 at both time points (IQRs: 4-7 and 3-8, respectively), and these values were significantly different (P < 0.0001 and P = 0.0001) from those observed in the mice from the sham group with median values of 0 at both time points (IQRs: 0-2 and 0-1, respectively; Figure 1A). In older adult mice (7-8 mo-old), the median NDS values at 24 and 48 h were 7 (IQR: 5-8) and 8 (IQR: 5-10), respectively, although the NDS values in the CCI group were not significantly different from those observed in the sham group (Figure 1B). Although the median values were similar at both time points (7 and 8), the NDS 48 h after CCI was characterized by increased variability (IQRs: 2-5 and 0-10 24 and 48 h after surgery, respectively). In this age cohort, the same animals 48 h after surgery showed worse NDS in the CCI and sham groups, resulting in a wider NDS value range and a lack of statistical significance. As compared to the 48 h NDS scores, the median values were similar to those at the 24 h time point. In addition, further analyses of time dependency based on 24 and 48 h comparisons revealed no significant differences between NDS values at these time points in the sham or CCI group of the adult or older adult mice cohort (Figure 1C). The NDS values for the sham and CCI groups were higher compared to their counterpart groups of 2-4 mo-old mice. These values were significantly different (P < 0.05) only at the 48 h time point. No significant differences were observed between the sham groups of adult and older adult animals at any time point.

Based on the anatomical brain pathology of marked lesions and tissue loss in the ipsilateral motor cortex observed in the CCI model, we performed an analysis of locomotor activity pattern by counting the number of left and right turns of free-moving mice to quantitatively assess the circling behavior associated with



unilateral impairment of this brain region (**Figures 1D,E**). The analyses of stereotypic movement behavior and activity in the group of mice used for NDS assessment using mixed model multi-factor ANOVA revealed a significant temporal effect (P = 0.0009), although the *post-hoc* comparison between matching groups using Student's *t*-test revealed no significant differences between groups. There were no significant differences between proportions of left and right turns between the sham and CCI groups 48 h after experimental injury or in each group between the 24 and 48 h time points in both age cohorts. Similarly, in both age cohorts, there were no significant differences between locomotor activity calculated as the number of left and right turns combined between the sham and CCI groups or in each group between 24 and 48 h time points (data not shown). To compare the

differences between experimental groups, the values of moving symmetry were expressed as a percentage fraction of right turns. Mixed model multi-factor ANOVA revealed a significant temporal effect (P = 0.0009). However, *post-hoc* comparison between matching groups also revealed no statistically significant differences between outcomes in the CCI groups from adult and older adult cohorts at both 24 and 48 h time points (**Figure 1F**).

**Figures 2A-C** demonstrate the comparison of NDS between WT and Hp<sup>-/-</sup> CCI-injured mice. A series of non-parametric multi-factor ANOVA and *post-hoc* comparison between matching groups using Dunn's *t*-test revealed significant differences in NDS of the Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice from the CCI group in the adult age cohort (P = 0.0386), whereas 48 h after injury, the differences between WT and Hp<sup>-/-</sup> were no longer



**FIGURE 2** | Effects of the Hp knockout on neurobehavioral outcomes following CCI in different age cohorts. (A-C) Comparison of NDS assessed at 24 and 48 h after the experimental injury between CCI-injured WT and HP<sup>-/-</sup> mice in adult and older adult age cohorts (A,B), and between CCI-injured HP<sup>-/-</sup> mice of different ages (C) Statistical comparison of combined data presented in the (A-C) using a series of non-parametric multi-factor ANOVA with repeated measurement structure. The numbers shown on the graphs represent *P*-values from the *post-hoc* statistical analyses performed using non-parametric Dunn's rank sum test. (D-F) Comparison of the circling behavior presented as the fraction of the right turns between CCI-injured WT and Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice in adult and older adult age cohorts (D,E), and between CCI-injured WT mice of different ages (F), respectively. Statistical comparison of combined data using mixed model multi-factor ANOVA with repeated measurement structure. *P*-values shown on the graphs between two groups used for pairwise comparison were obtained from the statistical analyses using the *post-hoc* Student's *t*-test. In all panels, the numbers of animals per CCI experimental groups of WT and Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice used for analyses were as follows: *n* = 6 and *n* = 18 in the adult mice age cohort (2–4 mo-old), and *n* = 16 and *n* = 13 in the adult mice age cohort (2–4 mo-old), and *n* = 5 in the older adult mice age cohort (7–8 mo-old), respectively.

significant, suggesting possible neurological deterioration. Significantly lower values in the Hp<sup>-/-</sup> group in the adult mice cohort suggest an improved neurological outcome 24 h after experimental injury, whereas no significant differences in the NDS were observed between WT and HP<sup>-/-</sup> CCI-injured mice in the older adult cohort at the 24 and 48 h time points (**Figure 2B**). There was a significant difference between the NDS in the CCI-injured mice from the adult and older adult cohorts 24 h after injury (P = 0.0094), whereas at 48 h, the increase in the NDS was also no longer significant (**Figure 2C**). In addition, to determine possible effects of surgery alone on the neurobehavioral outcomes in Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice at the two ages,

the NDS test was performed in small groups of animals that underwent sham surgery (n = 4 in adult and n = 2 in older adult cohorts). The data revealed no substantial increases in NDS scores in sham Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which ranged from 0 to 1 in adult and from 0 to 4 in the older adult cohort at 24 and 48 h time points (data not shown). No circling behavior was detected in any Hp<sup>-/-</sup> group after CCI, and no significant differences were observed between WT and Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice in both age cohorts (**Figures 2D,E**) or between different age cohorts of Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice (**Figure 2F**), although a significant temporal effect (p =0.0009) on the moving symmetry was revealed by mixed model multi-factor ANOVA.

## Effects of the Hp Knockout on Anatomical Outcomes Following CCI in the Different Age Cohorts

In the first set of experiments, we performed tests to determine differences in anatomical deficits after CCI in 2–4 (adult) and 7–8-mo-old (older adult) WT mice; subsequent comparisons were then made between WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice in each age cohort. Macroscopically, the overall brain pathology from CCI with mild-to-moderate TBI parameters 48 h post-injury was characterized by neuronal death, loss of cortical tissue, and, to a lesser degree, partial loss of hippocampal tissue or hippocampal distortion with altered structural tissue integrity as compared to the contralateral hippocampus or hippocampi of animals from the sham-injury group. These anatomical brain changes are consistent with our previous published data using the same CCI parameters (Glushakov et al., 2013, 2014, 2015).

Figures 3A,B demonstrate representative microphotographs of brain sections obtained from WT sham and CCI-injured animals in the two age cohorts. At the 48 h time point in the adult and older adult age cohorts, CCI consistently produced significant anatomical pathologies in the cortex assessed by cresyl violet histo-stereological analysis, including cortical lesions and complete loss of brain tissue. Cortical lesions were characterized by morphological alternations, including characteristic changes in cellular morphology and cell density. These changes primarily reflect neurodegenerative processes, neuronal death, and the presence of diffuse parenchymal hemorrhages, which are representative of microvascular injury in cortical tissue surrounding the impacted area. In sham animals of both age cohorts, no (or only marginal) alterations were observed in the cortical tissue histology due to craniotomy surgery. Figures 3C,D represent analyses of distribution of contusion volume between volumes of lesioned cortical tissue and cavitation in CCI animals compared to the sham group. To determine possible changes in the patterns of brain lesions following experimental TBI, the injury volumes were analyzed by measuring and statistically comparing the volumes of cortical lesions and cavitation separately, and the data are presented as a contingency graph.

Cortical lesions were defined as histological alterations evident with cresyl violet staining, including cell loss (i.e., light stromal staining without or with markedly decreased nuclear staining), changes in cellular density and nuclear morphology (i.e., altered shape, shrinkage, and intensively stained and condensed nuclei), "penumbra" (i.e., the area adjusted to the injury core with evident signs on secondary injuries such as the aforementioned morphological changes), and small hemorrhages, whereas cavitation was defined as total loss of brain tissue or hematoma without visible cresyl violet staining. The measurements were made in brain segments between bregma coordinates from 0 to -2 mm, which covered all major brain segments including hippocampus and cortical regions associated with functional neurobehavioral outcomes. To compare the differences in cortical lesion, cavitation, and total contusion volumes between surgery groups (i.e., sham and CCI) and animal age, statistical analyses were performed using multi-factor ANOVA and post-hoc Student's test for pairwise comparison. The results demonstrate significant differences in all measures of cortical injury volume in CCI groups compared to shamoperated mice in both age cohorts (Figures 3C,E). There were significant effects of both factors (i.e., surgery type and age) on the cortical lesion and total contusion volumes (<0.0001 and P = 0.0003, respectively) and a significant effect of surgery factor on the cavitation volume measured (P = 0.0001). There was a statistically significant difference in cortical lesion volumes between CCI groups of the adult and older adult cohort (P =0.0248), whereas there was no statistical difference between cavitation and total contusion volumes measured in these groups (Figure 3E). Interestingly, some marginal alterations in the brain that might be characterized as cortical lesions were observed in some animals from sham-surgery groups and there was a significant difference between the volumes of these lesions in sham groups of adult and older adult cohorts (P = 0.0017).

In most of the animals from the CCI groups in both age cohorts, morphological distortion of ipsilateral hippocampi and localized hippocampal edemas were noticeable on all brain sections where the hippocampus is present, with the most apparent presentation on the sections between about 1 and 2.5 mm posterior from the bregma. In some animals, hippocampal swelling was not obvious; ipsilateral hippocampus size was possibly reduced due to concurrent neuronal tissue degeneration (Glushakov et al., 2015). Two-way ANOVA and post-hoc comparison using Student's t-test revealed no significant changes in hippocampal volumes compared to sham in adult and older adult cohorts (Figures 3F,G). The analyses of hippocampal swelling has also demonstrated that the values of relative hippocampal volumes 48 h following CCI were not significantly different between WT mice from the adult and older adult cohorts (Figure 3H).

Figures 4A,B demonstrate examples of brain sections within the same bregma coordinates (from -1 mm to -2 mm) showing typical variability of anatomical brain pathologies between individual animals in WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice of adult and older adult cohorts. To compare the differences between anatomical outcome measures including cortical injury volume (i.e., cortical contusion, cortical lesions, and cavitation) and hippocampal swelling in WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice in two age cohorts, a multi-factor ANOVA and post-hoc pairwise comparison was performed using Student's test. The statistical analyses revealed the significant interaction of age and genotype in cortical lesion volume measures following CCI (P = 0.0172). The quantitative analyses revealed that there were no statistical differences between total contusion volumes of WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice in both age cohorts (**Figures 4C,D**) and between  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice from adult and older adult cohorts (Figure 4E). Similarly, comparing hippocampal volumes in CCI-injured animals revealed no statistically significant differences between WT and Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice in any age cohort or between  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice from adult and older adult cohorts (Figures 4F-H). Interestingly, in the older adult age cohort, although total cortical lesion was not significantly different between WT and Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice, the volume of cortical lesions in Hp<sup>-/-</sup> was significantly increased compared to WT mice (P = 0.0365). There was no significant difference observed



sections obtained at 48 h after CCI and sham injury in adult and older adult WT mice, respectively. In each panel, three brain sections were cut from the same mouse within 1 mm apart posteriorly from the bregma (coordinates from 0 to -4 mm). The text and numbers denotes approximate distance from the bregma in posterior direction. Areas filled with red represent cavitation and red dotted lines represent boundaries of cortical lesions and cavitation areas used for quantitative histopathological analyses. (C-E) Comparison of lesion volumes between sham- and CCI-injured WT mice in adult and older adult age cohorts: (C,D) and between (Continued)

#### FIGURE 3 | Continued

CCI-injured WT mice of different ages (C), respectively. (F-H) Comparison of relative hippocampal volumes between sham- and CCI-injured WT mice in adult and older adult age cohorts (C,D), and between CCI-injured WT mice of different ages (E), respectively. The numbers shown on the graphs represents *P*-values from the multi-factor ANOVA an *post-hoc* statistical analyses performed using Student's *t*-test to compare values between matched groups (n = 5-10).

between volumes of cavitation in these groups. Only marginal anatomical alteration was detected in sham  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice in both adult and older adult cohorts (data not shown).

## Effects of the Hp knockout on Astrocytic and Microglial Responses Following CCI in the Different Age Cohorts

Because the changes in glial responses to the CCI injury reflected in proliferation of glial cells and upregulation of specific markers are not definitely evident on the cresyl violetstained sections, to study the prospective effects of Hp on the activation of reactive astrocytes and microglial cells, the GFAP and Iba1 immunostainings were performed on the brain sections obtained from WT and Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice of two age cohorts, respectively. At 48 h after CCI, there was an apparent increase in immunoreactivity for both glial markers, glial cell proliferation, and changes in morphology of corresponding glial cells. Figures 5, 6 demonstrate representative microphotographs of GFAP- and Iba1-immunostained brain sections in two age cohorts, respectively, including zoomed selected areas of brain sections with the most extensive glial responses to the experimental TBI to demonstrate characteristic alteration in glial cell morphology. The morphological examination suggested some tendencies in the increased GFAP and Iba1 and in contralateral and ipsilateral brain regions of Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice of both age cohorts. The findings of immunohistochemical experiments in adult WT mice are consistent with our previously published data showing significant increases in GFAP and Iba1 immunoreactivity in CCI compared to sham-injured animals. To assess the level of astrocytic and microglial activation, first, quantitative immunohistochemical analyses were performed separately in the major brain segments located within the CCI impact area with increments of 1 mm starting from the bregma (a total of four segments from 0 to -4 mm). However, the results revealed that there were no significant differences between relative immunoreactivities in 1-mm-thick segments within any brain region (multi-factor repeated measurement ANOVA with post-hoc Student's t-test; data not shown). Thus, we performed further analyses using the relative immunoreactivity values averaged for all four segments. Figure 7 demonstrates a summary of the results of quantification of immunohistochemical stainings shown in Figures 5, 6. The comparison of GFAP and Iba1 immunostainings between WT and Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice in adult and older adult cohorts revealed that the results of statistical analyses are demonstrated in Figure 7 as P-values above bar graphs between corresponding groups and above horizontal bars in selected panels to show the significant difference between groups of the same genotype from different age cohorts (ANOVA with post-hoc Student's t-test).

#### DISCUSSION

This study examined for the first time the potential roles of the Hp pathway in TBI using two age cohorts of WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice. The results suggest that the role of Hp in TBI is multi-factorial and age dependent. Because Hp is involved in clearance of generally toxic free hemoglobin and has antioxidant properties (Campbell et al., 2005), its injuryinduced upregulation would contribute to the neuroprotective compensatory mechanism (Vejda et al., 2002). Although there is no clear consensus, preclinical studies from Dr. J. Aronowski and his colleagues have suggested that Hp might be expressed in the brain and its induction would be sufficient to be protective in experimental intracerebral hemorrhage (Zhao et al., 2009, 2011). The results of our study suggest that global deletion of the Hp gene is associated with statistically significant better short-term functional outcomes following experimental TBI in 2-4 mo-old (adult) mice, whereas no such effects were observed between WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  7-8 mo-old (older adult) mice, and there were no statistical differences between volumes of total contusion, cortical lesions, and tissue loss in WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  of both age cohorts. Statistical differences were also observed in the gliosis outcomes, i.e., astrogliosis and microgliosis.

Hp is involved in the acute phase response to systemic or local tissue injuries by cytokine-triggered hepatocytic synthesis and release into circulation of several defensive proteins (Wilcockson et al., 2002; Petersen et al., 2004; Campbell et al., 2005). Although limited preclinical studies provide evidence that Hp might be expressed in the brain (Zhao et al., 2009, 2011), it is more likely that increased CSF and brain levels of Hp observed after TBI might essentially result from blood-brain-barrier breakdown (Liu and Sturner, 1988; Bell et al., 1997). It has long been recognized that elevated serum Hp after TBI is produced mainly from the liver (Bowman and Kurosky, 1982; Hoj et al., 1984; Yang et al., 2013) it peaks approximately 24 h after injury and its levels are associated with increased cytokine levels (Bell et al., 1997; Amick et al., 2001). The latter observation is also supported by a previous immunohistochemical clinical study performed in the post-mortem brain of TBI patients that provided solid evidence that the spatiotemporal profiles of increased levels of Hp and several other plasma proteins are associated with blood-brain barrier breakdown and the extravasated plasma proteins and their subsequent uptake by the glial cells (Liu and Sturner, 1988). However, there is evidence of complex roles of Hp expression and its phenotypes in different types of brain injuries. Hp is a potent antioxidant and its increased expression has been documented in different brain injuries that are not directly associated with brain hemorrhages. Experimental studies have documented significant changes in Hp expression in the plasma of rats undergoing experimental transient focal cerebral ischemia (Chen et al., 2011).



FIGURE 4 [Effects of the Hp knockout on anatomical outcomes following CCI in different age cohorts. (A,B) The representative microphotographs of cresyl violet-stained brain sections obtained at 48 h after CCI in adult and older adult WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice, respectively. In each panel, three examples of the brain sections from three different animals from the same experimental group (marked as Mouse #1–3). The example brain section from each mouse was cut within coordinates from -1 to -2 mm. Areas filled with red represent avitation and red dotted lines represent boundaries of cortical areas covered by cortical lesions used for quantitative histopathological analyses. (**C-E**) Comparison of the lesion volumes between CCI-injured WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice in the adult and older adult age cohorts (**C,D**), and between the CCI-injured WT mice from different age cohorts

(Continued)

#### FIGURE 4 | Continued

(E), respectively. (F-H) Comparison of relative hippocampal volumes between WT and Hp<sup>-/-</sup> CCI-injured mice in adult and older adult age cohorts (C,D), and between CCI-injured Hp<sup>-/-</sup> mice of different ages (E), respectively. The numbers shown on the graphs represents *P*-values from the multi-factor ANOVA an *post-hoc* statistical analyses performed using Student's *t*-test to compare values between matched groups (n = 4-10).



In a TBI model, Hp phenotypes were associated with differential neuropsychological outcomes; however, in contrast to clinical and preclinical data in subarachnoid brain hemorrhage, the "high" affinity Hp 1-1 phenotype was associated with worse outcomes (Anderson et al., 2009).

The neurological outcomes assessed using NDS and anatomical outcomes (i.e., brain lesions and cortical tissue) in adult WT mice observed in this study were consistent with our previously published data obtained in C57BL/6 mice within this age range (Glushakov et al., 2013, 2014, 2015). Not surprisingly, the NDS was increased in older adult mice of both WT and

 $\rm Hp^{-/-}$  genotypes in the experiments with the same magnitude of the experimental TBI. In the sham group, WT mice from the 7–8 mo-old older adult cohort had a range of NDS that was seemingly higher compared to that observed in WT 2–4 mo-old adults from the sham group normally showing no detectable or only marginal neurological deficits, although there were no statistically significant differences between sham groups of WT mice from these two age cohorts. This observation suggests that some older adult animals have increased vulnerability to surgical procedures, including craniotomy performed in the sham groups. However, no such changes in the NDS variability



were observed in the sham  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice from both age cohorts and the ranges of NDS in these mice were within the range of 2–4 mo-old WT mice from the sham group.

Based on analyses of cresyl violet-stained sections, significant cortical and hippocampal pathologies were evident at the 48 h time point used in this study in all CCI-injured groups. The anatomical cortical injury was quantified as a cortical contusion volume, which was identified by characteristic tissue loss of brain tissue, neuronal death, and alteration in cellular morphology and integrity of brain structures and intracerebral hemorrhages. As we previously reported, in the CCI model, based on evident alterations in the hippocampus that are not directly affected by impact, the overall brain lesions could be categorized into two groups with prevalence reflecting severity of secondary injuries: type I and II, which are characterized by morphopathological changes in the ipsilateral hippocampus with remaining structural organization and by a complete loss of the ipsilateral hippocampus, respectively (Glushakov et al., 2015). The cortical cavitation is characteristic of both of these lesion types, although it is more prominent with later injury-onset time points (Glushakov et al., 2013).

It is well recognized that neuronal death and loss of brain tissue reflects secondary injury predominantly resulting from necrotic calpain-induced proteolysis (Wang et al., 2006; Saatman et al., 2010). In addition, our previous data have shown that the overall brain lesions might be categorized by the changes in the hippocampal morphology with seemingly abrupt transformation from hippocampal edema to hippocampal degeneration (lesion types I and II, respectively) resulting either from increasing severity of impact (e.g., increased compression distance) or from the deleterious effect of pharmacological intervention even with mild-to-moderate initial impact reflecting the severity of secondary injuries (Glushakov et al., 2015).

CCI parameters used in this study allowed one to induce brain injury by partial direct compression of the cortical tissue with rigid impactor, whereas the brain structures located underneath



FIGURE 7 | Quantification of GFAP and Iba1 immunoreactivities at 48 h after CCI in in 2–4 mo-old (adult) and 7–8 mo-old (olde adult) mice. The bar graphs show quantitative analyses of GFAP (A) and Iba1 (B) immunostained brain sections presented as relative immunoreactivity of in the selected ipsilateral brain regions (shown in the Figures 5, 6) normalized to the immunoreactivity values calculated in their contralateral counterparts. The numbers above bars in each graph represents *P*-values obtained by using multi-factor ANOVA and the *post-hoc* Student's *t*-test (*n* = 4–8). "indicates significant difference.

the cortical injury site are affected indirectly and with gradient decreasing pressure that likely would not cause meaningful mechanical damage. However, in this study, the prevalence of hippocampal alterations in most animals reflected type-I lesions, which are characterized by a marked increase in the ipsilateral hippocampal volume and distortion of hippocampal shape without substantial loss of hippocampal tissue, while in some animals, the ipsilateral hippocampi were of comparable size and shape or even had some reduction of ipsilateral hippocampal size, suggesting variability in ranges of responses to injury in individual animals.

Immunohistochemical experiments with GFAP and Iba1 stainings performed at the 48 h time point after experimental TBI revealed significant proliferation and changes in cell morphology of reactive astrocytes and activated microglial cells in selected brain regions consistent with our previous published data obtained with the same experimental parameters (Glushakov et al., 2013, 2014). The upregulation of these immunomarkers and proliferation of glial cells were observed in cortical lesioned tissue, including "penumbral" areas, located underneath the injury, and evident with histophatological examination using cresyl violet staining; and also, to a lesser extent, in the brain regions not directly affected by the CCI impact without evident histopathological changes (cresyl violet) throughout the whole ipsilateral cerebral cortex even with seemingly similar immunoreactivity intensity and cellular morphology up to distal cortical amigdalar areas; and ipsilateral brain structures that are not directly impacted, including the hippocampus, and some areas of the thalamus and striatum. The results of these experiments indicate that there were differences in microglial and astrocytic reactivity between  $\mathrm{Hp}^{-/-}$  and WT in selected brain regions of the adult but not older adult age cohort, suggesting that Hp might be involved in glial or inflammatory responses, or affecting secondary injuries to the levels that are reflected in changes in upregulation of astrocytic and microglial markers or proliferation of glial cells. There were also some apparent tendencies in the upregulation of glial cells in selected contralateral regions of  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice of both age cohorts that might result from presumed impairment of overall defensive mechanisms due to deletion of Hp; establishing their potential clinical importance in brain injuries requires more detailed investigation. Although reactive astrocytes have been implicated in playing a role in the uptake of Hp and other extravasated plasma proteins (Liu and Sturner, 1988) the result of GFAP, as well as Iba1, IHC experiments in Hp<sup>-/-</sup> did not support the astrocytic or microglial involvement in clearance of assumed Hphemoglobin complexes following TBI. The roles of astrocytes microglia in brain injury are complex, including both beneficial and detrimental effects (Loane and Byrnes, 2010). On the other hand, it is also recognized that increased upregulation of astrocytic and microglial markers is associated with the extent of anatomical and behavioral deficits. In our study, the significantly decreased upregulation of GFAP and Iba1 in selected brain regions of  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice may indicate involvement of Hp in these inflammatory responses. The effect of aging in experimental models of TBI is well recognized, including neurological outcomes, neuronal brain pathology, and blood-brain barrier function (Onyszchuk et al., 2008; Sandhir et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2012; Timaru-Kast et al., 2012). However, little is known about the effects of Hp expression on brain injuries, and in our study, we have made an attempt to uncover possible dependencies of Hp roles with age using WT and  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice. The results of this study revealed significant associations of both age and genotype factors with several neurobehavioral, anatomical, and immunohistochemical outcome measures. Interestingly, the data suggest that improved NDS in  $Hp^{-/-}$  might be associated with decreased upregulation of both GFAP and Iba1 in the cortical areas located adjacent to the injury site and Iba1 upregulation in selected hippocampal and striatal regions in adult CCI-injured mice. However, these effects of Hp deletion were lost with aging.

In terms of some limitations of this study, although we believe that using of  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice is one of the currently reasonable available approaches to test our hypotheses, the use of genetically modified mice, in general, has inherent limitations due to activation of possible compensatory mechanisms to restore the organism's functions. In particular, it might be critical in case of "protective" proteins such as Hp that might potentially affect the physiological state and affect responsiveness to the experimental injury. Thus, some differences in the outcomes in adult and older adult mice might be attributed to the chronic ablation of a component of the acute phase response system. In addition, the translational potential of this study might be limited because of the heterogeneity of human Hp phenotypes in contrast to the homogeneity of Hp in mice and other animals, and thus using animal models may not reflect the whole spectrum of the various Hp-involving pathways. Another limitation of the study is using only an acute time point with the given experimental conditions reflecting only the Hp roles in short-term outcomes, whereas some results of our study suggest that long-term outcomes might be different.

In conclusion, this study provides an insight into the prospective roles of Hp in TBI and other acute brain injuries, especially those with complex mechanisms. The data of this study suggest that systemic Hp might interact with the intrinsic brain's mechanisms of hemoglobin clearance and/or antioxidative protective pathways affecting short-term clinical outcomes. The data also suggest that ablation of Hp might affect the organism's responsiveness to brain injuries and this effect is more prominent with aging. In addition, these results might be implicated in understanding the inconsistency in outcomes of clinical studies regarding the importance of Hp phenotypes in brain injuries. However, the potential roles of Hp in long-term outcomes warrant additional studies.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AG designed, performed, and analyzed all experiments, wrote the manuscript, and trained RA in performing behavioral and histochemical experiments and data analyses; RA performed behavioral and histochemical experiments and analyses, and edited the manuscript; ET developed and provided the breeding stock of  $Hp^{-/-}$  mice, and revised the manuscript; SD designed the experiments, assisted in the analyses, provided funding and expertise, and contributed to writing and revising the manuscript. All authors have accepted the final version of the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from the McKnight Brain Research Foundation, Brain and Spinal Cord Injury Research Trust Fund (SD) and grants from the National Institutes of Health NS046400 and R01AT007429 (SD). The funders had no

#### REFERENCES

- Amick, J. E., Yandora, K. A., Bell, M. J., Wisniewski, S. R., Adelson, P. D., Carcillo, J. A., et al. (2001). The Th1 versus Th2 cytokine profile in cerebrospinal fluid after severe traumatic brain injury in infants and children. *Pediatr. Crit. Care Med.* 2, 260–264. doi: 10.1097/00130478-200107000-00013
- Aminmansour, B., Ghorbani, A., Sharifi, D., Shemshaki, H., and Ahmadi, A. (2009). Cerebral vasospasm following traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage. J. Res. Med. Sci. 14, 343–348.
- Amyot, F., Arciniegas, D. B., Brazaitis, M. P., Curley, K. C., Diaz-Arrastia, R., Gandjbakhche, A., et al. (2015). A review of the effectiveness of neuroimaging modalities for the detection of Traumatic Brain Injury. *J. Neurotrauma* 32, 1693–1721. doi: 10.1089/neu.2013.3306
- Anderson, G. D., Temkin, N. R., Dikmen, S. S., Diaz-Arrastia, R., Machamer, J. E., Farhrenbruch, C., et al. (2009). Haptoglobin phenotype and apolipoprotein E polymorphism: relationship to posttraumatic seizures and neuropsychological functioning after traumatic brain injury. *Epilepsy Behav.* 16, 501–506. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2009.08.025
- Aronowski, J., and Hall, C. E. (2005). New horizons for primary intracerebral hemorrhage treatment: experience from preclinical studies. *Neurol. Res.* 27, 268–279. doi: 10.1179/016164105X25225
- Ascenzi, P., Bocedi, A., Visca, P., Altruda, F., Tolosano, E., Beringhelli, T., et al. (2005). Hemoglobin and heme scavenging. *IUBMB Life* 57, 749–759. doi: 10.1080/15216540500380871
- Auer, L., and Petek, W. (1978). Serum haptoglobulin changes in patients with severe isolated head injury. Acta Neurochir. (Wien). 42, 229–234. doi: 10.1007/BF01405338
- Bederson, J. B., Connolly, E. S. Jr., Batjer, H. H., Dacey, R. G., Dion, J. E., Diringer, M. N., et al. (2009). Guidelines for the management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a statement for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the Stroke Council, American Heart Association. *Stroke* 40, 994–1025. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108. 191395
- Bell, M. J., Kochanek, P. M., Doughty, L. A., Carcillo, J. A., Adelson, P. D., Clark, R. S., et al. (1997). Interleukin-6 and interleukin-10 in cerebrospinal fluid after severe traumatic brain injury in children. *J. Neurotrauma* 14, 451–457. doi: 10.1089/neu.1997.14.451
- Bhasin, R. R., Xi, G., Hua, Y., Keep, R. F., and Hoff, J. T. (2002). Experimental intracerebral hemorrhage: effect of lysed erythrocytes on brain edema and blood-brain barrier permeability. *Acta Neurochir. Suppl.* 81, 249–251. doi: 10.1007/978-3-7091-6738-0\_65
- Borsody, M., Burke, A., Coplin, W., Miller-Lotan, R., and Levy, A. (2006). Haptoglobin and the development of cerebral artery vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurology* 66, 634–640. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000200781.62172.1d
- Bowman, B. H., and Kurosky, A. (1982). Haptoglobin: the evolutionary product of duplication, unequal crossing over, and point mutation. *Adv. Hum. Genet.* 12, 189–261, 453–184. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-8315-8\_3
- Campbell, S. J., Perry, V. H., Pitossi, F. J., Butchart, A. G., Chertoff, M., Waters, S., et al. (2005). Central nervous system injury triggers hepatic CC and CXC chemokine expression that is associated with leukocyte mobilization and

role in study design, data collection and analyses, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We extend special thanks to Dr. Terrie Vasilopoulos, Ph.D., for her valuable help with statistical analyses, and to Mrs. Gili Menashe, Mrs. Samantha L. Solaski, and Mrs. Jennifer M. Galvis for their technical assistance with behavioral testing, immunoand histo-pathology, and data quantification, and to all Doré lab members for their generous assistance.

recruitment to both the central nervous system and the liver. Am. J. Pathol. 166, 1487–1497. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62365-6

- Carter, K., and Worwood, M. (2007). Haptoglobin: a review of the major allele frequencies worldwide and their association with diseases. *Int. J. Lab. Hematol.* 29, 92–110. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-553X.2007.00898.x
- Chaichana, K. L., Levy, A. P., Miller-Lotan, R., Shakur, S., and Tamargo, R. J. (2007). Haptoglobin 2-2 genotype determines chronic vasospasm after experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* 38, 3266–3271. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.490003
- Chaichana, K. L., Pradilla, G., Huang, J., and Tamargo, R. J. (2010). Role of inflammation (leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions) in vasospasm after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *World Neurosurg.* 73, 22–41. doi: 10.1016/j.surneu.2009.05.027
- Chamoun, V., Zeman, A., Blennow, K., Fredman, P., Wallin, A., Keir, G., et al. (2001). Haptoglobins as markers of blood-CSF barrier dysfunction: the findings in normal CSF. J. Neurol. Sci. 182, 117–121. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(00)00461-5
- Chen, R., Vendrell, I., Chen, C. P., Cash, D., O'toole, K. G., Williams, S. A., et al. (2011). Proteomic analysis of rat plasma following transient focal cerebral ischemia. *Biomark. Med.* 5, 837–846. doi: 10.2217/bmm.11.89
- Chen, W., Lu, H., Dutt, K., Smith, A., Hunt, D. M., and Hunt, R. C. (1998). Expression of the protective proteins hemopexin and haptoglobin by cells of the neural retina. *Exp. Eye Res.* 67, 83–93. doi: 10.1006/exer.1998.0494
- D'Armiento, J., Dalal, S. S., and Chada, K. (1997). Tissue, temporal and inducible expression pattern of haptoglobin in mice. *Gene* 195, 19–27. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(97)00123-6
- Diaz-Arrastia, R., Agostini, M. A., Frol, A. B., Mickey, B., Fleckenstein, J., Bigio, E., et al. (2000). Neurophysiologic and neuroradiologic features of intractable epilepsy after traumatic brain injury in adults. *Arch. Neurol.* 57, 1611–1616. doi: 10.1001/archneur.57.11.1611
- Galea, J., Cruickshank, G., Teeling, J. L., Boche, D., Garland, P., Perry, V. H., et al. (2012). The intrathecal CD163-haptoglobin-hemoglobin scavenging system in subarachnoid hemorrhage. *J. Neurochem.* 121, 785–792. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2012.07716.x
- Glushakov, A. V., Fazal, J. A., Narumiya, S., and Doré, S. (2014). Role of the prostaglandin E2 EP1 receptor in traumatic brain injury. *PLoS ONE* 9:e113689. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113689
- Glushakov, A. V., Galvis, J. M., Solaski, S. L., and Doré, S. (2015). Hippocampal degeneration after Traumatic Brain Injury: the roles of the PGE2 EP1 receptor. *J. Trauma Care* 1, 1007. Available online at: https://www.jscimedcentral.com/ TraumaCare/traumacare-1-1007.pdf
- Glushakov, A. V., Robbins, S. W., Bracy, C. L., Narumiya, S., and Doré, S. (2013). Prostaglandin F2alpha FP receptor antagonist improves outcomes after experimental traumatic brain injury. *J. Neuroinflammation* 10:132. doi: 10.1186/1742-2094-10-132
- Gomez, C. R., Backer, R. J., and Bucholz, R. D. (1991). Transcranial Doppler ultrasound following closed head injury: vasospasm or vasoparalysis? *Surg. Neurol.* 35, 30–35. doi: 10.1016/0090-3019(91)90198-I
- Hoj, L., Binder, V., Espersen, F., Greibe, J., Rasmussen, S. N., and Rask-Madsen, J. (1984). Secretion rates of immunoglobulins, albumin, haptoglobin and complement factors C3 and C4 in the perfused jejunum and ileum of

human Salmonella carriers. Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Immunol. Scand. C 92, 129–132.

- Kalanuria, A., Nyquist, P. A., Armonda, R. A., and Razumovsky, A. (2013). Use of Transcranial Doppler (TCD) ultrasound in the neurocritical care unit. *Neurosurg. Clin. N. Am.* 24, 441–456. doi: 10.1016/j.nec.2013.02.005
- Kantor, E., Bayir, H., Ren, D., Provencio, J. J., Watkins, L., Crago, E., et al. (2014). Haptoglobin genotype and functional outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. J. Neurosurg. 120, 386–390. doi: 10.3171/2013.10.JNS13219
- Keep, R. F., Xiang, J., Ennis, S. R., Andjelkovic, A., Hua, Y., Xi, G., et al. (2008). Blood-brain barrier function in intracerebral hemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir. Suppl.* 105, 73–77. doi: 10.1007/978-3-211-09469-3\_15
- Koeppen, A. H., Dickson, A. C., and Mcevoy, J. A. (1995). The cellular reactions to experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. J. Neurol. Sci. 134 (Suppl.), 102–112. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(95)00215-N
- Kordestani, R. K., Counelis, G. J., Mcbride, D. Q., and Martin, N. A. (1997). Cerebral arterial spasm after penetrating craniocerebral gunshot wounds: transcranial Doppler and cerebral blood flow findings. *Neurosurgery* 41, 351–359. discussion: 359–360. doi: 10.1097/00006123-199708000-00003
- Kumar, D. M., Thota, B., Shinde, S. V., Prasanna, K. V., Hegde, A. S., Arivazhagan, A., et al. (2010). Proteomic identification of haptoglobin alpha2 as a glioblastoma serum biomarker: implications in cancer cell migration and tumor growth. J. Proteome Res. 9, 5557–5567. doi: 10.1021/pr1001737
- Leclerc, J. L., Blackburn, S., Neal, D., Mendez, N. V., Wharton, J. A., Waters, M. F., et al. (2015). Haptoglobin phenotype predicts the development of focal and global cerebral vasospasm and may influence outcomes after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 1155–1160. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1412833112
- Lee, M. Y., Kim, S. Y., Choi, J. S., Lee, I. H., Choi, Y. S., Jin, J. Y., et al. (2002). Upregulation of haptoglobin in reactive astrocytes after transient forebrain ischemia in rats. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 22, 1176–1180. doi: 10.1097/01.wcb.0000037989.07114.d1
- Lee, P., Kim, J., Williams, R., Sandhir, R., Gregory, E., Brooks, W. M., et al. (2012). Effects of aging on blood brain barrier and matrix metalloproteases following controlled cortical impact in mice. *Exp. Neurol.* 234, 50–61. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.12.016
- Lein, E. S., Hawrylycz, M. J., Ao, N., Ayres, M., Bensinger, A., Bernard, A., et al. (2007). Genome-wide atlas of gene expression in the adult mouse brain. *Nature* 445, 168–176. doi: 10.1038/nature05453
- Liu, H. M., and Sturner, W. Q. (1988). Extravasation of plasma proteins in brain trauma. *Forensic Sci. Int.* 38, 285–295. doi: 10.1016/0379-0738(88)90174-0
- Loane, D. J., and Byrnes, K. R. (2010). Role of microglia in neurotrauma. *Neurotherapeutics* 7, 366–377. doi: 10.1016/j.nurt.2010. 07.002
- Macleod, M. R., Fisher, M., O'collins, V., Sena, E. S., Dirnagl, U., Bath, P. M., et al. (2009). Good laboratory practice: preventing introduction of bias at the bench. *Stroke* 40, e50–e52. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.108.525386
- Macpherson, P., and Graham, D. I. (1978). Correlation between angiographic findings and the ischaemia of head injury. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 41, 122–127. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.41.2.122
- Mattioli, C., Beretta, L., Gerevini, S., Veglia, F., Citerio, G., Cormio, M., et al. (2003). Traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage on the computerized tomography scan obtained at admission: a multicenter assessment of the accuracy of diagnosis and the potential impact on patient outcome. *J. Neurosurg.* 98, 37–42. doi: 10.3171/jns.2003.98.1.0037
- McIntosh, T. K., Smith, D. H., Meaney, D. F., Kotapka, M. J., Gennarelli, T. A., and Graham, D. I. (1996). Neuropathological sequelae of traumatic brain injury: relationship to neurochemical and biomechanical mechanisms. *Lab. Invest.* 74, 315–342.
- Nakamura, T., Keep, R. F., Hua, Y., Hoff, J. T., and Xi, G. (2005). Oxidative DNA injury after experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. *Brain Res.* 1039, 30–36. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2005.01.036
- Nakamura, T., Keep, R. F., Hua, Y., Nagao, S., Hoff, J. T., and Xi, G. (2006). Ironinduced oxidative brain injury after experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. *Acta Neurochir. Suppl.* 96, 194–198. doi: 10.1007/3-211-30714-1\_42
- Nonaka, T., Watanabe, S., Chigasaki, H., Miyaoka, M., and Ishii, S. (1979). Etiology and treatment of vasospasm following subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Neurol. Med. Chir. (Tokyo).* 19, 53–60. doi: 10.2176/nmc.19.53

- Oertel, M., Boscardin, W. J., Obrist, W. D., Glenn, T. C., Mcarthur, D. L., Gravori, T., et al. (2005). Posttraumatic vasospasm: the epidemiology, severity, and time course of an underestimated phenomenon: a prospective study performed in 299 patients. J. Neurosurg. 103, 812–824. doi: 10.3171/jns.2005.103.5.0812
- Onyszchuk, G., He, Y. Y., Berman, N. E., and Brooks, W. M. (2008). Detrimental effects of aging on outcome from traumatic brain injury: a behavioral, magnetic resonance imaging, and histological study in mice. *J. Neurotrauma* 25, 153–171. doi: 10.1089/neu.2007.0430
- Petersen, H. H., Nielsen, J. P., and Heegaard, P. M. (2004). Application of acute phase protein measurements in veterinary clinical chemistry. *Vet. Res.* 35, 163–187. doi: 10.1051/vetres:2004002
- Philippidis, P., Mason, J. C., Evans, B. J., Nadra, I., Taylor, K. M., Haskard, D. O., et al. (2004). Hemoglobin scavenger receptor CD163 mediates interleukin-10 release and heme oxygenase-1 synthesis: antiinflammatory monocyte-macrophage responses *in vitro*, in resolving skin blisters *in vivo*, and after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. *Circ. Res.* 94, 119–126. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000109414.78907.F9
- Regan, R. F., and Panter, S. S. (1993). Neurotoxicity of hemoglobin in cortical cell culture. *Neurosci. Lett.* 153, 219–222. doi: 10.1016/0304-3940(93)90326-G
- Saatman, K. E., Creed, J., and Raghupathi, R. (2010). Calpain as a therapeutic target in traumatic brain injury. *Neurotherapeutics* 7, 31–42. doi: 10.1016/j.nurt.2009.11.002
- Saatman, K. E., Duhaime, A. C., Bullock, R., Maas, A. I., Valadka, A., and Manley, G. T. (2008). Classification of traumatic brain injury for targeted therapies. J. Neurotrauma 25, 719–738. doi: 10.1089/neu.2008.0586
- Sandhir, R., Onyszchuk, G., and Berman, N. E. (2008). Exacerbated glial response in the aged mouse hippocampus following controlled cortical impact injury. *Exp. Neurol.* 213, 372–380. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2008.06.013
- Schaer, D. J., Alayash, A. I., and Buehler, P. W. (2007). Gating the radical hemoglobin to macrophages: the anti-inflammatory role of CD163, a scavenger receptor. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 9, 991–999. doi: 10.1089/ars.2007. 1576
- Schaer, D. J., Schaer, C. A., Buehler, P. W., Boykins, R. A., Schoedon, G., Alayash, A. I., et al. (2006). CD163 is the macrophage scavenger receptor for native and chemically modified hemoglobins in the absence of haptoglobin. *Blood* 107, 373–380. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-03-1014
- Schaer, D. J., Schleiffenbaum, B., Kurrer, M., Imhof, A., Bachli, E., Fehr, J., et al. (2005). Soluble hemoglobin-haptoglobin scavenger receptor CD163 as a lineage-specific marker in the reactive hemophagocytic syndrome. *Eur. J. Haematol.* 74, 6–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0609.2004.00318.x
- Steiger, H. J., Aaslid, R., Stooss, R., and Seiler, R. W. (1994). Transcranial Doppler monitoring in head injury: relations between type of injury, flow velocities, vasoreactivity, and outcome. *Neurosurgery* 34, 79–85; discussion 85–76.
- Suarez, J. I., Tarr, R. W., and Selman, W. R. (2006). Aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. N. Engl. J. Med. 354, 387–396. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra052732
- Taneda, M., Kataoka, K., Akai, F., Asai, T., and Sakata, I. (1996). Traumatic subarachnoid hemorrhage as a predictable indicator of delayed ischemic symptoms. J. Neurosurg. 84, 762–768. doi: 10.3171/jns.1996.84.5.0762
- Timaru-Kast, R., Luh, C., Gotthardt, P., Huang, C., Schafer, M. K., Engelhard, K., et al. (2012). Influence of age on brain edema formation, secondary brain damage and inflammatory response after brain trauma in mice. *PLoS ONE* 7:e43829. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043829
- van Gijn, J., Kerr, R. S., and Rinkel, G. J. (2007). Subarachnoid haemorrhage. *Lancet* 369, 306–318. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60153-6
- Vejda, S., Posovszky, C., Zelzer, S., Peter, B., Bayer, E., Gelbmann, D., et al. (2002). Plasma from cancer patients featuring a characteristic protein composition mediates protection against apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 1, 387–393. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M200004-MCP200
- Wada, T., Oara, H., Watanabe, K., Kinoshita, H., and Yachi, A. (1970). Autoradiographic study on the site of uptake of the haptoglobin-hemoglobin complex. J. Reticuloendothel. Soc. 8, 185–193.
- Wang, K. K., Larner, S. F., Robinson, G., and Hayes, R. L. (2006). Neuroprotection targets after traumatic brain injury. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 19, 514–519. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0b013e3280102b10
- Wang, X., Mori, T., Sumii, T., and Lo, E. H. (2002). Hemoglobin-induced cytotoxicity in rat cerebral cortical neurons: caspase activation and oxidative stress. *Stroke* 33, 1882–1888. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000020121.4 1527.5D

- Wilcockson, D. C., Campbell, S. J., Anthony, D. C., and Perry, V. H. (2002). The systemic and local acute phase response following acute brain injury. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 22, 318–326. doi: 10.1097/00004647-200203000-00009
- Xi, G., Keep, R. F., and Hoff, J. T. (1998). Erythrocytes and delayed brain edema formation following intracerebral hemorrhage in rats. J. Neurosurg. 89, 991–996. doi: 10.3171/jns.1998.89.6.0991
- Xi, G., Keep, R. F., and Hoff, J. T. (2006). Mechanisms of brain injury after intracerebral haemorrhage. *Lancet Neurol.* 5, 53–63. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(05)70283-0
- Yang, S., Ma, Y., Liu, Y., Que, H., Zhu, C., and Liu, S. (2013). Elevated serum haptoglobin after traumatic brain injury is synthesized mainly in liver. J. Neurosci. Res. 91, 230–239. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23159
- Yu, S., Kaneko, Y., Bae, E., Stahl, C. E., Wang, Y., Van Loveren, H., et al. (2009). Severity of controlled cortical impact traumatic brain injury in rats and mice dictates degree of behavioral deficits. *Brain Res.* 1287, 157–163. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.06.067
- Zhang, Z., Zhang, Z. Y., Wu, Y., and Schluesener, H. J. (2012). Lesional accumulation of CD163+ macrophages/microglia in rat traumatic brain injury. *Brain Res.* 1461, 102–110. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.04.038

- Zhao, X., Song, S., Sun, G., Strong, R., Zhang, J., Grotta, J. C., et al. (2009). Neuroprotective role of haptoglobin after intracerebral hemorrhage. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 15819–15827. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3776-09. 2009
- Zhao, X., Song, S., Sun, G., Zhang, J., Strong, R., Zhang, L., et al. (2011). Cytoprotective role of haptoglobin in brain after experimental intracerebral hemorrhage. Acta Neurochir. Suppl. 111, 107–112. doi: 10.1007/978-3-7091-0693-8\_17

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Glushakov, Arias, Tolosano and Doré. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Potential Roles of Adropin in Central Nervous System: Review of Current Literature

Shima Shahjouei<sup>1</sup>, Saeed Ansari<sup>2</sup>, Tayebeh Pourmotabbed<sup>3</sup> and Ramin Zand<sup>2,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurosurgery, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurology, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, USA, <sup>3</sup> Department of Microbiology, Immunology, and Biochemistry, University of Tennessee Health Science Center, Memphis, TN, USA, <sup>4</sup> Biocomplexity Institute, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg, VA, USA

Adropin is a 4.9 kDa peptide that is important for maintenance of metabolic and non-metabolic homeostasis. It regulates glucose and fatty acid metabolism and is involved in endothelial cell function and endothelial nitric oxide (NO) synthase bioactivity as well as physical activity and motor coordination. Adropin is expressed in many tissues and organs including central nervous system (CNS). This peptide plays a crucial role in the development of various CNS disorders such as stroke, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder as well as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and Huntington's diseases. In this comprehensive review, the potential roles of adropin in cellular signaling pathways that lead to pathogenesis and/or treatment of CNS disorders will be discussed.

Keywords: adropin, neurodegenerative disease, neuroprotection, biomarker, predictor, therapeutic, cellular signaling pathways

## **INTRODUCTION**

Adropin is a 4.9 kDa peptide encoded by Energy Homeostasis Associated gene (*Enho*) located on chromosome 9 (Kumar et al., 2008; Aydin, 2014). A variety of organs including central nervous system (neurons, neuroglial cells, pia mater, vascular area, Purkinje cells, and granular layer), heart, kidney, liver, pancreas, and human umbilical vein synthesize adropin (Lovren et al., 2010; Aydin et al., 2013, 2014).

Constantly new functions for adropin are identified. Adropin's function as a regulator of glucose and lipid homeostasis and insulin sensitivity was initially described in 2008 by Kumar et al. (2008) and later by Aydin (2014). Lovren et al. (2010) demonstrated the endothelial protective potentials of adropin in 2010. Adropin activates vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR2) and its two downstream signaling pathways—phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase/ serine, threonine kinase (PI3K/Akt) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2 (ERK 1/2) (**Figure 1**). Therefore, adropin modulates expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (Lovren et al., 2010). Also, adropin increases the endothelial cells proliferation, migration and potential to form capillarylike structures (Lovren et al., 2010). Recently, it is found that adropin reduces the endothelial permeability (Lovren et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2016).

Adropin enhances mitochondrial function and activates pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH)—a rate-limiting enzyme in glucose oxidation. Further, adropin suppresses two key enzymes in fatty acid utilization: carnitine palmitoyltransferase-1B (CPT-1B) and Cluster of Differentiation 36 (CD36) (Gao et al., 2015); thus, it plays a role in fatty acid oxidation.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Megha Agrawal, University of Illinois at Chicago, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Alireza Noorian, Kaiser Permanente Orange County Stroke Program, USA Leili Shahgholi, University of Florida, USA Bardia Nourbakhsh, University of California, San Francisco, USA

> \*Correspondence: Ramin Zand rzand@uthsc.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Diagnostics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences

> Received: 21 March 2016 Accepted: 27 May 2016 Published: 27 June 2016

#### Citation:

Shahjouei S, Ansari S, Pourmotabbed T and Zand R (2016) Potential Roles of Adropin in Central Nervous System: Review of Current Literature. Front. Mol. Biosci. 3:25. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2016.00025

Adropin may act as a potential protective regulator of atherogenesis and cardiovascular diseases (Wu et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2015b; Li et al., 2016). Serum adropin level is inversely associated with severity of coronary atherosclerosis and serum level of homocysteine-a potential risk factor for atherosclerosis and cardiovascular diseases (Zhao et al., 2015a). The serum adropin level is diminished in patients with cardiac syndrome X and stable coronary artery disease (Celik et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2015b). At the onset of acute myocardial infarction, serum adropin level is usually lower than controls (Yu et al., 2014); however, it raises between 1 and 24 h following myocardial infarction (Aydin et al., 2014). Plasma adropin level has a positive association with severity of heart failure and negative correlation with left ventricular ejection fraction (Lian et al., 2011). Low level of plasma adropin is predictive of pseudoexfoliation (Oğurel et al., 2016), coronary slow flow phenomenon (Demircelik and Kurtul, 2015), saphenous vein graft occlusion following coronary artery bypass grafting (Demircelik, 2014), as well as pediatric obstructive sleep apnea in the presence of endothelial dysfunction (Gozal et al., 2013). While Gu et al. (2015) described plasma adropin level as an independent indicator of hypertension, other studies failed to show this association (Altincik and Sayin, 2015).

Adropin, as a membrane-anchored protein modulates the Notch1 signaling pathway via neural recognition molecule 3 (NB3) (Figure 1). NB-3 belongs to the contactin family and acts as a membrane-tethered Notch1 ligand that mediates cell surface interaction during nervous system development. An animal study demonstrated that adropin regulates locomotor activity and motor coordination via the NB3/Notch signaling pathway and plays an important role in cerebellum development (Wong et al., 2014). In this review, we discuss various roles of adropin in central nervous system pathogenesis via different intra and extra cellular signaling pathways as well as its therapeutic potentials.

## Adropin and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor 2 (VEGFR2)

VEGFR2—a tyrosine kinase receptor—is especially expressed in endothelial cells and regulates endothelial function and angiogenesis. Adropin strongly upregulates this receptor, activates PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 pathways, and enhances eNOS thus, modulating NO bioavailability (Lovren et al., 2010; **Figure 1**). Hypoxic insults enhance hypoxia-inducible factor-1a (HIF-1a), and VEGF gene expression as its downstream signaling pathway (Mu et al., 2003). VEGF is involved in neurogenesis and has a neuroprotection function. This has been discussed under "Adropin and Neurogenesis" section in more details.

## Role of Adropin in Activation of PI3K/Akt Signaling Pathway

PI3K induces the phosphorylation of Akt (also known as protein kinase B) under the effect of growth factors such as VEGF, cytokines, insulin, and other cellular stimuli (**Figure 1**). Activation of Akt requires consequent phosphorylation on Thr-308 and Ser-473. Once Ser-473 is phosphorylated, Akt is fully activated regardless of Thr-308 phosphorylation status (Wang et al., 2009). Adropin can activate Akt by stimulating Ser-473 phosphorylation (Lovren et al., 2010).

Phosphorylated-Akt provokes cell cycle progression, proliferation, differentiation, and survival (Blanco-aparicio et al., 2007; Manning and Cantley, 2007). Moreover, this pathway triggers intracellular ligands such as mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR)—which plays an important role in angiogenesis, neuronal regeneration, synaptic plasticity, inflammatory responses, and apoptosis (Annovazzi et al., 2009; Chen et al., 2012; Li et al., 2015). Thereby, PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway may be a target of stroke therapeutic agents (Li et al., 2015).

Neurodegenerative conditions such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's and Huntington's diseases are associated with defective Akt signaling (Colin et al., 2005; Griffin et al., 2005; Timmons et al., 2009; Giralt et al., 2010). Similarly, damaged Akt/GSK3 $\beta$  (the serine/threonine kinase glycogen synthase kinase 3 $\beta$ ) signaling pathway plays a role in the pathophysiology of neuropsychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia and bipolar disorders (Emamian et al., 2004; Jope, 2011). Since, variation in AKT1—one of the three genes encoding Akt—has been associated with schizophrenia and bipolar disorders (Ikeda et al., 2004; Karege et al., 2012), PI3K/Akt activation by adropin might also have a therapeutic potential in disorders such as Parkinson's (Burke, 2007; Timmons et al., 2009) and schizophrenia (Schwab et al., 2005) as discussed below:

#### Ischemic Insult

Cerebral ischemic injuries cause neural loss secondary to apoptosis or necrosis—which can be triggered by oxidative stress, metabolic compromise and disruption of calcium homeostasis at the cellular level (Mattson et al., 2001). Altintas et al. demonstrated that infarct size is positively correlated with blood adropin level in animal models of cerebral ischemia (Altintas et al., 2016). Activation of Akt by adropin can prevent neuronal and cellular death, (Chong et al., 2005) and might contribute to neuro-protective effect of ischemic postconditioning (Gao et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009). PI3K/Akt pathway induces mTOR and also attenuates apoptotic proteins such as GSK3β and forkhead family of transcription factor. Thereby, inactivation of Akt might contribute to neuronal apoptosis and pathogenesis of ischemic stroke (Noshita et al., 2001; Franke et al., 2003; Hanumanthappa et al., 2014; Li et al., 2015).

## Huntington Disease (HD)

Abnormal expansion of a polyglutamine stretch in the N terminus of protein huntingtin is responsible for neuropathology of HD (Humbert et al., 2002). Induction of Akt Ser-473 phosphorylation attenuates mutant huntingtin toxicity and makes the cell more resistance to apoptotic signals by modulating proteins such as GSK3 $\beta$  and FOXO1 (Humbert et al., 2002; Manning and Cantley, 2007). In addition, activated Akt decreases intranuclear inclusions of mutant huntingtin (Humbert et al., 2002). It was demonstrated that maintaining high levels of activated Akt may delay cell death and allow the recovery of neuronal viability after mutant huntingtin silencing (Canals, 2004).



#### Parkinson's Disease (PD)

Timmons and colleagues showed that Akt is expressed at high levels in tyrosine hydroxylase dopaminergic neurons. Selective loss of these neurons and diminished phosphorylated Akt at Ser-473 is obvious in the brain of patients with Parkinson's disease (Timmons et al., 2009). The glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) as the downstream of phosphorylated Akt has neuroprotective effect against dopaminergic neurodegeneration (Ries et al., 2006). Thus, medications like adropin that target the dopaminergic system via Akt activation or those with the potential to increase the phosphorylated Akt have neuroprotective characteristics in PD (Ries et al., 2006; Burke, 2007; Levy et al., 2009; Timmons et al., 2009).

#### Schizophrenia

AKT1 gene single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and haplotype studies indicated the involvement of Akt in Schizophrenia (Ikeda et al., 2004; Schwab et al., 2005; Thiselton et al., 2008). Expression or activity of AKT1 and phosphorylation of its substrate—GSK3β—is reduced in Schizophrenic patients (Emamian et al., 2004; Kalkman, 2006). As summarized by Beaulieu and colleagues, many of the antipsychotics and psychoactive substances modulate dopamine-dependent behaviors through Akt/GSK3β signaling pathway (Beaulieu et al., 2007). In addition, Schizophrenia is associated with insulin receptor deficit, disruptive insulin dependent Akt signaling and insulin resistance (Zhao et al., 2006). Adropin might be a potent therapeutic agent in Schizophrenia while it enhances Akt phosphorylation (Lovren et al., 2010) and prevents insulin resistance (Ganesh Kumar et al., 2012).

#### Alzheimer's Disease (AD)

Activation of PI3K/Akt/Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling induces neurogenesis and reverse cognitive deficit in AD animal models (Tiwari et al., 2015). In addition, reduced phospho-Akt and increased FOXO3a levels in the nuclei of neurons where proapototic genes were activated can cause adipokine dyshomeostasis, oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, and eventually neurodegeneration (Nuzzo et al., 2015). These data suggest Akt might be the link between insulin resistance, obesity, and AD.

#### **Bipolar Disorder**

Regulation of Akt/mTOR pathway is critical in synaptic neurotransmission and plasticity, as well as modulating cell proliferation and migration. There is evidence of excitotoxicity, neuroinflammation, and brain atrophy in BD due to apoptosis and disturbed synaptic function. A cadaver study on BD postmortem prefrontal cortex demonstrated an elevation in protein and mRNA levels of the pro-apoptotic factors (Bax, BAD, caspase-9 and caspase-3) and reduction in anti-apoptotic factors (BDNF and Bcl-2) and the synaptic markers (synaptophysin and drebrin) (Kim et al., 2010). The Bax/Bcl-2 ratio appeared to be crucial in deciding the life or death of a cell and was increased in the above study. In another study, blood AKT1and mTOR mRNA expression decreased in BD during depressive episodes comparing to healthy controls, supporting an integrated Akt/mTOR signaling pathway activity in the pathogenesis of BD (Machado-Vieira et al., 2015). In accordance, activation of mTOR by N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonists results in rapid antidepressant effect in animal models (Li et al., 2010).

Study on animals under high-fat diet showed that obesity may desensitize serotonin-dependent Akt/GSK3 $\beta$  signaling and impair cell proliferation in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus, and cause depression (Papazoglou et al., 2014). Available evidence support the notion that enhancing the inhibitory control of Akt/GSK3 $\beta$  is a key component of the therapeutic actions of drugs used to treat mood disorders (Li and Jope, 2010).

# Adropin and Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinases 1/2 (ERK1/2)

ERK 1/2 is a member of the mitogen-activated protein kinase family. Adropin via VEGFR2 can activate ERK 1/2 and its downstream cascades of substances such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (**Figure 1**; Lovren et al., 2010). BNDF promotes neuronal development, differentiation, survival and neurological function improvement following brain injury and ischemia (Zhu et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2015). Ischemic postconditioning, both early and delayed, may further reduce reperfusion injury via ERK 1/2 and BDNF activation (Wu et al., 2015). In contrast, post-ischemic inhibition of ERK 1/2 in diabetic rats may mitigate DNA repairing ability, accelerated apoptosis and aggravate neuronal loss (Zhao et al., 2014). In addition, ERK 1/2 activation induces nuclear factor erythroid 2related factor2 (Nrf2) and protects neurons against beta-amyloidinduced cell death and oxidative stress.

## Adropin and Nitric Oxide Synthase (NOS)

One of the endothelial protective functions of adropin is regulation of nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability (Lovren et al., 2010). NO promotes angiogenesis, reparative vasculogenesis and acts as an anti-atherosclerotic, anti-inflammatory and antithrombotic factor.

NO is generated by nitric oxide synthase (NOS) that is upregulated by PI3K/Akt and ERK 1/2 signaling pathways (Figure 1) (Lovren et al., 2010; Peng et al., 2012). NOS polymorphisms and diminished endothelial NOS expression are associated with spontaneous cerebral thrombosis and infarction, progressive cerebral amyloid angiopathy, blood brain barrier breakdown, and cognitive impairment—characteristics of cerebral small vessel disease, stroke and neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (Hassan, 2004; Jeynes and Provias, 2009; Tan et al., 2015). Additionally, Tan et al. evidenced that this vascular occlusion occurs exclusively at the same hypoperfused areas identified in preclinical Alzheimer's disease (temporoparietal and retrosplenial granular cortexes, and hippocampus; Tan et al., 2015).

Adropin directly upregulates NOS expression in both *in-vivo* and *in-vitro* endothelial cells resulting in proliferation,

migration, and capillary-like tube formation and diminished permeability and apoptosis of these cells (Lovren et al., 2010). Moreover, upregulation of NOS increases cerebral blood flow and prevents stress-induced hypotension, inflammation, apoptosis and cerebral ischemia (Lin et al., 2010). Thus, early administration of nitric oxide or its precursor to patients with acute stroke has been shown to affect lesion size, cerebral blood flow, mood, cognition and quality of life (Willmot et al., 2005; Woodhouse et al., 2015).

# Adropin and Cluster of Differentiation 36 (CD36)

CD36 is a member of the class B scavenger receptor family and is activated by various ligands with diverse cellular responses such as the production of free radicals, induction of inflammatory responses, and endothelial dysfunction (Cho, 2005, 2012). CD36 has anti-angiogenic nature and downregulates VEGFR2 phosphorylation, (Primo et al., 2005) and through its ligands such as oxLDL (a major factor in the development of atherosclerosis) causes endothelial cell stiffness and atherosclerosis (Shentu et al., 2010). Adropin downregulates CD36 gene expression and cell surface CD36 protein levels which indicate a potential reduction of muscle fatty acid uptake (Gao et al., 2015). Alongside, adropin treatment has been shown to downregulate peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator-1 $\alpha$  (PGC-1 $\alpha$ ) that regulates expression of CD36 (Gao et al., 2015).

CD36 is known to be one of the underlying causes of cerebrovascular and neurodegenerative diseases. Accumulation of  $\beta$ -Amyloid (a CD36 ligand) in the vicinity of plaques of Alzheimer's disease, and in the cerebrovascular wall of hemorrhagic stroke had been described (Winkler et al., 2001; Hernandez-Guillamon et al., 2012). Increased CD36 gene expression following blood-brain barrier damage and circulating amyloid  $\beta$  protein following ischemic insult might contribute to the pathogenesis of vascular dementia and bridge the gap between vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease (Lee et al., 2005; Ueno et al., 2016).

## Adropin and Glucose Oxidation

Adropin upregulates glucose oxidation via decreasing acetylation of pyruvate dehydrogenase complex (PDHC, a rate-limiting enzyme in glucose oxidation) and down-regulating pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase-4 (PDK-4)- a PDHC inhibitor. PDHC is a mitochondrial matrix enzyme complex that catalyzes oxidative decarboxylation of pyruvate to produce acetyl-CoA, which plays a critical role in cerebral aerobic energy metabolism (Cardell et al., 1989; Martin et al., 2005). Impaired cerebral energy metabolism and PDHC activity are seen in acute brain injury and chronic neurodegenerative conditions such as Alzheimer's disease and Wernicke-Korsakoff syndrome (Martin et al., 2005). PDHC activity is attenuated after brain ischemia (Cardell et al., 1989; Martin et al., 2005). This reperfusion dependent suppression might be due to the depressed activity of pyruvate dehydrogenase phosphatase or oxidative stress (because of hyperoxic resuscitation) (Martin et al., 2005). Inactivation of PDHC can be a possible cause of post-ischemic metabolic depression, prolonged intracellular lactic acidosis, and secondary tissue energy depletion, which contribute to neuronal injury and neurological impairment (Cardell et al., 1989; Martin et al., 2005). In addition, compensating the enzyme activity by administration of acetyl-L-carnitine which is converted to acetyl-Co or dichloroacetate (DCA) improves neurologic outcome (Rosenthal et al., 1992; Martin et al., 2005). Adropin treatment in animal studies increases the ratio of CoA/acetyl-CoA which directly promote PDHC activity and pyruvate oxidation (Gao et al., 2015).

## Adropin and Endothelial Permeability

The involvement of Adropin in endothelial permeability was originally described by Lovren and coworkers in 2010 (Lovren et al., 2010). Adropin attenuates the hypoxic/low glycemic induced paracellular permeability by inhibiting ROCK/MLC2 signaling pathway (Figure 1; Yang et al., 2016). As described by Wojciak-Stothard and Ridley, the endothelial permeability is determined by intercellular junctions integrity and basal intracellular actinomyosin contractility (Wojciak-Stothard and Ridley, 2002). Rho GTPases such as Rac 1 and Rho A act antagonistically to regulate endothelial permeability (Wojciak-Stothard and Ridley, 2002; Wojciak-Stothard et al., 2006). Rac 1 enhances the cellular junction and adherence, (Wojciak-Stothard et al., 2006) and inhibits Rho under chronic ischemia (Wojciak-Stothard et al., 2005). In contrast, Rho A and its downstream Rho-associated protein kinase (ROCK) enhance the marginal cell isometric tension and actinomysin contractility (Wojciak-Stothard et al., 2006). Hypoxic/hypoglycemic condition induces activation of Rho/ROCK signaling pathway by stimulating Kras effector pathways independent of HIF-1 (Mizukami et al., 2006; Wojciak-Stothard et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2016) (Figure 1). Activated ROCK promotes direct phosphorylation of myosin light chain 2 (MLC2) at Ser19 site and inhibition of myosin light chain phosphatase (MLCP). Phosphorylated MLC2 enhances actinomyosin contractility, intracellular tension and increases cellular permeability (Yang et al., 2016). In addition, down regulation of Rac 1 induces actin formation via Rho activation and intensifies contractility (Wojciak-Stothard et al., 2006; Weidemann et al., 2013).

## Adropin and Neurogenesis

Induction of mesenchymal cells with inhibitors of prolyl hydroxylase—a key enzyme in HIF-1 $\alpha$  degradation—promotes mesenchymal cells differentiation to morphologically neuron-like cells (Pacary et al., 2006). HIF-1 $\alpha$  production under ischemic conditions induces potentially neurogenic factors— EPO (erythropoietin), p21 and VEGF (Jin et al., 2002; Yu et al., 2002; Pacary et al., 2006). Animal models of ischemic stroke demonstrated functions for VEGF in neuroprotection (better neurological outcomes and smaller infarct volume), neurogenesis (in both early and delayed phases in neuronal precursors) and in angiogenesis (endothelial cell proliferation, migration, survival and vascular permeability) (Jin et al., 2001; Sun et al., 2003; Shimotake et al., 2010). Although neurogenesis and angiogenesis are known to be coupled, the neurotrophic potential of VEGF might be independent of angiogenesis: VEGF induces axonal

outgrowth—by acting on growing axons and nerve cell bodies and suppresses the cell-death pathways mediated by calpaindependent and caspase-3-dependent mechanisms (Sondell et al., 2000; Jin et al., 2001; Shimotake et al., 2010).

Recent studies demonstrated that inhibition of Rho/ROCK signaling pathway enhances HIF-1 activity and upregulates EPO, VEGF and p21, and consequently potentiates neurogenesis (Pacary et al., 2007, 2008). Adropin might be a novel candidate to promote neurogenesis as it can inhibit the Rho/ ROCK pathway without affecting VEGF level (Yang et al., 2016).

# Adropin and Orphan G Protein-Coupled Receptor (GPR19)

Stein et al. discovered GPR19 as a potential adropin receptor (Stein et al., 2016). GPR19 is a transmembrane receptor similar to the neuropeptide Y receptors and the dopamine D2 receptor family (O'Dowd et al., 1996). GPR19 is more likely expressed in cerebellum, caudate, putamen, thalamus, hypothalamus, hippocampus, frontal cortex and olfactory bulb (O'Dowd et al., 1996; Hoffmeister-Ullerich et al., 2004). Transcripts of GPR19 can be detected in neuroectodermal origin tissues in early embryogenesis, and they are gradually restricted to the regions of the developing brain (Hoffmeister-Ullerich et al., 2004). Signal transduction through GPR19 enhances ERK and Akt phosphorylation in cerebral neurons (Hossain et al., 2016). Recently, Stein et al. described the adropin function in water intake inhibition through GPR19 (Stein et al., 2016). However, the distribution of GPR19 and potency of its downstream signaling pathways suggest more critical actions for adropin in neuronal development and protection.

## CONCLUSION

Studies regarding the effects of adropin in different organs are still in infancy stage, but increasing evidence suggest that this peptide has unique effects on endothelial cell function via upregulating eNOS expression through the VEGFR2-PI3K-Akt, VEGFR2-ERK 1/2 pathways and inhibition of Rho/ROCK pathway. However, our current knowledge mainly comes from animal studies or treatment with the putative secreted domain of adropin. Whether these findings are transferable to clinical studies needs to be determined. Moreover, adropin may be utilized as a promising biomarker for CNS disease risk stratification or diagnosis, and/or a potential therapeutic candidate in CNS injuries. Although adropin seems to be a novel target to limit vascular diseases, in parallel with the documented effects on metabolic modulation, further investigations are needed to elucidate the specific mechanism underlying the association between adropin and CNS diseases.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Study concept and design: SA, RZ. Acquisition of data: SS, SA, TP, RZ. Drafting and critical revision of manuscript: SS, SA, TP, RZ. Study supervision: TP, RZ.

## REFERENCES

- Altincik, A., and Sayin, O. (2015). Evaluation of the relationship between serum adropin levels and blood pressure in obese children. J. Pediatr. Endocrinol. Metab. 28, 1095–1100. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2015-0051
- Altintas, O., Kumas, M., and Altintas, M. (2016). Neuroprotective effect of ischemic preconditioning via modulating the expression of adropin and oxidative markers against transient cerebral ischemia in diabetic rats. *Peptides* 79, 31–38. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2016.03.011
- Annovazzi, L., Mellai, M., Caldera, V., Valente, G., Tessitore, L., and Schiffer, D. (2009). mTOR, S6 and AKT expression in relation to proliferation and apoptosis/autophagy in glioma. *Anticancer Res.* 29, 3087–3094.
- Aydin, S. (2014). Three new players in energy regulation: preptin, adropin and irisin. *Peptides* 56, 94–110. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2014.03.021
- Aydin, S., Kuloglu, T., Aydin, S., Eren, M. N., Yilmaz, M., Kalayci, M., et al. (2013). Expression of adropin in rat brain, cerebellum, kidneys, heart, liver, and pancreas in streptozotocin-induced diabetes. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 380, 73–81. doi: 10.1007/s11010-013-1660-4
- Aydin, S., Kuloglu, T., Aydin, S., Kalayci, M., and Yilmaz, M., Çakmak, T., et al. (2014). Elevated adropin: a candidate diagnostic marker for myocardial infarction in conjunction with troponin-I. *Peptides* 58, 91–97. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2014.06.001
- Beaulieu, J.-M., Gainetdinov, R. R., and Caron, M. G. (2007). The Akt–GSK-3 signaling cascade in the actions of dopamine. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 28, 166–172. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2007.02.006
- Blanco-aparicio, C., Renner, O., Leal, J. F. M., and Carnero, A. (2007). PTEN, more than the AKT Pathway. *Carcinogenesis* 28, 1379–1386. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgm052
- Burke, R. E. (2007). Inhibition of mapk and stimulation of akt kinase signaling pathways: two approaches with therapeutic potential in the treatment of neurodegenerative disease. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 114, 261–277. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2007.02.002
- Canals, J. M. (2004). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor regulates the onset and severity of motor dysfunction associated with enkephalinergic neuronal degeneration in huntington's disease. J. Neurosci. 24, 7727–7739. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1197-04.2004
- Cardell, M., Koide, T., and Wieloch, T. (1989). Pyruvate dehydrogenase activity in the rat cerebral cortex following cerebral ischemia. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 9, 350–357. doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.1989.53
- Celik, A., Balin, M., Kobat, M. A., Erdem, K., Baydas, A., Bulut, M., et al. (2013). Deficiency of a new protein associated with cardiac syndrome X; called adropin. *Cardiovasc. Ther.* 31, 174–178. doi: 10.1111/1755-5922.12025
- Chen, H., Qu, Y., Tang, B., Xiong, T., and Mu, D. (2012). Role of mammalian target of rapamycin in hypoxic or ischemic brain injury: potential neuroprotection and limitations. *Rev. Neurosci.* 23, 279–287. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2012-0001
- Cho, S. (2005). The class B scavenger receptor CD36 mediates free radical production and tissue injury in cerebral ischemia. J. Neurosci. 25, 2504–2512. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0035-05.2005
- Cho, S. (2012). CD36 as a therapeutic target for endothelial dysfunction in stroke. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 18, 3721–3730. doi: 10.2174/1381612128020 02760
- Chong, Z. Z., Li, F., and Maiese, and, K. (2005). Activating Akt and the brain's resources to drive cellular survival and prevent inflammatory injury. *Histol. Histopathol.* 20, 299–315.
- Colin, E., Régulier, E., Perrin, V., Dürr, A., Brice, A., Aebischer, P., et al. (2005). Akt is altered in an animal model of Huntington's disease and in patients. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 21, 1478–1488. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.03985.x
- Demircelik, B. (2014). Adropin: a new marker for predicting late saphenous vein graft disease after coronary artery bypass. *Grafting* 37, 338–344.
- Demircelik, B., and Kurtul, A. (2015). The relationship between adropin levels and the slow coronary flow phenomenon. *Ind. J. Clin. Biochem.* 30, 412–417. doi: 10.1007/s12291-014-0470-0
- Emamian, E. S., Hall, D., Birnbaum, M. J., Karayiorgou, M., and Gogos, J., a (2004). Convergent evidence for impaired AKT1-GSK3beta signaling in schizophrenia. *Nat. Genet.* 36, 131–137. doi: 10.1038/ng1296
- Franke, T. F., Hornik, C. P., Segev, L., Shostak, G. A., and Sugimoto, C. (2003). PI3K/Akt and apoptosis: size matters. Oncogene 22, 8983–8998. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1207115

- Ganesh Kumar, K., Zhang, J., Gao, S., Rossi, J., McGuinness, O. P., Halem, H. H., et al. (2012). Adropin deficiency is associated with increased adiposity and insulin resistance. *Obesity* 20, 1394–1402. doi: 10.1038/oby.2012.31
- Gao, S., Mcmillan, R. P., Zhu, Q., Lopaschuk, G. D., Hulver, M. W., and Butler, A. A. (2015). Therapeutic effects of adropin on glucose tolerance and substrate utilization in diet- induced obese mice with insulin resistance. *Mol. Metab.* 4, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2015.01.005
- Gao, X., Zhang, H., Takahashi, T., Hsieh, J., Liao, J., Steinberg, G., et al. (2008). The Akt signaling pathway contributes to postconditioning's protection against stroke; the protection is associated with the MAPK and PKC pathways. J. Neurochem. 105, 943–955. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05218.x
- Giralt, A., Torres-peraza, J. F., Canals, J. M., and D.I. M. (2010). PH domain leucine-rich repeat protein phosphatase 1 contributes to maintain the activation of the PI3K / Akt pro-survival pathway in Huntington's disease striatum. *Cell Death Differ*. 17, 324–335. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2009.127
- Gozal, D., Kheirandish-Gozal, L., Bhattacharjee, R., Molero-Ramirez, H., Tan, H.-L., and Bandla, H. P. R. (2013). Circulating adropin concentrations in pediatric obstructive sleep apnea: potential relevance to endothelial function. *J. Pediatr.* 163, 1122–1126. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.05.040
- Griffin, R. J., Moloney, A., Kelliher, M., Johnston, J. A., Ravid, R., Dockery, P., et al. (2005). Activation of Akt/PKB, increased phosphorylation of Akt substrates and loss and altered distribution of Akt and PTEN are features of Alzheimer's disease pathology. J. Neurochem. 93, 105–117. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2004.02949.x
- Gu, X., Li, H., Zhu, X., Gu, H., and Chen, J. (2015). Inverse correlation between plasma adropin and ET-1 levels in essential hypertension a cross-sectional study. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 94, 1–5. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000001712
- Hanumanthappa, P., Densi, A., and Krishnamurthy, R. G. (2014). Glycogen Synthase Kinase-β3 in Ischemic Neuronal Death. Curr. Neurovasc. Res. 11, 271–278. doi: 10.2174/1567202611666140520151002
- Hassan, A. (2004). Endothelial nitric oxide gene haplotypes and risk of cerebral small-vessel disease. *Stroke* 35, 654–659. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000117238.75736.53
- Hernandez-Guillamon, M., Martinez-Saez, E., Delgado, P., Domingues-Montanari, S., Boada, C., Penalba, A., et al. (2012). MMP-2/MMP-9 plasma level and brain expression in cerebral amyloid angiopathyassociated hemorrhagic stroke. *Brain Pathol.* 22, 133–141. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2011.00512.x
- Hoffmeister-Ullerich, S. A. H., Süsens, U., and Schaller, H. C. (2004). The orphan G-protein-coupled receptor GPR19 is expressed predominantly in neuronal cells during mouse embryogenesis. *Cell Tissue Res.* 318, 459–463. doi: 10.1007/s00441-004-0948-9
- Hossain, M. S., Mineno, K., and Katafuchi, T. (2016). Neuronal orphan g-protein coupled receptor proteins mediate plasmalogens-induced activation of ERK and Akt signaling. *PLoS ONE* 11:e0150846. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0150846
- Humbert, S., Bryson, E., A., Cordelières, F. P., Connors, N. C., Datta, S. R., Finkbeiner, S., et al. (2002). The IGF-1/Akt pathway is neuroprotective in Huntington's disease and involves huntingtin phosphorylation by Akt. *Dev. Cell* 2, 831–837. doi: 10.1016/S1534-5807(02)00188-0
- Ikeda, M., Iwata, N., Suzuki, T., Kitajima, T., Yamanouchi, Y., Kinoshita, Y., et al. (2004). Association of AKT1 with schizophrenia confirmed in a Japanese population. *Biol. Psychiatry* 56, 698–700. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.07.023
- Jeynes, B., and Provias, J. (2009). Significant negative correlations between capillary expressed eNOS and Alzheimer lesion burden. *Neurosci. Lett.* 463, 244–248. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.07.091
- Jin, K., Mao, X. O., Batteur, S. P., McEachron, E., Leahy, A., and Greenberg, D. A. (2001). Caspase-3 and the regulation of hypoxic neuronal death by vascular endothelial growth factor. *Neuroscience* 108, 351–358. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4522(01)00154-3
- Jin, K., Zhu, Y., Sun, Y., Mao, X. O., Xie, L., and Greenberg, D. A. (2002). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) stimulates neurogenesis *in vitro* and *in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 11946–11950. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1822 96499
- Jope, R. S. (2011). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 in the etiology and treatment of mood disorders. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 4:16. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2011.00016
- Kalkman, H. O. (2006). The role of the phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase-protein kinase B pathway in schizophrenia. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 110, 117–134. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2005.10.014

- Karege, F., Méary, A., Perroud, N., Jamain, S., Leboyer, M., Ballmann, E., et al. (2012). Genetic overlap between schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a study with AKT1 gene variants and clinical phenotypes. *Schizophr. Res.* 135, 8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2011.12.015
- Kim, H.-W., Rapoport, S. I., and Rao, J. S. (2010). Altered expression of apoptotic factors and synaptic markers in postmortem brain from bipolar disorder patients. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 37, 596–603. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.11.010
- Kumar, K. G., Trevaskis, J. L., Lam, D. D., Sutton, G. M., Koza, R. A., Chouljenko, V. N., et al. (2008). Identification of adropin as a secreted factor linking dietary macronutrient intake with energy homeostasis and lipid metabolism. *Cell Metab.* 8, 468–481. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2008.10.011
- Lee, P. H., Bang, O. Y., Hwang, E. M., Lee, J. S., Joo, U. S., Mook-Jung, I., et al. (2005). Circulating beta amyloid protein is elevated in patients with acute ischemic stroke. *J. Neural Transm.* 112, 1371–1379. doi: 10.1007/s00702-004-0274-0
- Levy, O., a., Malagelada, C., and Greene, L., A. (2009). Cell death pathways in Parkinson's disease: proximal triggers, distal effectors, and final steps. *Apoptosis* 14, 478–500. doi: 10.1007/s10495-008-0309-3
- Li, L., Xie, W., Zheng, X. L., Yin, W. D., and Tang, C. K. (2016). A novel peptide adropin in cardiovascular diseases. *Clin. Chim. Acta* 453, 107–113. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2015.12.010
- Li, N., Lee, B., Liu, R.-J., Banasr, M., Dwyer, J. M., Iwata, M., et al. (2010). mTORdependent synapse formation underlies the rapid antidepressant effects of NMDA antagonists. *Science* 329, 959. doi: 10.1126/science.1190287
- Li, W., Yang, Y., Hu, Z., Ling, S., and Fang, M. (2015). Neuroprotective effects of DAHP and Triptolide in focal cerebral ischemia via apoptosis inhibition and PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway activation. *Front. Neuroanat.* 9:48. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2015.00048
- Li, X., and Jope, R. S. (2010). Is glycogen synthase kinase-3 a central modulator in mood regulation? *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 2143–2154. doi: 10.1038/npp.2010.105
- Lian, W., Gu, X., Qin, Y., and Zheng, X. (2011). Elevated plasma levels of adropin in heart failure patients. *Intern. Med.* 50, 1523–1527. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.50.5163
- Lin, H., Wu, C., and Huang, C. (2010). The Akt-endothelial nitric oxide synthase pathway in hypoxic – ischemic tolerance in the neonatal rat brain. *Stroke* 1543–1551. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.574004
- Lovren, F., Pan, Y., Quan, A., Singh, K. K., Shukla, P. C., Gupta, M., et al. (2010). Adropin is a novel regulator of endothelial function. *Circulation* 122, S185–S192. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.931782
- Machado-Vieira, R., Zanetti, M. V., Teixeira, A. L., Uno, M., Valiengo, L. L., Soeiro-de-Souza, M. G., et al. (2015). Decreased AKT1/mTOR pathway mRNA expression in short-term bipolar disorder. *Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol.* 25, 468–473. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2015.02.002
- Manning, B. D., and Cantley, L. C. (2007). AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream. Cell 129, 1261–1274. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.06.009
- Martin, E., Rosenthal, R. E., and Fiskum, G. (2005). Pyruvate dehydrogenase complex: Metabolic link to ischemic brain injury and target of oxidative stress. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 79, 240–247. doi: 10.1002/jnr.20293
- Mattson, M. P., Duan, W., Pedersen, W. A., and Culmsee, C. (2001). Neurodegenerative disorders and ischemic brain diseases. *Apoptosis* 6, 69–81. doi: 10.1023/A:1009676112184
- Mizukami, Y., Fujiki, K., Duerr, E.-M., Gala, M., Jo, W.-S., Zhang, X., et al. (2006). Hypoxic regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor through the induction of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Rho/ROCK and c-Myc. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 13957–13963. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M511763200
- Mu, D., Jiang, X., Sheldon, R. A., Fox, C. K., Hamrick, S. E. G., Vexler, Z. S., et al. (2003). Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1α and induction of vascular endothelial growth factor in a rat neonatal stroke model. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 14, 524–534. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2003.08.020
- Noshita, N., Lewén, A., Sugawara, T., and Chan, P. H. (2001). Evidence of phosphorylation of Akt and neuronal survival after transient focal cerebral ischemia in mice. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 21, 1442–1450. doi: 10.1097/00004647-200112000-00009
- Nuzzo, D., Picone, P., Baldassano, S., Caruana, L., Messina, E., Gammazza, A. M., et al. (2015). Insulin resistance as common molecular denominator linking obesity to Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 12, 723–35. doi: 10.2174/1567205012666150710115506

- O'Dowd, B. F., Nguyen, T., Lynch, K. R., Kolakowski, L. F., Thompson, M., Cheng, R., et al. (1996). A novel gene codes for a putative G protein-coupled receptor with an abundant expression in brain. *FEBS Lett.* 394, 325–329. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(96)00901-5
- Oğurel, T., Oğurel, R., and Topuz, M., Örnek, N., and Örnek, K. (2016). Plasma adropin level in patients with pseudoexfoliation. *Int. Ophthalmol.* doi: 10.1007/s10792-016-0185-8. [Epub ahead of print].
- Pacary, E., Legros, H., Valable, S., Duchatelle, P., Lecocq, M., Petit, E., et al. (2006). Synergistic effects of CoCl(2) and ROCK inhibition on mesenchymal stem cell differentiation into neuron-like cells. J. Cell Sci. 119, 2667–2678. doi: 10.1242/jcs.03004
- Pacary, E., Petit, E., and Bernaudin, M. (2008). Concomitant inhibition of prolyl hydroxylases and ROCK initiates differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells and PC12 towards the neuronal lineage. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 377, 400–406. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.09.145
- Pacary, E., Tixier, E., Coulet, F., Roussel, S., Petit, E., and Bernaudin, M. (2007). Crosstalk between HIF-1 and ROCK pathways in neuronal differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells, neurospheres and in PC12 neurite outgrowth. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 35, 409–423. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2007.04.002
- Papazoglou, I. K., Jean, A., Gertler, A., Taouis, M., and Vacher, C.-M. (2014). Hippocampal GSK3β as a molecular link between obesity and depression. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 363–374. doi: 10.1007/s12035-014-8863-x
- Peng, B., Guo, Q., He, Z., Ye, Z., Yuan, Y., Wang, N., et al. (2012). Remote ischemic postconditioning protects the brain from global cerebral ischemia / reperfusion injury by up-regulating endothelial nitric oxide synthase through the PI3K / Akt pathway. *Brain Res.* 1445, 92–102. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012. 01.033
- Primo, L., Ferrandi, C., Roca, C., Marchiò, S., di Blasio, L., Alessio, M., et al. (2005). Identification of CD36 molecular features required for its *in vitro* angiostatic activity. *FASEB J.* 19, 1713–1715. doi: 10.1096/fj.05-3697fje
- Ries, V., Henchcliffe, C., Kareva, T., Rzhetskaya, M., Bland, R., During, M. J., et al. (2006). Oncoprotein Akt/PKB induces trophic effects in murine models of Parkinson's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 18757–18762. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606401103
- Rosenthal, R. E., Williams, R., Bogaert, Y. E., Getson, P. R., and Fiskum, G. (1992). Prevention of postischemic canine neurological injury through potentiation of brain energy metabolism by acetyl-L-carnitine. *Stroke* 23, 1312–1318. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.23.9.1312
- Schwab, S. G., Hoefgen, B., Hanses, C., Hassenbach, M. B., Albus, M., Lerer, B., et al. (2005). Further evidence for association of variants in the AKT1 gene with schizophrenia in a sample of European sib-pair families. *Biol. Psychiatry* 58, 446–450. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.05.005
- Shentu, T. P., Titushkin, I., Singh, D. K., Gooch, K. J., Subbaiah, P. V., Cho, M., et al. (2010). oxLDL-induced decrease in lipid order of membrane domains is inversely correlated with endothelial stiffness and network formation. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 299, C218–C229. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.003 83.2009
- Shimotake, J., Derugin, N., Wendland, M., Vexler, Z. S., and Donna, M., Ferriero (2010). Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 inhibition promotes cell death and limits endothelial cell proliferation in a neonatal rodent model of stroke. *Stroke* 41, 343–349. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109. 564229
- Sondell, M., Sundler, F., and Kanje, M. (2000). Vascular endothelial growth factor is a neurotrophic factor which stimulates axonal outgrowth through the flk-1 receptor. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 12, 4243–4254. doi: 10.1046/j.0953-816X.2000.01326.x
- Stein, L. M., Yosten, G. L. C., and Samson, W. K. (2016). Adropin acts in brain to inhibit water drinking: potential interaction with the orphan G protein-coupled receptor, GPR19. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 310, R476–R480. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00511.2015
- Sun, Y., Jin, K., Xie, L., Childs, J., Mao, X. O., Logvinova, A., et al. (2003). VEGF-induced neuroprotection, neurogenesis, and angiogenesis after focal cerebral ischemia. *J. Clin. Invest.* 111, 1843–1851. doi: 10.1172/JCI2003 17977
- Tan, X.-L., Xue, Y.-Q., Ma, T., Wang, X., Li, J. J., Lan, L., et al. (2015). Partial eNOS deficiency causes spontaneous thrombotic cerebral infarction, amyloid angiopathy and cognitive impairment. *Mol. Neurodegener*. 10, 24. doi: 10.1186/s13024-015-0020-0

- Thiselton, D. L., Vladimirov, V. I., Kuo, P.-H., McClay, J., Wormley, B., Fanous, A., et al. (2008). AKT1 Is associated with schizophrenia across multiple symptom dimensions in the irish study of high density schizophrenia families. *Biol. Psychiatry* 63, 449–457. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.06.005
- Timmons, S., Coakley, M. F., Moloney, A. M., and Neill, C. O. (2009). Akt signal transduction dysfunction in Parkinson' s disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 467, 30–35. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.09.055
- Tiwari, S. K., Seth, B., Agarwal, S., Yadav, A., Karmakar, M., Gupta, S. K., et al. (2015). Ethosuximide induces hippocampal neurogenesis and reverses cognitive deficits in an Amyloid-β toxin-induced alzheimer rat model via the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt/Wnt/β-Catenin Pathway. *J Biol Chem* 290, 28540–28558. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.652586
- Ueno, M., Chiba, Y., Matsumoto, K., Murakami, R., Fujihara, R., Kawauchi, M., et al. (2016). Blood-brain barrier damage in vascular dementia. *Neuropathology* 36, 115–124. doi: 10.1111/neup.12262
- Wang, H., Wang, G., Yu, Y., and Wang, Y. (2009). The role of phosphoinositide-3-kinase/Akt pathway in propofol-induced postconditioning against focal cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. *Brain Res.* 1297, 177–184. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.08.054
- Weidemann, A., Breyer, J., Rehm, M., Eckardt, K.-U., Daniel, C., Cicha, I., et al. (2013). HIF-1α activation results in actin cytoskeleton reorganization and modulation of Rac-1 signaling in endothelial cells. *Cell Commun. Signal.* 11, 80. doi: 10.1186/1478-811X-11-80
- Willmot, M., Gray, L., Gibson, C., Murphy, S., and Bath, P. M. W. (2005). A systematic review of nitric oxide donors and l-arginine in experimental stroke; effects on infarct size and cerebral blood flow. *Nitric Oxide* 12, 141–149. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2005.01.003
- Winkler, D. T., Bondolfi, L., Herzig, M. C., Jann, L., Calhoun, M. E., Wiederhold, K. H., et al. (2001). Spontaneous hemorrhagic stroke in a mouse model of cerebral amyloid angiopathy. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 1619–1627.
- Wojciak-Stothard, B., and Ridley, A. J. (2002). Rho GTPases and the regulation of endothelial permeability. *Vascul. Pharmacol.* 39, 187–199. doi: 10.1016/S1537-1891(03)00008-9
- Wojciak-Stothard, B., Tsang, L. Y. F., and Hawrth, S. G. (2005). Rac and Rho play opposing roles in the regulation of hypoxia/reoxygenation-induced permeability changes in pulmonary artery endothelial cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 288, L749–L760. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00361.2004
- Wojciak-Stothard, B., Tsang, L. Y. F., Paleolog, E., Hall, S. M., and Haworth, S. G. (2006). Rac1 and RhoA as regulators of endothelial phenotype and barrier function in hypoxia-induced neonatal pulmonary hypertension. Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 290, L1173–L1182. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00309.2005
- Wong, C.-M., Wang, Y., Lee, J. T. H., Huang, Z., Wu, D., Xu, A., et al. (2014). Adropin is a brain membrane-bound protein regulating physical activity via the NB-3/notch signaling pathway in mice. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 25976–25986. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.576058
- Woodhouse, L., Scutt, P., Krishnan, K., Berge, E., Gommans, J., Ntaios, G., et al. (2015). Effect of hyperacute administration (within 6 hours) of transdermal glyceryl trinitrate, a nitric oxide donor, on outcome after stroke. *Stroke* 46, 00–00. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.009647

- Wu, H., Yang, S., Dai, J., Qiu, Y., Miao, Y., and Zhang, X. (2015). Combination of early and delayed ischemic postconditioning enhances brain-derived neurotrophic factor production by upregulating the ERK-CREB pathway in rats with focal ischemia. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 6427–6434. doi: 10.3892/mmr.20 15.4327
- Wu, L., Fang, J., Chen, L., Zhao, Z., Luo, Y., Lin, C., et al. (2014). Low serum adropin is associated with coronary atherosclerosis in type 2 diabetic and nondiabetic patients. *Clin. Chem. Lab. Med.* 52, 751–758. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2013-0844
- Yang, C., DeMars, K. M., Hawkins, K. E., and Candelario-Jalil, E. (2016). Adropin reduces paracellular permeability of rat brain endothelial cells exposed to ischemia-like conditions. *Peptides* 81, 29–37. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2016.03.009
- Yu, H., Zhao, P., Wu, M., Liu, J., and Yin, W. (2014). Serum adropin levels are decreased in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Regul. Pept.* 190, 46–49. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2014.04.001
- Yu, X. B., Shacka, J. J., Eells, J. B., Suarez-Quian, C., Przygodzki, R. M., Beleslin-Cokic, B., et al. (2002). Erythropoietin receptor signalling is required for normal brain development. *Development* 129, 505–516.
- Zhao, L. P., Xu, W. T., Wang, L., You, T., Chan, S. P., Zhao, X., et al. (2015b). Serum adropin level in patients with stable coronary artery disease. *Hear. Lung Circ.* 24, 975–979. doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2015.03.008
- Zhao, L. P., You, T., Chan, S. P., Chen, J. C., and Xu, W. T. (2015a). Adropin is associated with hyperhomocysteine and coronary atherosclerosis. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 1065–1070.
- Zhao, Y., Li, J., Tang, Q., Zhang, P., Jing, L., Chen, C., et al. (2014). Regulation of extracellular signal?regulated kinase 1/2 influences hippocampal neuronal survival in a rat model of diabetic cerebral ischemia. *Neural Regen. Res.* 9, 749–756. doi: 10.4103/1673-5374.131581
- Zhao, Z., Ksiezak-Reding, H., Riggio, S., Haroutunian, V., and Pasinetti, G. M. (2006). Insulin receptor deficits in schizophrenia and in cellular and animal models of insulin receptor dysfunction. *Schizophr. Res.* 84, 1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2006.02.009
- Zhu, Y. M., Wang, C. C., Chen, L., Qian, L. B., Ma, L. L., Yu, J., et al. (2013). Both PI3K/Akt and ERK1/2 pathways participate in the protection by dexmedetomidine against transient focal cerebral ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. *Brain Res.* 1494, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.11.047

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Shahjouei, Ansari, Pourmotabbed and Zand. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Advances in Stem Cell Research- A Ray of Hope in Better Diagnosis and Prognosis in Neurodegenerative Diseases

Shripriya Singh<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Akriti Srivastava<sup>1</sup>, Pranay Srivastava<sup>1</sup>, Yogesh K. Dhuriya<sup>1,2</sup>, Ankita Pandey<sup>1</sup>, Dipak Kumar<sup>1,2</sup> and Chetan S. Rajpurohit<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> System Toxicology and Health Risk Assessment Group, Council of Scientific and Industrial Research-Indian Institute of Toxicology Research, Lucknow, India, <sup>2</sup> Academy of Scientific and Innovative Research, Lucknow, India

Neurodegeneration and neurodegenerative disorders have been a global health issue affecting the aging population worldwide. Recent advances in stem cell biology have changed the current face of neurodegenerative disease modeling, diagnosis, and transplantation therapeutics. Stem cells also serve the purpose of a simple *in-vitro* tool for screening therapeutic drugs and chemicals. We present the application of stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) in the field of neurodegeneration and address the issues of diagnosis, modeling, and therapeutic transplantation strategies for the most prevalent neurodegenerative disorders. We have discussed the progress made in the last decade and have largely focused on the various applications of stem cells in the neurodegenerative research arena.

Keywords: neurodegenerative disorders, stem cells, Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs), disease modeling, diagnosis

## **INTRODUCTION**

Progress in the field of clinical research and medicine has decreased global mortality drastically. The developed countries have extended the life span of their aging population. However, the modern world is now faced with the issues of aging and age related disorders. Neurodegeneration and neurodegenerative disorders are one of the major health implications faced by the aging population. Neurodegeneration studies have largely benefited from neuropathology and in-vivo research (Agrawal and Biswas, 2015). Neurodegenerative disorders have been thoroughly investigated using animal models, primary cultures, and post mortem human brain tissues (Marchetto et al., 2011). Though informative, these approaches have some limitations. Data obtained from animal models fails to directly correlate with that of humans because a rodent brain is not an exact mimic of a human brain. Despite being highly conserved evolutionarily, mammalian genomes are not identical. The embryonic development of mice and humans are considerably different and almost 20% genetic variability is accounted for (Strachan et al., 1997). Therefore species' difference prevents the animal data from successful validation during clinical field trials which poses a severe economic burden. A study reported the failure of therapeutic drugs for treating amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in human beings, which had earlier proved effective in case of rodents (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2013). Preclinical studies often do not efficiently translate to the clinic and the clinical trial failures have been reported time and again (Prinz et al., 2011; Begley and Ellis, 2012). Primary

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Megha Agrawal, University of Illinois at Chicago, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Vimal Kishor Singh, Delhi Technological University, India Abhijit Biswas, University of Notre Dame, USA

#### \*Correspondence:

Shripriya Singh shripriyas9@rediffmail.com; shripriya.singh@iitr.res.in

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Diagnostics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences

Received: 30 April 2016 Accepted: 24 October 2016 Published: 08 November 2016

#### Citation:

Singh S, Srivastava A, Srivastava P, Dhuriya YK, Pandey A, Kumar D and Rajpurohit CS (2016) Advances in Stem Cell Research- A Ray of Hope in Better Diagnosis and Prognosis in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Front. Mol. Biosci. 3:72. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2016.00072 culture of neurons is challenging because these are the post mitotic differentiated cells which are difficult to sustain in the *invitro* conditions. Ethical constraints have held back human based research and thus the best possible source of human samples are the postmortem brain tissues. However, these autopsied samples depict the end stages of the disease and do not give much insight into the intricacies of the disease' developing stages (Marchetto et al., 2011). Researchers are not willing to subject the human beings to untested interventions, but the choices have been limited so far.

Majority of neurodegenerative disorders have been incurable (Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis) so far but timely diagnosis can help in the management and symptom alleviation. However, researchers across the world are continuously striving to achieve the cure and hope to achieve fruitful results in the near future. Neurodegeneration studies are largely divided into two major categories. One is the experimental modeling strategy which allows for a comprehensive understanding of the disease such as the etiology, pathophysiology, genotypic-phenotypic interactions, symptomatic, and mechanistic insights. The second is the medical approach which deals with the treatment, therapy, and disease management. Stem cells and iPSCs find widespread application for both, disease modeling as well as transplantation and regenerative therapeutics. In the present review we shall discuss the applicability of stem cell research in the field of neurodegenerative disease modeling and provide the current updates of how stem cell and induced pluripotent stem cell based studies have been employed to address the diagnosis and therapy of the most common neurodegenerative disorders. We shall briefly touch upon the advances and preferable methodologies employing stem cell and iPSC culture such as the three dimensional (3D) culture which has revolutionized the current trend of *in-vitro* studies. The article intends to highlight the fact, that though animal based *in-vivo* research is absolutely necessary for the neuroscience research, one cannot wholly and solely depend upon it and human based stem cell driven research has and will open newer avenues for the neurodegenerative disorders' modeling and treatment.

## STEM CELLS AND INDUCED PLURIPOTENT STEM CELLS (IPSCS) IN NEURODEGENERATION: WHY THE CHOICE?

It is easier to say that cells of human origin can be directly employed to generate a clearer picture of the neurodegenerative diseases but practically the approach is not as simple as it seems. The *in-vitro* scenario is devoid of an intact organ system, organ-organ interactions are missing and the blood supply and connective tissues are lacking. Every disease has its characteristic cellular, molecular, anatomical, genotypic, and phenotypic attributes. If one has to model these various aspects *in-vitro*, very specific cell types expressing the disease phenotypes are required. Sustaining the culture of such specific cells is another challenging task that requires standardized protocols, select growth conditions, and expertise. For example, Parkinson's disease requires the culture of dopaminergic neurons, ALS requires the culture of glial cells, motor neurons, and astrocytes and Huntington's disease requires the culture of medium spiny and striatal projection neurons as discussed in the later sections. All these requirements have been largely met by the use of stem cell technology.

Stem cells in brief are the naïve cells of the body with an exceptional ability to self-renew, proliferate, differentiate, and get programmed for multi-lineage commitment (Cananzi and De Coppi, 2012; Liu et al., 2013; Kumar et al., 2015). Their origin can either be fetal, embryonic, or adult tissues of the body (Nam et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2015). Despite a few ethical concerns stem cell biology is finding widespread applicability in the field of research and medicine. Stem cells can be practically converted into any possible cell type and thus are being routinely used to model diseases. Monogenic disorders with a clear cut cellular phenotype and high penetrance are comparatively easier to model than the late onset diseases involving a number of genes and showing less penetrance. In case of the monogenic disorders the disease associated gene is deliberately mutated via gene editing to obtain the stem cell models. Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) harboring the chromosomal aberrations are used for the modeling of the chromosomal diseases. The late onset complex diseases which cannot be prenatally diagnosed are modeled using patient derived iPSCs more effectively (Avior et al., 2016).

In-vivo animal models have so far been used to experimentally model diseases however, the data generated fails to recapitulate the human diseases and thus cannot be directly extrapolated (Yamanaka, 2009). This forms a major limitation of the various animal based studies. Only samples of human origin can be employed to overcome this major hurdle. Neurodegeneration leads to a gradual loss of brain functionality via an irreversible gradual loss of neurons and other cells of the central nervous system (Peng and Zeng, 2011). In this regard transplantation therapy is employed to restore and repair the damaged circuitry of the brain as well as to replenish the lost neuronal population (Thompson and Björklund, 2015). Successful commitment of stem cells toward the neuronal lineage is widely reported and myriad of protocols are available to achieve the same (Nikoletopoulou and Tavernarakis, 2012; Ferroni et al., 2013; Lu et al., 2015).

Diseases such as brain ischemia (Ju et al., 2014), spinal muscular atrophy (Frattini et al., 2015), spinal cord injury (Lukovic et al., 2015), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Nicaise et al., 2015), Machado-Joseph disease (Mendonça et al., 2015), and many more have been studied and stem cell therapy has been effectively employed for the same. Embryonic stem cells are pluripotent in nature and hold an excellent potential for restoring brain injuries and neurodegeneration via transplantation therapy, however tumor formation restricts their widespread application (Aleynik et al., 2014). Mesenchymal stem cells which are multipotent also find widespread application because they are immunomodulating in nature. Immunomodulation simply refers to the unique ability to escape the host's immune system surveillance thereby leading to successful transplants without eliciting an adverse immune response (Glenn and

Whartenby, 2014). Neural progenitor cells or NSCs isolated from fetal brain are again multipotent in nature and are stringently committed toward the neuronal lineage. They are suitable because of a reduced risk of tumor formation however they are difficult to procure and usually few in number (Jiang et al., 2012). Apart from naïve stem cells, iPSCs derived via a reverse programming of somatic cells finds widespread application now a days (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). Induced pluripotent stem cells are being produced in bulk and various iPSC cell lines are commercially made available. The use of Parp1 i.e., poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 for the production of iPSCs is now well reported and this has also reduced the tumor forming risk sufficiently (Chiou et al., 2013). However, the formation of teratomas has not been completely eliminated. Production of iPSCs is well reported from various somatic cells of the body such as the peripheral blood cells, hepatocytes, stomach cells (Okano et al., 2013), and keratinocytes (Aasen et al., 2008). It is now well reported that just 10 µl of capillary blood drawn from finger tips can be used to generate iPSCs (Tan et al., 2014). Patient derived induced pluripotent stem cells are widely used cells of human origin which can directly be used to model the various human neurodegenerative diseases (Sterneckert et al., 2014). Scientific groups have reported disease specific iPSCs cell lines (Dimos et al., 2008). Stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells have been widely used for modeling several neurodegenerative diseases as well as used in transplantation therapy. Spinal muscular atrophy has been efficiently modeled in-vitro using patient derived iPSCs (Sareen et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2013). The first of their kind, these iPSCs derived models efficiently depicted the disease phenotypes. However, iPSCs too have a few limitations. Neurodegenerative disorders are generally the late-onset diseases and symptoms begin to manifest with increasing age. Thus modeling such diseases via the animal models is not only time consuming but also cost heavy. It is generally assumed and even reported that patient derived iPSCs harbor the disease mutations and carry the epigenetic background of the patient, thus making them an excellent choice as the *in-vitro* disease models. However, when somatic cells are reprogrammed to an induced pluripotent state they lose the age associated features, undergo rejuvenation, and their embryonic age is reestablished. It is well reported that even aged donor derived iPSCs are rejuvenated and age reversal is evident as there is a loss/decrease in the markers of senescence, enhanced mitochondrial fitness, and an increased telomere length (Lapasset et al., 2011; Freije and López-Otín, 2012). Thus even these patient derived iPSCs do not effectively model the late onset neurodegenerative diseases as they lack the age related phenotypes. However, this hurdle has been largely overcome by progerin induced aging in the iPSCs (Miller et al., 2013). Progerin is a truncated transcript of lamin A (nuclear envelop protein) formed by mutation in the gene LMNA. Accumulation of progerin in the nuclear membrane results in the dysfunction of lamin A resulting in interrupted chromatin organization, cell cycle, telomere maintenance, and DNA damage response. High progerin levels are associated with aging. Age related phenotypes have been observed in the progerin exposed iPSCs such as degeneration of dendrites, neuromelanin accumulation,

AKT deregulation, mitochondrial swelling, and reduction in the TH-positive neurons (Miller et al., 2013). These iPSCs harboring the aging markers will thereby mimic the neurodegenerative disorders more efficiently. In the upcoming sections we shall discuss the application of stem cells and iPSCs for the most common and globally prevalent neurodegenerative disorders. **Figure 1** shows a diagrammatic representation of progress made in the field of stem cell research in context with neuroscience.

## ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE (AD)

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is described as "Presenile dementia" by German psychiatrist Alois Alzheimer and is one of the most prevalent neurodegenerative disorders of the world. It is a leading cause of dementia in the aging population and has lately been declared the sixth major reason for death. Patients having AD are reflected with cognitive deficits, memory loss, and behavioral changes and these changes are inherently associated with neurodegeneration (Blundell and Shah, 2015). Hippocampus, amygdala, neocortex, and basal forebrain regions of the brain are adversely affected leading to the severe impairment of cognition and memory. Neurofibrillary tangles (NFT) and  $\beta$ amyloid plaques are the pathological hallmarks of AD (Peng and Zeng, 2011). Hyperphosphorylation of tau proteins and amyloid peptide aggregates are responsible for the formation of NFT and β-amyloid plaques respectively. Alzheimer genetics involves the mutated forms of presenilin 1 (PSEN1), presenilin 2 (PSEN2), Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP), and apolipoprotein E. There are still no permanent treatments available for AD except acetylcholinesterase (AChE) inhibitors which provide only temporary relief (Birks, 2006; Lindvall and Kokaia, 2006). Several drugs serve as potent acetylcholinesterase inhibitors such as tacrine, tacrine derivatives, donepizel, rivastigmine, galantamine, and the glutamate receptor agonist memantine (Romero et al., 2013; Cecilia Rodrigues Simoes et al., 2014; Ehret and Chamberlin, 2015). These FDA approved pharmacological interventions provide only symptomatic relief for a limited period and may also have side effects in the long run. Removal of the Amyloid  $\beta$  levels from the brain is considered an effective therapy for AD and physiologically, the enzyme neprilysin has been reported to be involved in the clearance of the Amyloid  $\beta$ plaques by degrading it (Iwata et al., 2001). Other proteinases such as cathepsin B (Mueller-Steiner et al., 2006) and plasmin (Melchor et al., 2003) too have a similar role and are used to decrease the levels of  $A\beta$  thus acting as potent therapeutic agents for AD. A number of past studies show the relevance of nerve growth factor (NGF) in the prevention of neurodegeneration and amyloid toxicity (Tuszynski et al., 2005; Tuszynski, 2007) but a severe limitation with NGF is that it is unable to cross the blood brain barrier and therefore cannot be delivered peripherally.

Transgenic animal models of AD carrying the disease mutations have given ample insight into the etiology and pathophysiology of the disease but have failed to entirely recapitulate the formation of NFT and  $\beta$ -amyloid plaques together. Human disease pathophysiology has not been completely depicted by mouse models so far (D'avanzo et al.,



2015; Pistollato et al., 2015) and clinical failure of drugs has also been reported (Cavanaugh et al., 2014; Langley, 2014). Past studies demonstrate that the implantation of genetically modified fibroblast cells into the forebrain of the patients led to decreased neurodegeneration and restored the cognitive deficits associated with AD (Tuszynski et al., 1994). However, fibroblasts are immobile in nature and cannot migrate efficiently within the different brain regions, but on the other hand transplanted stem cells can effectively migrate and release growth factors to the damaged sites. Thus, positional stem cell transplantation therapy may prove more fruitful in this regard (Flax et al., 1998).

Many published studies report the successful use of stem cell transplantation strategies that have helped in the management of AD. One study showed that ESCs derived neural stem cells (NSCs) when transplanted into the mouse model of AD served as a better tool for the treatment for AD in comparison to using ESCs alone. The transplanted NSCs were stable, successfully differentiated into the cholinergic neurons and memory was found to be increased. On the other hand the vehicle group which received ESCs alone developed teratomas (Wang et al., 2006). Another study was carried out on the mouse brain that expressed aggregates of plaques and tangles. Genetically modified NSCs for expression of BDNF were successfully transplanted into the rodent brain which led to improved learning and memory. These NSCs did not decrease the level of the amyloid plaques instead the increased levels of BDNF helped in the formation a number of new synapses (Blurton-Jones et al., 2009).

Stem cells and iPSCs have been extensively employed to study the human specific responses and unravel the complexities of

AD. In 2011, Yagi et al. first derived neurons from patient iPSCs which carried mutant (PSEN2) and (PSEN1) (Yagi et al., 2011). Since then a number of studies have been dedicated toward this approach of patient specific iPSC derived AD modeling. The catalytic subunit of the enzyme gamma-secretase is encoded by the gene (PSEN1) and mutated form of this gene results in the manifestation of the early stages of FAD (familial Alzheimer's disease). Stem cells models of the disease have largely targeted the involvement of gamma-secretase activity in the elucidation of sporadic as well as familial AD. For example, studies report that the A $\beta$ 42/40 ratios were higher in neurons derived from patient iPSCs (derived from PSEN1 mutant fibroblasts) in comparison to the healthy controls (Livesey, 2014). Similarly mutations in APP have also led to a similar increase in the  $A\beta 42/40$  ratios in the neurons of the human forebrain. A couple of studies have modeled FAD using iPSCs carrying mutations in the APP, such as dominant V717L and recessive E963 bearing mutation (Kondo et al., 2013) and the V717I mutation bearing iPSCs (Muratore et al., 2014). A study carried by Israel et al. demonstrated that inhibition of gamma or  $\beta$ -secretase activity led to a decreased production of A $\beta$ 40, however  $\gamma$ -secretase inhibition did not prevent phosporylation of tau proteins (Israel et al., 2012).

Stem cell derived neurons and astrocytes have been widely used to model FAD *in-vitro*. Gene mutations bring about observable changes in the cellular phenotype such as the A $\beta$ peptide changes. However, how APP processing is interlinked with tau phosphorylation is an aspect which has not been efficiently modeled so far. The onset and initiation of AD is largely attributed to the amyloid hypothesis. APP is a single
pass transmembrane protein and its proteolytic cleavage forms short A $\beta$  peptides (Livesey, 2014). Mutation in the genes that are involved in the proteolysis of APP play a pivotal role in FAD. A $\beta$ 42 is the longer form of amino acid and its accumulation brings about neurodegeneration and cell death (Sproul et al., 2014). Post translational and cellular localization changes in the microtubule-associated tau protein play the second biggest role in AD progression. Tau changes and amyloid plaques if modeled together via stem cells will provide the best models of AD (Moore et al., 2015). Simple monogenic iPSCs' derived neurons are not sufficient to model amyloidosis since they accumulate low levels of toxic  $\beta$ -amyloid plaques. To overcome this hurdle stem cell lines bearing multiple mutations have been generated, which also over express the mutated genes such as APP and PSEN1.

#### PARKINSON'S DISEASE (PD)

Parkinson's disease ranks second after AD in being the most common and widely prevalent neurodegenerative disorder inflicting almost one percent of the aging population globally. Dopaminergic neuron loss from the nigrostriatum and substantia nigra pars compacta brain regions is the major characteristic of the disease (Marchetto et al., 2010). The other major hallmark being the presence of lewy bodies ( $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregates) (Spillantini et al., 1998) which further promotes neuronal death due to the altered firing pattern of the neurons (Janezic et al., 2013). The genetic involvement of ubiquitin carboxy terminal hydrolase L1, serine threonine kinase 1, parkin, DJ-1, α-synuclein, and leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 have been reported in the case of genetically acquired familial PD (Dauer and Przedborski, 2003). Environmental influence in conjunction with age, genetic polymorphisms and chemical exposure predispose an individual toward sporadic PD, however the complex etiology is yet to be fully understood (Adami et al., 2014). Fitzmaurice et al. showed that variation in Aldehyde dehydrogenase enhances the pesticide effect related to PD thereby proving that environmental influences work in conjunction with genetics (Fitzmaurice et al., 2014).

Rigidity, resting tremor and bradykinesia are the major symptoms which make PD the most common movement disorder of the world affecting individuals post 65 years of age (Fu et al., 2015). Mechanistic and pathophysiological studies have given us a deep understanding of the disease. PD is generally associated with a disrupted calcium homeostasis, inflammation, disrupted kinase pathways, generation of reactive oxygen species, and dysfunctional mitochondria (Schapira et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2016). Animal and cellular models have given us a deep understanding of the disease but data generated is not fully applicable to human subjects due to difference in disease pathogenesis of animals and humans (Devine et al., 2011).

PD so far has been managed using monoamine oxidase inhibitors, dopamine agonists, levodopa, and deep brain stimulation (Politis and Lindvall, 2012). The latter employs stimulation of the ventral intermediate nucleus, a part of the thalamus which can greatly reduce the symptoms of tremor. Other symptoms like rigidity and bradykinesia are also alleviated after the stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus or internal segment of globus pallldius. However, these treatments fail to repair the damaged brain region and the oral drugs are not effective beyond 5 years. Administration of L-DOPA (L-dihydroxy-phenyl alanine) can induce dyskinesis and fails to halt the disease progression (Politis and Lindvall, 2012).

The earliest transplantation studies employed the use of fetal ventral mesencephalic tissue of human origin (hfVM) which were engrafted in the striatum of the PD patients and laid the basis for cell therapy for PD. The attempts were successful and symptomatic relief was provided for almost 16 years in the successful cases. However, the clinical trials produced anomalies and the success of the approach was further challenged by the presence of side effects such as GIDs (graft induced dyskinesis). The reason was the presence of the serotonergic neuroblasts in the hfVM that led to an imbalanced serotonin/DA transporter ratios and false DA release (Politis and Lindvall, 2012). Studies also indicated that the survival of the transplanted fetal mesenchymal cells was very low and ethical issues further blurred the scope of this therapy. Since PD is characterized by a regional loss of dopaminergic neurons, transplantation, and replenishment therapy employing stem cell and iPSC derived dopaminergic neurons (yielding a pure population) in the SN region provides an excellent alternative.

Neurons with the DA phenotype have been developed from ESCs by using sonic hedgehog (Shh) and fibroblast growth factor-8 (FGF8) or the over expression of Nurr1 by using genetically modified NSCs (Kim et al., 2003). Co-culture of mouse bone marrow stromal and monkey ESCs have successfully yielded dopaminergic neurons in the past (Takagi et al., 2005). Studies further demonstrate the successful intrastriatal transplantation of fetal brain human NSCs in the MPTP lesioned monkeys which brought about improved behavioral changes (Redmond et al., 2007). A study reported that when NSCs were isolated from the patient brain, converted into dopaminergic neurons and reimplanted into the patient brain, the symptoms of trembling and rigidity were substantially reduced. The brain scans revealed an increase in the dopamine production by almost 58% and even when the levels did not increase further the symptoms did not revert back, hinting at a possible restorative potential of stem cell derived dopaminergic neurons (Hassan et al., 2010).

Transition from pluripotent stem cells to iPSCs has shown promising results and has opened new avenues for the modeling of PD. Dopaminergic neurons derived from patient specific iPSCs were successfully transplanted into a Parkinsonian rat striatum and showed a considerable reduction in motor asymmetry (Hargus et al., 2010). The role of mitophagy has been strongly implicated in PD. The mitochondrion targeted kinase PINK1 accumulates on the outer membrane of mitochondria on depolarization and further recruits Parkin which is instrumental in initiating mitophagy (Van Laar et al., 2010; Cai et al., 2012). The data generated on animal models so far has generated conflicts regarding the direct involvement of mitophagy in PD. However, PINK1 mutated dopaminergic neurons from human patient derived iPSCs have given us a clearer understanding of the mitophagy theory, thus proving once again that stem cell derived human disease models are far superior and far more edifying than any animal model (Seibler et al., 2011). It is also implicated that mitophagy may be a result of aging and may not have a direct correlation with the disease; however the hypothesis is still under contradiction. Progerin expression and long term culture have been employed to produce artificial aging of neurons in culture. These aged neurons have been treated as a model to study the late onset of PD and to elucidate the disease phenotypes (Miller et al., 2013).

As mentioned earlier, apart from disease modeling, stem cells, and iPSCs hold great promise as the in-vitro screening tools for therapeutic agents, drugs, and compounds. It has been reported that rapamycin, GW5074 (LRRK2 kinase inhibitor) and coenzyme Q10 diminish the cytotoxic effect of concanamycin A also known as valinomycin in patient derived iPSC neurons. It has been clearly seen that GW5074 does not reduce oxidative stress in the healthy neurons from control subjects whereas effectively lowers oxidative stress in the patient derived neurons bearing mutated PINK1 (Cooper et al., 2012). This difference underlines the importance of therapeutic compound screening in disease mutation bearing cells as well as the healthy cells. Another example where stem cells have been employed to study the PD physiology is the mutation correction of A53T α-synuclein via genome editing which diminished the formation of lewy bodies in iPSC derived dopaminergic neurons (Ryan et al., 2013). Mutation bearing iPSCs will thus serve as an excellent tool for screening and assessing the biosafety of drugs and compounds as well as identifying the underlying signaling cascades and novel therapeutic targets. The generation and characterization of iPSCs is cumbersome and the differentiated population of dopaminergic neurons may contain traces of the undifferentiated cells which may lead to teratoma formation. Thus, if patient derived fibroblasts are directly converted to dopaminergic neurons, the limitations with iPSCs can be overcome (Han et al., 2015). The successful differentiation of fibroblasts into the DA neurons are reported in literature and has paved way for potential disease modeling (Caiazzo et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2014). The stem cell technology can be used to identify the biochemical markers of the disease and can thus help in the diagnosis of early PD (Xiao et al., 2016).

# AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCLEROSIS (ALS)

A fatal neurodegenerative disease ALS is caused due to the motor neuron degeneration in the spinal cord, brain stem, and the primary motor cortex (Thomsen et al., 2014) which results in muscle wasting, paralysis and eventually death due to respiratory failure (Hedges et al., 2016). First described by Charcot in 1874, ALS is also known as Lou Gehrig's disease (Marchetto et al., 2010). ALS has been linked with FTD (frontotemporal lobar dementia) due to symptomatic, clinical, genetic, and pathological overlap. ALS and FTD when occur together further shorten the life span of a patient further. The two diseases are often considered the two ends of the same disease spectrum. Ling et al. gave evidence at the genetic level by reporting that FTD-ALS and ALS patients carry similar

mutated genes (Lee and Huang, 2015). Many gene mutations are responsible for causing familial ALS such as mutations in PFN1, FUS/TLS (fused in sarcoma/translocation in liposarcoma), TARDBP or TDP-43 (TAR-DNA-binding protein 43), UBQLN2, C9ORF72, SOD1 (superoxide dismutase 1), HNRNPA1, OPTN, and VCP (Adami et al., 2014). Recently a new gene named TBK1 has been discovered which plays a crucial role in inflammation & autophagy which are inherently associated with ALS pathogenesis (Cirulli et al., 2015). Pathogenesis of sporadic ALS is attributed to glutamate excitotoxicity, protein mitochondrial dysfunction, aggregation, oxidative stress, deficiency of neurotrophic factors, glial cell dysfunction, and impaired axonal transport, all of these together eventually lead to the accumulation of intracellular neurofilaments (Kiernan et al., 2011; Robberecht and Philips, 2013). Riluzole is the only therapeutic drug commercially available which helps in the disease management, but its effect does not last beyond 6 months (Cetin et al., 2015). ALS has been widely studied using animal models; however reported failure of clinical trials has somehow restricted the sole dependency on *in-vivo* research (Gordon and Meininger, 2011). Patient specific iPSC banks hold promise for personalized medicine and are a good alternative for screening the efficacy of a number of drugs and compounds for the treatment of ALS (Giri and Bader, 2015).

Transplantation therapy employing stem cells can be effectively used as a therapeutic measure to deal with the devastating disease. Mesenchymal stem cells and hematopoietic stem cells have been efficiently employed as transplants in the affected spinal cord and have favorably supported ALS management (Mazzini et al., 2012). However, studies were conducted on a small group of patients and thus thorough research continues so as to be applicable for a larger pool of patients. Neural stem cells (NSCs) ESCs, glialrestricted progenitor cells (GRPs), and induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) also offer a potential alternative for transplantation approaches and can be used (Traub et al., 2011). It is hypothesized that when donor cells are engrafted near the damaged motor neurons, they not only have an immunomodulatory effect but secrete trophic factors which improves the overall therapeutic potential of the transplant. Such transplants can effectively delay the progression and even the initiation of the disease (Teng et al., 2012).

The direct or peripheral injection of MSCs into the spinal cord of patients serves as a potent treatment for ALS and several studies have reported the therapeutic potential of MSCs (Mao et al., 2015). Several studies report the beneficial aspects of transplantable MSCs, which are used to deliver the required neurotrophic factors aiding in the prevention of motor neuron loss, improve survival of experimental animals, and delay the disease progression (Zhao et al., 2007; Vercelli et al., 2008; Uccelli et al., 2012; Krakora et al., 2013). Genetically manipulated MSCs which secrete GDNF (glial-derived neurotrophic factor) have been reported to increase the life of ALS rats by rescuing motor neuron loss (Suzuki et al., 2008). "NurOwn" developed by BrainStorm Cell Therapeutics are specialized MSCs which can secrete neurotrophic factors, can successfully differentiate into neuronal cells and can be used for ALS treatment. The cells are under the clinical trial phase (Therapeutics, 2015). A number of clinical trials have been conducted to assess the efficacy and safety of MSCs and many are still in process.

Neural stem cells have a specific lineage commitment for the cells of the CNS and find widespread applicability in the neurodegenerative disorders. When engrafted in the animal models of ALS, NSCs have been reported to exert a protective effect on the adjacent motor neurons (Hefferan et al., 2012). Stem cells not only provide symptomatic relief but help in restoration of the brain damage via repair and neurogenesis which is triggered in the affected spinal cord. Successful transplantation of neural stem cells from aborted fetuses into the patient's spinal cord has been reported (Xu et al., 2012). Results of the phase I clinical trials have been documented and show that stem cell therapy is a reasonably safe and can be used to treat a large enough pool of patients (Mazzini et al., 2015).

The familial cases of ALS can be modeled by ESCs harboring the disease mutations but the sporadic cases require the use of patient specific iPSCs. Literature reports the use of iPSCs for ALS modeling and hints at a possibility that motor neurons derived from patient specific iPSCs can be employed for the recapitulation of disease phenotypes. ALS exhibits a complex physiology and thus requires use of more than one cell type for its modeling. It was shown that SOD1 bearing astrocytes (from ESCs) exerted toxicity on the adjacent motor neurons (Wada et al., 2012) whereas iPSCs derived astrocyte bearing the TDP-43 mutation exerted no toxicity (Serio et al., 2013), hinting at the relevance of the co-culture of cells for modeling the complex disease. One drawback with in-vitro disease modeling of ALS is the short survival duration of motor neurons in culture which limits the study of phenotypic signs occurring in the aged diseased tissues. However, if iPSC derived motor neurons are grafted in the animal model it will increase the survival of these cells. The grafted cells can be recovered lately to visualize the disease phenotypes in the post mortem rodent tissues, thus offering a possible solution (Coatti et al., 2015).

Studies report that iPSC derived glial rich population of neural progenitors can be successfully transplanted into the spinal cord of mice suffering from ALS. These transplanted cells show a good survival, differentiation potential, and also enhanced the life span of the treated animals (Kondo et al., 2014). Stem cell therapy has been an area of debate for a long time. The beneficial aspects cannot be overlooked, but extensive clinical trials are in progress so as to generate an effective treatment and possible cure for ALS in the near future.

#### HUNTINGTON'S DISEASE (HD)

Huntington's disease is a fatal genetic neurodegenerative disorder with no cure so far. Genetically acquired in an autosomal dominant manner, the disease is caused by an increased trinucleotide CAG (encoding polyglutamine) repeat in the ITI5 huntington gene. The CAG repeats are normally less than 36 in a healthy individual however a repeat of more than 40 will predispose an individual toward the disease. The striatum, cortex, substantia nigra pars compacta, substantia nigra pars reticulata, globus pallidus are the major brain regions which are subjected to severe degeneration (Carter and Chan, 2012). Enkephalin and gamma-aminobutyric acid containing medium spiny neurons, glutaminergic, GABAergic, and parvalbuminergic striatal projection neurons are severely affected. Mutated Huntington protein forms aggregates in the nuclei and cytoplasm of the brain tissues. Being a Cognitive, movement, psychiatric disorder the disease brings about mitochondrial, synaptic, and axonal transport dysfunction. The disease leads to a severe transcriptional dysregulation, proteolysis, and excitotoxicity (Peng and Zeng, 2011).

The disease, though incurable can be managed via gene therapy and drugs to alleviate symptoms. Drugs provide temporary symptomatic relief and largely target the motor aspects of HD. Tetrabenazine is dopamine depleting in nature and is used to reduce chorea, however severe side effects restricts its widespread use as a drug of choice for HD (Frank, 2014). The pros and cons of the various animal models of HD have been reviewed by Pouladi et al. In 2013 (Pouladi et al., 2013). HD has been widely modeled via rodent models *in-vivo*, however here too the success of the clinical trials has been limited. The problem lies not only with the animal model chosen but also with the robustness of the preclinical studies (Menalled and Brunner, 2014).

Gene therapy employs RNAi mediated silencing and reduction in the mutated HTT protein translation. However, gene therapy is effective only at the earliest stage of the disease but the symptoms are not visible until the later stages by which the major damage is already done. Replenishing the stratial neuron population by intracranial transplantation is an alternative cell therapy approach. Fetal striatal tissue grafts have been employed in the non human primate and rodent HD models as a means of transplantation therapy (Chen et al., 2014). These grafted tissues have a low survival rate and since they are procured from aborted fetuses, ethical constraints are high. Limited availability of donors further restricts the scope of this promising strategy. Neural progenitor cells (NPCs) derived from stem cells and iPSCs are a good alternative in this regard.

Successful differentiation of human ESCs into the GABAergic and DARPP32 positive medium spiny neurons (MSNs) is well reported. NPCs transplanted into the chemical lesion mouse model of HD showed efficient connectivity with the host neurons and also alleviated motor deficits (Ma et al., 2012). Another study by Carri et al. reports the successful differentiation of ESCs and iPSCs into MSNs carrying adenosine and dopamine receptors (Carri et al., 2013). However, NPCs transplantation has been more successful in chemical lesion HD mouse models as compared to the transgenic (R6/2) mouse model, the reason speculated being the short life span of the transgenic mouse (El-Akabawy et al., 2012). Along with disease modeling and regenerative transplantation therapy, stem cells and iPSCs can be simply used as an *in-vitro* tool for screening the efficacy and biosafety of drugs and small molecule compounds that help in relieving the symptoms of the disease as well as bring about a reduction in neurodegeneration (Carter and Chan, 2012). HD patient specific cell lines have been generated which recapitulate the disease specific phenotypes more closely (Consortium, 2012).

The gene therapy for HD involves targeting the mutant HTT allele (mHTT) transcript by RNA interference and ASOs (antisense oligodeoxynucleotides) specifically without disturbing the normal HTT allele transcript (Carroll et al., 2011; Hu et al., 2012). The exact role HTT in normal conditions is still not clearly understood but a study reports that HTT knockout mice do not survive and are lethal embryonically. Thus targeting only the mutant allele is preferable. ASOs target complimentary mRNA via RNase H mediated degradation and are important in research as they are capable of targeting the SNPs (single nucleotide polymorphisms). These SNPs are responsible for the difference between normal and mutated HTT gene alleles (Carroll et al., 2011). Studies have been carried out in the non human primate and rodent models of HD and disease alleviation was observed (Kordasiewicz et al., 2012). This paves way for a possibility that patient derived iPSCs carrying the disease mutations can be effectively corrected via ASOs and gene silencing and the NPCs thus derived can be successfully transplanted. Thus stem cell therapy in amalgamation with gene therapy can help in the management of the incurable disease in future (Chen et al., 2014).

#### THREE DIMENSIONAL (3D) STEM CELL BASED STUDIES: APPLICATION IN NEURODEGENERATION AND NEURODEGENERATIVE DISORDERS

*In-vitro* stem cell based studies are the best possible alternative to animal models because cells of human origin are used and thus data generated can be easily extrapolated to human subjects. However, two dimensional *in-vitro* studies have many limitations. The 2D culture comprise a homogenous population of cells, complex intercellular interactions are lacking, the

cultures do not represent the complex microenvironment of an organ like the brain and the intact organ physiology is lacking. In this regard 3D cultures have played a pivotal role in overcoming the hurdles of typical 2D studies and also find widespread application in the field of neuroscience. Advances have been made to recapitulate the brain development and literature supports successful formation of stem cell derived 3D cortical and cerebral organoids (Lancaster et al., 2013; Sasai, 2013; Lancaster and Knoblich, 2014).

AD has been extensively modeled using stem cell and iPSC derived 2D neuronal cell culture however, a major limitation being the diffusion of Aβ aggregates, which are gradually, washed off with successive media changes. Therefore, it is hypothesized that 3D stem cell models of AD will provide a more compact and comprehensive brain microenvironment where the local niche will allow a sufficient AB aggregation (D'avanzo et al., 2015). This theory has been confirmed lately, where 3D matrigel system has been used for the culture of ReN cells to model familial AD. The 3D stem cell model of AD showed a significant deposit of β-amyloid plaques in a 6 week differentiated culture. The cells further showed elevated levels of phosphorylated tau protein thereby confirming that 3D based stem cell models are more efficient in recapitulating the disease pathophysiology (Choi et al., 2014). A study by Zhang et al. reported the successful recapitulation of *in-vivo* like responses in a 3D culture model of AD. The study comprises neuroepithelial stem cell derived neuronal culture in a PuraMatrix hydrogel comprising self assembling peptide matrix and laminin. The study confirmed that 3D microenvironment allowed Aβ sensing via p21-activated kinase (Zhang et al., 2014). Genetically engineered hNPCs production and 3D cell culture protocols for AD modeling have been standardized and published (Kim et al., 2015).



FIGURE 2 | The landmark studies/discoveries (5 each) related to the major neurodegenerative disorders and the possible role of stem cells in a time oriented manner.

It is well reported that mouse iPSCs and ESCs show a better dopaminergic differentiation potential in a three dimensional peptide derived nanofibre scaffold. The 3D culture provides a better environment for the development of the DA neurons which showed appropriate action potential firing and expressed the specific markers as well (Ni et al., 2013). Successful differentiation of chorion derived MSCs into motor neurons has been recently reported in 3D nanofibrous gelatin scaffold. These motor neurons shall provide a possibility to model ALS in a three dimensional scenario (Faghihi et al., 2016). **Figure 2** depicts the landmark studies/discoveries (5 each) related to the major neurodegenerative disorders and the possible role of stem cells in a time oriented manner.

#### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

The above discussion so far clearly sheds light on the widespread applicability of stem cells and induced pluripotent stem cells in the field of neurodegeneration. Disease modeling, transplantation therapy, restoration of lost brain functionality due to injury and aging and regenerative therapeutics are some of the areas where stem cells have been abundantly used. The article highlights the advances made especially in the past 5 years as envisaging the entire applicability of stem cells in neurodegenerative medicine is beyond the scope of the present discussion. Human stem cells and patient derived iPSCs have been instrumental in overcoming the major limitations of animal based research providing a more profound understanding of the neurodegenerative disorders. Patient derived iPSCs are even better models for understanding the disease pathophysiology and mechanistics because they carry the patient's genotype, bear the disease mutations and also account for the environmental influences. Stem cells have also been employed as simplistic in-vitro tools for screening of therapeutics and drugs. Three dimensional stem cell based studies and stem cell derived organoids have further contributed by providing a more in-vivo like microenvironment which is the closest possible mimic of a live animal. With technological advancements and efficient imaging techniques have revolutionized the concept of 3D stem cell based organoid research. Pharmacological intervention utilizing natural agents like curcumin has shown neuroprotective efficacy in clinical and experimental models of neurotoxicity and can provide beneficial effects in the neurodegenerative disorders in future (Srivastava et al., 2014). However, the current prevalent pharmacological treatments provide symptomatic relief only for a limited period of time and the drugs administered may have side effects. The advent of stem cell therapy has laid the foundation keystone for a possible cure with minimized side effects. Personalized medical treatment using iPSCs is the current face of modern medicine and constant efforts are being made to scale down the cost and increase the efficacy of the approach. Animal based clinical field trials cannot be completely surpassed and transplantation therapies will require validation. However, if cells of human origin are employed for the preliminary disease modeling and therapeutic screening, a lot shall be saved in



terms of funds, resource, time and even animal lives. It would not be an exaggeration to say that with the proficient and judicious use of stem cells and iPSCs lesser animals shall be sacrificed and the rate of clinical trial failure shall be curbed. This shall lessen the moral as well as the economic burden. We still hope that future research will come up with effective cures for the fatal neurodegenerative disorders, until then efficient and affordable disease management and treatment can ensure a longer and healthier life for the aging population. Figure 3 is a diagrammatic illustration of possible therapeutic strategies against the prevalent neurodegenerative disorders (ND). The nature of ND is progressive in nature and limits the clinical utility of pharmacological drugs which provide only symptomatic relief. Stem cell therapy and iPSC technology could harness neurorestorative and neuro regenerative relief for the patients suffering from neurodegenerative disorders as well as pave way for a possible cure in future.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SS drafted and prepared the manuscript, AS reviewed the draft, PS, YD, and CR prepared graphics. AP and DK helped in compilation of literature. All the authors have discussed the manuscript and agree to be accountable for the content of the work.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Dr. Aditya Bhushan Pant (Principal Scientist, CSIR-Indian Institute of Toxicology Research) for his kind supervision, support and guidance throughout.

#### REFERENCES

- Aasen, T., Raya, A., Barrero, M. J., Garreta, E., Consiglio, A., Gonzalez, F., et al. (2008). Efficient and rapid generation of induced pluripotent stem cells from human keratinocytes. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 26, 1276–1284. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1503
- Adami, R., Scesa, G., and Bottai, D. (2014). Stem cell transplantation in neurological diseases: improving effectiveness in animal models. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 2:17. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2014.00017
- Agrawal, M., and Biswas, A. (2015). Molecular diagnostics of neurodegenerative disorders. *Front. Mol. Biosci.* 2:54. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2015.00054
- Aleynik, A., Gernavage, K. M., Mourad, Y. S. H., Sherman, L. S., Liu, K., Gubenko, Y. A., et al. (2014). Stem cell delivery of therapies for brain disorders. *Clin. Transl. Med.* 3, 3–24. doi: 10.1186/2001-1326-3-24
- Avior, Y., Sagi, I., and Benvenisty, N. (2016). Pluripotent stem cells in disease modelling and drug discovery. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 17, 170–182. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2015.27
- Begley, C. G., and Ellis, L. M. (2012). Drug development: raise standards for preclinical cancer research. *Nature* 483, 531–533. doi: 10.1038/483531a
- Birks, J. S. (2006). Cholinesterase inhibitors for Alzheimer's disease. *Cochrane Libr*. 6, 220–221. doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd005593
- Blundell, R., and Shah, M. (2015). Neurodegenerative diseases and stem cell transplantation. J. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 5:277. doi: 10.4172/2157-7633.1000277
- Blurton-Jones, M., Kitazawa, M., Martinez-Coria, H., Castello, N. A., Müller, F.-J., Loring, J. F., et al. (2009). Neural stem cells improve cognition via BDNF in a transgenic model of Alzheimer disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 13594–13599. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0901402106
- Cai, Q., Zakaria, H. M., Simone, A., and Sheng, Z.-H. (2012). Spatial parkin translocation and degradation of damaged mitochondria via mitophagy in live cortical neurons. *Curr. Biol.* 22, 545–552. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2012. 02.005
- Caiazzo, M., Dell'anno, M. T., Dvoretskova, E., Lazarevic, D., Taverna, S., Leo, D., et al. (2011). Direct generation of functional dopaminergic neurons from mouse and human fibroblasts. *Nature* 476, 224–227. doi: 10.1038/nature10284
- Cananzi, M., and De Coppi, P. (2012). CD117+ amniotic fluid stem cells: state of the art and future perspectives. *Organogenesis* 8, 77–88. doi: 10.4161/org.22426
- Carri, A. D., Onorati, M., Lelos, M. J., Castiglioni, V., Faedo, A., Menon, R., et al. (2013). Developmentally coordinated extrinsic signals drive human pluripotent stem cell differentiation toward authentic DARPP-32+ medium-sized spiny neurons. *Development* 140, 301–312. doi: 10.1242/dev.084608
- Carroll, J. B., Warby, S. C., Southwell, A. L., Doty, C. N., Greenlee, S., Skotte, N., et al. (2011). Potent and selective antisense oligonucleotides targeting single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the Huntington disease gene/allelespecific silencing of mutant huntingtin. *Mol. Ther.* 19, 2178–2185. doi: 10.1038/mt.2011.201
- Carter, R. L., and Chan, A. W. (2012). Pluripotent stem cells models for Huntington's disease: prospects and challenges. J. Genet. Genomics 39, 253–259. doi: 10.1016/j.jgg.2012.04.006
- Cavanaugh, S. E., Pippin, J. J., and Barnard, N. D. (2014). Animal models of Alzheimer disease: historical pitfalls and a path forward. *Altex* 31, 279–302. doi: 10.14573/altex.1310071
- Cecilia Rodrigues Simoes, M., Pereira Dias Viegas, F., Soares Moreira, M., De Freitas Silva, M., Maximo Riquiel, M., Mattos Da Rosa, P., et al. (2014). Donepezil: an important prototype to the design of new drug candidates for Alzheimer's disease. *Mini Rev. Med. Chem.* 14, 2–19. doi: 10.2174/1389557513666131119201353
- Cetin, H., Rath, J., Füzi, J., Reichardt, B., Fülöp, G., Koppi, S., et al. (2015). Epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and effect of riluzole on disease course. *Neuroepidemiology* 44, 6–15. doi: 10.1159/000369813
- Chen, Y., Carter, R. L., Cho, I. K., and Chan, A. W. (2014). Cell-based therapies for Huntington's disease. *Drug Discov. Today* 19, 980–984. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2014.02.012
- Chiou, S.-H., Jiang, B.-H., Yu, Y.-L., Chou, S.-J., Tsai, P.-H., Chang, W.-C., et al. (2013). Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 regulates nuclear reprogramming and promotes iPSC generation without c-Myc. *J. Exp. Med.* 210, 85–98. doi: 10.1084/jem.20121044
- Choi, S. H., Kim, Y. H., Hebisch, M., Sliwinski, C., Lee, S., D'avanzo, C., et al. (2014). A three-dimensional human neural cell culture model of Alzheimer/'s disease. *Nature* 515, 274–278. doi: 10.1038/nature13800

- Cirulli, E. T., Lasseigne, B. N., Petrovski, S., Sapp, P. C., Dion, P. A., Leblond, C. S., et al. (2015). Exome sequencing in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis identifies risk genes and pathways. *Science* 347, 1436–1441. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa3650
- Coatti, G., Beccari, M., Olávio, T., Mitne-Neto, M., Okamoto, O., and Zatz, M. (2015). Stem cells for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis modeling and therapy: myth or fact? *Cytometry A* 87, 197–211. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.22630
- Consortium, H. I. (2012). Induced pluripotent stem cells from patients with Huntington's disease show CAG-repeat-expansion-associated phenotypes. *Cell Stem Cell* 11, 264–278. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.04.027
- Cooper, O., Seo, H., Andrabi, S., Guardia-Laguarta, C., Graziotto, J., Sundberg, M., et al. (2012). Pharmacological rescue of mitochondrial deficits in iPSC-derived neural cells from patients with familial Parkinson's disease. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 4, 141ra190. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003985
- Dauer, W., and Przedborski, S. (2003). Parkinson's disease: mechanisms and models. *Neuron* 39, 889–909. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00568-3
- D'avanzo, C., Aronson, J., Kim, Y. H., Choi, S. H., Tanzi, R. E., and Kim, D. Y. (2015). Alzheimer's in 3D culture: challenges and perspectives. *Bioessays* 37, 1139–1148. doi: 10.1002/bies.201500063
- Devine, M. J., Ryten, M., Vodicka, P., Thomson, A. J., Burdon, T., Houlden, H., et al. (2011). Parkinson's disease induced pluripotent stem cells with triplication of the α-synuclein locus. *Nat. Commun.* 2, 440. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1453
- Dimos, J. T., Rodolfa, K. T., Niakan, K. K., Weisenthal, L. M., Mitsumoto, H., Chung, W., et al. (2008). Induced pluripotent stem cells generated from patients with ALS can be differentiated into motor neurons. *Science* 321, 1218–1221. doi: 10.1126/science.1158799
- Ehret, M. J., and Chamberlin, K. W. (2015). Current practices in the treatment of alzheimer disease: where is the evidence after the phase iii trials? *Clin. Ther.* 37, 1604–1616. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2015.05.510
- El-Akabawy, G., Rattray, I., Johansson, S. M., Gale, R., Bates, G., and Modo, M. (2012). Implantation of undifferentiated and pre-differentiated human neural stem cells in the R6/2 transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. *BMC Neurosci.* 13:97. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-13-97
- Faghihi, F., Mirzaei, E., Ai, J., Lotfi, A., Sayahpour, F. A., Barough, S. E., et al. (2016). Differentiation potential of human chorion-derived mesenchymal stem cells into motor neuron-like cells in two-and three-dimensional culture systems. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 53, 1862–1872. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9129-y
- Ferroni, L., Gardin, C., Tocco, I., Epis, R., Casadei, A., Vindigni, V., et al. (2013). "Potential for neural differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells," in *Mesenchymal Stem Cells-Basics and Clinical Application I* eds B. Weyand, M. Dominici, R. Hass, R. Jacobs, and C. Kasper (Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer), 89–115.
- Fitzmaurice, A. G., Rhodes, S. L., Cockburn, M., Ritz, B., and Bronstein, J. M. (2014). Aldehyde dehydrogenase variation enhances effect of pesticides associated with Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 82, 419–426. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000083
- Flax, J. D., Aurora, S., Yang, C., Simonin, C., Wills, A. M., Billinghurst, L. L., et al. (1998). Engraftable human neural stem cells respond to development cues, replace neurons, and express foreign genes. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 16, 1033–1039. doi: 10.1038/3473
- Frank, S. (2014). Treatment of Huntington's disease. Neurotherapeutics 11, 153–160. doi: 10.1007/s13311-013-0244-z
- Frattini, E., Ruggieri, M., Salani, S., Faravelli, I., Zanetta, C., Nizzardo, M., et al. (2015). Pluripotent stem cell-based models of spinal muscular atrophy. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 64, 44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2014.12.005
- Freije, J. M., and López-Otín, C. (2012). Reprogramming aging and progeria. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 24, 757–764. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2012.08.009
- Fu, M.-H., Li, C.-L., Lin, H.-L., Chen, P.-C., Calkins, M. J., Chang, Y.-F., et al. (2015). Stem cell transplantation therapy in Parkinson's disease. *Springerplus* 4, 1–8. doi: 10.1186/s40064-015-1400-1
- Giri, S., and Bader, A. (2015). A low-cost, high-quality new drug discovery process using patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells. *Drug Discov. Today* 20, 37–49. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2014.10.011
- Glenn, J. D., and Whartenby, K. A. (2014). Mesenchymal stem cells: emerging mechanisms of immunomodulation and therapy. World J. Stem Cells 6, 526–539. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v6.i5.526
- Gordon, P. H., and Meininger, V. (2011). How can we improve clinical trials in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis? *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 7, 650–654. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2011.147

- Han, F., Baremberg, D., Gao, J., Duan, J., Lu, X., Zhang, N., et al. (2015). Development of stem cell-based therapy for Parkinson's disease. *Transl. Neurodegener.* 4:16. doi: 10.1186/s40035-015-0039-8
- Hargus, G., Cooper, O., Deleidi, M., Levy, A., Lee, K., Marlow, E., et al. (2010). Differentiated Parkinson patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells grow in the adult rodent brain and reduce motor asymmetry in Parkinsonian rats. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 15921–15926. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1010209107
- Hassan, A. U., Hassan, G., and Rasool, Z. (2010). Role of stem cells in treatment of neurological disorder. J. Health Sci. 3, 227–233.
- Hedges, E. C., Mehler, V. J., and Nishimura, A. L. (2016). The use of stem cells to model amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia: from basic research to regenerative medicine. *Stem Cells Int.* 2016:9279516. doi: 10.1155/2016/9279516
- Hefferan, M. P., Galik, J., Kakinohana, O., Sekerkova, G., Santucci, C., Marsala, S., et al. (2012). Human neural stem cell replacement therapy for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis by spinal transplantation. *PLoS ONE* 7:e42614. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042614
- Hu, J., Liu, J., Yu, D., Chu, Y., and Corey, D. R. (2012). Mechanism of alleleselective inhibition of huntingtin expression by duplex RNAs that target CAG repeats: function through the RNAi pathway. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 40, 11270–11280. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks907
- Israel, M. A., Yuan, S. H., Bardy, C., Reyna, S. M., Mu, Y., Herrera, C., et al. (2012). Probing sporadic and familial Alzheimer/s disease using induced pluripotent stem cells. *Nature* 482, 216–220. doi: 10.1038/nature10821
- Iwata, N., Tsubuki, S., Takaki, Y., Shirotani, K., Lu, B., Gerard, N. P., et al. (2001). Metabolic regulation of brain Aβ by neprilysin. *Science* 292, 1550–1552. doi: 10.1126/science.1059946
- Janezic, S., Threlfell, S., Dodson, P. D., Dowie, M. J., Taylor, T. N., Potgieter, D., et al. (2013). Deficits in dopaminergic transmission precede neuron loss and dysfunction in a new Parkinson model. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 110, E4016–E4025. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1309143110
- Jiang, Y., Zhang, M.-J., and Hu, B.-Y. (2012). Specification of functional neurons and glia from human pluripotent stem cells. *Protein Cell* 3, 818–825. doi: 10.1007/s13238-012-2086-6
- Ju, R., Wen, Y., Gou, R., Wang, Y., and Xu, Q. (2014). The experimental therapy on brain ischemia by improvement of local angiogenesis with tissue engineering in the mouse. *Cell Transplant.* 23, S83–S95. doi: 10.3727/096368914X684998
- Kiernan, M. C., Vucic, S., Cheah, B. C., Turner, M. R., Eisen, A., Hardiman, O., et al. (2011). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet* 377, 942–955. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61156-7
- Kim, H.-S., Kim, J., Jo, Y., Jeon, D., and Cho, Y. S. (2014). Direct lineage reprogramming of mouse fibroblasts to functional midbrain dopaminergic neuronal progenitors. *Stem Cell Res.* 12, 60–68. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2013.09.007
- Kim, T. E., Lee, H. S., Lee, Y. B., Hong, S. H., Lee, Y. S., Ichinose, H., et al. (2003). Sonic hedgehog and FGF8 collaborate to induce dopaminergic phenotypes in the Nurr1-overexpressing neural stem cell. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 305, 1040–1048. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00879-9
- Kim, Y. H., Choi, S. H., D'avanzo, C., Hebisch, M., Sliwinski, C., Bylykbashi, E., et al. (2015). A 3D human neural cell culture system for modeling Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Protoc.* 10, 985–1006. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2015.065
- Kondo, T., Asai, M., Tsukita, K., Kutoku, Y., Ohsawa, Y., Sunada, Y., et al. (2013). Modeling Alzheimer's disease with iPSCs reveals stress phenotypes associated with intracellular Aβ and differential drug responsiveness. *Cell Stem Cell* 12, 487–496. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2013.01.009
- Kondo, T., Funayama, M., Tsukita, K., Hotta, A., Yasuda, A., Nori, S., et al. (2014). Focal transplantation of human iPSC-derived glial-rich neural progenitors improves lifespan of ALS mice. *Stem Cell Reports* 3, 242–249. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.05.017
- Kordasiewicz, H. B., Stanek, L. M., Wancewicz, E. V., Mazur, C., Mcalonis, M. M., Pytel, K. A., et al. (2012). Sustained therapeutic reversal of Huntington's disease by transient repression of huntingtin synthesis. *Neuron* 74, 1031–1044. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.05.009
- Krakora, D., Mulcrone, P., Meyer, M., Lewis, C., Bernau, K., Gowing, G., et al. (2013). Synergistic effects of GDNF and VEGF on lifespan and disease progression in a familial ALS rat model. *Mol. Ther.* 21, 1602–1610. doi: 10.1038/mt.2013.108
- Kumar, V., Jahan, S., Singh, S., Khanna, V. K., and Pant, A. B. (2015). Progress toward the development of *in vitro* model system for chemical-induced

developmental neurotoxicity: potential applicability of stem cells. *Arch. Toxicol.* 89, 265–267. doi: 10.1007/s00204-014-1442-0

- Lancaster, M. A., and Knoblich, J. A. (2014). Generation of cerebral organoids from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat. Protoc.* 9, 2329–2340. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2014.158
- Lancaster, M. A., Renner, M., Martin, C.-A., Wenzel, D., Bicknell, L. S., Hurles, M. E., et al. (2013). Cerebral organoids model human brain development and microcephaly. *Nature* 501, 373–379. doi: 10.1038/nature12517
- Langley, G. R. (2014). Considering a new paradigm for Alzheimer's disease research. Drug Discov. Today 19, 1114–1124. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2014.03.013
- Lapasset, L., Milhavet, O., Prieur, A., Besnard, E., Babled, A., Aït-Hamou, N., et al. (2011). Rejuvenating senescent and centenarian human cells by reprogramming through the pluripotent state. *Genes Dev.* 25, 2248–2253. doi: 10.1101/gad.173922.111
- Lee, S., and Huang, E. J. (2015). Modeling ALS and FTD with iPSC-derived neurons. Brain Res. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015.10.003. [Epub ahead of print].
- Lindvall, O., and Kokaia, Z. (2006). Stem cells for the treatment of neurological disorders. *Nature* 441, 1094–1096. doi: 10.1038/nature04960
- Liu, W., Deng, Y., Liu, Y., Gong, W., and Deng, W. (2013). Stem cell models for drug discovery and toxicology studies. J. Biochem. Mol. Toxicol. 27, 17–27. doi: 10.1002/jbt.21470
- Livesey, F. J. (2014). Human stem cell models of dementia. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, R35–R39. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu302
- Lu, D., Chen, E. Y., Lee, P., Wang, Y.-C., Ching, W., Markey, C., et al. (2015). Accelerated neuronal differentiation toward motor neuron lineage from human embryonic stem cell line (H9). *Tissue Eng. Part C Methods*. 21, 242–252. doi: 10.1089/ten.TEC.2013.0725
- Lukovic, D., Moreno-Manzano, V., Lopez-Mocholi, E., Rodriguez-Jiménez, F. J., Jendelova, P., Sykova, E., et al. (2015). Complete rat spinal cord transection as a faithful model of spinal cord injury for translational cell transplantation. *Sci. Reports* 5:9640. doi: 10.1038/srep09640
- Ma, L., Hu, B., Liu, Y., Vermilyea, S. C., Liu, H., Gao, L., et al. (2012). Human embryonic stem cell-derived GABA neurons correct locomotion deficits in quinolinic acid-lesioned mice. *Cell Stem Cell* 10, 455–464. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.01.021
- Mao, Z., Zhang, S., and Chen, H. (2015). Stem cell therapy for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Cell Regen. 4:11. doi: 10.1186/s13619-015-0026-7
- Marchetto, M. C., Brennand, K. J., Boyer, L. F., and Gage, F. H. (2011). Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) and neurological disease modeling: progress and promises. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, R109–R115. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr336
- Marchetto, M. C., Winner, B., and Gage, F. H. (2010). Pluripotent stem cells in neurodegenerative and neurodevelopmental diseases. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 19, R71–R76. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq159
- Mazzini, L., Gelati, M., Profico, D. C., Sgaravizzi, G., Pensi, M. P., Muzi, G., et al. (2015). Human neural stem cell transplantation in ALS: initial results from a phase I trial. *J. Transl. Med.* 13, 17. doi: 10.1186/s12967-014-0371-2
- Mazzini, L., Mareschi, K., Ferrero, I., Miglioretti, M., Stecco, A., Servo, S., et al. (2012). Mesenchymal stromal cell transplantation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a long-term safety study. *Cytotherapy* 14, 56–60. doi: 10.3109/14653249.2011.613929
- Melchor, J. P., Pawlak, R., and Strickland, S. (2003). The tissue plasminogen activator-plasminogen proteolytic cascade accelerates amyloid-β (Aβ) degradation and inhibits Aβ-induced neurodegeneration. J. Neurosci. 23, 8867–8871.
- Menalled, L., and Brunner, D. (2014). Animal models of Huntington's disease for translation to the clinic: best practices. *Mov. Disord.* 29, 1375–1390. doi: 10.1002/mds.26006
- Mendonça, L. S., Nóbrega, C., Hirai, H., Kaspar, B. K., and De Almeida, L. P. (2015). Transplantation of cerebellar neural stem cells improves motor coordination and neuropathology in Machado-Joseph disease mice. *Brain* 138, 320–335. doi: 10.1093/brain/awu352
- Miller, J. D., Ganat, Y. M., Kishinevsky, S., Bowman, R. L., Liu, B., Tu, E. Y., et al. (2013). Human iPSC-based modeling of late-onset disease via progerin-induced aging. *Cell Stem Cell* 13, 691–705. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2013. 11.006
- Moore, S., Evans, L. D., Andersson, T., Portelius, E., Smith, J., Dias, T. B., et al. (2015). APP metabolism regulates tau proteostasis in human cerebral cortex neurons. *Cell Rep.* 11, 689–696. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.03.068

- Mueller-Steiner, S., Zhou, Y., Arai, H., Roberson, E. D., Sun, B., Chen, J., et al. (2006). Antiamyloidogenic and neuroprotective functions of cathepsin B: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron* 51, 703–714. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.07.027
- Muratore, C. R., Rice, H. C., Srikanth, P., Callahan, D. G., Shin, T., Benjamin, L. N., et al. (2014). The familial Alzheimer's disease APPV717I mutation alters APP processing and Tau expression in iPSC-derived neurons. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 23, 3523–3536. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu064
- Nam, H., Lee, K.-H., Nam, D.-H., and Joo, K. M. (2015). Adult human neural stem cell therapeutics: current developmental status and prospect. *World J. Stem Cells* 7, 126–136. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v7.i1.126
- Ni, N., Hu, Y., Ren, H., Luo, C., Li, P., Wan, J.-B., et al. (2013). Self-assembling peptide nanofiber scaffolds enhance dopaminergic differentiation of mouse pluripotent stem cells in 3-dimensional culture. *PLoS ONE* 8:e84504. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084504
- Nicaise, C., Mitrecic, D., Falnikar, A., and Lepore, A. C. (2015). Transplantation of stem cell-derived astrocytes for the treatment of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and spinal cord injury. *World J. Stem Cells* 7:380. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v7.i2.380
- Nikoletopoulou, V., and Tavernarakis, N. (2012). Embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cell differentiation as a tool in neurobiology. *Biotechnol. J.* 7, 1156–1168. doi: 10.1002/biot.201200040
- Okano, H., Nakamura, M., Yoshida, K., Okada, Y., Tsuji, O., Nori, S., et al. (2013). Steps toward safe cell therapy using induced pluripotent stem cells. *Circ. Res.* 112, 523–533. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.256149
- Peng, J., and Zeng, X. (2011). The role of induced pluripotent stem cells in regenerative medicine: neurodegenerative diseases. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 2, 32. doi: 10.1186/scrt73
- Pistollato, F., Cavanaugh, S. E., and Chandrasekera, P. C. (2015). A Human-Based Integrated Framework forAlzheimer's Disease Research. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 47, 857–868. doi: 10.3233/JAD-150281
- Politis, M., and Lindvall, O. (2012). Clinical application of stem cell therapy in Parkinson's disease. *BMC Med.* 10:1. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-10-1
- Pouladi, M. A., Morton, A. J., and Hayden, M. R. (2013). Choosing an animal model for the study of Huntington's disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 708–721. doi: 10.1038/nrn3570
- Prinz, F., Schlange, T., and Asadullah, K. (2011). Believe it or not: how much can we rely on published data on potential drug targets? *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 10, 712. doi: 10.1038/nrd3439-c1
- Redmond, D. E. Jr., Bjugstad, K. B., Teng, Y. D., Ourednik, V., Ourednik, J., Wakeman, D. R., et al. (2007). Behavioral improvement in a primate Parkinson's model is associated with multiple homeostatic effects of human neural stem cells. *Proce. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 104, 12175–12180. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0704091104
- Robberecht, W., and Philips, T. (2013). The changing scene of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 248–264. doi: 10.1038/nrn3430
- Romero, A., Cacabelos, R., Oset-Gasque, M. J., Samadi, A., and Marco-Contelles, J. (2013). Novel tacrine-related drugs as potential candidates for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 23, 1916–1922. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2013.02.017
- Ryan, S. D., Dolatabadi, N., Chan, S. F., Zhang, X., Akhtar, M. W., Parker, J., et al. (2013). Isogenic human iPSC Parkinson's model shows nitrosative stressinduced dysfunction in MEF2-PGC1α transcription. *Cell* 155, 1351–1364. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.009
- Sareen, D., Ebert, A. D., Heins, B. M., Mcgivern, J. V., Ornelas, L., and Svendsen, C. N. (2012). Inhibition of apoptosis blocks human motor neuron cell death in a stem cell model of spinal muscular atrophy. *PLoS ONE* 7:e39113. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039113
- Sasai, Y. (2013). Next-generation regenerative medicine: organogenesis from stem cells in 3D culture. *Cell Stem Cell* 12, 520–530. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2013. 04.009
- Schapira, A. H., Olanow, C. W., Greenamyre, J. T., and Bezard, E. (2014). Slowing of neurodegeneration in Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease: future therapeutic perspectives. *Lancet* 384, 545–555. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61010-2
- Seibler, P., Graziotto, J., Jeong, H., Simunovic, F., Klein, C., and Krainc, D. (2011). Mitochondrial Parkin recruitment is impaired in neurons derived from mutant PINK1 induced pluripotent stem cells. J. Neurosc. 31, 5970–5976. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4441-10.2011

- Serio, A., Bilican, B., Barmada, S. J., Ando, D. M., Zhao, C., Siller, R., et al. (2013). Astrocyte pathology and the absence of non-cell autonomy in an induced pluripotent stem cell model of TDP-43 proteinopathy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 110, 4697–4702. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1300398110
- Singh, S., Srivastava, A., Kumar, V., Pandey, A., Kumar, D., Rajpurohit, C., et al. (2015). Stem cells in neurotoxicology/developmental neurotoxicology: current scenario and future prospects. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 52, 1–12. doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9615-2
- Spillantini, M. G., Crowther, R. A., Jakes, R., Hasegawa, M., and Goedert, M. (1998). α-Synuclein in filamentous inclusions of Lewy bodies from Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 6469–6473. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.11.6469
- Sproul, A. A., Jacob, S., Pre, D., Kim, S. H., Nestor, M. W., Navarro-Sobrino, M., et al. (2014). Characterization and molecular profiling of PSEN1 familial Alzheimer's disease iPSC-derived neural progenitors. *PLoS ONE* 9:e84547. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084547
- Srivastava, P., Yadav, R. S., Chandravanshi, L. P., Shukla, R. K., Dhuriya, Y. K., Chauhan, L. K., et al. (2014). Unraveling the mechanism of neuroprotection of curcumin in arsenic induced cholinergic dysfunctions in rats. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 279, 428–440. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2014.06.006
- Sterneckert, J. L., Reinhardt, P., and Schöler, H. R. (2014). Investigating human disease using stem cell models. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 15, 625–639. doi: 10.1038/nrg3764
- Strachan, T., Lindsay, S., and Wilson, D. I. (1997). Molecular Genetics of Early Human Development. London: Bios Scientific Pub Limited.
- Suzuki, M., Mchugh, J., Tork, C., Shelley, B., Hayes, A., Bellantuono, I., et al. (2008). Direct muscle delivery of GDNF with human mesenchymal stem cells improves motor neuron survival and function in a rat model of familial ALS. *Mol. Ther.* 16, 2002–2010. doi: 10.1038/mt.2008.197
- Takagi, Y., Takahashi, J., Saiki, H., Morizane, A., Hayashi, T., Kishi, Y., et al. (2005). Dopaminergic neurons generated from monkey embryonic stem cells function in a Parkinson primate model. J. Clin. Invest. 115, 102–109. doi: 10.1172/JCI21137
- Takahashi, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2006). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell* 126, 663–676. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024
- Takahashi, K., and Yamanaka, S. (2013). Induced pluripotent stem cells in medicine and biology. *Development* 140, 2457–2461. doi: 10.1242/dev.092551
- Tan, H.-K., Toh, C.-X. D., Ma, D., Yang, B., Liu, T. M., Lu, J., et al. (2014). Human finger-prick induced pluripotent stem cells facilitate the development of stem cell banking. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.* 3, 586–598. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2013-0195
- Teng, Y. D., Benn, S. C., Kalkanis, S. N., Shefner, J. M., Onario, R. C., Cheng, B., et al. (2012). Multimodal actions of neural stem cells in a mouse model of ALS: a meta-analysis. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 4, 165ra164. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed. 3004579
- Therapeutics, B.-C. (2015). Phase 2, Randomized, Double Blind, Placebo Controlled Multicenter Study of Autologous MSC-NTF Cells in Patients with ALS (NurOwn). Boston; Worcester; Rochester. Available online at: https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/record/NCT02017912
- Thompson, L. H., and Björklund, A. (2015). Reconstruction of brain circuitry by neural transplants generated from pluripotent stem cells. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 79, 28–40. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.04.003
- Thomsen, G. M., Gowing, G., Svendsen, S., and Svendsen, C. N. (2014). The past, present and future of stem cell clinical trials for ALS. *Exp. Neurol.* 262, 127–137. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2014.02.021
- Traub, R., Mitsumoto, H., and Rowland, L. P. (2011). Research advances in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, 2009 to 2010. Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep. 11, 67–77. doi: 10.1007/s11910-010-0160-0
- Tuszynski, M. H. (2007). Nerve growth factor gene therapy in Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord. 21, 179–189. doi: 10.1097/WAD.0b013e318068d6d2
- Tuszynski, M. H., Peterson, D. A., Ray, J., Baird, A., Nakahara, Y., and Gages, F. H. (1994). Fibroblasts genetically modified to produce nerve growth factor induce robust neuritic ingrowth after grafting to the spinal cord. *Exp. Neurol.* 126, 1–14. doi: 10.1006/exnr.1994.1037
- Tuszynski, M. H., Thal, L., Pay, M., Salmon, D. P., Bakay, R., Patel, P., et al. (2005). A phase 1 clinical trial of nerve growth factor gene therapy for Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Med.* 11, 551–555. doi: 10.1038/nm1239

- Uccelli, A., Milanese, M., Cristina Principato, M., Morando, S., Bonifacino, T., Vergani, L., et al. (2012). Intravenous mesenchymal stem cells improve survival and motor function in experimental amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Mol. Med.* 18, 794. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2011.00498
- Van Laar, V. S., Arnold, B., Cassady, S. J., Chu, C. T., Burton, E. A., and Berman, S. B. (2010). Bioenergetics of neurons inhibit the translocation response of Parkin following rapid mitochondrial depolarization. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, 927–940. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq531
- Vercelli, A., Mereuta, O. M., Garbossa, D., Muraca, G., Mareschi, K., Rustichelli, D., et al. (2008). Human mesenchymal stem cell transplantation extends survival, improves motor performance and decreases neuroinflammation in mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 31, 395–405. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2008.05.016
- Wada, T., Goparaju, S. K., Tooi, N., Inoue, H., Takahashi, R., Nakatsuji, N., et al. (2012). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis model derived from human embryonic stem cells overexpressing mutant superoxide dismutase 1. Stem Cells Transl. Med. 1, 396–402. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2011-0061
- Wang, Q., Matsumoto, Y., Shindo, T., Miyake, K., Shindo, A., Kawanishi, M., et al. (2006). Neural stem cells transplantation in cortex in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J. Med. Investig.* 53, 61–69. doi: 10.2152/jmi. 53.61
- Wang, Z.-B., Zhang, X., and Li, X.-J. (2013). Recapitulation of spinal motor neuron-specific disease phenotypes in a human cell model of spinal muscular atrophy. *Cell Res.* 23, 378–393. doi: 10.1038/cr.2012.166
- Xiao, B., Ng, H. H., Takahashi, R., and Tan, E.-K. (2016). Induced pluripotent stem cells in Parkinson's disease: scientific and clinical challenges. J. Neurol. Neurosurgery Psychiatry 87, 697–702. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2015-312036

- Xu, L., Mahairaki, V., and Koliatsos, V. E. (2012). Host induction by transplanted neural stem cells in the spinal cord: further evidence for an adult spinal cord neurogenic niche. *Regen. Med.* 7, 785–797. doi: 10.2217/rme.12.76
- Yagi, T., Ito, D., Okada, Y., Akamatsu, W., Nihei, Y., Yoshizaki, T., et al. (2011). Modeling familial Alzheimer's disease with induced pluripotent stem cells. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, 4530–4539. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddr394
- Yamanaka, S. (2009). A fresh look at iPS cells. Cell 137, 13–17. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.03.034
- Zhang, D., Pekkanen-Mattila, M., Shahsavani, M., Falk, A., Teixeira, A. I., and Herland, A. (2014). A 3D Alzheimer's disease culture model and the induction of P21-activated kinase mediated sensing in iPSC derived neurons. *Biomaterials* 35, 1420–1428. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.11.028
- Zhao, C. P., Zhang, C., Zhou, S. N., Xie, Y. M., Wang, Y. H., Huang, H., et al. (2007). Human mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorate the phenotype of SOD1-G93A ALS mice. *Cytotherapy* 9, 414–426. doi: 10.1080/14653240701376413

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Singh, Srivastava, Srivastava, Dhuriya, Pandey, Kumar and Rajpurohit. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





### Commentary: The C9orf72 Repeat Expansion Disrupts Nucleocytoplasmic Transport

Tudor Munteanu\* and Tim Lynch

Dublin Neurological Institute at Mater Misericordiae Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

Keywords: ALS, neurodegeneration, pathophysiology, nuclear pore complex proteins, RanGAP1

#### A commentary on

#### The C9orf72 repeat expansion disrupts nucleocytoplasmic transport

by Zhang K, Donnelly CJ, Haeusler AR, Grima JC, Machamer JB, Steinwald P, et al. Nature (2015) **525**(7567):56–61. doi: 10.1038/nature14973

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a neurodegenerative disorder that affects the upper and lower motor neurons. It has a focal onset but gradually spreads, leading to disability and, eventually, death. About 5–10% of ALS is inherited, usually following a dominant pattern. Pathological analysis revealed that motor neuron degeneration and death in the familial and sporadic forms is closely connected to protein aggregation and deposition, abnormal level and function of RNA molecules, abnormal neuronal cytoarchitecture, and non-neuronal cell death (1).

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Megha Agrawal, University of Illinois at Chicago, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Vivek Kumar, CSIR-Indian Institute of Toxicology Research, India Bryan Traynor, NIH, USA

> \*Correspondence: Tudor Munteanu tudormunteanu@physicians.ie

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 11 January 2016 Accepted: 21 March 2016 Published: 31 March 2016

#### Citation:

Munteanu T and Lynch T (2016) Commentary: The C9orf72 Repeat Expansion Disrupts Nucleocytoplasmic Transport. Front. Neurol. 7:51. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00051 The GGGGCC hexanucleotide expansion ( $G_4C_2$  HRE) in chromosome 9 open reading frame 72 (C9orf72) gene is found in 40% of the familial ALS cases. It is also found in other neurodegenerative disorders, including frontotemporal dementias (FTDs) (2) and atypical parkinsonian syndromes (3).

The molecular mechanisms of C9orf72 ALS neurodegeneration are currently a subject of controversy. Two main pathophysiological models have been hypothesized with experimental evidence supporting both (4). The first is transcription of the HRE segments of the abnormal gene into abnormal RNA strands, which assemble into G-quadruplex structures, which directly interact with proteins and alter their function. The second is translation of this abnormal RNA into dipeptide repeat proteins (DPRs), which in turn can adversely influence cell function. Both of the above described mechanisms have the potential to influence the nuclear pore function by altering its protein complexes.

Zhang et al. have recently investigated the complex mechanisms that lead to impairment of the normal trafficking through the nuclear pore complex (NPC) associated with  $G_4C_2$  HRE (5). They demonstrated that overexpression of RanGAP gene (which encodes a NPC protein – RanGAP1) rescued certain phenotypic traits associated with  $G_4C_2$  HRE-mediated neurodegeneration by using  $(G_4C_2)_{30}$  *Drosophila* models. Different phenotypes were obtained by expressing the abnormal gene at different stages of fly development. If expressed in 1-day-old flies, the HRE sequence caused progressive defects in the photoreceptor organization, suggesting age-dependent neurodegeneration. Locomotor defects were noted in 15-day-old  $(G_4C_2)_{30}$  flies pointing toward motor neuron pathology. Both of these phenotypes were rescued either by RanGAP overexpression or by using a heterozygous RanGAP gain-of-function mutation. Conversely, photoreceptor degeneration was accelerated by RanGAP knockdown using RNA interference. When the  $(G_4C_2)_{30}$  HRE was expressed in larval motor neurons, it caused severe neuromuscular junction defects that were not rescued by RanGAP overexpression. These results suggested that RanGAP overactivity suppressed HRE-mediated neurodegeneration in adult *Drosophila*, but HRE-mediated neurotoxicity in the larval stage is RanGAP independent.

The authors also studied the RanGAP/G<sub>4</sub>C<sub>2</sub> RNA interaction in induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) neurons, derived from multiple C9orf72 ALS patients and noted that RanGAP G<sub>4</sub>C<sub>2</sub> RNA can colocalize in these cells. This interaction seems to lead to RanGAP loss-of-function, which was shown by a disrupted Ran nucleocytoplasmic gradient in cells expressing G<sub>4</sub>C<sub>2</sub> HRE. HRE toxicity also appeared to be modulated by nucleocytoplasmic transport, and the data suggested that genetically enhancing nuclear import and/or inhibiting nuclear export can suppress G<sub>4</sub>C<sub>2</sub>-repeat-mediated degeneration in both *Drosophila* and human cells.

In order to prove that abnormal  $G_4C_2$  HRE RNA is involved in the neurodegenerative pathophysiological pathway, the investigators treated C9 ALS iPSC neurons with antisense oligonucleotides targeting these molecules. The treatment rescued the disrupted Ran gradient, suggesting that the abnormal RNA may be responsible for the nucleocytoplasmic transport deficits. Neurodegenerative phenotype suppression also occurred using a nuclear export inhibitor, suggesting that nuclear export inhibition may compensate for disrupted nuclear import.

#### REFERENCES

- Peters O, Ghasemi M, Brown R Jr. Emerging mechanisms of molecular pathology in ALS. J Clin Invest (2015) 125(5):1767–79. doi:10.1172/JCI71601
- Rohrer JD, Isaacs AM, Mizielinska S, Mead S, Lashley T, Wray S, et al. C9orf72 expansions in frontotemporal dementia and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol* (2015) 14(3):291–301. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70233-9
- O'Dowd S, Curtin D, Waite AJ, Roberts K, Pender N, Reid V, et al. C9ORF72 expansion in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/frontotemporal dementia also causes parkinsonism. *Mov Disord* (2012) 27(8):1072–4. doi:10.1002/ mds.25022
- Ishiura H, Tsuji S. Epidemiology and molecular mechanism of C9orf72-linked FTLD/ALS. J Neurogenet (2015) 29(2–3):85–94. doi:10.3109/01677063.2015.1 085980

In summary,  $G_4C_2$  HRE disrupts nucleocytoplasmic transport in *Drosophila* models and in human cells. RanGAP seems to be a key link in the pathophysiological chain, but other nuclear pore proteins may also be involved. Nuclear pore transport was previously implicated in both ALS and FTD pathophysiology, and data from this study suggest that the RNA fragments cause nucleocytoplasmic trafficking defects by direct interaction with NPC proteins. However, other authors argued that DPRs can cause a reversible dysfunction of the NPC in the absence of abnormal C9orf72 RNA (4). These mechanisms can be complementary, and further work is needed to elucidate a potential link between them. The results presented suggest that nuclear pore dysfunction is key to neurodegeneration in C9orf72 ALS. The abnormal phenotype is reversible by modifying the RanGAP gene, suggesting a potential therapeutic approach.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

 $\rm TM$  – summarized the original article, selecting important points for presentation, and wrote the manuscript. TL – manuscript review.

 Zhang K, Donnelly CJ, Haeusler AR, Grima JC, Machamer JB, Steinwald P, et al. The C9orf72 repeat expansion disrupts nucleocytoplasmic transport. *Nature* (2015) 525(7567):56–61. doi:10.1038/nature14973

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Munteanu and Lynch. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





### Copy Number Variations in the Survival Motor Neuron Genes: Implications for Spinal Muscular Atrophy and Other Neurodegenerative Diseases

#### Matthew E. R. Butchbach<sup>1, 2, 3, 4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Center for Applied Clinical Genomics, Nemours Biomedical Research, Nemours Alfred I. duPont Hospital for Children, Wilmington, DE, USA, <sup>2</sup> Center for Pediatric Research, Nemours Biomedical Research, Nemours Alfred I. duPont Hospital for Children, Wilmington, DE, USA, <sup>3</sup> Department of Biological Sciences, University of Delaware, Newark, DE, USA, <sup>4</sup> Department of Pediatrics, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA, USA

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Megha Agrawal, University of Arkansas at Little Rock, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Alessandro Vercelli, University of Torino, Italy Michal Mielcarek, Imperial College London, UK

#### \*Correspondence:

Matthew E. R. Butchbach butchbach@nemoursresearch.org

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Diagnostics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences

Received: 14 December 2015 Accepted: 25 February 2016 Published: 10 March 2016

#### Citation:

Butchbach MER (2016) Copy Number Variations in the Survival Motor Neuron Genes: Implications for Spinal Muscular Atrophy and Other Neurodegenerative Diseases. Front. Mol. Biosci. 3:7. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2016.00007

Proximal spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), a leading genetic cause of infant death worldwide, is an early-onset, autosomal recessive neurodegenerative disease characterized by the loss of spinal  $\alpha$ -motor neurons. This loss of  $\alpha$ -motor neurons is associated with muscle weakness and atrophy. SMA can be classified into five clinical grades based on age of onset and severity of the disease. Regardless of clinical grade, proximal SMA results from the loss or mutation of SMN1 (survival motor neuron 1) on chromosome 5q13. In humans a large tandem chromosomal duplication has lead to a second copy of the SMN gene locus known as SMN2. SMN2 is distinguishable from SMN1 by a single nucleotide difference that disrupts an exonic splice enhancer in exon 7. As a result, most of SMN2 mRNAs lack exon 7 (SMN $\Delta$ 7) and produce a protein that is both unstable and less than fully functional. Although only 10-20% of the SMN2 gene product is fully functional, increased genomic copies of SMN2 inversely correlates with disease severity among individuals with SMA. Because SMN2 copy number influences disease severity in SMA, there is prognostic value in accurate measurement of SMN2 copy number from patients being evaluated for SMA. This prognostic value is especially important given that SMN2 copy number is now being used as an inclusion criterion for SMA clinical trials. In addition to SMA, copy number variations (CNVs) in the SMN genes can affect the clinical severity of other neurological disorders including amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and progressive muscular atrophy (PMA). This review will discuss how SMN1 and SMN2 CNVs are detected and why accurate measurement of SMN1 and SMN2 copy numbers is relevant for SMA and other neurodegenerative diseases.

Keywords: spinal muscular atrophy, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, progressive muscular atrophy, neurodegenerative disease, copy number variation, *SMN1, SMN2* 

#### INTRODUCTION

Proximal spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) is a leading genetic cause of infant death worldwide, alongside cystic fibrosis. The incidence of SMA is 1 in 6000–10,000 live births (Pearn, 1978; Cuscó et al., 2002; Sugarman et al., 2012). The carrier frequency for SMA is 1:25–50 in most populations (Ben-Shachar et al., 2011; Su et al., 2011; Lyahyai et al., 2012; Sugarman et al., 2012) though it is lower for some ethnicities (Zaldívar et al., 2005; Labrum et al., 2007; Hendrickson et al., 2009; Sangaré et al., 2014).

SMA is an early-onset neurodegenerative disease characterized by the loss of  $\alpha$ -motor neurons in the anterior horn of the spinal cord, i.e., lower motor neurons (LMNs; Crawford and Pardo, 1996; Kolb and Kissel, 2015). This loss of  $\alpha$ -motor neurons is associated with muscle weakness and atrophy. In SMA, those muscles that are proximally innervated are preferentially affected over distal muscles. SMA can be classified into five clinical grades based on age of onset and severity of the disease (Munsat and Davies, 1992; Russman, 2007; Table 1). Type 0 SMA infants present with very severe hypotonia and require respiratory support from birth. These SMA infants cannot survive beyond 6 months. Type I SMA [listed in the Online Inheritance in Man (OMIM) database under accession number 253300; http://www.omim.org/entry/ 253300] patients have an age of onset before 6 months. They show hypotonia and weakness in limbs; they are unable to sit independently. Type I SMA infants show a bell-shaped chest due to weakness in the intercostals muscles but sparing of the diaphragm; this bell-shaped chest results in abnormal breathing patterns. These patients typically live <2 years. Type II SMA (http://www.omim.org/entry/253500) patients have an age of onset before 18 months. They are poor crawlers and weak sitters; most of these patients can rarely stand and only with support. Their legs are generally weaker than their arms. Due in part to better supportive care, these patients generally have a life expectancy into early adulthood. Type III SMA (http://www. omim.org/entry/253400) patients have an age of onset >18 months. These patients are able to walk with difficulty (waddling gait) and the legs are weaker than the arms. Type III patients usually have a normal lifespan. Adult-onset (type IV) SMA (http://www.omim.org/entry/271150) patients have an age of onset of 18-21 years. Type IV SMA exhibits as a slowly progressive limb weakness. The disease is fairly benign in these patients.

#### **GENETICS OF SMA**

SMA is an autosomal recessive disorder (Brandt, 1949). Linkage analysis (Brzustowicz et al., 1990; Gilliam et al., 1990; Melki et al., 1990a,b) along with genetic and physical mapping studies (reviewed in Morrison, 1996) identified the SMA locus on the long arm of chromosome 5, specifically in the 5q13 region. There is a 500 kilobase (kb) inverted segmental duplication within this region of chromosome 5 that is unique to humans (Courseaux et al., 2003; Schmutz et al., 2004). Four protein-coding genes have been identified within this region (Figure 1): SMN1 [survival motor neuron 1, telomeric SMN (SMN<sup>T</sup>; Lefebvre et al., 1995)], NAIP [neuronal apoptosis inhibitor protein (Roy et al., 1995)], GTF2H2A [general transcription factor IIH, p44 (Bürglen et al., 1997; Carter et al., 1997)], and SERF1A [small EDRK-rich factor 1A, H4F5A (Scharf et al., 1998)]. The duplicated genes are either identical to their partner gene (SERF1B), different in a small number of nucleotides [SMN2 or centromeric SMN (SMN<sup>C</sup>)] or are pseudogenes ( $\Psi GTF2H2B$  and  $\Psi NAIP\Delta 5$ ).

In more than 95% of cases, proximal SMA results from the loss of *SMN1* but retention of *SMN2*, regardless of clinical grade (Lefebvre et al., 1995). Large-scale deletions in chromosome 5q13 that include *SMN1*, *NAIP*, *SERF1A*, and *GTF2H2A* are observed in patients with type I SMA (Wirth et al., 1995; Burlet et al., 1996; Rodrigues et al., 1996; Velasco et al., 1996; Bürglen et al., 1997; Carter et al., 1997). Smaller deletions only involving *SMN1* have also been observed in type I SMA patients demonstrating that *SMN1* is the most likely causative gene for SMA. In addition, the identification of intragenic SMA mutations in *SMN1* (Lefebvre et al., 1995; see Burghes and Beattie, 2009 for a comprehensive listing of SMA-associated point mutations in *SMN1*) provides additional evidence to support *SMN1* as the gene responsible for SMA. To date, no intragenic mutations in the other genes within this segmental duplication have been associated with SMA.

As mentioned earlier, the SMN gene is duplicated in humans to give rise to SMN1 and SMN2. This duplication of SMN is unique to humans (Rochette et al., 2001). What is the difference between SMN1 and SMN2? The major difference between these two SMN genes is a C-to-T transition in exon 7(SMN2 c.850C>T; Lorson et al., 1999; Monani et al., 1999). This nucleotide change is translationally silent. This position on exon 7 is in the middle of an exonic splicing enhancer (ESS) sequence that regulated the inclusion of exon 7 in SMN transcripts (Figure 2). For SMN1, the C at this position promotes inclusion of exon 7 in SMN1-derived mRNAs which leads to the production of full-length SMN protein. Full-length SMN protein is able to form functional complexes. For SMN2, the T at this position disrupts this ESS which results in the exclusion of exon 7 (SMN $\Delta$ 7) from the majority of SMN2derived mRNAs. As a result, a truncated SMN $\Delta$ 7 protein is produced by the majority (~90%) of SMN2-derived mRNAs; this SMN $\Delta$ 7 protein is unstable and is unable to associate with itself (Lorson and Androphy, 2000; Burnett et al., 2009; Cho and Dreyfuss, 2010). The SMN $\Delta$ 7 protein is still partially functional given that transgenic overexpression of SMN $\Delta$ 7 in severe SMA mice partially ameliorates their phenotype since these mice die at 14-15 days as opposed to 5-8 days (Le et al., 2005). About

Abbreviations: ALS, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; CNV, copy number variation; dPCR, digital polymerase chain reaction; FUS, fused in sarcoma; GTF2H2, general transcription factor IIH; LMN, lower motor neuron; MLPA, multiple ligation-dependent probe amplification; NAIP, neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein; OMIM, Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man; PCR-RFLP, polymerase chain reaction-restriction fragment length polymorphism; PMA, progressive muscular atrophy; SERF1A, small EDRK-rich factor 1A; SMA, spinal muscular atrophy; SMN $\Delta$ 7, survival motor neuron lacking exon 7; SMN1, survival motor neuron 1; SMN2, survival motor neuron 2; snRNP, small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particle; SOD1, superoxide dismutase 1; TDP-43, TAR DNA binding protein-43kDa; UMN, upper motor neuron.

Туре	Age of onset	Requires respiratory support at birth	Able to sit	Able to stand	Able to walk	Life expectancy	Predicted SMN2 copy number
0	Prenatal	Yes	No	No	No	<6 months	1
1	<6 months	No	No	No	No	<2 years	2
2	6–18 months	No	Yes	No	No	10-40 years	3
3	>18 months	No	Yes	Yes	Assisted	Adult	3–4
4	>5 years	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Adult	>4



10% of the mRNAs from *SMN2* contain exon 7 and these full-length mRNAs can produce some full-length, functional SMN protein.

#### **BIOLOGY OF SMN**

SMN is a ubiquitously expressed protein whose expression is reduced in SMA. There is a strong inverse correlation between SMN protein levels and disease severity in SMA fibroblasts and lymphoblastoid cells as well (Coovert et al., 1997; Lefebvre et al., 1997; Kolb et al., 2006). Changes in SMN mRNA and protein levels observed in SMA patient-derived PBMCs mirror those observed in SMA cell lines (Sumner et al., 2006; Simard et al., 2007; Vezain et al., 2007; Tiziano et al., 2010; Crawford et al., 2012). SMN protein is present within the nuclei in discreet foci known as gems (Liu and Dreyfuss, 1996). In SMA fibroblasts, the number of SMN-positive subnuclear gems is higher in cells derived from mild SMA individuals than in those from children with more severe forms of SMA (Coovert et al., 1997).

SMN is required for the assembly of the small nuclear ribonucleoprotein (snRNP) complexes that mediate splicing (Pellizzoni, 2007; Burghes and Beattie, 2009). snRNP assembly is defective in SMN-deficient SMA cells (Wan et al., 2005). Since snRNP assembly is required for all cell types, why are motor neurons primarily affected in SMA? snRNP assembly is defective in tissues from mouse models for SMA and that the extent of reduced snRNP assembly correlates with phenotypic severity of these SMA mice (Gabanella et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2008). snRNP assembly is more markedly reduced in SMA mouse neural tissues than in other tissues like the kidney (Gabanella et al., 2005) suggesting that motor neurons are more sensitive to deficits in snRNP assembly. SMN may also have a function that is unique to motor neurons. Axonal defects in *Smn*-knocked down zebrafish embryos (McWhorter et al., 2003) are corrected by overexpression of mutant SMNs which are incapable of snRNP assembly (Carrel et al., 2006).

#### SMN2 CNV IN SMA

The number of *SMN2* copies in the genome varies between 0 and 8. Numerous studies have demonstrated an inverse relationship between *SMN2* copy number and disease severity among in SMA (Lefebvre et al., 1995, 1997; van der Steege et al., 1995; Coovert et al., 1997; McAndrew et al., 1997; Taylor et al., 1998; Feldkötter et al., 2002; Mailman et al., 2002; Anhuf et al., 2003; Gérard et al., 2004; Prior et al., 2005; Su et al., 2005; Swoboda et al., 2005; Arkblad et al., 2006; Scarciolla et al., 2006; Wirth et al., 2006; Gómez-Curet et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2017; Tiziano et al., 2007; Elsheikh et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2012; Dobrowolski et al., 2011; Amara et al., 2013; Qu et al., 2014; Brkušanin et al., 2015; Fang et al., 2015; Stabley et al., 2015). Patients with milder forms of SMA have higher *SMN2* copy numbers than severe SMA patients (**Table 1**).

Mice have only 1 *SMN* gene, *mSmn*, which is orthologous to *SMN1* (DiDonato et al., 1997a; Viollet et al., 1997). Loss of *mSmn* leads to embryonic lethality (Schrank et al., 1997). Conditional loss of *mSmn* in specific cell types like neurons, myofibers and hepatocytes results in loss of those cells *in vivo* (Cifuentes-Diaz et al., 2002; Nicole et al., 2003; Vitte et al., 2004). Transgenic insertion of *SMN2* rescues the embryonic lethality observed in *mSmn* nullizygous mice (Hsieh-Li et al., 2000; Monani et al., 2000; Michaud et al., 2010). While two copies of *SMN2* rescues embryonic lethality in *mSmn*-deficient mice, these mice develop



a very severe motor phenotype and die within 8 days after birth (Hsieh-Li et al., 2000; Monani et al., 2000). Those *mSmn*-deficient mice with 3-4 *SMN2* copies exhibit a milder SMA phenotype than the two copy *SMN2* SMA mice (Hsieh-Li et al., 2000; Michaud et al., 2010). If the *SMN2* copy number is high (i.e., 8), then the resultant *mSmn*-deficient mice exhibit no signs of SMA and are phenotypically normal (Monani et al., 2000). *SMN2* CNV, therefore, is a major modifier of disease severity in SMA in mice as well as in humans.

Gene conversion is one mechanism to account for increased *SMN2* copy number in the absence of *SMN1* in SMA (Burghes, 1997). In this scenario, the *SMN1* gene actually contains part of *SMN2*, in particular within exon 7 (Wirth et al., 1995; Devriendt et al., 1996; Hahnen et al., 1996; van der Steege et al., 1996; Campbell et al., 1997; DiDonato et al., 1997b). It is hypothesized that type I SMA patients have deletions of *SMN1* on both chromosome and a *SMN1*-to-*SMN2* conversion on the other chromosome (three copies of *SMN2*). Type III SMA patients have *SMN1*-to-*SMN2* converted genes on both chromosomes (four copies).

While the inverse relationship between *SMN2* copy number and disease severity generally holds true in SMA, there are some exceptions. For example, there are cases of type II and III SMA patients who harbor only two copies of *SMN2* instead of the predicted three or four copies (Prior et al., 2009; Bernal et al., 2010; Vezain et al., 2010). Sequencing of *SMN2* in these cases revealed the presence of a rare single nucleotide variant (*SMN2 c.859G>C*) in exon 7 (Prior et al., 2009; Bernal et al., 2010; Vezain et al., 2010). This variant regulates the splicing of *SMN2* premRNAs so that a greater proportion of *SMN2* transcripts contain exon 7. This variant may either create an additional SF2/ASF binding to promote exon 7 inclusion (Prior et al., 2009) or disrupt a hnRNPA1-dependent splicing silencer element (Vezain et al., 2010).

Intrafamilial variability in clinical presentation has been reported in SMA families with more than one affected sibling (Burghes et al., 1994; Cobben et al., 1995; Hahnen et al., 1995; McAndrew et al., 1997; Cuscó et al., 2006). Even though the siblings are haploidentical with respect to SMN2 copy number, they have differing clinical presentations. This would suggest that there are SMN2-independent modifiers of disease severity for SMA. Plastin-3 (PLS3) mRNA levels were higher in females with milder SMA than in discordant siblings with a more severe SMA clinical presentation (Oprea et al., 2008; Stratigopoulos et al., 2010; Bernal et al., 2011; Yanyan et al., 2014). In some families, however, female siblings with a more severe SMA phenotype show high PLS3 mRNA levels (Bernal et al., 2011). It is possible that the modifier property of PLS3 is age- and sex-dependent as well as incompletely penetrant; alternatively, PLS3 may not actually be a major modifier of SMA phenotype. There may be other non-SMN2 molecular modifiers of disease severity in SMA. It is important to identify and characterize these novel modifiers for the development of novel SMA biomarkers and targets for the development of therapeutic strategies for SMA as well as for the planning of current and future clinical trials in SMA (Wirth et al., 2013).

#### MEASURING SMN1 AND SMN2 CNVs

Because *SMN2* copy number influences disease severity in SMA, there is prognostic value in accurate measurement of *SMN2* copy number from patients being evaluated for SMA. Molecular diagnosis of SMA— i.e., loss of *SMN1*—has historically been made using a polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-based

assay followed by digestion of the PCR product with specific restriction endonucleases (PCR-RFLP; Lefebvre et al., 1995; van der Steege et al., 1995). Numerous assays have since been developed to quantify SMN2 copy number in DNA samples from SMA patients. These assays include radioactive PCR (Coovert et al., 1997; McAndrew et al., 1997), fluorescent PCR (Taylor et al., 1998), quantitative (real-time) PCR (qPCR; Feldkötter et al., 2002; Anhuf et al., 2003; Gómez-Curet et al., 2007), competitive PCR/primer extension (Gérard et al., 2004), denaturing high performance liquid chromatography (Su et al., 2005), multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification (MLPA; Arkblad et al., 2006; Scarciolla et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2007; Alías et al., 2011; Fang et al., 2015), quantitative capillary electrophoresis fragment analysis (Kirwin et al., 2013), shortamplicon melt profiling (Dobrowolski et al., 2012), fluorescent multiplex PCR/capillary electrophoresis (Wang et al., 2010a,b), and universal fluorescent triprobe ligation (Wang et al., 2014a). An important limitation of these established PCR-based copy number assays is the requirement for a parallel-run calibration curve to assign a breakpoint necessary that identifies placement of an ordinal SMN2 value. Additionally, these techniques cannot easily distinguish unit differences in SMN1 or SMN2 when the copy number is >3 (Gómez-Curet et al., 2007; Alías et al., 2011; Prior et al., 2011).

To overcome some of the limitations associated with the PCRbased assays described above, digital PCR (dPCR) distributed across a large number of partitions by limited dilution so that some partitions will lack the template DNA (Sykes et al., 1992; Vogelstein and Kinzler, 1999). The absolute abundance of the target gene can be measured by counting the number of positive partitions and the number of negative partitions. dPCR can reliably and accurately measure *SMN1* and *SMN2* copy numbers over a wide range, i.e., between 0 and 6 copies (Zhong et al., 2011; Stabley et al., 2015).

#### SMN1 AND SMN2 CNVs IN ALS

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a mostly adult-onset motor neuron disease characterized by a progressive loss of motor function leading to paralysis and respiratory failure (Boylan, 2015; Statland et al., 2015). Unlike SMA, ALS is caused by degeneration of LMNs as well as upper motor neurons (UMNs). ALS is usually fatal within 3–5 years after disease onset but there is considerable variability with respect to duration as well as phenotypic presentation (Swinnen and Robberecht, 2014). Most cases of ALS are sporadic in nature since there is no apparent family history. Approximately 10% of ALS is considered familial since either a causative gene has been identified or there is strong family history. With the recent advents of whole exome and whole genome sequencing, the genetic bases of almost 70% of familial ALS and 10% of sporadic ALS have been identified (Renton et al., 2014).

There are many case studies reporting the co-occurrence of SMA and ALS within a family (Appelbaum et al., 1992; Camu and Billiard, 1993; Orrell et al., 1997; Corcia et al., 2002a) which suggests that *SMN1* deficiency may lead to ALS in addition to

SMA. *SMN1* deletions, however, have not been observed in either familial or sporadic ALS patients (Orrell et al., 1997; Corcia et al., 2002a). Furthermore, no intragenic point mutations in *SMN1* have been reported in the ALS population (Blauw et al., 2012). The intrafamilial coexistence of SMA and ALS, therefore, occurs by chance.

Even though loss of *SMN1* is not associated with ALS, CNVs in the *SMN* genes may modulate the clinical severity of ALS in addition to SMA. Multiple studies suggest that deletion of *SMN2* leads to increased risk of the sporadic forms of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Veldink et al., 2001, 2005; Kim et al., 2010; Corcia et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2012). Additionally, atypical *SMN1* copy number—in other words, any number other than two—can affect the risk of ALS (Corcia et al., 2002b, 2006; Blauw et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2014b). Other studies, however, have shown no association between deletion of either *SMN1* or *SMN2* in ALS (Jackson et al., 1996; Moulard et al., 1998; Parboosingh et al., 1999; Crawford and Skolasky, 2002; Gamez et al., 2002). The discrepant results from these studies may be due, in part, to different assays used to assess *SMN1* and *SMN2* CNVs as some reports using quantitative PCR while others used MLPA or RFLP.

SMN and some ALS-associated proteins are involved in common biochemical pathways. Both familial and sporadic ALS have been linked to mutations in fused in sarcoma (FUS) (Kwiatkowski et al., 2009; Vance et al., 2009) (OMIM #608030) as well as in TAR DNA binding protein-43 kDa (TDP-43) (Kabashi et al., 2008; Sreedharan et al., 2008) (OMIM #612069). Both FUS and TDP-43 colocalize with SMN in subnuclear gems and ALSassociated mutations in FUS and TDP-43 reduce gem localization of SMN (Shan et al., 2010; Yamazaki et al., 2012; Gerbino et al., 2013; Groen et al., 2013; Ishihara et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2015). Gem localization of SMN, however, is not altered in other forms of sporadic ALS (Kariya et al., 2014). These mutant proteins also disrupt the SMN-mediated assembly of the splicing machinery by disrupting the interaction between SMN and U1-snRNPs (small nuclear ribonucleoprotein particles; Gerbino et al., 2013; Tsuiji et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2015). Additionally, ALSassociated FUS mutations disrupt the localization of SMN to axons (Groen et al., 2013). The SMN function, therefore, may be disrupted in certain forms of ALS.

Ectopic overexpression of SMN protects NSC34 motor neuron-like cells from cell death induced by ALSassociated mutant superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) (OMIM #105400) (Zou et al., 2007). The SOD1(G93A) transgenic mouse model for ALS that also harbors a knockout of *mSmn* allele  $(SOD1(G93A)^{+/-};mSmn^{+/-})$  exhibits a 1 more severe ALS phenotype than SOD1(G93A) ALS mice (*SOD1(G93A*)<sup>+/-</sup>;*mSmn*<sup>+/+</sup>) (Turner et al., 2009). Furthermore, ectopic overexpression of SMN in neurons and glia improves motor function of and delays motor neuron loss in SOD1(G93A) ALS mice (Turner et al., 2014). Strong transgenic overexpression of SMN2-in other words, eight copies of SMN2-delayed disease onset in the SOD1(G86R) mouse model for ALS (Kariya et al., 2012). Thesestudies suggest that increasing SMN expression may modulate disease severity in ALS. It will be interesting to determine the effect of SMN2 overexpression on disease severity in FUS- and TDP-43-associated ALS.

#### SMN1 AND SMN2 CNVs IN PMA

Progressive muscular atrophy (PMA) is an adult-onset motor neuron disease characterized by loss of LMNs (Rowland, 2010; Liewluck and Saperstein, 2015). It is a rare and sporadic disorder that is clinically distinct from ALS even though subclinical involvement of UMNs has been observed in many PMA patients. Those PMA patients exhibiting a more severe clinical presentation tend to harbor higher *SMN1* copy numbers (Kuzma-Kozakiewicz et al., 2013). No relationship between *SMN2* copy number and disease severity was noted in these PMA patients. Moulard et al. (1998) noted that the frequency of *SMN2* deletion was higher in a small group of patients with sporadic LMN disease.

#### CONCLUSIONS

CNVs in the *SMN* genes can modulate disease severity in SMA as well as in other motor neurons. It is well-established that *SMN2* copy number is inversely correlated with disease severity in SMA. Because of this relationship, *SMN2* is a primary target for the development of therapeutics for SMA (Arnold and Burghes, 2013; Cherry et al., 2014). Numerous approaches including promoter activation, increased inclusion of exon 7 and protein stabilization are currently being developed to increase *SMN2* expression. With respect to other motor neuron diseases, it is presently unclear whether increasing *SMN1* or *SMN2* expression would be beneficial or detrimental. On one hand, increasing

#### REFERENCES

- Alías, L., Bernal, S., Barceló, M. J., Also-Rallo, E., Martínez-Hernández, R., Rodríguez-Alvarez, F. J., et al. (2011). Accuracy of marker analysis, quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction and multiple ligationdependent probe amplification to determine SMN2 copy number in patients with spinal muscular atrophy. Genet. Test. Mol. Biomarkers 15, 587–594. doi: 10.1089/gtmb.2010.0253
- Amara, A., Adala, L., Ben Charfeddine, I., Mamaï, O., Mili, A., Ben Lazreg, T., et al. (2012). Correlation of SMN2, NAIP, p44, H4F5 and Occludin genes copy number with spinal muscular atrophy phenotype in Tunisian patients. *Eur. J. Paediatr. Neurol.* 16, 167–174. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2011.07.007
- Anhuf, D., Eggermann, T., Rudnik-Schöneborn, S., and Zerres, K. (2003). Determination of SMN1 and SMN2 copy number using TaqMan technology. *Hum. Mutat.* 22, 74–78. doi: 10.1002/humu.10221
- Appelbaum, J. S., Roos, R. P., Salazar-Grueso, E. F., Buchman, A., Iannaccone, S., Glantz, R., et al. (1992). Intrafamilial heterogeneity in hereditary motor neuron disease. *Neurology* 42, 1488–1492. doi: 10.1212/WNL.42.8.1488
- Arkblad, E. L., Darin, N., Berg, K., Kimber, E., Brandberg, G., Lindberg, C., et al. (2006). Multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification improves diagnostics in spinal muscular atrophy. *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 16, 830–838. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2006.08.011
- Arnold, W. D., and Burghes, A. H. M. (2013). Spinal muscular atrophy: development and implementation of potential therapeutics. *Ann. Neurol.* 74, 348–362. doi: 10.1002/ana.23995
- Ben-Shachar, S., Orr-Urtreger, A., Bardugo, E., Shomrat, R., and Yaron, Y. (2011). Large-scale population screening for spinal muscular atrophy: clinical implications. *Genet. Med.* 13, 110–114. doi: 10.1097/GIM.0b013e31820 17c05
- Bernal, S., Alías, L., Barceló, M. J., Also-Rallo, E., Martínez-Hernández, R., Gámez, J., et al. (2010). The c.859G>C variant in the SMN2 gene is associated with

SMN expression provides neuroprotective benefit to cell culture and transgenic mouse models for ALS; however, some genetic studies suggest that duplication of *SMN1* increases the risk of sporadic ALS. Future studies will assess the relationship between *SMN1* and *SMN2* CNVs and disease risk and progression in ALS and PMA as well as in other disorders affecting motor neurons.

*SMN2* copy number is becoming an inclusion criterion for many clinical trials for SMA. Additionally, *SMN2* copy number can be used to help guide the type of care SMA patients will receive. It is, therefore, essential to be able to accurately and reliably measure *SMN2* CNVs in SMA patient samples, especially for those individuals harboring more than three copies of *SMN2*. Newly developed technologies like dPCR offer a means to accurately determine *SMN2* copy number over a wider range.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank the members of the Motor Neuron Diseases Research Laboratory for their input. This review was supported by the Nemours Foundation and an Institutional Development Award from the National Institute of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health (P20GM103464).

types II and III SMA and originates from a common ancestor. J. Med. Genet. 47, 640-642. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2010.079004

- Bernal, S., Also-Rallo, E., Martínez-Hernández, R., Alías, L., Rodríguez-Alvarez, F. J., Millán, J. M., et al. (2011). Plastin 3 expression in discordant spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) siblings. *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 21, 413–419. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2011.03.009
- Blauw, H. M., Barnes, C. P., van Vught, P. W. J., van Rheenen, W., Verheul, M., Cuppen, E., et al. (2012). SMN1 gene duplications are associated with sporadic ALS. *Neurology* 78, 776–780. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31824 9f697
- Boylan, K. (2015). Familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurol. Clin. 33, 807–830. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2015.07.001
- Brandt, S. (1949). Hereditary factors in infantile progressive muscular atrophy; study of 112 cases in 70 families. Am. J. Dis. Child. 78, 226–236. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.1949.02030050237007
- Brkušanin, M., Kosać, A., Jovanović, V., Pešović, J., Brajušković, G., Dimitrijević, N., et al. (2015). Joint effect of the SMN2 and SERF1A genes on childhoodonset types of spinal muscular atrophy in Serbian patients. *J. Hum. Genet.* 60, 723–728. doi: 10.1038/jhg.2015.104
- Brzustowicz, L. M., Lehner, T., Castilla, L. H., Penchaszadeh, G. K., Wilhelmsen, K. C., Daniels, R., et al. (1990). Genetic mapping of chronic childhood-onset spinal muscular atrophy to chromosome 5q11.2-13.3. *Nature* 344, 540–541. doi: 10.1038/344540a0
- Burghes, A. H. M., and Beattie, C. E. (2009). Spinal muscular atrophy: why do low levels of survival motor neuron protein make motor neurons sick? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 10, 597–609. doi: 10.1038/nrn2670
- Burghes, A. H. M., Ingraham, S. E., Kóte-Jarai, Z., Rosenfeld, S., Herta, N., Nadkarni, N., et al. (1994). Linkage mapping of the spinal muscular atrophy gene. *Hum. Genet.* 93, 305–312. doi: 10.1007/BF00212028
- Burghes, A. H. M. (1997). When is a deletion not a deletion? When it is converted. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 61, 9–15. doi: 10.1086/513913

- Bürglen, L., Seroz, T., Miniou, P., Lefebvre, S., Burlet, P., Munnich, A., et al. (1997). The gene encoding p44, a subunit of the transcription factor TFIIH, is involved in large-scale deletions associated with Werdnig-Hoffmann disease. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 60, 72–79.
- Burlet, P., Bürglen, L., Clermont, O., Lefebvre, S., Viollet, L., Munnich, A., et al. (1996). Large scale deletions of the 5q13 region are specific to Werdnig-Hoffmann disease. J. Med. Genet. 33, 281–283. doi: 10.1136/jmg.33.4.281
- Burnett, B. G., Muñoz, E., Tandon, A., Kwon, D. Y., Sumner, C. J., and Fischbeck, K. H. (2009). Regulation of SMN protein stability. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 29, 1107–1115.
- Butchbach, M. E. R., and Burghes, A. H. M. (2004). Perspectives on models of spinal muscular atrophy for drug discovery. *Drug Discover. Today Dis. Models* 1, 151–156. doi: 10.1016/j.ddmod.2004.07.001
- Campbell, L., Potter, A., Ignatius, J., Dubowitz, V., and Davies, K. (1997). Genomic variation and gene conversion in spinal muscular atrophy: implications for disease process and clinical phenotype. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 61, 40–50. doi: 10.1086/513886
- Camu, W., and Billiard, M. (1993). Coexistence of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and Werdnig-Hoffmann disease within a family. *Muscle Nerve* 16, 569–570.
- Carrel, T. L., McWhorter, M. L., Workman, E., Zhang, H., Wolstencroft, E. C., Lorson, C., et al. (2006). Survival motor neuron function in motor axons is independent of functions required for small nuclear ribonucleoprotein biogenesis. J. Neurosci. 26, 11014–11022. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1637-06.2006
- Carter, T. A., Bönnemann, C. G., Wang, C. H., Obici, S., Parano, E., De Fatima Bonaldo, M., et al. (1997). A multicopy transcription-repair gene, BTF2p44, maps to the SMA region and demonstrates SMA associated deletions. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 6, 229–236. doi: 10.1093/hmg/6.2.229
- Cherry, J. J., Kobayashi, D. T., Lynes, M. M., Naryshkin, N. N., Tiziano, F. D., Zaworksi, P. G., et al. (2014). Assays for the identification and prioritization of drug candidates for spinal muscular atrophy. *Assay Drug Dev. Technol.* 12, 315–341. doi: 10.1089/adt.2014.587
- Cho, S., and Dreyfuss, G. (2010). A degron created by SMN2 exon 7 skipping is a principal contributor to spinal muscular atrophy severity. *Genes Dev.* 24, 438–442. doi: 10.1101/gad.1884910
- Cifuentes-Diaz, C., Nicole, S., Velasco, M. E., Borra-Cebrian, C., Panozzo, C., Frugier, T., et al. (2002). Neurofilament accumulation at the motor endplate and lack of axonal sprouting in a spinal muscular atrophy mouse model. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 11, 1439–1447. doi: 10.1093/hmg/11.12.1439
- Cobben, J. M., van der Steege, G., Grootscholten, P., de Visser, M., Scheffer, H., and Buys, C. H. (1995). Deletions of the survival motor neuron gene in unaffected siblings of patients with spinal muscular atrophy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 57, 805–808.
- Coovert, D. D., Le, T. T., McAndrew, P. E., Strasswimmer, J., Crawford, T. O., Mendell, J. R., et al. (1997). The survival motor neuron protein in spinal muscular atrophy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 6, 1205–1214. doi: 10.1093/hmg/6.8.1205
- Corcia, P., Camu, W., Halimi, J. M., Vourc'h, P., Antar, C., Vedrine, S., et al. (2006). SMN1 gene, but not SMN2, is a risk factor for sporadic ALS. *Neurology* 67, 1147–1150. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000233830.85206.1e
- Corcia, P., Ingre, C., Blasco, H., Press, P., Praline, J., Antar, C., et al. (2012). Homozygous SMN2 deletion is a protective factor in the Swedish ALS population. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 20, 588–591. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2011.255
- Corcia, P., Khoris, J., Couratier, P., Mayeux-Portas, V., Bieth, E., de Toffol, B., et al. (2002a). SMN1 gene study in three families in which ALS and spinal muscular atrophy co-exist. *Neurology* 59, 1464–1466. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000032500.73621.C5
- Corcia, P., Mayeux-Portas, V., Khoris, J., de Toffol, B., Autret, A., Müh, J. P., et al. (2002b). Abnormal SMN1 gene copy number is a susceptibility factor for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann. Neurol. 51, 243–246. doi: 10.1002/ana.10104
- Courseaux, A., Richard, F., Grosgeorge, J., Ortola, C., Viale, A., Turc-Carel, C., et al. (2003). Segmental duplications in euchromatic regions of human chromosome 5: a source of evolutionary instability and transcriptional innovation. *Genome Res.* 13, 369–381. doi: 10.1101/gr.490303
- Crawford, T. O., and Pardo, C. A. (1996). The neurobiology of childhood spinal muscular atrophy. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 3, 97–110. doi: 10.1006/nbdi.1996.0010
- Crawford, T. O., Paushkin, S. V., Kobayashi, D. T., Forrest, S. J., Joyce, C. L., Finkel, R. S., et al. (2012). Evaluation of SMN protein, transcript and copy number in the Biomarkers for Spinal Muscular Atrophy (BforSMA) clinical study. *PLoS ONE* 7:e33572. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033572

- Crawford, T. O., and Skolasky, R. L. Jr. (2002). The relationship of *SMN* to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann. Neurol.* 52, 857–858. doi: 10.1002/ana.10378
- Cuscó, I., Barceló, M. J., Rojas-García, R., Illa, I., Gámez, J., Cervera, C., et al. (2006). SMN2 copy number predicts acute or chronic spinal muscular atrophy but does not account for intrafamilial variability in siblings. *J. Neurol.* 253, 21–25. doi: 10.1007/s00415-005-0912-y
- Cuscó, I., Barceló, M. J., Soler, C., Parra, J., Baiget, M., and Tizzano, E. (2002). Prenatal diagnosis for risk of spinal muscular atrophy. *Br. J. Obstet. Gynaecol.* 109, 1244–1249. doi: 10.1016/S1470-0328(02)02983-X
- Devriendt, K., Lammens, M., Schollen, E., Van Hole, C., Dom, R., Devlieger, H., et al. (1996). Clinical and molecular genetic features of congenital spinal muscular atrophy. *Ann. Neurol.* 40, 731–738. doi: 10.1002/ana.410400509
- DiDonato, C. J., Chen, X. N., Noya, D., Korenberg, J. R., Nadeau, J. H., and Simard, L. R. (1997a). Cloning, characterization and copy number of the murine survival motor neuron gene: homolog of the spinal muscular atrophydetermining gene. *Genome Res.* 7, 339–352.
- DiDonato, C. J., Ingraham, S. E., Mendell, J. R., Prior, T. W., Lenard, S., Moxley, R. T., et al. (1997b). Deletion and conversion in spinal muscular atrophy: is there a relationship to severity? *Ann. Neurol.* 41, 230–237. doi: 10.1002/ana.410410214
- Dobrowolski, S. F., Pham, H. T., Pouch-Downes, F., Prior, T. W., Naylor, E. W., and Swoboda, K. J. (2012). Newborn screening for spinal muscular atrophy by calibrated short-amplicon melt profiling. *Clin. Chem.* 58, 1033–1039. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2012.183038
- Elsheikh, B., Prior, T., Zhang, X., Miller, R., Kolb, S. J., Moore, D., et al. (2009). An analysis of disease severity based on SMN2 copy number in adults with spinal muscular atrophy. *Muscle Nerve* 40, 652–656. doi: 10.1002/mus.21350
- Fang, P., Li, L., Zhou, W. J., Wu, W. Q., Zhong, Z. Y., Yan, T. Z., et al. (2015). Molecular characterization and copy number of SMN1, SMN2 and NAIP in Chinese patients with spinal muscular atrophy and unrelated healthy controls. BMC Musculoskelet. Disord. 16:11. doi: 10.1186/s12891-015-0457-x
- Feldkötter, M., Schwarzer, V., Wirth, R., Wienker, T. F., and Wirth, B. (2002). Quantitative analyses of SMN1 and SMN2 based on real-time LightCycler PCR: fast and highly reliable carrier testing and prediction of severity of spinal muscular atrophy. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 70, 358–368. doi: 10.1086/338627
- Gabanella, F., Carissimi, C., Usiello, A., and Pellizzoni, L. (2005). The activity of the spinal muscular atrophy protein is regulated during development and cellular differentiation. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 14, 3629–3642. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi390
- Gamez, J., Barceló, M. J., Muñoz, X., Carmona, F., Cuscó, I., Baiget, M., et al. (2002). Survival and respiratory decline are not related to homozygous SMN2 deletions in ALS patients. Neurology 59, 1456–1460. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000032496.64510.4E
- Gérard, B., Ginet, N., Matthijs, G., Evrard, P., Baumann, C., Da Silva, F., et al. (2004). Genotype determination at the survival motor neuron locus in a normal population and SMA carriers using competitive PCR and primer extension. *Hum. Mutat.* 16, 253–263. doi: 10.1002/1098-1004(200009)16:3<253::AID-HUMU8>3.0.CO;2-8
- Gerbino, V., Carrì, M. T., Cozzolino, M., and Achsel, T. (2013). Mislocalised FUS mutants stall spliceosomal snRNPs in the cytoplasm. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 55, 120–128. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2013.03.003
- Gilliam, T. C., Brzustowicz, L. M., Castilla, L. H., Lehner, T., Penchaszadeh, G. K., Daniels, R. J., et al. (1990). Genetic homogeneity between acute and chronic forms of spinal muscular atrophy. *Nature* 345, 823–825. doi: 10.1038/345 823a0
- Gómez-Curet, I., Robinson, K. G., Funanage, V. L., Crawford, T. O., Scavina, M., and Wang, W. (2007). Robust quantification of the SMN gene copy number by real-time TaqMan PCR. *Neurogenetics* 8, 271–278. doi: 10.1007/s10048-007-0093-1
- Groen, E. J. N., Fumoto, K., Blokhuis, A. M., Engelen-Lee, J. Y., Zhou, Y., van den Heuvel, D. M. A., et al. (2013). ALS-associated mutations in FUS disrupt the axonal distribution and localization of SMN. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 3690–3704. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt222
- Hahnen, E., Forkert, R., Marke, C., Rudnik-Schöneborn, S., Schonling, J., Zerres, K., et al. (1995). Molecular analysis of candidate genes on chromosome 5q13 in autosomal recessive spinal muscular atrophy: evidence of homozygous deletions of the SMN gene in unaffected individuals. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 4, 1927–1933. doi: 10.1093/hmg/4.10.1927
- Hahnen, E., Schönling, J., Rudnik-Schöneborn, S., Zerres, K., and Wirth, B. (1996). Hybrid survival motor neuron genes in patients with autosomal recessive spinal

muscular atrophy: new insights into molecular mechanisms responsible for the disease. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 59, 1057–1065.

- Hendrickson, B. C., Donohoe, C., Akmaev, V. R., Sugarman, E. A., Labrousse, P., Boguslavskiy, L., et al. (2009). Differences in SMN1 allele frequencies among ethnic groups within North America. J. Med. Genet. 46, 641–644. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2009.066969
- Hsieh-Li, H. M., Chang, J. G., Jong, Y. J., Wu, M. H., Wang, N. M., Tsai, C. H., et al. (2000). A mouse model for spinal muscular atrophy. *Nat. Genet.* 24, 66–70. doi: 10.1038/71709
- Huang, C. H., Chang, Y. Y., Chen, C. H., Kuo, Y. S., Hwu, W. L., Gerdes, T., et al. (2007). Copy number analysis of survival motor neuron genes by multiplex ligation-dependent probe amplification. *Genet. Med.* 9, 241–248. doi: 10.1097/GIM.0b013e31803d35bc
- Ishihara, T., Ariizumi, Y., Shiga, A., Kato, T., Tan, C. F., Sato, T., et al. (2013). Decreased number of gemini of coiled bodies and U12 snRNA level in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 4136–4147. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt262
- Jackson, M., Morrison, K. E., Al-Chalabi, A., Bakker, M., and Leigh, P. N. (1996). Analysis of chromosome 5q13 genes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: homozygous NAIP deletion in a sporadic case. *Ann. Neurol.* 39, 796–800. doi: 10.1002/ana.410390616
- Kabashi, E., Valdmanis, P. N., Dion, P., Spiegelman, D., McConkey, B. J., Vande Velde, C., et al. (2008). TARDBP mutations in individuals with sporadic and familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat. Genet.* 40, 572–574. doi: 10.1038/ng.132
- Kariya, S., Re, D. B., Jacquier, A., Nelson, K., Przedborski, S., and Monani, U. R. (2012). Mutant superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1), a cause of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, disrupts the recruitment of SMN, the spinal muscular atrophy protein to nuclear Cajal bodies. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 21, 3421–3434. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds174
- Kariya, S., Sampson, J. B., Northrop, L. E., Luccarelli, C. M., Naini, A. B., Re, D. B., et al. (2014). Nuclear localization of SMN and FUS is not altered in fibroblasts from patients with sporadic ALS. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. Frontotemporal Degener.* 15, 581–587. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2014.907319
- Kim, J., Lee, S. G., Choi, Y. C., Kang, S. W., Lee, J. B., Choi, J. R., et al. (2010). Association betwen *survivor motor neuron 2 (SMN2)* gene homozygous deletion and sporadic lower motor neuron disease in a Korean population. *Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci.* 40, 368–374.
- Kirwin, S. M., Vinette, K. M. B., Gonzalez, I. L., Al Abdulwahed, H., Al-Sannaa, N., and Funanage, V. L. (2013). A homozygous double mutation in *SMN1*: a complicated genetic diagnosis of SMA. *Mol. Genet. Genomic Med.* 1, 113–117. doi: 10.1002/mgg3.10
- Kolb, S. J., Gubitz, A. K., Olszewski, R. F. Jr., Ottinger, E., Sumner, C. J., Fischbeck, K. H., et al. (2006). A novel cell immunoassay to measure survival of motor neurons protein in blood cells. *BMC Neurol.* 6:6. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-6-6
- Kolb, S. J., and Kissel, J. T. (2015). Spinal muscular atrophy. Neurol. Clin. 33, 831–846. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2015.07.004
- Kuzma-Kozakiewicz, M., Jedrzejowska, M., and Kazmierczak, B. (2013). SMN1 gene duplications are more frequent in patients with progressive muscular atrophy. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. Frontotemporal Degener.* 14, 457–462. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2013.771367
- Kwiatkowski, T. J Jr., Bosco, D. A., LeClerc, A. L., Tamrazian, E., Vandenburg, C. R., Russ, C., et al. (2009). Mutations in the FUS/TLS gene on chromosome 16 cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 323, 1205–1208. doi: 10.1126/science.1166066
- Labrum, R., Rodda, J., and Krause, A. (2007). The molecular basis of spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) in South African black patients. *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 17, 684–692. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2007.05.005
- Le, T. T., Pham, L. T., Butchbach, M. E. R., Zhang, H. L., Monani, U. R., Coovert, D. D., et al. (2005). SMND7, the major product of the centromeric survival motor neuron gene (SMN2), extends survival in mice with spinal muscular atrophy and associates with full-length SMN. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 14, 845–857. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi078
- Lee, J. B., Lee, K. A., Hong, J. M., Suh, G. I., and Choi, Y. C. (2012). Homozygous SMN2 deletion is a major risk factor among twenty-five Korean sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. *Yonsei Med. J.* 53, 53–57. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2012.53.1.53

- Lefebvre, S., Bürglen, L., Reboullet, S., Clermont, O., Burlet, P., Viollet, L., et al. (1995). Identification and characterization of a spinal muscular atrophydetermining gene. *Cell* 80, 155–165. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(95)90460-3
- Lefebvre, S., Burlet, P., Liu, Q., Bertrandy, S., Clermont, O., Munnich, A., et al. (1997). Correlation between severity and SMN protein level in spinal muscular atrophy. *Nat. Genet.* 16, 265–269. doi: 10.1038/ng0797-265
- Liewluck, T., and Saperstein, D. S. (2015). Progressive muscular atrophy. *Neurol. Clin.* 33, 761–773. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2015.07.005
- Liu, Q., and Dreyfuss, G. (1996). A novel nuclear structure containing the survival of motor neurons protein. *EMBO J.* 15, 3555–3565.
- Lorson, C. L., and Androphy, E. J. (2000). An exonic enhancer is required for inclusion of an essential exon in the SMA-determining gene SMN. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 9, 259–265. doi: 10.1093/hmg/9.2.259
- Lorson, C. L., Hahnen, E., Androphy, E. J., and Wirth, B. (1999). A single nucleotide in the SMN gene regulates splicing and is responsible for spinal muscular atrophy. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.U.S.A. 96, 6307–6311. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.11.6307
- Lyahyai, J., Sbiti, A., Barkat, A., Ratbi, I., and Sefiani, A. (2012). Spinal muscular atrophy carrier frequency and estimated prevalence of the disease in Moroccan newborns. *Genet. Test. Mol. Biomarkers* 16, 215–218. doi: 10.1089/gtmb.2011.0149
- Mailman, M. D., Heinz, J. W., Papp, A. C., Snyder, P. J., Sedra, M. S., Wirth, B., et al. (2002). Molecular analysis of spinal muscular atrophy and modification of the phenotype by SMN2. *Genet. Med.* 4, 20–26. doi: 10.1097/00125817-200201000-00004
- McAndrew, P. E., Parsons, D. W., Simard, L. R., Rochette, C., Ray, P. N., Mendell, J. R., et al. (1997). Identification of proximal spinal muscular atrophy carriers and patients by analysis of SMN<sup>T</sup> and SMN<sup>C</sup> gene copy number. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 60, 1411–1422. doi: 10.1086/515465
- McWhorter, M. L., Monani, U. R., Burghes, A. H. M., and Beattie, C. E. (2003). Knockdown of the survival motor neuron (Smn) protein in zebrafish causes defects in motor axon outgrowth and pathfinding. *J. Cell Biol.* 162, 919–931. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200303168
- Melki, J., Abdelhak, S., Sheth, P., Bachelot, M. F., Burlet, P., Marcadet, A., et al. (1990a). Genes for chronic proximal spinal muscular atrophies maps to chromosome 5q. *Nature* 344, 767–768. doi: 10.1038/344767a0
- Melki, J., Sheth, P., Abdelhak, S., Burlet, P., Bachelot, M. F., Lathrop, M. G., et al. (1990b). Mapping of acute (type I) spinal muscular atrophy to chromosome 5q12-q14. The French Spinal Muscular Atrophy Investigators. *Lancet* 336, 271–273. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(90)91803-I
- Michaud, M., Arnoux, T., Bielli, S., Durand, E., Rotrou, Y., Jablonka, S., et al. (2010). Neuromuscular defects and breathing disorders in a new mouse model of spinal muscular atrophy. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 38, 125–135. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2010.01.006
- Monani, U. R., Lorson, C. L., Parsons, D. W., Prior, T. W., Androphy, E. J., Burghes, A. H. M., et al. (1999). A single nucleotide difference that alters splicing patterns distinguishes the SMA gene SMN1 from the copy gene SMN2. Hum. Mol. Genet. 8, 1177–1183. doi: 10.1093/hmg/8.7.1177
- Monani, U. R., Sendtner, M., Coovert, D. D., Parsons, D. W., Andreassi, C., Le, T. T., et al. (2000). The human centromeric survival motor neuron gene (SMN2) rescues embryonic lethality in Smn-/- mice and results in a mouse with spinal muscular atrophy. Hum. Mol.Genet. 9, 333–339. doi: 10.1093/hmg/9.3.333
- Morrison, K. E. (1996). Advances in SMA research: review of gene deletions. Neuromuscul. Disord. 6, 397–408. doi: 10.1016/S0960-8966(96)00368-9
- Moulard, B., Salachas, F., Chassande, B., Briolotti, V., Meininger, V., Malafosse, A., et al. (1998). Association between centromeric deletions of the SMN gene and sporadic adult-onset lower motor neuron disease. Ann. Neurol. 43, 640–644. doi: 10.1002/ana.410430513
- Munsat, T. L., and Davies, K. E. (1992). International SMA Consortium meeting. *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 2, 423–428. doi: 10.1016/S0960-8966(06)80015-5
- Nicole, S., Desforges, B., Millet, G., Lesbordes, J., Cifuentes-Diaz, C., Vertes, D., et al. (2003). Intact satellite cells lead to remarkable protection against *Smn* gene defect in differentiation skeletal muscle. *J. Cell Biol.* 161, 571–582. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200210117
- Oprea, G. E., Kröber, S., McWhorter, M. L., Rossoll, W., Müller, S., Krawczak, M., et al. (2008). Plastin 3 is a protective modifier of autosomal recessive spinal muscular atrophy. *Science* 320, 524–527. doi: 10.1126/science.1155085

- Orrell, R. W., Habgood, J. J., de Belleroche, J. S., and Lane, R. J. M. (1997). The relationship of spinal muscular atrophy to motor neuron disease. Investigation of SMN and NAIP gene deletions in sporadic and familial ALS. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 145, 55–61. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(96)00240-7
- Parboosingh, J. S., Meininger, V., McKenna-Yasek, D., Brown, R. H. Jr., and Rouleau, G. A. (1999). Deletions causing spinal muscular atrophy do not predispose to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Arch. Neurol.* 56, 710–712. doi: 10.1001/archneur.56.6.710
- Pearn, J. (1978). Incidence, prevalence and gene frequency studies of chronic childhood spinal muscular atrophy. J. Med. Genet. 15, 409–413. doi: 10.1136/jmg.15.6.409
- Pellizzoni, L. (2007). Chaperoning ribonucleoprotein biogenesis in health and disease. *EMBO Rep.* 8, 340–345. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.7400941
- Prior, T. W., Krainer, A. R., Hua, Y., Swoboda, K. J., Snyder, P. C., Bridgeman, S. J., et al. (2009). A positive modifier of spinal muscular atrophy in the *SMN2* gene. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 85, 408–413. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.08.002
- Prior, T. W., Nagan, N., Sugarman, E. A., Batish, S. D., and Braastad, C. (2011). Technical standards and guidelines for spinal muscular atrophy testing. *Genet. Med.* 13, 686–694. doi: 10.1097/GIM.0b013e318220d523
- Prior, T. W., Swoboda, K. J., Scott, H. D., and Hejmanowski, A. Q. (2005). Homozygous SMN1 deletions in unaffected family members and modification of the phenotype by SMN2. Am. J. Med. Genet. 130A, 307–310. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.a.30251
- Qu, Y., Ge, X., Bai, J., Wang, L., Cao, Y., Lu, Y., et al. (2014). Association of copy numbers of survival motor neuron gene 2 and neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein gene with the natural history in a Chinese spinal muscular atrophy cohort. J. Child Neurol. 30, 429–436. doi: 10.1177/0883073814553271
- Renton, A. E., Chiò, A., and Traynor, B. J. (2014). State of play in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis genetics. *Nat. Neurosci.* 17, 17–23. doi: 10.1038/nn.3584
- Rochette, C. F., Gilbert, N., and Simard, L. R. (2001). SMN gene duplication and emergence of the SMN2 gene occured in distinct hominids: SMN2 is unique to Homo sapiens. Hum. Genet. 108, 255–266. doi: 10.1007/s004390100473
- Rodrigues, N. R., Owen, N., Talbot, K., Patel, S., Muntoni, F., Ignatius, J., et al. (1996). Gene deletions in spinal muscular atrophy. J. Med. Genet. 33, 93–96. doi: 10.1136/jmg.33.2.93
- Rowland, L. P. (2010). Progressive muscular atrophy and other lower motor neuron syndromes of adults. *Muscle Nerve* 41, 161–165. doi: 10.1002/mus.21565
- Roy, N., Mahadevan, M. S., McLean, M., Shutler, G., Yaraghi, Z., Farahani, R., et al. (1995). The gene for neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein is partially deleted in individuals with spinal muscular atrophy. *Cell* 80, 167–178. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(95)90461-1
- Russman, B. S. (2007). Spinal muscular atrophy: clinical classification and disease heterogeneity. J. Child Neurol. 22, 946–951. doi: 10.1177/0883073807305673
- Sangaré, M., Hendrickson, B., Sango, H. A., Chen, K., Nofziger, J., Amara, A., et al. (2014). Genetics of low spinal muscular atrophy carrier frequency in sub-Saharan Africa. *Ann. Neurol.* 75, 525–532. doi: 10.1002/ana.24114
- Scarciolla, O., Stuppia, L., De Angelis, M. V., Murru, S., Palka, C., Giuliani, R., et al. (2006). Spinal muscular atrophy genotyping by gene dosage using multiple ligation-dependent probe amplification. *Neurogenetics* 7, 269–276. doi: 10.1007/s10048-006-0051-3
- Scharf, J. M., Endrizzi, M. G., Wetter, A., Huang, S., Thompson, T. G., Zerres, K., et al. (1998). Identification of a candidate modifying gene for spinal muscular atrophy by comparative genomics. *Nat. Genet.* 20, 83–86. doi: 10.1038/1753
- Schmutz, J., Martin, J., Terry, A., Couronne, O., Grimwood, J., Lowry, S., et al. (2004). The DNA sequence and comparative analysis of human chromosome 5. *Nature* 431, 268–274. doi: 10.1038/nature02919
- Schrank, B., Götz, R., Gunnersen, J. M., Ure, J. M., Toyka, K. V., Smith, A. G., et al. (1997). Inactivation of the survival motor neuron gene, a candidate gene for human spinal muscular atrophy, leads to massive cell death in early mouse embryos. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 94, 9920–9925. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.18.9920
- Shan, X., Chiang, P. M., Price, D. L., and Wong, P. C. (2010). Altered distributions of gemini of coiled bodies and mitochondria in motor neurons of TDP-43 transgenic mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.U.S.A.* 107, 16325–16330. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1003459107
- Simard, L. R., Bélanger, M. C., Morissette, S., Wride, M., Prior, T. W., and Swoboda, K. J. (2007). Preclinical validation of a multiplex real-time assay

to quantify SMN mRNA in patients with SMA. *Neurology* 68, 451-456. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000252934.70676.ab

- Sreedharan, S., Blair, I. P., Tripathi, V. B., Hu, X., Vance, C., Rogelj, B., et al. (2008). TDP-43 mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 319, 1668–1672. doi: 10.1126/science.1154584
- Stabley, D. L., Harris, A. W., Holbrook, J., Chubbs, N. J., Lozo, K. W., Crawford, T. O., et al. (2015). SMN1 and SMN2 copy numbers in cell lines derived from patients with spinal muscular atrophy as measured by array digital PCR. Mol. Genet. Genomic Med. 3, 248–257. doi: 10.1002/mgg3.141
- Statland, J. M., Barohn, R. J., McVey, A. L., Katz, J. S., and Dimachkie, M. M. (2015). Patterns of weakness, classification of motor neuron disease and clinical diagnosis of sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurol. Clin.* 33, 735–748. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2015.07.006
- Stratigopoulos, G., Lanzano, P., Deng, L., Guo, J., Kaufmann, P., Darras, B., et al. (2010). Association of plastin 3 expression with disease severity in spinal muscular atrophy only in postpubertal females. *Arch. Neurol.* 67, 1252–1256. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2010.239
- Su, Y. N., Hung, C. C., Li, H., Lee, C. N., Cheng, W. F., Tsao, P. N., et al. (2005). Quantitative analysis of SMN1 and SMN2 genes based on DHPLC: a highly efficient and reliable carrier-screening test. *Hum. Mutat.* 25, 460–467. doi: 10.1002/humu.20160
- Su, Y. N., Hung, C. C., Lin, S. Y., Chen, F. Y., Chern, J. P. S., Tsai, C., et al. (2011). Carrier screening for spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) in 107,611 pregnant women during the period 2005-2009: a prospective population-based cohort study. *PLoS ONE* 6:e17067. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0017067
- Sugarman, E. A., Nagan, N., Zhu, H., Akmaev, V. R., Zhou, Z., Rohlfs, A. M., et al. (2012). Pan-ethnic carrier screening and prenatal diagnosis for spinal muscular atrophy: clinical laboratory analysis of > 72400 specimens. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 20, 27–32. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2011.134
- Sumner, C. J., Kolb, S. J., Harmison, G. G., Jeffries, N. O., Schadt, K., Finkel, R. S., et al. (2006). SMN mRNA and protein levels in peripheral blood. Biomarkers for SMA clinical trials. *Neurology* 66, 1067–1073. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000201929.56928.13
- Sun, S., Ling, S. C., Qiu, J., Albuquerque, C. P., Zhou, Y., Tokunaga, S., et al. (2015). ALS-causative mutations in FUS/TLS confer gain and loss of function by altered association with SMN and U1-snRNP. *Nat. Commun.* 6, 6171. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7171
- Swinnen, B., and Robberecht, W. (2014). The phenotypic variability of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 10, 661–670. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2014.184
- Swoboda, K. J., Prior, T. W., Scott, C. B., McNaught, T. P., Wride, M. C., Reyna, S. P., et al. (2005). Natural history of denervation in SMA: relation to age, SMN2 copy number and function. Ann. Neurol. 57, 704–712. doi: 10.1002/ana.20473
- Sykes, P. J., Neoh, S. H., Brisco, M. J., Hughes, E., Condon, J., and Morley, A. A. (1992). Quantitation of targets for PCR by use of limiting dilution. *Biotechniques* 13, 444–449.
- Taylor, J. E., Thomas, N. H., Lewis, C. M., Abbs, S. J., Rodrigues, N. R., Davies, K. E., et al. (1998). Correlation of SMNt and SMNc gene copy number with age of onset and survival in spinal muscular atrophy. Eur. J. Hum. Genet. 6, 467–474. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejhg.5200210
- Tiziano, F. D., Bertini, E., Messina, S., Angelozzi, C., Pane, M., D'Amico, A., et al. (2007). The Hammersmith functional score correlates with the SMN2 copy number: a multicentric study. *Neuromuscul. Disord.* 17, 400–403. doi: 10.1016/j.nmd.2007.02.006
- Tiziano, F. D., Pinto, A. M., Fiori, S., Lomastro, R., Messina, S., Bruno, C., et al. (2010). SMN transcript levels in leukocytes of SMA patients determined by absolute real-time PCR. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 18, 52–58. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2009.116
- Tsuiji, H., Iguchi, Y., Furuya, A., Kataoka, A., Hatsuta, H., Atsuta, N., et al. (2013). Spliceosome integrity is defective in the motor neuron diseases ALS and SMA. *EMBO Mol. Med.* 5, 221–234. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201202303
- Turner, B. J., Alfazema, N., Sheean, R. K., Sleigh, J. N., Davies, K. E., Horne, M. K., et al. (2014). Overexpression of survival motor neuron improves neuromuscular function and motor neuron survival in mutant SOD1 mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 906–915. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.09.030
- Turner, B. J., Parkinson, N. J., Davies, K. E., and Talbot, K. (2009). Survival motor neuron deficiency enhances progression in an amyotrophic lateral sclerosis mouse model. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 34, 511–517. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.03.005

- van der Steege, G., Grootscholten, P. M., Cobben, J. M., Zappata, S., Scheffer, H., den Dunnen, J. T., et al. (1996). Apparent gene conversions involving the SMN gene in the region of the spinal muscular atrophy locus at chromosome 5. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 59, 834–838.
- van der Steege, G., Grootscholten, P. M., van der Vlies, P., Draaijers, T. G., Osinga, J., Cobben, J. M., et al. (1995). PCR-based DNA test to confirm clinical diagnosis of autosomal recessive spinal muscular atrophy. *Lancet* 345, 985–986. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(95)90732-7
- Vance, C., Rogelj, B., Hortobágyi, T., De Vos, K. J., Nishimura, A. L., Sreeharan, J., et al. (2009). Mutations in FUS, an RNA processing protein, cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 6. *Science* 323, 1208–1211. doi: 10.1126/science.1165942
- Velasco, E., Valero, C., Valero, A., Moreno, F., and Hernández-Chico, C. (1996). Molecular analysis of the SMN and NAIP genes in Spanish spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) families and correlation between number of copies of <sup>c</sup>BCD541 and SMA phenotype. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 5, 257–263. doi: 10.1093/hmg/5.2.257
- Veldink, J. H., Kalmijn, S., Van der Hout, A. H., Lemmink, H. H., Groeneveld, G. J., Lummen, C., et al. (2005). SMN genotypes producing less SMN protein increase susceptibility to and severity of sporadic ALS. Neurology 65, 820–825. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000174472.03292.dd
- Veldink, J. H., van den Berg, L. H., Cobben, J. M., Stulp, R. P., De Jong, J. M. B. V., Vogels, O. J., et al. (2001). Homozygous deletion of the survival motor neuron 2 gene is a prognostic factor in sporadic ALS. *Neurology* 56, 753–757. doi: 10.1212/WNL.56.6.749
- Vezain, M., Saugier-Veber, P., Melki, J., Toutain, A., Bieth, E., Husson, M., et al. (2007). A sensitive assay for measuring SMN mRNA levels in peripheral blood and in muscle samples of patients affected with spinal muscular atrophy. *Eur. J. Hum. Genet.* 15, 1054–1062. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejhg.5201885
- Vezain, M., Saukkonen, A. M., Goina, E., Touraine, R., Manel, V., Toutain, A., et al. (2010). A rare SMN2 variant in a previously unrecognized composite splicing regulatory element induces exon 7 inclusion and reduces the clinical severity of spinal muscular atrophy. *Hum. Mutat.* 31, E1110–E1125. doi: 10.1002/humu.21173
- Viollet, L., Bertrandy, S., Beuno Brunialti, A. L., Lefebvre, S., Burlet, P., Clermont, O., et al. (1997). cDNA isolation, expression and chromosomal localization of the mouse survival motor neuron gene (*Smn*). *Genomics* 40, 185–188. doi: 10.1006/geno.1996.4551
- Vitte, J. M., Davoult, B., Roblot, N., Mayer, M., Joshi, V., Courageot, S., et al. (2004). Deletion of murine Smn exon 7 directed to liver leads to severe defect of liver development associated with iron overload. *Am. J. Pathol.* 165, 1731–1741. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63428-1
- Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. (1999). Digital PCR. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96, 9236–9241. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.16.9236
- Wan, L., Battle, D. J., Yong, J., Gubitz, A. K., Kolb, S. J., Wang, J., et al. (2005). The survival of motor neurons protein determines the capacity for snRNP assembly: biochemical deficiency in spinal muscular atrophy. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 5543–5551. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.13.5543-5551.2005
- Wang, C. C., Chang, J. G., Chen, Y. L., Jong, Y. J., and Wu, S. M. (2010a). Multi-exon genotyping of *SMN* gene in spinal muscular atrophy by universal fluorescent PCR and capillary electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis* 31, 2396–2404. doi: 10.1002/elps.201000124
- Wang, C. C., Jong, Y. J., Chang, J. G., Chen, Y. L., and Wu, S. M. (2010b). Universal fluorescent multiplex PCR and capillary electrophoresis for evaluation of gene conversion between *SMN1* and *SMN2* in spinal muscular atrophy. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 397, 2375–2383. doi: 10.1007/s00216-010-3761-1

- Wang, C. C., Shih, C. J., Jong, Y. J., and Wu, S. M. (2014a). Universal fluorescent tri-probe ligation equipped with capillary electrophoresis for targeting SMN1 and SMN2 genes in diagnosis of spinal muscular atrophy. Anal. Chim. Acta 833, 40–47. doi: 10.1016/j.aca.2014.05.008
- Wang, X. B., Cui, N. H., Gao, J. J., Qiu, X. P., and Zheng, F. (2014b). SMN1 duplications contribute to sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis susceptibility: evidence from a meta-analysis. J. Neurol. Sci. 340, 63–68. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2014.02.026
- Wirth, B., Brichta, L., Schrank, B., Lochmüller, H., Blick, S., Baasner, A., et al. (2006). Mildly affected patients with spinal muscular atrophy are partially protected by an increased SMN2 copy number. *Hum. Genet.* 119, 422–428. doi: 10.1007/s00439-006-0156-7
- Wirth, B., Garbes, L., and Riessland, M. (2013). How genetic modifiers influence the phenotype of spinal muscular atrophy and suggest future therapeutic applications. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 23, 330–338. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2013.03.003
- Wirth, B., Hahnen, E., Morgan, K., DiDonato, C. J., Dadze, A., Rudnik-Schöneborn, S., et al. (1995). Allelic association and deletions in autosomal recessive proximal spinal muscular atrophy: association of marker genotype with disease severity and candidate cDNAs. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 4, 1273–1284. doi: 10.1093/hmg/4.8.1273
- Yamazaki, T., Chen, S., Yan, B., Haertlein, T. C., Carrasco, M. A., Tapia, J. C., et al. (2012). FUS-SMN protein interactions link the motor neuron diseases ALS and SMA. *Cell Rep.* 2, 799–806. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2012.08.025
- Yanyan, C., Yujin, Q., Jinli, B., Yuwei, J., Hong, W., and Fang, S. (2014). Correlation of PLS3 expression with disease severity in children with spinal muscular atrophy. J. Hum. Genet. 59, 24–27. doi: 10.1038/jhg.2013.111
- Yu, Y., Chi, B., Xia, W., Gangopadhyay, J., Yamazaki, T., Winkelbauer-Hurt, M. E., et al. (2015). U1 snRNP is mislocalized in ALS patient fibroblasts bearing NLS mutations in FUS and is required for motor neuron outgrowth in zebrafish. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 43, 3208–3218. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkv157
- Zaldívar, T., Montejo, Y., Acevedo, A. M., Guerra, R., Vargas, J., Garofalo, N., et al. (2005). Evidence of reduced frequency of spinal muscular atrophy type I in the Cuban population. *Neurology* 65, 636–638. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000172860.41953.12
- Zhang, Z., Lotti, F., Dittmar, K., Younis, I., Wan, L., Kasim, M., et al. (2008). SMN deficiency causes tissue-specific perturbations in the repertoire of snRNAs and widespread defects in splicing. *Cell* 133, 585–600. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.031
- Zhong, Q., Bhattacharya, S., Kotsopoulos, S., Olson, J., Taly, V., Griffiths, A. D., et al. (2011). Multiplex digital PCR: breaking the one target per color barrier of quantitative PCR. *Lab Chip* 11, 2167–2174. doi: 10.1039/c1lc20126c
- Zou, T., Ilangovan, R., Yu, F., Xu, Z., and Zhou, J. (2007). SMN protects cells against mutant SOD1 toxicity by increasing chaperone activity. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 364, 850–855. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.10.096

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Butchbach. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Elevated Neuronal Excitability Due to Modulation of the Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel Nav1.6 by $A\beta_{1-42}$

Xi Wang<sup>1†</sup>, Xiao-Gang Zhang<sup>1†</sup>, Ting-Ting Zhou<sup>2</sup>, Na Li<sup>1</sup>, Chun-Yan Jang<sup>1</sup>, Zhi-Cheng Xiao<sup>3</sup>, Quan-Hong Ma<sup>4</sup> and Shao Li<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Physiology, Dalian Medical University, Dalian, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neurology, the First Affiliated Hospital of Dalian Medical University, Dalian, China, <sup>3</sup> The Key Laboratory of Stem Cell and Regenerative Medicine, Kunming Medical College, Institute of Molecular and Clinical Medicine, Kunming, China, <sup>4</sup> Jiangsu Key Laboratory of Translational Research and Therapy for Neuro-Psycho-Diseases, Institute of Neuroscience, Second Affiliated Hospital, Soochow University, Suzhou, China

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

William Cho, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Hong Kong

#### Reviewed by:

Peng Lei, Sichuan University, China M. Heather West Greenlee, Iowa State University, USA

> \***Correspondence:** Shao Li

lishao89@hotmail.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work.

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 21 December 2015 Accepted: 24 February 2016 Published: 09 March 2016

#### Citation:

Wang X, Zhang X-G, Zhou T-T, Li N, Jang C-Y, Xiao Z-C, Ma Q-H and Li S (2016) Elevated Neuronal Excitability Due to Modulation of the Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel Nav1.6 by Aβ<sub>1-42</sub>. Front. Neurosci. 10:94. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00094 Aberrant increases in neuronal network excitability may contribute to the cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's disease (AD). However, the mechanisms underlying hyperexcitability are not fully understood. Such overexcitation of neuronal networks has been detected in the brains of APP/PS1 mice. In the present study, using current-clamp recording techniques, we observed that 12 days in vitro (DIV) primary cultured pyramidal neurons from P0 APP/PS1 mice exhibited a more prominent action potential burst and a lower threshold than WT littermates. Moreover, after treatment with  $A\beta_{1-42}$  peptide, 12 DIV primary cultured neurons showed similar changes, to a greater degree than in controls. Voltage-clamp recordings revealed that the voltage-dependent sodium current density of neurons incubated with  $A\beta_{1-42}$  was significantly increased, without change in the voltage-dependent sodium channel kinetic characteristics. Immunohistochemistry and western blot results showed that, after treatment with  $A\beta_{1-42}$ , expressions of Nav and Nav1.6 subtype increased in cultured neurons or APP/PS1 brains compared to control groups. The intrinsic neuronal hyperexcitability of APP/PS1 mice might thus be due to an increased expression of voltage-dependent sodium channels induced by  $A\beta_{1-42}$ . These results may illuminate the mechanism of aberrant neuronal networks in AD.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, beta-amyloid peptide, excitability, voltage-gated sodium channel, neurodegeneration

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is the most frequent neurodegenerative disease and a common cause of dementia in elderly individuals. Various evidence suggests, that  $\beta$ -amyloid (A $\beta$ ) peptides play a causal role in AD's pathogenesis, but the underlying mechanisms remain unclear (Palop and Mucke, 2010). In prodromal AD patients, functional MRI has revealed increased activities in neural networks, rather than loss of activity (Putcha et al., 2011). Other evidence supports the view, that A $\beta$ -induced excitotoxicity could be critically involved in the pathogenesis of AD (Ong et al., 2013). In A $\beta$ -induced excitotoxicity, high levels of glutamate overexcite neurons and cause cell death (Choi, 1988; Olney et al., 1997). A $\beta$  also enhances the sensitivity of neuron to glutamate, which increases the activity of neuronal networks, resulting in excitatory potentials and Ca<sup>2+</sup> influx (Brorson et al., 1995). However, these changes cannot

explain patients with early AD frequently alternating between sober and confused, because synaptic disruption, or regeneration cannot repeatedly occur within such short time periods. This phenomenon is more likely due to the abnormal neural network excitability.

Voltage-gated sodium channels (Nav) play an essential role in excitable cells. They are necessary components required to generate and propagate action potentials (Goldin et al., 2000; Yu and Catterall, 2003; Catterall et al., 2005). The 260 kDa a subunit is the main component of the voltage-gated sodium channel. Nine  $\alpha$  subtypes, named Nav1.1-Nav1.9, are expressed in excitable cells (Goldin et al., 2000; Ragsdale, 2008). Among them, the Nav1.1, Nav1.2, and Nav1.6 subtypes are expressed in the adult brain and regulate voltage-dependent sodium currents across the plasma membrane. Nav1.1 is primarily localized in the neuronal somata of GABAergic neurons (Yu et al., 2006; Ogiwara et al., 2007). Nav1.2 shows preferentially high expression in unmyelinated fibers (Ragsdale, 2008). The Nav1.6 subtype, encoded by the gene SCN8A, is conspicuously expressed at the nodes of Ranvier and axon initial segments (Trimmer and Rhodes, 2004). Unique features of Nav1.6 include its contribution to the persistent current, resurgent current, and repetitive neuronal firing.

Our previous results showed that Nav1.6 interacts with amyloid precursor protein (APP), which undergoes abnormal proteolytic processing to generate A $\beta$  (Xu et al., 2014). APP also increases the surface expression of sodium channels through a G<sub>o</sub> protein-coupled JNK pathway (Liu et al., 2015). Due to this effect of APP, we hypothesized that the upregulatory effect of A $\beta$  on neuronal excitability might be partially based on modulating the expression of sodium channels. As we expected, in cultured cortical neurons, A $\beta_{1-42}$  increased the expression of sodium channels, particularly the Nav1.6 subtype. The increased voltage-dependent sodium current could decrease action potential threshold and increase the probability of action potential generation in response to synaptic excitation, thus increasing the excitability of the neuron.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Animals

Newborn C57BL/6J mice were obtained from the Animal Center of Dalian Medical University. APP/PS1 transgenic mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (stock number 004462) and were maintained on a C57BL/6J background by crossing heterozygous transgenic mice with C57BL/6J breeders. All experiments were conducted in accordance with the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. All efforts were made to minimize the number of animals used and their suffering.

#### Preparation of $A\beta_{1-42}$

Lyophilized  $A\beta_{1-42}$  peptide (SIGMA, A9810) and reverse peptide  $A\beta_{42-1}$  (SIGMA, SCP0048) were diluted to 1 mg/ml using sterile PBS and incubated at 37°C, 220 rpm for 48 h allowed to aggregate as described (Jones et al., 2013). For concrete forms of  $A\beta_{1-42}$  peptide, see **Supplementary Figure S1**. In a further set

of experiments primary cultured neurons were incubated with  $A\beta_{1-42}$  (5.0  $\mu$ M) or reverse peptide  $A\beta_{42-1}$  (5.0  $\mu$ M) for 24 h at 37°C.

#### Cell Culture

P0 (post-natal day 0–1) C57BL/6J mice or APP/PS1 mice and their littermates were sacrificed by CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation and the cortices were rapidly dissected under sterile conditions in cold PBS. The tissue was digested with 0.125% trypsin-EDTA at 37°C for 30 min. The trypsin solution was replaced with 2 ml 10% DMEM (DMEM with 10% FBS, 1% L-glutamine, and 1% penicillin/streptomycin solution). The digested tissue was gently triturated by suction using a glass pipette flamed on the tip to avoid cellular damage. The cell suspension was filtered through a 74  $\mu$ m screen mesh, plated on poly-L-lysine-coated coverslips or 6/12-well-plates and incubated in a 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. After 2 h, the medium was changed to Neurobasal (Gibco, 21103–049) supplemented with 2% B27, 1% L-glutamine, and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. In accordance with the routine culture, the medium was changed every 2 days until use.

#### MTT Assay

Cell viability of neurons was determined by the MTT assay. Neurons were plated in 96 well-plates.  $A\beta_{42-1}$  and  $A\beta_{1-42}$  peptides were added to wells for 24 h. After cell treatments the medium was removed and the cells were incubated with red free medium and MTT solution (0.5 mg/ml) for 4 h at 37°C. Finally, the medium was removed and formazan particles were dissolved in DMSO. Cell viability, defined as the relative amount of MTT reduction was determined by spectrophotometry at 570 nm.

#### **Electrophysiological Recordings**

Electrophysiological measurements were performed on pyramidal cells. Action potentials or sodium currents were recorded at room temperature using whole-cell patch-clampings. The extracellular solution contained the following (in mM): NaCl 150, KCl 5, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.1, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2.6, HEPES 10, glucose 10, pH adjusted to 7.4 with NaOH. Patch pipettes were made from borosilicate glass capillaries (1.5 mm outer diameter, 0.8 mm inner diameter) using a micropipette puller (Narishige, PP 830, Japan). Pipette resistance ranged from 3 to 5 M $\Omega$ . Stimulation and data acquisition were performed using the EPC-10 patch-clamp amplifier and Pulse program (HEKA Electronik, Germany). Membrane currents were filtered at 2 kHz and digitized at 10 kHz.

Action potentials recordings were made using the currentclamp mode. The intracellular solution contained the following (in mM): KCl 65, KOH 5.0, KF 80, HEPES 10, EGTA 10, Na<sub>2</sub>ATP 2, pH adjusted to 7.2 with KOH. Cells were held at -70 mV, then peak amplitude (80 pA, 10 ms), threshold (80 pA, 10 ms), and action potential firing (200 pA, 500 ms) were recorded and measured.

Sodium currents were recorded using the voltage-clamp mode. The intracellular solution contained the following (in mM): CsCl 140, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 2, Na<sub>2</sub>ATP 2, EGTA 10, HEPES 20, pH adjusted to 7.2 with Tris-HCl. Cells were held at -70 mV and stepped to a range of potentials (-60 to +60 mV in 10 mV

increments) for 12 ms each. Peak inward currents (I) were plotted as a function of depolarizing potential to generate I-V curves. Activation curves were obtained by converting current (I) to conductance (G) at each voltage (V) using the equation G = $I/(V - V_{rev})$ , where  $V_{rev}$  is the reversal potential, which was determined for each cell individually. Activation curves were then fit with the Boltzmann function in the form of  $G/G_{max}$  =  $1/\{1 + \exp \left[ (V_{1/2} - V)/\kappa \right] \}$ , where  $G_{max}$  is the maximal sodium conductance, V<sub>1/2</sub> is the half-maximal activation potential, V is the test potential, and  $\kappa$  is the slope factor. Steady-state fast inactivation was achieved with a series of 500 ms prepulses (-120)to -10 mV in 10 mV increments), and the remaining available channels were activated by a 12 ms test pulse to 0 mV. Peak inward currents obtained from steady-state fast-inactivation protocols were normalized to the maximal peak current (I<sub>max</sub>) and fit with Boltzmann functions:  $I/I_{max} = 1/\{1 + exp [(V - I_{max}) + I_{max})\}$  $V_{1/2}$ / $\kappa$ ], where V represents the inactivating prepulse potential, and  $V_{1/2}$  represents the mid-point of inactivation curve.

#### **Data Analysis**

Data were analyzed using Pulsefit 8.6 and Origin 7.5, and presented as means  $\pm$  SEM. The Kruskal–Wallis non-parametric test was used to analyze current density data. One-way ANOVA was used to assess the statistical significance of changes in characteristics of channel activation and inactivation. Statistical comparisons were performed by Student's *t*-test.

#### Western Blot

All cells were lysed in RIPA buffer (with 1% PMSF), and total protein concentrations were determined with a BCA Protein Assay Kit (TransGen). Total protein (10–20 mg) for each sample was loaded into precast 8% SDS-PAGE gels and run with running buffer. Gels were transferred onto PVDF membranes (Millipore). Antigen-specific primary antibodies (Pan sodium channel, Chemicon-AB5210; Nav1.6, Chemicon-AB5580 and Abcamab65166;  $\beta$ -tubulin, Abcam-ab6046;  $\beta$ -actin, Abcam-ab6276) were incubated overnight at 4°C and detected with species-specific horseradish-peroxidase-labeled secondary antibodies. An ECL Western Blotting Detection kit (TIANGEN) was used to obtain a chemiluminescence signal, which was detected using Gel Imaging System (Bio-Rad). Band quantification was performed using a Gel-Pro software. Bands of interest were normalized to actin- or tubulin- for a loading control.

#### **RT-PCR**

Total RNA of cultured neurons was prepared by using the Trizol Reagent (Invitrogen, USA). The Superscript TM-III kit (Invitrogen, USA) was used for reverse-transcribed with oligo dT and 2.5 mg total RNA. Primer sequences were as follows: NM\_019266 (SCN8A), and NM\_031144 ( $\beta$ -actin). SCN8A forward 5'-CTG GAG AAT GGA GGC ACA CAC-3', reverse 5'-ACG CTG CTG CTT CTC CTT GTC-3'; and  $\beta$ -actin forward 5'-CGT TGA CAT CCG TAA AGA CCT-3', reverse 5'-TCA GGA GGA GCA ATG ATC TTG-3'. The resulting cDNA PCR amplification was performed by using the following protocol: 95°C for 10 s followed by 50 cycles of 95°C for 5 s and 60°C for 31 s, and verified by 2.0% agarose gel electrophoresis. Images

were captured by using Gel Imaging System (Bio-Rad). The amplicon size of each gene was108 and 144 bp, respectively.

# Immunofluorescence Staining and Immunohistochemistry

Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min, permeabilized with 0.1% Triton-x-100 for 5 min, and incubated with 5% BSA for 60 min at room temperature to block non-specific binding. Without washing, the diluted primary antibodies (MAP2, Abcam-ab32454; Nav1.6, Abcam-ab65166) were added and incubated at 4°C overnight. After three washes with PBS, cells were incubated with the corresponding secondary antibodies at room temperature for 1 h. For immunohistochemistry, cells were stained with DAB kit (Vector Laboratories) according to the instructions of the manufacturer for peroxidase labeling. Images were acquired from a fluorescence microscopy (Leica Microsystems DM400B, Germany).

#### Image Analysis and Quantification

Quantitative analysis of mean fluorescence intensities (MFIs) of immunoreactive neurons was performed using Image J software (National Institutes of Health). MFI per square micrometer was calculated by dividing the MFI units by the area of outlined regions.

#### RESULTS

#### **Elevated Excitability in APP/PS1 Mice**

To investigate change in intrinsic excitability in APP/PS1 mice, whole-cell patch-clamp recordings were performed on 12 DIV (days in vitro) primary cultured neurons obtained from P0 APP/PS1 mice and littermate wide type mice in current-clamp mode. Frequency, threshold, and peak amplitude of action potentials (AP) were examined by different protocols. AP firing frequencies (f) elicited by increasing depolarizing currents (200 pA, 500 ms) were significantly increased in neurons from APP/PS1 mice compared to WT mice (Figures 1A,D;  $f_{WT}$  =  $15.375 \pm 3.428$  Hz, n = 12;  $f_{APP/PS1} = 23.25 \pm 7.264$  Hz, n = 10; p = 0.0128). We used a depolarizing current (80 pA, 10 ms) to induce a single firing of an AP. Threshold potential (V<sub>threshold</sub>) and amplitude of action potential (Vpeak) were recorded and compared with WT. We found that thresholds of neurons from APP/PS1 mice were significantly decreased compared to WT mice (**Figures 1B,E**;  $V_{\text{threshold, WT}} = -29.001 \pm 2.304 \text{ mV}, n =$ 9;  $V_{\text{threshold, APP/PS1}} = -41.601 \pm 1.965 \text{ mV}, n = 9; p = 0.0012),$ but the peak amplitude was not (Figures 1C,F; V<sub>peak, WT</sub> =  $46.159 \pm 2.663 \text{ mV}, n = 9; V_{\text{peak, APP/PS1}} = 47.236 \pm 3.849 \text{ mV},$ n = 9; p = 0.6475). These results suggested that the excitability of mature neurons obtained from APP/PS1 mice was increased.

# $A\beta_{1-42}$ Increases Excitability in Cultured Cortical Neurons from Mice

It is likely that diverse factors contribute to the pathogenesis of AD patients or mice (Blennow et al., 2006; Bertram and Tanzi, 2008; Mucke, 2009). Among them, A $\beta$  stands out on the basis of overwhelming genetic evidence and strong experimental



data (Farrer et al., 1997; Hardy and Selkoe, 2002; Tanzi and Bertram, 2005; Mahley and Huang, 2006). Accordingly, we attempted to investigate whether  $A\beta_{1-42}$  contributed to intrinsic excitability. Cell viability was firstly determined by MTT assay in primary cultured neurons treated with  $5 \mu M A\beta_{42-1}$  or  $5 \mu M$  $A\beta_{1-42}$  for 24 h. We found that  $A\beta_{1-42}$  slightly induced loss of neuron viability (Supplementary Figure S2; n = 3, means three independent experiments; p = 0.047). As described previously, whole-cell patch-clamp recordings were performed in current-clamp mode on normal morphological primary neurons which were incubated with  $A\beta_{1-42}$  or  $A\beta_{42-1}$  for 24 h. Frequency, threshold, and peak amplitude of AP were examined. We found AP firing frequencies were significantly increased in neurons after treatment with  $A\beta_{1-42}$  peptide compared to controls (Figures 2A,D;  $f_{control} = 20.25 \pm$ 4.742 Hz, n = 8, p = 0.0050;  $f_{A\beta42-1} = 20.75 \pm 4.644$  Hz,  $n = 8, p = 0.0054; f_{A\beta 1-42} = 43.25 \pm 5.028 \text{ Hz}, n = 8$ ).  $A\beta_{1-42}$  also significantly decreased the threshold (**Figures 2B,E**;  $V_{\text{threshold, control}} = -33.83 \pm 1.207 \text{ mV}, n = 7, p = 0.0126;$  $V_{\text{threshold, AB42-1}} = -32.55 \pm 0.6600 \text{ mV}, n = 7, p = 0.0035;$  $V_{\text{threshold, AB1-42}} = -41.37 \pm 1.771 \text{ mV}, n = 7$ ). But it had no effect on the peak amplitude (Figures 2C,F; V<sub>peak, control</sub> = 42.83



**FIGURE 2** | Aβ affects neuronal excitability. (A) Representative recording traces of action potential repetitive firing. (B) The schematic of threshold. (C) Representative recording traces of action potential peak amplitude. (D) The mean number of APs elicited by 200 pA depolarizing current. Neurons after A $\beta_{1-42}$  treatment (n = 8) fired significantly more APs than controls (both negative control group and reverse peptide A $\beta_{42-1}$  group, n = 8). (E) AP threshold in pyramidal neurons treated with A $\beta_{1-42}$  (n = 7) was significantly lower than controls (n = 7). (F) The peak amplitude of APs in pyramidal neurons treated with A $\beta_{1-42}$  (n = 7) was significantly controls (n = 7). Mean  $\pm$  SEM was displayed. \*Presents p < 0.05 vs. control group; \*\*presents p < 0.01 vs. A $\beta_{1-42}$  group.

 $\pm$  0.9437 mV, n = 7, p = 0.6579; V<sub>peak, Aβ42-1</sub> = 44.60  $\pm$  1.051 mV, n = 7, p = 0.5633; V<sub>peak, Aβ1-42</sub> = 43.58  $\pm$  1.305 mV, n = 7). These results suggested that incubation in Aβ<sub>1-42</sub> increases neuronal excitability *in vitro*.

# Increased Neuronal Excitability Induced by $A\beta_{1-42}$ Due to an Up-Regulation of Nav Current

In mammalian neurons, dense clusters of voltage-gated sodium channels (Nav) at the axonal initial segment and nodes of Ranvier underlie action potential generation and fast propagation (Leterrier et al., 2011). In addition, non-inactivating persistent sodium currents support maintained depolarization during and between action potentials. Finally, the resurgent persistent sodium current is triggered upon repolarization and supports repetitive firing in some types of neurons (Raman et al., 1997). We therefore hypothesized that the increased excitability induced by  $A\beta_{1-42}$  could be due, at least in part, to an upregulation of Nav current. To test this hypothesis, we evaluated the magnitude of Nav currents in voltage-clamp mode after incubation with  $A\beta_{1-42}$  or reverse peptide for 24 h. Representative traces of the total inward current recorded in response to voltage steps from -60 to +60 mV are shown in **Figure 3A**. Current density curves (**Figure 3B**) and peak current densities (**Figure 3C**) were significantly increased after  $A\beta_{1-42}$  treatment compared to controls (Peak<sub>control</sub> = 79.18 ± 11.60 pA/pF, n = 12, p = 0.0028; Peak<sub>A $\beta$ 42-1</sub> = 74.14 ± 13.54 pA/pF, n = 12, p = 0.0031; Peak<sub>A $\beta$ 1-42</sub> = 146.3 ± 10.70pA/pF, n = 12).

We next investigated the effect of  $A\beta_{1-42}$  on sodium channel kinetic characteristics (**Figures 3D,E**). We found that  $A\beta_{1-42}$  did not significantly shift the voltage-dependent sodium activation curve (**Figure 3D**). Single Boltzmann distribution fits showed a  $V_{1/2, \text{ control}} = -41.62 \pm 1.462 \text{ mV}$ , and a  $\kappa$  of  $4.165 \pm 1.548 \text{ mV}$ (n = 12); a  $V_{1/2, A\beta42-1} = -41.71 \pm 1.768 \text{ mV}$  and a  $\kappa$  of  $4.795 \pm 1.825 \text{ mV}$  (n = 12); and a  $V_{1/2, A\beta1-42} = -41.19 \pm 1.052 \text{ mV}$  and a  $\kappa$  of  $4.155 \pm 1.184 \text{ mV}$  (n = 12). For steady-state inactivation curves (**Figure 3E**), the  $V_{1/2}$  and  $\kappa$  of inactivation also did not change significantly ( $V_{1/2, \text{ control}} = -51.47 \pm 1.040 \text{ mV}$  and  $\kappa = 6.992 \pm 1.017 \text{ mV}$ , n = 12;  $V_{1/2, A\beta42-1} = -51.90 \pm 0.8201 \text{ mV}$  and  $\kappa = 8.384 \pm 0.8552 \text{ mV}$ , n = 12;  $V_{1/2, A\beta1-42} = -51.40 \pm 0.4131 \text{ mV}$  and  $\kappa = 7.723 \pm 0.4178 \text{ mV}$ , n = 12). Overall, these results demonstrated that exposure of neurons to  $A\beta_{1-42}$  leads to an increased neuronal excitability, likely through a Nav current-mediated mechanism.

## Increased Expression of Nav in Cultured Neurons and APP/PS1 Mice

Although, the experiments described above revealed that  $A\beta_{1-42}$ increased neuronal excitability, perhaps dues to increasing Nav currents, it remained unclear how the Nav currents increased. There was no observable difference in sodium channel kinetic characteristics after  $A\beta_{1-42}$  incubation (Figures 3D,E). We then examined the expression of Nav in neurons after  $A\beta_{1-42}$ treatment. Using Western blot analysis of cultured cortical neurons, we found that incubation with  $A\beta_{1-42}$  significantly increased the expression of Nav [Figures 4A,B; n = 3;  $p_{\text{Ctrl vs. AB1-42}} = 0.0146; p_{\text{AB42-1 vs. AB1-42}} = 0.0358$ ]. We also investigated the Nav1.6 subtype, which plays a major role in the transmission of subthreshold currents, namely the persistent and resurgent currents (Raman et al., 1997), and the electrophysiological properties of Nav1.6 make these channels especially suited for the sustained repetitive firing of neurons (Van Wart and Matthews, 2006). As shown in Figures 4C,D, Nav1.6 displayed a significant increase after  $A\beta_{1-42}$  treatment







**FIGURE 4** |  $A\beta_{1-42}$  increases the expression of sodium channels. (A) Equal amounts of collected protein samples obtained from 12 DIV neurons after different treatments were analyzed by western blot to detect the protein expression level of sodium channel (n = 3 per group). (B) Quantification of protein levels of sodium channel.  $\beta$ -actin was used as an internal control (n = 3 per group). (C) Western blots of 12 DIV neurons after different treatments to detect the expression of Nav1.6 protein (n = 3 per group). (D) Quantification of protein levels of Nav1.6.  $\beta$ -tubulin was used as an internal control (n = 3 per group). (E) RT-PCR of Nav1.6 mRNA levels of 12 DIV neurons after different treatments (n = 3 per group). (F) Quantification of mRNA levels of Nav1.6.  $\beta$ -actin was used as an internal control (n = 3 per group). (E) RT-PCR of Nav1.6 mRNA levels of 12 DIV neurons after different treatments (n = 3 per group). (F) Quantification of mRNA levels of Nav1.6.  $\beta$ -actin was used as an internal control (n = 3 per group). (E) RT-PCR of Nav1.6 mRNA levels of 12 DIV neurons after different treatments (n = 3 per group). (F) Quantification of mRNA levels of Nav1.6.  $\beta$ -actin was used as an internal control (n = 3 per group). Mean  $\pm$  SEM was displayed. \*Presents p < 0.05 vs. A $\beta_{1-42}$  group; #presents p < 0.05 vs. A $\beta_{1-42}$  group;

 $[n = 3; p_{\text{Ctrl vs. }A\beta1-42} = 0.0372; p_{A\beta42-1 vs. }A\beta1-42 = 0.0354]$ . To further identify the increased expression of Nav1.6 after  $A\beta_{1-42}$  treatment, mRNA expression levels were detected too. Paralleled with western blot analysis, Nav1.6 mRNA obtained from cultured neurons treated with  $A\beta_{1-42}$  showed significantly increased than control groups [**Figures 4E,F**,  $n = 3; p_{\text{Ctrl vs. }A\beta1-42} = 0.0257; p_{A\beta42-1 vs. }A\beta1-42 = 0.017].$ 

Morphological methods were also used to test the expression of Nav1.6. The localization of Nav1.6 in neurons was revealed by immunohistochemistry (**Figure 5A**). Consistent with the result from western blotting, most neurons incubated with  $A\beta_{1-42}$ showed significantly deepening stain [**Figures 5A,C**; n = 3;  $p_{Ctrl vs. A\beta_{1-42}} = 0.0162$ ]. After obtaining these results, we wondered if the expression of Nav1.6 in APP/PS1 mouse brains would have changed. Coronal brain sections from 9 month old APP/PS1 mice and WT littermates were stained for MAP2, a maker of mature neurons, and Nav1.6 (**Figure 5B**; n = 3). We found, that APP/PS1 mice exhibited more Nav1.6 immunoreactivity than WT mice in cortex regions (**Figure 5D**; n = 3; p = 0.0286).

Taken together, our findings and previous studies suggest that  $A\beta_{1-42}$  increased the excitability of cultured cortical neurons, and this effect was mediated by overexpression of Nav, with the Nav1.6 subtype perhaps accounting for much of this increase.

#### DISCUSSION

In addition to cognitive deficits, AD patients have an increased incidence of epileptic seizures. This incidence is even higher in patients with early-onset AD who overexpress human APP, the proteolysis of which generates A $\beta$  (Palop and Mucke, 2009). Hyperexcitability is also detected in the brains of various AD transgenic mice (Tamagnini et al., 2015), including the APP/PS1 mice used here. Such aberrant increases in network excitability and compensatory inhibitory mechanisms in the hippocampus may contribute to the cognitive deficits in AD (Palop et al., 2007; Sanchez et al., 2012; Verret et al., 2012). However, the mechanisms underlying the hyperexcitability detected in AD brains are not fully understood.

In the present study, we investigated the excitability in cultured pyramidal neurons of APP/PS1 mice using patch clamp techniques. We found that the excitability of 12 DIV cultured pyramidal neurons from APP/PS1 mice was significantly greater than in WT littermates. Additionally, AP firing frequencies increased and Vthreshold decreased in neurons from APP/PS1 mice compared to WT mice. These results confirm previous studies that showed neuronal hyperexcitability in APP/PS1 mice by patch clamp methods. In recent years, many studies demonstrated that  $A\beta$  is associated with increased excitability of neurons in vitro and in animal models, leading to hypersynchronous network activity and higher risk for seizures (Minkeviciene et al., 2009; Busche et al., 2012; Born et al., 2014; Davis et al., 2014). In our current work, we observed the altered excitability of pyramidal neurons after treatment with Aβ. The higher firing frequency and lower threshold indicated an increased intrinsic excitability of pyramidal neurons.

A $\beta$ -induced aberrant excitatory activity might occur through many different mechanisms. Previous studies have shown that A $\beta$  can downregulate A-type K<sup>+</sup> currents, thereby increasing excitability of hippocampal pyramidal neurons (Good and Murphy, 1996; Chen, 2005). Elevated A $\beta$  also causes GABAergic



dysfunction and attenuates excitatory synaptic transmission by decreasing the number of surface AMPA and NMDA receptors (Kamenetz et al., 2003; Hsieh et al., 2006; Shankar et al., 2007), as well as disrupting the development of aberrant synchrony in neural networks, damaging cognitive functions. Subsequent studies proved that neuronal activity regulates AB production (Kamenetz et al., 2003; Cirrito et al., 2005). Blocking neuronal electrical activity with TTX, a sodium channel blocker, decreased the cleavage of APP by  $\beta$ -secretase (Kamenetz et al., 2003). Recent studies found that blocking the network hyperactivity with the anti-epileptic drug lamotrigine, a voltage-dependent sodium channel inhibitor, reversed synaptic disorder and cognitive dysfunction in APP transgenic mice (Bakker et al., 2012; Sanchez et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2014). These results indicate that  $A\beta$ , or other AD-related factors, plays a significant role in regulating neuronal activity at specific types of neurons as well as in wider neuronal networks, and  $A\beta$  and sodium channels have a certain relationship.

Voltage-dependent sodium currents play a critical role in action potential depolarization and firing frequency in many

types of neurons (Kim et al., 2005; Baroni et al., 2013). We therefore hypothesized that the increased excitability induced by  $A\beta_{1-42}$  could be due, at least in part, to an upregulation of the Nav current. As we expected, the peaks of the voltagedependent sodium current were significantly increased after  $A\beta_{1-42}$  treatment. The increased voltage-dependent sodium current could decrease action potential threshold and increase the probability of action potential generation in response to synaptic excitation, thus increasing the excitability of the neuron. However, AB upregulated sodium currents without significantly altering the voltage-dependence of activation and inactivation. We found that  $A\beta$  increased the expression of Nav and Nav1.6 in cultured neurons, indicating that the number of Nav channels could be altered by  $A\beta_{1-42}$ . These results provide a possible mechanism for the increased excitability of pyramidal neurons previously observed after A $\beta$  treatment. Confirming the causal relationship between the aberrant excitatory activity induced by Aß and cognitive decline in AD patients would be an important insight into the pathogenesis of AD and provide new therapeutic avenues.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conceived and designed the experiments: XW, SL. Performed the experiments: XW, XZ, and CJ. Analyzed the data: XW, XZ, ZX, and QM. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: TZ, NL. Wrote the paper: XW, XZ.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by Grant (81571061, 81371223, and 30871006) from the National Natural Science Foundation of China and the Research Fund for the Doctoral Program of Higher Education of China (201221051 10010).

#### REFERENCES

- Bakker, A., Krauss, G. L., Albert, M. S., Speck, C. L., Jones, L. R., Stark, C. E., et al. (2012). Reduction of hippocampal hyperactivity improves cognition in amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Neuron* 74, 467–474. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.023
- Baroni, D., Barbieri, R., Picco, C., and Moran, O. (2013). Functional modulation of voltage-dependent sodium channel expression by wild type and mutated C121W-beta1 subunit. J. Bioenerg. Biomembr. 45, 353–368. doi: 10.1007/s10863-013-9510-3
- Bertram, L., and Tanzi, R. E. (2008). Thirty years of Alzheimer's disease genetics: the implications of systematic meta-analyses. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 768–778. doi: 10.1038/nrn2494
- Blennow, K., de Leon, M. J., and Zetterberg, H. (2006). Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 368, 387–403. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69113-7
- Born, H. A., Kim, J. Y., Savjani, R. R., Das, P., Dabaghian, Y. A., Guo, Q., et al. (2014). Genetic suppression of transgenic APP rescues Hypersynchronous network activity in a mouse model of Alzeimers disease. J. Neurosci. 34, 3826–3840. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5171-13.2014
- Brorson, J. R., Bindokas, V. P., Iwama, T., Marcuccilli, C. J., Chisholm, J. C., and Miller, R. J. (1995). The Ca2+ influx induced by beta-amyloid peptide 25-35 in cultured hippocampal neurons results from network excitation. *J. Neurobiol.* 26, 325–338. doi: 10.1002/neu.480260305
- Busche, M. A., Chen, X., Henning, H. A., Reichwald, J., Staufenbiel, M., Sakmann, B., et al. (2012). Critical role of soluble amyloid-beta for early hippocampal hyperactivity in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 109, 8740–8745. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1206171109
- Catterall, W. A., Goldin, A. L., and Waxman, S. G. (2005). International Union of Pharmacology. XLVII. Nomenclature and structure-function relationships of voltage-gated sodium channels. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 57, 397–409. doi: 10.1124/pr.57.4.4
- Chen, C. (2005). beta-Amyloid increases dendritic Ca2+ influx by inhibiting the A-type K+ current in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 338, 1913–1919. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.10.169
- Choi, D. W. (1988). Glutamate neurotoxicity and diseases of the nervous system. *Neuron* 1, 623–634. doi: 10.1016/0896-6273(88) 90162-6
- Cirrito, J. R., Yamada, K. A., Finn, M. B., Sloviter, R. S., Bales, K. R., May, P. C., et al. (2005). Synaptic activity regulates interstitial fluid amyloid-beta levels *in vivo*. *Neuron* 48, 913–922. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2005.10.028
- Davis, K. E., Fox, S., and Gigg, J. (2014). Increased hippocampal excitability in the 3xTgAD mouse model for Alzheimer's disease *in vivo*. *PLoS ONE* 9:e91203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091203
- Farrer, L. A., Cupples, L. A., Haines, J. L., Hyman, B., Kukull, W. A., Mayeux, R., et al. (1997). Effects of age, sex, and ethnicity on the association between apolipoprotein E genotype and Alzheimer disease. A meta-analysis. APOE and Alzheimer disease meta analysis consortium. JAMA 278, 1349–1356. doi: 10.1001/jama.1997.03550160069041

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnins. 2016.00094

Supplementary Figure S1 | Biochemical characterization of A $\beta_{1-42}$ . Eighty nanogram aged A $\beta_{1-42}$  and A $\beta_{1-42}$  monomer samples were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and detected with anti-6E10 antibody. After 48 h aggregated A $\beta_{1-42}$  with different molecular weight forms were displayed. aged presents A $\beta_{1-42}$  with aggregation treatment; mono presents A $\beta_{1-42}$  monomer.

Supplementary Figure S2 | Cell viability measurement of neuron treated with  $A\beta_{1-42}$ . Cell viability was determined by MTT assay in primary cultured neurons treated with  $5 \mu M A\beta_{42-1}$  or  $5 \mu M A\beta_{1-42}$  for 24 h.  $A\beta_{1-42}$  induced slightly loss of cell viability in neurons. (n = 3, means 3 independent experiments). Mean  $\pm$  SEM was displayed. MTT, 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide. \*Presents  $\rho < 0.05$  vs. control group.

- Goldin, A. L., Barchi, R. L., Caldwell, J. H., Hofmann, F., Howe, J. R., Hunter, J. C., et al. (2000). Nomenclature of voltage-gated sodium channels. *Neuron* 28, 365–368. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)00116-1
- Good, T. A., and Murphy, R. M. (1996). Effect of beta-amyloid block of the fast-inactivating K+ channel on intracellular Ca2+ and excitability in a modeled neuron. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 15130–15135. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.26.15130
- Hardy, J., and Selkoe, D. J. (2002). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science* 297, 353–356. doi: 10.1126/science.1072994
- Hsieh, H., Boehm, J., Sato, C., Iwatsubo, T., Tomita, T., Sisodia, S., et al. (2006). AMPAR removal underlies Abeta-induced synaptic depression and dendritic spine loss. *Neuron* 52, 831–843. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2006.10.035
- Jones, R. S., Minogue, A. M., Connor, T. J., and Lynch, M. A. (2013). Amyloidbeta-induced astrocytic phagocytosis is mediated by CD36, CD47 and RAGE. *J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* 8, 301–311. doi: 10.1007/s11481-012-9427-3
- Kamenetz, F., Tomita, T., Hsieh, H., Seabrook, G., Borchelt, D., Iwatsubo, T., et al. (2003). APP processing and synaptic function. *Neuron* 37, 925–937. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00124-7
- Kim, D. Y., Ingano, L. A., Carey, B. W., Pettingell, W. H., and Kovacs, D. M. (2005). Presenilin/gamma-secretase-mediated cleavage of the voltage-gated sodium channel beta2-subunit regulates cell adhesion and migration. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 23251–23261. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M412938200
- Leterrier, C., Brachet, A., Dargent, B., and Vacher, H. (2011). Determinants of voltage-gated sodium channel clustering in neurons. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 22, 171–177. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2010.09.014
- Liu, C., Tan, F. C., Xiao, Z. C., and Dawe, G. S. (2015). Amyloid precursor protein enhances Nav1.6 sodium channel cell surface expression. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 12048–12057. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.617092
- Mahley, R. W., and Huang, Y. (2006). Apolipoprotein (apo) E4 and Alzheimer's disease: unique conformational and biophysical properties of apoE4 can modulate neuropathology. *Acta Neurol. Scand. Suppl.* 185, 8–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2006.00679.x
- Minkeviciene, R., Rheims, S., Dobszay, M. B., Zilberter, M., Hartikainen, J., Fulop, L., et al. (2009). Amyloid beta-induced neuronal hyperexcitability triggers progressive epilepsy. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 3453–3462. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5215-08.2009
- Mucke, L. (2009). Neuroscience: Alzheimer's disease. Nature 461, 895-897. doi: 10.1038/461895a
- Ogiwara, I., Miyamoto, H., Morita, N., Atapour, N., Mazaki, E., Inoue, I., et al. (2007). Nav1.1 localizes to axons of parvalbumin-positive inhibitory interneurons: a circuit basis for epileptic seizures in mice carrying an Scn1a gene mutation. J. Neurosci. 27, 5903–5914. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5270-06.2007
- Olney, J. W., Wozniak, D. F., and Farber, N. B. (1997). Excitotoxic neurodegeneration in Alzheimer disease. New hypothesis and new therapeutic strategies. Arch. Neurol. 54, 1234–1240. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1997.00550220042012

- Ong, W. Y., Tanaka, K., Dawe, G. S., Ittner, L. M., and Farooqui, A. A. (2013). Slow excitotoxicity in Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 35, 643–668. doi: 10.3233/JAD-121990
- Palop, J. J., Chin, J., Roberson, E. D., Wang, J., Thwin, M. T., Bien-Ly, N., et al. (2007). Aberrant excitatory neuronal activity and compensatory remodeling of inhibitory hippocampal circuits in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron* 55, 697–711. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.07.025
- Palop, J. J., and Mucke, L. (2009). Epilepsy and cognitive impairments in Alzheimer's disease. Arch. Neurol. 66, 435–440. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2009.15
- Palop, J. J., and Mucke, L. (2010). Amyloid-beta-induced neuronal dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease: from synapses toward neural networks. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 812–818. doi: 10.1038/nn.2583
- Putcha, D., Brickhouse, M., O'Keefe, K., Sullivan, C., Rentz, D., Marshall, G., et al. (2011). Hippocampal hyperactivation associated with cortical thinning in Alzheimer's disease signature regions in non-demented elderly adults. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 17680–17688. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4740-11.2011
- Ragsdale, D. S. (2008). How do mutant Nav1.1 sodium channels cause epilepsy? Brain Res. Rev. 58, 149–159. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2008.01.003
- Raman, I. M., Sprunger, L. K., Meisler, M. H., and Bean, B. P. (1997). Altered subthreshold sodium currents and disrupted firing patterns in Purkinje neurons of Scn8a mutant mice. *Neuron* 19, 881–891. doi: 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80969-1
- Sanchez, P. E., Zhu, L., Verret, L., Vossel, K. A., Orr, A. G., Cirrito, J. R., et al. (2012). Levetiracetam suppresses neuronal network dysfunction and reverses synaptic and cognitive deficits in an Alzheimer's disease model. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, E2895–E2903. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1121081109
- Shankar, G. M., Bloodgood, B. L., Townsend, M., Walsh, D. M., Selkoe, D. J., and Sabatini, B. L. (2007). Natural oligomers of the Alzheimer amyloidbeta protein induce reversible synapse loss by modulating an NMDA-type glutamate receptor-dependent signaling pathway. J. Neurosci. 27, 2866–2875. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4970-06.2007
- Tamagnini, F., Scullion, S., Brown, J. T., and Randall, A. D. (2015). Intrinsic excitability changes induced by acute treatment of hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons with exogenous amyloid beta peptide. *Hippocampus* 25, 786–797. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22403

- Tanzi, R. E., and Bertram, L. (2005). Twenty years of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid hypothesis: a genetic perspective. *Cell* 120, 545–555. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.008
- Trimmer, J. S., and Rhodes, K. J. (2004). Localization of voltage-gated ion channels in mammalian brain. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 66, 477–519. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.66.032102.113328
- Van Wart, A., and Matthews, G. (2006). Impaired firing and cell-specific compensation in neurons lacking nav1.6 sodium channels. J. Neurosci. 26, 7172–7180. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1101-06.2006
- Verret, L., Mann, E. O., Hang, G. B., Barth, A. M., Cobos, I., Ho, K., et al. (2012). Inhibitory interneuron deficit links altered network activity and cognitive dysfunction in Alzheimer model. *Cell* 149, 708–721. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.046
- Xu, D. E., Zhang, W. M., Yang, Z. Z., Zhu, H. M., Yan, K., Li, S., et al. (2014). Amyloid precursor protein at node of Ranvier modulates nodal formation. *Cell Adh. Migr.* 8, 396–403. doi: 10.4161/cam.28802
- Yu, F. H., and Catterall, W. A. (2003). Overview of the voltage-gated sodium channel family. *Genome Biol.* 4:207. doi: 10.1186/gb-2003-4-3-207
- Yu, F. H., Mantegazza, M., Westenbroek, R. E., Robbins, C. A., Kalume, F., Burton, K. A., et al. (2006). Reduced sodium current in GABAergic interneurons in a mouse model of severe myoclonic epilepsy in infancy. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 1142–1149. doi: 10.1038/nn1754
- Zhang, M. Y., Zheng, C. Y., Zou, M. M., Zhu, J. W., Zhang, Y., Wang, J., et al. (2014). Lamotrigine attenuates deficits in synaptic plasticity and accumulation of amyloid plaques in APP/PS1 transgenic mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 2713–2725. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.06.009

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Wang, Zhang, Zhou, Li, Jang, Xiao, Ma and Li. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Proteomic and epigenomic markers of sepsis-induced delirium (SID)

Adonis Sfera<sup>1, 2\*</sup>, Amy I. Price<sup>3</sup>, Roberto Gradini<sup>4, 5</sup>, Michael Cummings<sup>2</sup> and Carolina Osorio<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, CA, USA, <sup>2</sup> Psychiatry, Patton State Hospital, Patton, CA, USA, <sup>3</sup> Evidence Based Health Care, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK, <sup>4</sup> Department of Pathology, Sapienza University, Rome, Italy, <sup>5</sup> IRCCS Neuromed, Pozzili, Italy

In elderly population sepsis is one of the leading causes of intensive care unit (ICU) admissions in the United States. Sepsis-induced delirium (SID) is the most frequent cause of delirium in ICU (Martin et al., 2010). Together delirium and SID represent under-recognized public health problems which place an increasing financial burden on the US health care system, currently estimated at 143-152 billion dollars per year (Leslie et al., 2008). The interest in SID was recently reignited as it was demonstrated that, contrary to prior beliefs, cognitive deficits induced by this condition may be irreversible and lead to dementia (Pandharipande et al., 2013; Brummel et al., 2014). Conversely, it is construed that diagnosing SID early or mitigating its full blown manifestations may preempt geriatric cognitive disorders. Biological markers specific for sepsis and SID would facilitate the development of potential therapies, monitor the disease process and at the same time enable elderly individuals to make better informed decisions regarding surgeries which may pose the risk of complications, including sepsis and delirium. This article proposes a battery of peripheral blood markers to be used for diagnostic and prognostic purposes in sepsis and SID. Though each individual marker may not be specific enough, we believe that together as a battery they may achieve the necessary accuracy to answer two important questions: who may be vulnerable to the development of sepsis, and who may develop SID and irreversible cognitive deficits following sepsis?

Keywords: Aquaporin-4 (AQP-4), astrocytes, cell cycle, lymphocyte proliferation test (LPT), T helper 17 cells, exosomes, microRNA

#### INTRODUCTION

At present there are no biological markers to indicate vulnerability to sepsis or to the CNS dysfunction following it. Electroencephalography (EEG) and various instruments such as Confusion Assessment Method (CAM), Delirium Rating Scale (DRS) or Delirium Symptoms Interview (DSI) are currently used for diagnosing delirium, however they are not specific for SID and difficult to perform in sedated or intubated ICU patients (Zampieri et al., 2011). Recent studies have shown that delirium in general and SID in particular are unrecognized by clinicians in 32–66% of cases and because of their resemblance to psychiatric conditions, patients with delirium are frequently admitted to psychiatric wards, thus delaying much needed interventions (Leslie et al., 2008; Reeves et al., 2010). In order to avoid this problem the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine Geriatrics Task Force designated delirium screening a key quality indicator in elderly care (Terrell et al., 2009).

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Megha Agrawal, University of Arkansas at Little Rock, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Mukesh K. Jaiswal, Rosalind Franklin University of Medicine and Science, USA Kaustuv Saha, University of Florida, USA

> \*Correspondence: Adonis Sfera dr.sfera@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Diagnostics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences

Received: 08 September 2015 Accepted: 10 October 2015 Published: 26 October 2015

#### Citation:

Sfera A, Price AI, Gradini R, Cummings M and Osorio C (2015) Proteomic and epigenomic markers of sepsis-induced delirium (SID). Front. Mol. Biosci. 2:59. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2015.00059

In our prior work in SID and delirium, we emphasized a potential epigenomic screening tool, the microRNA-6775 (miR-6775), which can be obtained from peripheral blood exosomes. This miR seems to block the transcription of CHRNA 7 gene which codes for alpha 7 nicotinic cholinergic receptors, while at the same time augments the expression of RNF-128, the Gene Related to Anergia in Lymphocytes (GRAIL), a gene involved in sepsis associated immune suppression (SAIS). Since SAIS represents a major cause of death in sepsis patients, miR-6775 may be a sepsis-stage marker in addition to a being a SID vulnerability screening tool (Sfera et al., 2014). We have hypothesized that delirium predisposing factors including low grade inflammation and the paucity of alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) may be the result of dysfunctional miR-6775 which silences the gene coding for these receptors. If this hypothesis is correct, miR-6775 may emerge as a marker of vulnerability to both sepsis and SID. In addition to epigenomic markers we drew attention to an astrocytic proteomic marker, the aquaporin-4 (AQP-4) protein which was found to be up-regulated in delirium (Sfera and Osorio, 2015).

In the present article, instead of focusing on individual biomarkers, we present a proteomic battery consisting of molecules released by the innate immune system, the initiator of septic responses. These markers can be obtained from the peripheral blood exosomes, a platform which carries to the periphery the molecular fingerprints of cells located in various tissues including the brain.

#### FROM THE IMMUNOLOGICAL TO THE NEUROLOGICAL SYNAPSE: PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF SEPSIS AND SID

Critical care physicians have known for a long time that 70– 80% of patients diagnosed with severe sepsis had been admitted to the hospital for reasons other than infections (Munford and Suffredini, 2010). Indeed, infection is necessary for a septic response, but not sufficient, as most infections remain localized and the inflammation does not spread throughout the body tissues. Moreover, sepsis-like global inflammatory responses are known to occur in burns, trauma or pancreatitis in the absence of infection (Balk, 2014).

Sepsis is thought to be ignited by a failure of the innate immune system to turn "off" after initiating an initial inflammatory response to intruding pathogens. The innate immunity "on" and "off" switch is located at the immunological synapse, the nanoscale junction between the T lymphocytes and the antigen presenting cells (APCs). This junction is populated by pattern recognition receptors (PRR) out of which the toll-like receptors (TLRs) are the best known. Activation of TLRs by pathogen toxins triggers "cytokine storms," release of non-specific pro-inflammatory molecules. Switching "off" the innate immune system is epigenomically controlled by microRNAs action on TLRs (Bayarsaihan, 2011; Stearns-Kurosawa et al., 2011). Turning the innate immunity "off" must occur when the more specific adaptive immune system comes "on line." Sepsis may be triggered by defective microRNAs which may be incapable of deactivating the TLRs and turn the innate immunity "off." In this scenario, both the adaptive and the innate immunity continue to work in parallel, eventually leading to immune exhaustion or SAIS.

MicroRNAs or miRs are short, 18–22 nucleotides in length, non-coding RNAs which have the ability to silence gene expression by inhibiting or degrading their messenger RNAs (mRNA). MicroRNAs were shown to modulate multiple biological processes, but those of interest for sepsis and SID include activation/deactivation of the innate immune system, cytoskeletal rearrangements in the innate immune cells (which enable cellular proliferation), and modulation of astrocytic volume (by changes in membrane permeability).

The CNS-immune interaction was demonstrated to be mediated by transmigration of peripheral lymphocytes and microphages through the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) and via the recently described lymphatic vessels in the dura mater (Louveau et al., 2015). The discovery of CNS lymphatics suddenly changed the perspective on the peripheral-central immune cooperation into a holistic one in which astrocytes, microglia and peripheral macrophages work in an innate immune continuum (Sternberg, 2006; Louveau et al., 2015). For example, the peripheral dendritic cells (DC) immigrate into the CNS and function as antigen presenting cells (APCs), while the activated microglia emigrate from the brain to the periphery, transporting inflammation (Sfera et al., 2014; Sfera and Osorio, 2015). These findings provide an explanation for the previously observed impairment in peripheral immunity following CNS pathology such as strokes, neurosurgical interventions, Alzheimer's disease (AD) and schizophrenia (Hochmeister et al., 2008; D'Agostino et al., 2012).

In the CNS, astrocytes and microglia are full members of the innate immune system which respond to peripheral infections by adopting a reactive stance (reactive gliosis). For example, reactive astrocytes undergo hypertrophy (edema) probably in an attempt to erect an additional physical barrier and restrict the spread of infection (Majewska and Szczepanik, 2006). Astrocytic swelling due to aquaporin-4 (AQP-4) up-regulation was documented in SID and may explain why most known delirium biomarkers are released by astrocytes (Papadopoulos and Verkman, 2013; Sfera et al., 2014; Thrane et al., 2014).

It is reasonable to assume that astrocytic swelling (astroedema) along with hypocholinergia (due to silenced CHRNA 7 gene) activate the TLRs, engendering low grade inflammation which is considered a delirium vulnerability marker in elderly (Court et al., 2001; Mitsis et al., 2009). For example, in post-operative delirium activation of TLR-4 (expressed by microglia and astrocytes) was demonstrated (Jalleh et al., 2012; Sofroniew, 2015). MicroRNA-130a is known to reduce astroedema by silencing the transcription of AQP-4 proteins (Sepramaniam et al., 2012). Moreover, miR-132 was demonstrated to restore CNS cholinergic signaling (Shaked et al., 2009). These epigenomic markers may represent a CNS compensatory response to astroedema and damaged cholinergic signaling.

#### PROTEOMIC BIOMARKERS OF SID

*Aquaporin-4 (AQP-4) proteins* in astrocytic end-feet constitute specific markers for astroedema described in SID. Exosomes carrying AQP-4 proteins from astrocytes to the peripheral blood may be utilized as biomarkers and therapeutic targets especially in SAIS (Papadopoulos and Verkman, 2013; Thrane et al., 2014; Sfera and Osorio, 2015).

Galectin-9 (Gal-9) and its receptor, the T cell immunoglobulin mucin-3 (Tim-3) expressed on T lymphocytes was shown to inhibit Th-17 proliferation both in vitro and in vivo (Oomizu et al., 2012). Gal-9 was demonstrated to play a major role in cell cycle regulation as it was shown to inhibit the cell cycle arrest in the G1 phase, promoting cellular proliferation. A dysfunctional Gal-9 may explain the aberrant neuronal cell cycle re-entry documented in AD as well as the exaggerated proliferation of macrophages and T-cells in the early phase of sepsis (Currais et al., 2009). In the CNS, Gal-9 is secreted by astrocytes and it was demonstrated to affect the astrocyte-microglia dialog (Steelman and Li, 2014). Interestingly, microRNA-155 (which modulates TLRs at the immunologic synapse) acts on the Tim-3 receptors, competing with Gal-9 (Cheng et al., 2015). Therefore, a significant drop in miR-155 level and/or an increase in Gal-9 level may suggest immune restoration in sepsis.

*CRYAB (alphaB-crystallin)* is a small heat-shock protein which was demonstrated to reduce T cell proliferation (including the CD-69 response). Animal studies show that Cryab-/- mice present with higher Th-17 cell count and more intense neuroinflammation, compared to wild-type counterparts (Arac et al., 2011). In the brain Cryab is secreted by astrocytes as an anti-inflammatory molecule; its presence in peripheral blood exosomes may indicate functional astrocytes, reflecting epigenetic integrity. CRYAB is involved in the process of microRNA maturation; its absence may result in dysfunctional microRNAs, including miR-6775, miR-155, miR-132, and miR-130 family. A drop in the level of this marker in peripheral blood exosomes may reflect the body-wide inflammation of sepsis with the imminent potential for SID onset (Ousman et al., 2007).

Ubiquitin-modifying protein A 20 has potent antiinflammatory and anti-proliferative properties. For example it can decrease T cell differentiation into the neurotoxic Th-17 phenotype (Kool et al., 2011). Animal studies demonstrate that A 20 deficiency causes spontaneous neuroinflammation with reactive gliosis. In addition, it was demonstrated that that the A 20 protein deactivates the innate immunity at the level of the TLRs in the immunological synapse (Boone et al., 2004). Absence of TLR deactivation was demonstrated to result in exaggerated inflammatory responses, the "cytokine storms" characteristic of early sepsis. Micro RNA-155 epigenetically modulates the "on" and "off" activation of TLRs, suggesting involvement in sepsis and SID (O'Neill et al., 2011; **Table 1**). A drop in A 20 level along with an increase in miR-155 levels are markers of poor prognosis in sepsis and SID.

*Vimentin* is a major constituent of the cellular cytoskeleton which was found to orchestrate the Th-17 and possibly cancer cells migration into the CNS (Nieminen et al., 2006). Indeed, in sepsis an elevated Th-17 count was reported as vimentin equips

TABLE 1	Potential	proteomic	markers	for sepsis	and SID.

Protein	Action	Effect
AQP-4	-Augments astrocytic water permeability -Promotes astroedema	Detrimental for SID
Galectin-9	-Inhibits Th-17 proliferation	Beneficial for sepsis/SID
CRYAB	-Decreases CD-69 lymphocyte proliferation -Promotes microRNA maturation	Beneficial in sepsis/SID
A 20 protein	-Deactivates TLRs -Turns innate immunity "off"	Beneficial in sepsis/SID
Vimentin	-Enables cytoskeleton for motility and proliferation	Detrimental in sepsis/SID

T lymphocytes with both the motility and the amoeboid shape necessary for transmigration across the blood-brain-barrier (Nieminen et al., 2006). By rearranging the cytoskeleton vimentin facilitates proliferation of CD-69 lymphocyte in response to mitogens; this response can be measured by the lymphocyte proliferation test (LPT) (Nieminen et al., 2006; Ward et al., 2008). LPT is currently being used as a peripheral blood marker for AD and traumatic brain injury (TBI), based on the observation that lymphocytes derived from patients with AD present with a proliferation defect, a lower CD-69 count after mitogenic stimulation, compared to lymphocytes derived from normal individuals (Zhang et al., 2013). In fact the transition between elevated and depressed CD-69 response, may mark the precise point in time when a localized infection transitions to sepsis and SID. This transition may be captured by the stimulation index (SI) which represents the ratio of CD-69 expression level/endogenous CD-69 level. The SI may mirror the onset and progression of immune suppression and if obtained daily in ICU patients may detect sepsis onset. At the epigenetic level the CD-69 vimentin-induced response is modulated by miR-155 and miR-130 family, again rendering these miRs epigenetic markers for SID.

#### **EPIGENOMIC BIOMARKERS OF SID**

Approximately 60% of known miRs are expressed in the brain, rendering them almost ideal peripheral biomarkers for many CNS disorders (Song and Lee, 2015). Exosome-isolated miRs provide a higher diagnostic precision than miRs obtained from plasma (Stenvang et al., 2012).

*MicroRNA-6775:* silences the transcription of CHRNA-7 gene which codes for alpha 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs). When silenced CHRNA-7 gene augments the proliferation of Th-17 lymphocytes. Another action of microRNA-6775 involves activation of RNA-128, the gene related to anergia in lymphocytes (GRAIL), predisposing to SAIS (Sfera et al., 2014).

*MicroRNA-130 family*: nicknamed astromiRs, this miR family are modulators of cellular motility (Tu et al., 2014). Members of this family include:

*MicroRNA-130b*: promotes metastatic cancer aggressiveness by augmenting vimentin-induced cytoskeletal changes. MicroRNA-130b is believed to be an oncomiR as it augments

TABLE 2 | Potential epigenomic markers of sepsis and SID.

MicroRNA	Action	Effect	
mir-6775	-Silences CHRNA-7 gene -Augments RNF-128	Detrimental for sepsis/SID Promotes low grade inflammation and SAIS	
miR-130 a	-Silences transcription of AQP-4 gene -Decreases cell motility and proliferation (lowers CD-69 and Th-17 lymphocytes)	Beneficial sepsis/SID Lowers astroedema and Th-17 transmigration	
miR-130b	-Increases cell motility and proliferation		
miR-155	-Increases CD-69 response -Activated TLRs by binding to galectin-9 receptor -Turns innate immunity "on"	Detrimental for sepsis/SID	
miR-132	-Acetylcholinesterase inhibition -Restores cholinergic transmission	Beneficial for sepsis/SID	

malignant aggression by enhancing cellular ability to migrate. We however characterize miR-130b as a motilimiR since metastasizing is occurs secondary to increased cellular motility. By the same mechanism miR-130b may promote Th-17 transmigration into the CNS (**Table 1**). For this reason miR-130b can be considered both a therapeutic target and a biomarker of SID (Leavy, 2010).

*MicroRNA-130a* (miR-130a): may also be a therapeutic target in addition to being a SID biomarker This miR, silences the transcription of AQP-4 proteins in astrocytic end-feet, reducing astroedema and neuroinflammation (Sepramaniam et al., 2012). In addition, miR-130a inhibits cellular locomotion and proliferation and is being credited with inhibition of metastatic spread. Since its action opposes miR-130b, we consider it an antimiR to 130a (Murugaiyan et al., 2011).

*MicroRNA-155* (miR-155): In sepsis, a dysregulated miR-155 was shown to unleash inflammation via activation of TLRs preventing deactivation of the innate immune system upon activation of adaptive immunity. Others have shown that silencing miR-155 may be beneficial in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (Murugaiyan et al., 2011), AD (Song and Lee, 2015), and other neuropsychiatric disorders (Hu et al., 2013). We believe that miR-155 is a plausible therapeutic target in SID in addition of being of diagnostic and prognostic benefit.

*MicroRNA-132*: acts as a natural cholinesterase inhibitor (also called a cholinomiR) as it enhances cholinergic signaling by inhibiting its degrading enzymes (Shaked et al., 2009; Nadorp and Soreq, 2014) (**Table 2**). Deficient acetylcholine is one of the best documented hypotheses of delirium. Daily levels of miR-132 obtained from peripheral blood exosomes in ICU patients with SID may reflect the prognostic trend.

# TINY BUBBLES: AN EXOSOMAL TRANSPORTATION PLATFORM

Extracellular vesicles are tiny membrane structures which are divided by their size, into ectosomes, larger vesicles (over

100 nm), and exosomes, smaller vesicles (50–100 nm). They are released by a wide variety of cells including immune, CNS and cancer cells. Their cargo consists of proteins, DNA, microRNAs, and mRNAs which carry the signatures of their cells of origin throughout the body fluids. After release from their source, miRs circulate with the peripheral blood either bound to lipoproteins or incorporated in exosomes which offer protection from dilution and the ambient ribonuclease (Wagner et al., 2013). Therefore, assays of exosome-packaged miRs derived from the peripheral blood are more reliable compared to assays of nonexosomal miRs (Cheng et al., 2014). Exosome content can be analyzed with the help of simple commercial exosome isolation kits or by more complex ultracentrifugation (Corrado et al., 2013).

At the immunological synapse, exosomes carry pathogenderived molecules between the T cell and the APC, committing T cells to particular phenotypes (Schorey et al., 2015). In sepsis it was demonstrated that naïve T cells differentiate into neurotoxic Th-17 lymphocytes (Martinez et al., 2008). We believe that this metamorphosis is enabled by the disinhibition of RNF-128 gene by dysfunctional miR-6775 which, probably acts on vimentin to enable transformation of naïve T cells into the highly mobile and aggressive Th-17 phenotype.

In the CNS, exosomes were demonstrated to be involved in neurotransmitter signaling at neurological synapses (Chivet et al., 2014; Glebov et al., 2015). For example, exosomal miRs in the prefrontal cortex synapses were recently demonstrated in schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (Banigan et al., 2013). In SID exosome-analysis may identify stage-of-disease markers and treatment targets. For example, astrocytes were shown to release exosomes containing miR-155 and miR-130 family which along with AQP-4 proteins which constitute SID biomarkers. Indeed the National Institute of Health recently awarded a grant for studying blood exosomes containing astrocytic proteins as diagnostic markers for CNS disorders (Crocker and Vella, 2015). In AD neural proteins such as amyloid beta, total tau and P-tau were recently isolated from peripheral blood exosomes (Fiandaca et al., 2015).

Exosomes were demonstrated capable of carry aquaporin proteins to the body periphery. For example, urinary exosomes containing aquaporin-1 (AQP-1) proteins are currently being utilized in nephrology as novel biomarkers of renal ischemia and reperfusion (Sonoda et al., 2009). In SID, the up-regulated AQP-4 proteins originating in astrocytic end-feet may be detectable in peripheral blood exosomes.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Sepsis and SID represent health care problems which translate into a major economic burden likely to increase along with the demographics of aging population. Biological markers with adequate sensitivity and specificity for SID could decrease not only the length of hospital stay, lead to new treatments, but also preempt the epidemic of irreversible cognitive deficit and dementia in elderly. With the same token the ability to predict vulnerability to delirium and subsequent dementia would facilitate the informed consent process of elderly individuals deciding for elective surgeries.

#### REFERENCES

- Arac, A., Brownell, S. E., Rothbard, J. B., Chen, C., Ko, R. M., Pereira, M. P., et al. (2011). Systemic augmentation of alphaB-crystallin provides therapeutic benefit twelve hours post-stroke onset via immune modulation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 13287–13292. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1107368108
- Balk, R. A. (2014). Systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS): where did it come from and is it still relevant today? *Virulence* 5, 20–26. doi: 10.4161/viru.27135
- Banigan, M. G., Kao, P. F., Kozubek, J. A., Winslow, A. R., Medina, J., Costa, J., et al. (2013). Differential expression of exosomal microRNAs in prefrontal cortices of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder patients. *PLoS ONE* 8:e48814. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048814
- Bayarsaihan, D. (2011). Epigenetic mechanisms in inflammation. *J. Dent. Res.* 90, 9–17. doi: 10.1177/0022034510378683
- Boone, D. L., Turer, E. E., Lee, E. G., Ahmad, R. C., Wheeler, M. T., Tsui, C., et al. (2004). The ubiquitin-modifying enzyme A20 is required for termination of Toll-like receptor responses. *Nat. Immunol.* 5, 1052–1060. doi: 10.1038/ni1110
- Brummel, N. E., Jackson, J. C., Pandharipande, P. P., Thompson, J. L., Shintani, A. K., Dittus, R. S., et al. (2014). Delirium in the ICU and subsequent longterm disability among survivors of mechanical ventilation. *Crit. Care Med.* 42, 369–377. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3182a645bd
- Cheng, L., Sharples, R. A., Scicluna, B. J., and Hill, A. F. (2014). Exosomes provide a protective and enriched source of miRNA for biomarker profiling compared to intracellular and cell-free blood. *J. Extracell. Vesicles* 3. doi: 10.3402/jev.v3.23743
- Cheng, Y. Q., Ren, J. P., Zhao, J., Wang, J. M., Zhou, Y., Li, G. Y., et al. (2015). MicroRNA-155 regulates interferon-γ production in natural killer cells via Tim-3 signalling in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Immunology* 145, 485–497. doi: 10.1111/imm.12463
- Chivet, M., Javalet, C., Laulagnier, K., Blot, B., Hemming, F. J., and Sadoul, R. (2014). Exosomes secreted by cortical neurons upon glutamatergic synapse activation specifically interact with neurons. *J. Extracell. Vesicles* 3:24722. doi: 10.3402/jev.v3.24722
- Corrado, C., Raimondo, S., Chiesi, A., Ciccia, F., De Leo, G., and Alessandro, R. (2013). Exosomes as intercellular signaling organelles involved in health and disease: basic science and clinical applications. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 5338–5366. doi: 10.3390/ijms14035338
- Court, J., Martin-Ruiz, C., Piggott, M., Spurden, D., Griffiths, M., and Perry, E. (2001). Nicotinic receptor abnormalities in Alzheimer's disease. *Biol. Psychiatry* 49, 175–184. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(00)01116-1
- Crocker, S. J., and Vella, A. T. (2015). Proteomic and Functional Analyses of Astrocyte Exosomes. Farmington, CT: University of Connecticut, Agency National Institute of Health (NIH). Institute National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS) Project # 1R21NS087578-01A1. Application # 8893411. Available online at: http://grantome.com/grant/NIH/R21-NS087578-01A1
- Currais, A., Hortobágyi, T., and Soriano, S. (2009). The neuronal cell cycle as a mechanism of pathogenesis in Alzheimer's disease. *Aging* 1, 363–371.
- D'Agostino, P. M., Gottfried-Blackmore, A., Anandasabapathy, N., and Bulloch, K. (2012). Brain dendritic cells: biology and pathology. *Acta Neuropathol.* 124, 599–614. doi: 10.1007/s00401-012-1018-0
- Fiandaca, M. S., Kapogiannis, D., Mapstone, M., Boxer, A., Eitan, E., Schwartz, J. B., et al. (2015). Identification of preclinical Alzheimer's disease by a profile of pathogenic proteins in neurally derived blood exosomes: a case-control study. *Alzheimers Dement.* 11, 600–607. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.06.008
- Glebov, K., Löchner, M., Jabs, R., Lau, T., Merkel, O., Schloss, P., et al. (2015). Serotonin stimulates secretion of exosomes from microglia cells. *Glia* 63, 626–634. doi: 10.1002/glia.22772
- Hochmeister, S., Zeitelhofer, M., Bauer, J., Nicolussi, E. M., Fischer, M. T., Heinke, B., et al. (2008). After injection into the striatum, *in vitro*-differentiated microglia- and bone marrow-derived dendritic cells can leave the central nervous system via the blood stream. *Am. J. Pathol.* 173, 1669–1681. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2008.080234
- Hu, R., Huffaker, T. B., Kagele, D. A., Runtsch, M. C., Bake, E., Chaudhuri, A. A., et al. (2013). MicroRNA-155 confers encephalogenic potential to Th17 cells by promoting effector gene expression. *J. Immunol.* 190, 5972–5980. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1300351

- Jalleh, R., Koh, K., Choi, B., Liu, E., Maddison, J., and Hutchinson, M. R. (2012). Role of microglia and toll-like receptor 4 in the pathophysiology of delirium. *Med. Hypotheses* 79, 735–739. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2012.08.013
- Kool, M., van Loo, G., Waelput, W., De Prijck, S., Muskens, F., Sze, M., et al. (2011). The ubiquitin-editing protein A20 prevents dendritic cell activation, recognition of apoptotic cells, and systemic autoimmunity. *Immunity* 35, 82–96. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.05.013
- Leavy, O. (2010). Neuroimmunology: the TH17 kiss of death for neurons. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 750–751. doi: 10.1038/nri2876
- Leslie, D. L., Marcantonio, E. R., Zhang, Y., Leo-Summers, L., and Inouye, S. K. (2008). One-year health care costs associated with delirium in the elderly population. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 168, 27–32 doi: 10.1001/archinternmed. 2007.4
- Louveau, A., Smirnov, I., Keyes, T. J., Eccles, J. D., Rouhani, S. J., Peske, J. D., et al. (2015). Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature* 523, 337–341. doi: 10.1038/nature14432
- Majewska, M., and Szczepanik, M. (2006). The role of Toll-like receptors (TLR) in innate and adaptive immune responses and their function in immune response regulation. *Postepy Hig. Med. Dosw.* 60, 52–63.
- Martin, B. J., Buth, K. J., Arora, R. C., and Baskett, R. J. F. (2010). Delirium as a predictor of sepsis in post-coronary artery bypass grafting patients: a retrospective cohort study. *Crit. Care* 14, R171. doi: 10.1186/cc9273
- Martinez, G. J., Nurieva, R. I., Yang, X. O., and Dong, C. (2008). Regulation and function of proinflammatory TH17 cells. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1143, 188–211. doi: 10.1196/annals.1443.021
- Mitsis, E. M., Cosgrove, K. P., Staley, J. K., Bois, F., Frohlich, E. B., Tamagnan, G. D., et al. (2009). Age-related decline in nicotinic receptor availability with [1231]5-IA-85380 SPECT. *Neurobiol. Aging* 30, 1490–1497. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.12.008
- Munford, R. S., and Suffredini, A. F. (2010). "Chapter 70: Sepsis, severe sepsis, and septic shock," in *Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's Principles and Practice* of Infectious Diseases, 7th Edn., eds G. L. Mandell, J. E. Bennett, and R. Dolin (Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier).
- Murugaiyan, G., Beynon, V., Mittal, A., Joller, N., and Weiner, H. L. (2011). Silencing MicroRNA-155 ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Immunol.* 187, 2213–2221. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1003952
- Nadorp, B., and Soreq, H. (2014). Predicted overlapping microRNA regulators of acetylcholine packaging and degradation in neuroinflammation-related disorders. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 7:9. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2014.00009
- Nieminen, M., Henttinen, T., Merinen, M., Marttila-Ichihara, F., Eriksson, J. E., and Jalkanen, S. (2006). Vimentin function in lymphocyte adhesion and transcellular migration. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 156–62 doi: 10.1038/ncb1355
- O'Neill, L. A., Sheedy, F. J., and McCoy, C. E. (2011). MicroRNAs: the finetuners of Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 163–75. doi: 10.1038/nri2957
- Oomizu, S., Arikawa, T., Niki, T., Kadowaki, T., Ueno, M., Nishi, N., et al. (2012). Cell surface galectin-9 expressing Th cells regulate Th17 and Foxp3+ Treg development by galectin-9 secretion. *PLoS ONE* 7:e48574. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048574
- Ousman, S. S., Tomooka, B. H., van Noort, J. M., Wawrousek, E. F., O'Connor, K. C., Hafler, D. A., et al. (2007). Protective and therapeutic role for alphaB-crystallin in autoimmune demyelination. *Nature* 448, 474–479. doi: 10.1038/nature05935
- Pandharipande, P. P., Girard, T. D., Jackson, J. C., Morandi, J. A., Thompson, J. L., Pun, B. T., et al. (2013). Long-term cognitive im-pairment after critical illness. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 369, 1306–1316. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1301372
- Papadopoulos, M. C., and Verkman, A. S. (2013). Aquaporin water channels in the nervous system. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 265–272 doi: 10.1038/nrn3468
- Reeves, R. R., Parker, J. D., Burke, R. S., and Hart, R. H. (2010). Inappropriate psychiatric admission of elderly patients with unrecognized delirium. *South. Med. J.* 103, 111–115. doi: 10.1097/SMJ.0b013e3181c99423
- Schorey, J. S., Cheng, Y., Singh, P. P., and Smith, V. L. (2015). Exosomes and other extracellular vesicles in host-pathogen interactions. *EMBO Rep.* 16, 24–43. doi: 10.15252/embr.201439363
- Sepramaniam, S., Ying, L. K., Armugam, A., Wintour, E. M., and Jeyaseelan, K. (2012). MicroRNA-130a represses transcriptional activity of aquaporin 4 M1 promoter. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 12006–12015. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.280701

- Sfera, A., Cummings, M., and Osorio, C. (2014). Non-neuronal acetylcholine: the missing link between sepsis, cancer, and delirium? *Front. Med. (Lausanne)*. 2:56. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2015.00056
- Sfera, A., and Osorio, C. (2015). Water for thought: is there a role for aquaporin channels in delirium? *Front. Psychiatry* 5:57. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00057
- Shaked, I., Meerson, A., Wolf, Y., Avni, R., Greenberg, D., Gilboa-Geffen, A., et al. (2009). MicroRNA-132 potentiates cholinergic anti-inflammatory signaling by targeting acetylcholinesterase. *Immunity* 31, 965–973. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.09.019
- Sofroniew, M. V. (2015). Astrocyte barriers to neurotoxic inflammation. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 16, 249–263. doi: 10.1038/nrn3898
- Song, J., and Lee, J. E. (2015). miR-155 is involved in Alzheimer's disease by regulating T lymphocyte function. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 7:61. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00061
- Sonoda, H., Yokota-Ikeda, N., Oshikawa, S., Kanno, Y., Yoshinaga, K., Uchida, K., et al. (2009). Decreased abundance of urinary exosomal aquaporin-1 in renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. Am. J. Physiol. Ren. Physiol. 297:F1006–F1016. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00200.2009
- Stearns-Kurosawa, D. J., Osuchowski, M. F., Valentine, C., Kurosawa, S., and Remick, D. G. (2011). The pathogenesis of sepsis. *Annu. Rev. Pathol.* 6, 19–48. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-011110-130327
- Steelman, A. J., and Li, J. (2014). Astrocyte galectin-9 potentiates microglial TNF secretion. J. Neuroinflammation 11:144. doi: 10.1186/s12974-014-0144-0
- Stenvang, J., Petri, A., Lindow, M., Obad, S., and Kauppinen, S. (2012). Inhibition of microRNA function by antimiR oligonucleotides. *Silence* 3:1. doi: 10.1186/1758-907X-3-1
- Sternberg, E. M. (2006). Neural regulation of innate immunity: a coordinated nonspecific host response to pathogens. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 6, 318–328. doi: 10.1038/nri1810
- Terrell, K. M., Hustey, F. M., Hwang, U., Gerson, L. W., Wenger, N. S., Miller, D. K., et al. (2009). Quality indicators for geriatric emergency care. Acad. Emerg. Med. 16, 441–449. doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.2009.00382.x

- Thrane, A. S., Rangroo Thrane, V., and Nedergaard, M. (2014). Drowning stars: reassessing the role of astrocytes in brain edema. *Trends Neurosci.* 37, 620–628. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2014.08.010
- Tu, K., Zheng, X., Dou, C., Li, C., Yang, W., Yao, Y., et al. (2014). MicroRNA-130b promotes cell aggressiveness by inhibiting peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 15, 20486–20499. doi: 10.3390/ijms151120486
- Wagner, J., Riwanto, M., Besler, C., Knau, A., Fichtlscherer, S., Röxe, T., et al. (2013). Characterization of levels and cellular transfer of circulating lipoprotein-bound microRNAs. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 33, 1392–1400. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.300741
- Ward, N. S., Casserly, B., and Ayala, A. (2008). Compensatory Anti-inflammatory Response syndrome (CARS) in Critically ill patients. *Clin. Chest Med.* 29, 617–625. doi: 10.1016/j.ccm.2008.06.010
- Zampieri, F. G., Park, M., Machado, F. S., and Azevedo, L. C. P. (2011). Sepsisassociated encephalopathy: not just delirium. *Clinics* 66, 1825–1831. doi: 10.1590/S1807-59322011001000024
- Zhang, J., Ke, K.-F., Liu, Z., Qiu, Y.-H., and Peng, Y.-P. (2013). Th17 Cellmediated neuroinflammation is involved in neurodegeneration of Aβ1-42-Induced Alzheimer's disease model rats. *PLoS ONE* 8:e75786. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075786

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Sfera, Price, Gradini, Cummings and Osorio. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




## Dehydration and Cognition in Geriatrics: A Hydromolecular Hypothesis

#### Adonis Sfera<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Michael Cummings<sup>2\*</sup> and Carolina Osorio<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Loma Linda University, Loma Linda, USA, <sup>2</sup> Patton State Hospital, Patton, USA

Dehydration is one of the ten most frequent diagnoses responsible for the hospital admission of elderly in the United States. It is associated with increased mortality, morbidity and an estimated cost of 1.14 billion per year (Xiao et al., 2004; Schlanger et al., 2010; Pretorius et al., 2013; Frangeskou et al., 2015). Older individuals are predisposed to dehydration encephalopathy as a result of decreased total body water (TBW) and diminished sensation of thirst. We hypothesize that thirst blunting in older individuals is the result of a defective microRNA-6842-3p failing to silence the expression of the vesicular GABA transporters (VGAT) and alpha 7 cholinergic nicotinic receptors in the subfornical organ (SFO) of the hypothalamus. We hypothesize further that resultant dehydration facilitates protein misfolding and aggregation, predisposing to neurocognitive disorders. We completed a search of predicted microRNA targets, utilizing the public domain tool miRDB and found that microRNA-6842-3p modulates the SLC6A1 and CHRNA7 genes both of which were previously hypothesized to inhibit the thirst sensation by their action on SFO. The primary aim of this article is to answer two questions: Can prevention and correction of dehydration in elderly lower age-related cognitive deterioration? Can exosomal miR-6842 in the peripheral blood predict dehydration encephalopathy in elderly?

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Megha Agrawal, University of Illinois at Chicago, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Ravi C. Kalathur, New York Structural Biology Center, USA Enno Klussmann, Max Delbrück Center for Molecular Medicine, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Adonis Sfera dr.sfera@gmail.com; Michael Cummings Michael.Cummings@DSH.ca.gov

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Diagnostics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences

> Received: 28 January 2016 Accepted: 25 April 2016 Published: 12 May 2016

#### Citation:

Sfera A, Cummings M and Osorio C (2016) Dehydration and Cognition in Geriatrics: A Hydromolecular Hypothesis. Front. Mol. Biosci. 3:18. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2016.00018 Keywords: dehydration, aquaporins, extracellular space, protein folding, protein conformational dynamics

## HYDRATION AND COGNITION

Dehydration is one of the most common medical problems in seniors diagnosed in 6.7% of hospitalized patients over the age of 65 (Warren et al., 1994). It leads to poor outcomes and increased health care expenditures. Novel studies reveal that if not prevented or treated promptly, dehydration results in longer intensive care unit (ICU) stay, higher hospital readmission rates and placement in long term facilities (Xiao et al., 2004; Frangeskou et al., 2015). On the other hand, preventing dehydration not only reduces healthcare expenditures, but also improves outcomes and the elderly patients' quality of life.

Dehydration is a contributing factor for delirium, a neurobehavioral syndrome recently demonstrated to be a strong risk factor for dementia (Inouye, 1998; Davis et al., 2012). It is therefore crucial to recognize and diagnose dehydration quickly, however at the present time there are no specific biological markers for this condition. Clinical signs, plasma osmolality and urine markers have poor specificity in elderly (George and Rockwood, 2004). For this reason potential epigenetic markers such as microRNA-6842-3p obtained from peripheral blood exosomes may contribute not only to early diagnosis, but also to prevention of dehydration.

Water is an essential body nutrient and its homeostasis is crucial for life. Early in the evolution, marine animals were surrounded by water, but survival on dry land required built-in, "portable" water (Warren et al., 1994). In humans, the muscle tissue is a genuine fluid reservoir, carrying over 80% of TBW (George and Rockwood, 2004).

The brain, in spite of being a highly lipophilic organ consists of 80% water (Tait et al., 2008). Most of the CNS intracellular water is stored in astrocytes. These cells are characterized by high aquaporin (AQP) expression which makes them four times more permeable to water than other brain cells, therefore true "brain cisterns" for times of water scarcity (Thrane et al., 2014). With the same token, because of their high AQP content, astrocytes are prone to pathological water retention and swelling. Novel studies demonstrate that astrocytes respond to peripheral dehydration by up-regulation of AQP-4 proteins on their end-feet processes probably in order to preserve water. For example, preclinical studies demonstrate that a hyperosmotic milieu induces AQP expression in astrocytes (Yang et al., 2013).

Overexpression of AQP-4 channels and augmented water intake transforms these cells into genuine "sponges" resulting in extracellular dehydration, extracellular space (ECS) hypovolemia. If severe enough this condition may turn into a medical emergency, dehydration encephalopathy or delirium.

The process of aging seems to undo the evolutionary advantage of "portable water" as elderly individuals are known to lose their fluid reservoirs by age-related decrease in both muscle mass and astrocyte density. For example, dehydration was demonstrated to accelerate the progression of AD which is also known to be associated with loss of astrocytes (Ogawa et al., 2011; Reyes-Haro et al., 2015; Rodríguez-Arellano et al., 2016).

It is well known that aging is associated with reduced acetylcholine (ACh) in the brain, but it is perhaps less emphasized that aging contributes to down-regulation of alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (alpha7nAChR) (Utsugisawa et al., 1999; Akhmedov et al., 2013), rendering the CNS less responsive to ACh. This is significant for the sensation of thirst which is physiologically activated by ACh. Lower cholinergic activation predisposes to inflammation which is also involved in cognitive impairment. We discussed inflammation in the aging brain elsewhere and this subject will not be brought here (Sfera and Osorio, 2014). The alpha7nAChR are encoded by CHRNA7 gene which is subject to microRNA epigenetic regulation, including miR-6842.

Concerning the relationship between dehydration and impaired cognition nutrition studies demonstrate that a loss of only 1–2% of TBW may result in impaired cognitive performance; in elderly this percentage was shown to be even lower (Han and Wilber, 2013; Riebl and Davy, 2013). Furthermore, the link between hydration and cognition can be demonstrated by the neurocognitive disorders associated with up-regulation of AQP-4 expression primarily on asyrocytic end-feet (**Table 1**).

Novel studies demonstrate that both dehydration and aging were associated with AQP-4 up-regulation, therefore it should not come as a surprise that aging and water loss go hand in hand (Trinh-Trang-Tan et al., 2003). Interestingly, several amyloid-binding, neuroprotective compounds were demonstrated to down-regulate AQP-4 expression, further demonstrating the role of water in amyloid pathology (Table 2).

In addition, neuroimaging studies in dehydrated elderly, show decrease in gray and white matter volume (Streitbürger et al., 2012). However, it is important to keep in mind that most brain volumetric studies rely on diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) which detects water anisotropy and is therefore highly dependent on the brain fluid dynamics (Meng et al., 2004; Nakamura et al., 2014).

# WATER AND PROTEIN MISFOLDING DISORDERS

Misfolded protein aggregates were shown to be involved in many human diseases, including neurocognitive disorders and diabetes type 2, but in spite of the increasing prevalence of these conditions, the reason proteins misfold is not completely understood.

Water has been known to play a major role in protein conformational dynamics (Lemieux, 1996; Phillips, 2002; Zhao et al., 2013). In order to become biologically active newly transcribed proteins must fold along specific axes like paper in the ancient Japanese art of origami (Collet, 2011; Chong

TABLE 1   Disorders associated with cognitive deficit and AQP-4
up-regulation.

AQP-4/Cognitive deficit disorders	References
Cerebral amyloid angiopathy	Foglio and Fabrizio, 2010; Moftakhar et al., 2010
Alzheimer's disease	Nagelhus and Ottersen, 2013; Lan et al., 2015
Parkinson's disease	Subburaman and Vanisree, 2011; Zhang et al., 2016
Multiple sclerosis	Tanaka et al., 2007
Neuromyelitis optica	Saji et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2015
Traumatic brain injury	Hu et al., 2005
Cerebral ischemia	Zador et al., 2009
Epilepsy	Binder et al., 2012; Alvestad et al., 2013
HIV encephalitis	St. Hillaire et al., 2005
Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy	Aoki-Yoshino et al., 2005; Florence et al., 2012

## TABLE 2 | Neuroprotective compounds associated with AQP-4 down-regulation.

AQP-4 down-regulation	References
Rapamycin	Guo et al., 2014
Erythropoietin	Gunnarson et al., 2009; McCook et al., 2012
Curcumin	Laird et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2015
Purines	Morelli et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2013
Progesteron	He et al., 2014
Melatonin	Dehghan et al., 2013; Lin et al., 2013; Bhattacharyaa et al., 2014

and Ham, 2015). Recently it was demonstrated that water plays a crucial role in this process as it forms hydrogen bonds with the amino acid chains, facilitating their collapse into three dimensional molecular structures. In the presence of water, folding occurs almost instantly (140 ns), resulting in biologically active molecules available for chemical reactions at the opportune time (Sen and Voorheis, 2014; Vajda and Perczel, 2014). In the absence of hydration the folding process is significantly slower and the biomolecules may miss the timing of their reactions. This results in molecular overcrowding which predisposes to misfolding (Gregersen et al., 2006; Stoppini et al., 2009). Indeed, it was hypothesized by others that biomolecular crowding relative to the fluid volume is inductive of misfolding and aggregation (Tokuriki et al., 2004; Yerbury et al., 2005).

Novel studies in protein conformational dynamics demonstrate that both protein misfolding, their repair and removal can take place in the intra and the extracellular compartment. The chance of protein misfolding is higher in the extracellular space (ECS) which is a rougher environment exposing these biomolecules to a higher degree of shear and tear (Ker and Chen, 1998; Genereux and Wiseman, 2015). For this reason, we focus our study on the ECS where hypovolemia may facilitate protein misfolding and aggregation.

It was hypothesized that adequate water circulation via aquaporin (AQP) channels is essential for clearing beta amyloid

and for preventing its build-up characteristic for Alzheimer's disease (AD) (**Figure 1**). The glymphatic system paradigm suggests that insufficient amyloid clearance and its subsequent aggregation is the result of impaired water movement (Xie et al., 2013). This model, however pays less attention as to why proteins misfold in the first place.

The hydromolecular hypothesis is therefore complementary to the glymphatic model, but also differs from it by elevating water from an inert medium to an active participant in cognition (via protein folding) (Levy and Onuchic, 2006). This hypothesis raises another interesting question: do proteins participate in information processing directly?

Novel studies in neuroscience demonstrate that proteins participate in cognition by their ability to access logic gates, the elementary building blocks of digital circuits (Qi et al., 2013). These molecules are endowed with abilities to adaptively change their shapes in Transformers-like fashion, assembling and disassembling in response to electronic signals or electromagnetic fields (Kidd et al., 2009; Ausländer et al., 2012). For example, proteins were shown to assemble in the neuronal post-synaptic membrane into heteroreceptor complexes which may engender memory "bar codes" (Fuxe et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2012). Calcium-calmodulin-dependent kinase III, a component of neuronal microtubules, was hypothesized to store long term memory by reorganizing its spatial structure in response to synaptic activity (Smythies, 2015). Interestingly, water plays a



major role in this model. Several studies revealed that dendritic spine biomolecules may play a crucial role in associative memory as they endow the neural circuits with Boolean logic (Craddock et al., 2012; De Ronde et al., 2012; Qi et al., 2013). Furthermore, proteins are endowed with Lego-like abilities to interlink, engendering large intra and extracellular biomolecular networks with hypothesized roles in cognition (Chen et al., 2012; Mancuso et al., 2014). In light of this data we believe that alteration of the normal protein conformation may impair cognition directly, rather than indirectly by damaging synapses and neurons which is the traditional view.

# EPIGENOMIC REGULATION OF THE SUBFORNICAL ORGAN (SFO)

Elderly individuals are prone to dehydration as a result of blunted thirst sensation and loss of TBW as discussed above (Cowen et al., 2013; Hooper et al., 2014). Recent preclinical data reveal that the subfornical organ (SFO) of the hypothalamus functions as a "thirst center" in the mammalian brain, regulating the basic instinct of water intake (Oka et al., 2015). Since the SFO lacks a blood-brain-barrier (BBB) it may be well positioned to detect peripheral dehydration and respond to it by increasing the sensation of thirst lowering water output. The SFO contains sensitive osmoreceptors which convert peripheral changes in osmolality into an excitatory neuronal signal, triggering both the sensation of thirst and the release of arginine vasopressin (AVP) by the posterior pituitary (Azizi et al., 2008). It was recently demonstrated that the SFO contains both excitatory and inhibitory neurons which can be activated by the ECS water volume and osmolality (Oka et al., 2015). ECS hypovolemia activates the SFO excitatory neurons (which express ETV-1 transcription factor), triggering thirst. ECS normovolemia, on the other hand activates the SFO inhibitory neurons (which express the vesicular GABA transporter (VGAT)], inhibiting the sensation of thirst.

These genetically distinct neuronal groups may explain both dehydration and psychotic polydipsia. For example, excessive activation of excitatory, or failure to activate inhibitory SFO neurons may result in psychotic polydipsia. The opposite may be true in dehydration.

Several prior studies revealed that the sensation of thirst may also be activated by the stimulation of SFO neuronal cholinergic receptors. The SFO neurons express both nicotinic and muscarinic cholinergic receptors, while the SFO astrocytes express only alpha 7- nAChRs (Honda et al., 2003; Tanaka, 2003; Ono et al., 2008). Age-related paucity of these receptors interferes with ACh activation of the thirst sensation. The glial water channels consist of AQP-9 expressed by astrocytes and AQP-4 expressed by tanycytes (**Figure 2**).

In addition to decreasing the expression of alpha 7 nAChRs, the aging process was documented to augment the expression of AQP channels on astrocytic end-feet as part of an age-related senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP). SASP is characterized by low grade inflammation, increased accumulation of misfolded protein aggregates and astrocyte swelling induced by AQP up-regulation (Picciotto and Zoli, 2002; Salminen et al., 2011; Akhmedov et al., 2013).



Peripheral dehydration was demonstrated to alter the expression of several SFO- related genes (Hindmarch et al., 2008). One of these genes is SLC6A1 which expresses VGAT on the cellular membranes of the SFO inhibitory neurons.

Method: we conducted a search of miRDB, a public online database for microRNA target prediction and functional annotations. The targets in miRDB are predicted by the bioinformatics tool, MirTarget. MirTarget was developed by analyzing thousands of miRNA-target interactions from highthroughput sequencing experiments. We searched the human database for the genes of interest SLC 32A1 and CHRNA 7, coding for VGAT and alpha 7 nicotinic cholinergic receptors respectively. We conducted a separate search for each of the two genes by utilizing the gene symbol SLC 32A1 and CHRNA 7. The results revealed that 131 microRNAs modulate the SLC 32A1 gene and 57 microRNAs the CHRNA 7 gene. Analyzing this data, miR by miR we found one common microRNA modulating both genes, the miR-6842 (**Figure 3**).

A dysfunctional miR-6842 may fail to silence the SLC6A1 gene, preventing inhibition of the SFO GABAergic neurons with

## REFERENCES

- Akhmedov, K., Rizzo, V., Kadakkuzha, B. M., Carter, C. J., Magoski, N. S., Capo, T. R., et al. (2013). Decreased response to acetylcholine during aging of *Aplysia* neuron R15. *PLoS ONE* 8:e84793. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084793
- Alvestad, S., Hammer, J., Hoddevik, E. H., Skare, Ø., Sonnewald, U., Amiry-Moghaddam, M., et al. (2013). Mislocalization of AQP4 precedes chronic seizures in the kainate model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* 105, 30–41. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2013.01.006
- Aoki-Yoshino, K., Uchihara, T., Duyckaerts, C., Nakamura, A., Hauw, J. J., and Wakayama, Y. (2005). Enhanced expression of aquaporin 4 in human brain with inflammatory diseases. *Acta Neuropathol.* 110, 281–288. doi: 10.1007/s00401-005-1052-2
- Ausländer, S., Ausländer, D., Müller, M., Wieland, M., and Fussenegger, M. (2012). Programmable single-cell mammalian biocomputers. *Nature* 487, 123–127. doi: 10.1038/nature11149
- Azizi, M., Iturrioz, X., Blanchard, A., Peyrard, S., De Mota, N., Chartrel, N., et al. (2008). Reciprocal regulation of plasma apelin and vasopressin by osmotic stimuli. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 19, 1015–1024. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007070816
- Bhattacharyaa, P., Kumar, A., Paulb, P. S., and Patnaikb, R. (2014). Melatonin renders neuroprotection by protein kinase C mediated aquaporin-4 inhibition in animal model of focal cerebral ischemia. *Life Sci.* 100, 97–109. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2014.01.085
- Binder, D. K., Nagelhus, E. A., and Ottersen, O.P. (2012). Aquaporin-4 and epilepsy. *Glia* 60, 1203–1214. doi: 10.1002/glia.22317
- Chen, Y.-S., Hon, M.-Y., and Huang, G. S. (2012). A protein transistor made of an antibody molecule and two gold nanoparticles. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 7, 197–203. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2012.7
- Chong, S. H., and Ham, S. (2015). Distinct role of hydration water in protein misfolding and aggregation revealed by fluctuating thermodynamics analysis. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 48, 956–965. doi: 10.1021/acs.accounts.5b00032
- Collet, O. (2011). How does the first water shell fold proteins so fast? *J. Chem. Phys.* 134, 085107. doi: 10.1063/1.3554731
- Cowen, L. E., Hodak, S. P., and Verbalis, J. G. (2013). Age-associated abnormalities of water homeostasis. *Endocrinol. Metab. Clin. North Am.* 42, 349–370. doi: 10.1016/j.ecl.2013.02.005
- Craddock, T. J. A., Tuszynski, J. A., and Hameroff, S. (2012). Cytoskeletal signaling: is memory encoded in microtubule lattices by CaMKII phosphorylation? *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 8:e1002421. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002421

resultant thirst blocking. The same is achieved via failure to inhibit the CHRNA-7 gene, thus preventing ACh-induced thirst.

## CONCLUSIONS

The hydromolecular hypothesis endeavors to explain the relationship between dehydration and decreased cognition in elderly as resulting from protein misfolding and aggregation in the context of low interstitial fluid volume (ECS hypovolemia). Defective proteins may affect cognition either directly via impaired information processing in the brain biomolecular networks, or indirectly via neuronal and synaptic damage, or both.

MicroRNA-6842 may constitute a biological marker with predictive value for dehydration encephalopathy in elderly as it regulates two genes involved in the sensation of thirst.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

- Davis, D. H. J., Terrera, G. M., Tuomo, P., Sulkava, R., MacLullich, A. M. J., and Carol, B. (2012). Delirium is a strong risk factor for dementia in the oldest-old: a population-based cohort study. *Brain* 135, 2809–2816. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws190
- Dehghan, F., Khaksari Hadad, M., Asadikram, G., Najafipour, H., and Shahrokhi, N. (2013). Effect of melatonin on intracranial pressure and brain edema following traumatic brain injury: role of oxidative stresses. *Arch. Med. Res.* 44, 251–258. doi: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2013.04.002
- De Ronde, W., Rein ten Wolde, P., and Mugler, A. (2012). Protein logic: a statistical mechanical study of signal integration at the single-molecule level. *Biophys. J.* 103, 1097–1107. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2012.07.040
- Florence, C. M., Baillie, L. D., and Mulligan, S. J. (2012). Dynamic volume changes in astrocytes are an intrinsic phenomenon mediated by bicarbonate ion flux. *PLoS ONE* 7:e51124. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051124
- Foglio, E., and Fabrizio, R. E. (2010). Aquaporins and neurodegenerative diseases. Curr. Neuropharmacol. 8, 112–121. doi: 10.2174/157015910791233150
- Frangeskou, M., Lopez-Valcarcel, B., and Serra-Majem, L. (2015). Dehydration in the elderly: a review focused on economic burden. J. Nutr. Health Aging. 19, 619–627. doi: 10.1007/s12603-015-0491-2
- Fuxe, K., Canals, M., Torvinen, M., Marcellino, D., Terasmaa, A., Genedani, S., et al. (2007). Intramembrane receptor-receptor interactions: a novel principle in molecular medicine. *J. Neural Transm.* 114, 49–75. doi: 10.1007/s00702-006-0589-0
- Genereux, J. C., and Wiseman, R. L. (2015). Regulating extracellular proteostasis capacity through the unfolded protein response. *Prion* 9, 10–21. doi: 10.1080/19336896.2015.1011887
- George, J., and Rockwood, K. (2004). Dehydration and delirium-not a simple relationship. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 59, 811–812. doi: 10.1093/gerona/59.8.M811
- Gregersen, N., Bross, P., Vang, S., and Christensen, J. H. (2006). Protein misfolding and human disease. Annu. Rev. Genomics Hum. Genet. 7, 103–124. doi: 10.1146/annurev.genom.7.080505.115737
- Gunnarson, E., Song, Y., Kowalewski, J. M., Brismar, H., Brines, M., Cerami, A., et al. (2009). Erythropoietin modulation of astrocyte water permeability as a component of neuroprotection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 1602–1607. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0812708106
- Guo, W., Feng, G., Miao, Y., Liu, G., and Xu, C. (2014). Rapamycin alleviates brain edema after focal cerebral ischemia reperfusion in rats. *Immunopharmacol. Immunotoxicol.* 36, 211–223. doi: 10.3109/08923973.2014.913616

- Han, J. H., and Wilber, S. T. (2013). Altered mental status in older emergency department patients. *Clin. Geriatr. Med.* 29, 101–136. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2012.09.005
- He, L., Zhang, X., Wei, X., and Li, Y. (2014). Progesterone attenuates aquaporin-4 expression in an astrocyte model of ischemia/reperfusion. *Neurochem. Res.* 39, 2251–2261. doi: 10.1007/s11064-014-1427-7
- Hindmarch, C., Fry, M., Yao, S. T., Smith, P. M., Murphy, D., and Ferguson, A. V. (2008). Microarray analysis of the transcriptome of the subfornical organ in the rat: regulation by fluid and food deprivation. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 295, R1914–R1920. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.90560.2008
- Honda, E., Ono, K., Toyono, T., Kawano, H., Masuko, S., and Inenaga, K. (2003). Activation of muscarinic receptors in rat subfornical organ neurones. *J. Neuroendocrinol.* 15, 770–777. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2826.2003.01057.x
- Hooper, L., Bunn, D., Jimoh, F. O., and Fairweather-Tait, S. J. (2014). Water-loss dehydration and aging. *Mech. Ageing Dev.* 136–137, 50–58. doi: 10.1016/j.mad.2013.11.009
- Hu, H., Yao, H. T., Zhang, W. P., Zhang, L., Ding, W., Zhang, S. H., et al. (2005). Increased expression of aquaporin-4 in human traumatic brain injury and brain tumors. J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. B. 6, 33–37. doi: 10.1631/jzus.2005.B0033
- Inouye, S. K. (1998). Delirium in hospitalized older patients. *Clin. Geriatr. Med.* 14, 754–764.
- Ker, Y. C., and Chen, R. H. (1998). Shear-induced conformational changes and gelation of soy protein isolate suspensions. *Food Sci. Technol.* 31, 107–113. doi: 10.1006/fstl.1997.0306
- Kidd, B. A., Baker, D., and Thomas, W. E. (2009). Computation of conformational coupling in allosteric proteins. *PLoS Comput. Biol.* 5:e1000484. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pcbi.1000484
- Laird, M. D., Sukumari-Ramesh, S., Swift, A. E., Meiler, S. E., Vender, J. R., and Dhandapani, K. M. (2010). Curcumin attenuates cerebral edema following traumatic brain injury in mice: a possible role for aquaporin-4? *J. Neurochem.* 113, 637–648. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06630.x
- Lan, Y. L., Zhao, J., Ma, T., and Li, S. (2015). The potential roles of aquaporin 4 in alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* doi: 10.1007/s12035-015-9446-1. [Epub ahead of print].
- Lee, M. R., Ruby, C. L., Hinton, D. J., Choi, S., Adams, C. A., Young Kang, N., et al. (2013). Striatal adenosine signaling regulates EAAT2 and astrocytic AQP4 expression and alcohol drinking in mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 38, 437–445. doi: 10.1038/npp.2012.198
- Lemieux, R. M. (1996). How water provides the impetus for molecular recognition in aqueous solution. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 29, 373–380. doi: 10.1021/ar9600087
- Levy, Y., and Onuchic, J. N. (2006). Water mediation in protein folding and molecular recognition. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 35, 389–415. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biophys.35.040405.102134
- Lin, L., Huang, Q.-X., Yang, S.-S., Chu, J., Wang, J.-Z., and Tian, Q. (2013). Melatonin in Alzheimer's disease. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 14, 14575–14593. doi: 10.3390/ijms140714575
- Mancuso, J. J., Cheng, J., Yin, Z., Gilliam, J. C., Xia, X., Li, X., et al. (2014). Integration of multiscale dendritic spine structure and function data into systems biology models. *Front. Neuroanat.* 8:130. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2014.00130
- McCook, O., Georgieff, M., Scheuerle, A., Möller, P., Thiemermann, C., and Radermacher, P. (2012). Erythropoietin in the critically ill: do we ask the right questions? *Crit. Care* 16, 319. doi: 10.1186/cc11430
- Meng, S., Qiao, M., Lin, L., Del Bigio, M. R., Tomanek, B., and Tuor, U. I. (2004). Correspondence of AQP4 expression and hypoxic-ischaemic brain oedema monitored by magnetic resonance imaging in the immature and juvenile rat. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 19, 2261–2269. doi: 10.1111/j.0953-816X.2004.03315.x
- Moftakhar, P., Lynch, M. D., Pomakian, J. L., and Vinters, H. V. (2010). Aquaporin expression in the brains of patients with or without cerebral amyloid angiopathy. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 69, 1201–1209. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181fd252c
- Morelli, M., Carta, A. R., Kachroo, A., and Schwarzschild, M. A. (2010). Pathophysiological roles for purines: adenosine, caffeine and urate. *Prog. Brain Res.* 183, 183–208. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(10)83010-9
- Nagelhus, E. A., and Ottersen, O. P. (2013). Physiological roles of aquaporin-4 in brain. *Physiol. Rev.* 93, 1543–1562. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00011.2013
- Nakamura, K., Brown, R. A., Araujo, D., Narayanan, S., and Arnold, D. L. (2014). Correlation between brain volume change and T2 relaxation time induced by

dehydration and rehydration: implications for monitoring atrophy in clinical studies. *Neuroimage* 6, 166–170. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2014.08.014

- Ogawa, E., Sakakibara, R., Endo, K., Tateno, F., Matsuzawa, Y., Hosoe, N., et al. (2011). Incidence of dehydration encephalopathy among patients with disturbed consciousness at a hospital emergency unit. *Clin. Prac.* 1:e9. doi: 10.4081/cp.2011.e9
- Oka, Y., Ye, M., and Zuker, C. S. (2015). Thirst driving and suppressing signals encoded by distinct neural populations in the brain. *Nature* 520, 349–352. doi: 10.1038/nature14108
- Ono, K., Toyono, T., and Inenaga, K. (2008). Nicotinic receptor subtypes in rat subfornical organ neurons and glial cells. *Neuroscience* 154, 994–1001. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.04.028
- Phillips, R. S. (2002). How does active site water affect enzymatic stereo recognition? *J. Mol. Cat. B.* 19–20, 103–107. doi: 10.1016/S1381-1177(02)00156-X
- Picciotto, M. R., and Zoli, M. (2002). Nicotinic receptors in aging and dementia. J. Neurobiol. 53, 641–655. doi: 10.1002/neu.10102
- Pretorius, R. W., Gataric, G., Swedlund, S. K., and Miller, J. R. (2013). Reducing the risk of adverse drug events in older adults. *Am. Fam. Physician.* 87, 331–336.
- Qi, H., Qiu, X., Wang, C., Gaoa, Q., and Zhang, C. (2013). Digital electrogenerated chemiluminescence biosensor for the determination of multiple proteins based on Boolean logic gate. *Anal. Methods* 5, 612–615. doi: 10.1039/c2ay26054a
- Reyes-Haro, D., Labrada-Moncada, F. E., Miledi, R., and Martínez-Torres, A. (2015). Dehydration-induced anorexia reduces astrocyte density in the rat corpus callosum. *Neural Plast.* 2015:474917. doi: 10.1155/2015/474917
- Riebl, S. K., and Davy, B. M. (2013). The hydration equation: update on water balance and cognitive performance. ACSM's Health Fit. J. 17, 21–28. doi: 10.1249/FIT.0b013e3182a9570f
- Rodríguez-Arellano, J. J., Parpura, V., Zorec, R., and Verkhratsky, A. (2016). Astrocytes in physiological aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience* 323, 170–182. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.01.007
- Saji, E., Arakawa, M., Yanagawa, K., Toyoshima, Y., Yokoseki, A., Okamoto, K., et al. (2013). Cognitive impairment and cortical degeneration in neuromyelitis optica. *Ann. Neurol.* 73, 65–76. doi: 10.1002/ana.23721
- Salminen, A., Ojala, J., Kaarniranta, K., Haapasalo, A., Hiltunen, M., and Soininen, H. (2011). Astrocytes in the aging brain express characteristics of senescenceassociated secretory phenotype. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 34, 3–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2011.07738.x
- Schlanger, L. E., Bailey, J. L., and Sands, J. M. (2010). Electrolytes in the aging. *Adv. Chronic Kidney Dis.* 17, 308–319. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2010.03.008
- Sen, S., and Voorheis, H. P. (2014). Protein folding: understanding the role of water and the low Reynolds number environment as the peptide chain emerges from the ribosome and folds. J. Theor. Biol. 363, 169–187. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2014.07.025
- Sfera, A., and Osorio, C. (2014). Water for thought: is there a role for aquaporin channels in delirium? *Front. Psychiatry* 5:57. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00057
- Smythies, J. (2015). On the possible role of protein vibrations in information processing in the brain: three Russian dolls. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 8:38. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2015.00038
- St. Hillaire, C., Vargas, D., Pardo, C. A., Gincel, D., Mann, J., Rothstein, J. D., et al. (2005). Aquaporin 4 is increased in association with human immunodeficiency virus dementia: implications for disease pathogenesis. *J. Neurovirol.* 11, 535–543. doi: 10.1080/13550280500385203
- Stoppini, M., Obici, L., Lavatelli, F., Giorgetti, S., Marchese, L., Moratti, R., et al. (2009). Proteomics in protein misfolding diseases. *Clin. Chem. Lab. Med.* 47, 627–635. doi: 10.1515/CCLM.2009.164
- Streitbürger, D.-P., Möller, H. E., Tittgemeyer, M., Hund-Georgiadis, M., Schroeter, M. L., and Mueller, K. (2012). Investigating structural brain changes of dehydration using voxel-based morphometry. *PLoS ONE* 7:e44195. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0044195
- Subburaman, T. T., and Vanisree, A. J. (2011). Oxidative pathology and AQP4 mRNA expression in patients of Parkinson's disease in Tamil Nadu. *Ann. Neurosci.* 18, 109–112. doi: 10.5214/ans.0972.7531.1118306
- Tait, M. J. Saadoun, S., Bell, B. A, and Papadopoulos, M. C. (2008). Water movements in the brain: role of aquaporins. *Trends Neurosci.* 31, 37–43. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2007.11.003
- Tanaka, J. (2003). Activation of cholinergic pathways from the septum to the subfornical organ area under hypovolemic condition in

rats. Brain Res. Bull. 61, 497–504. doi: 10.1016/S0361-9230(03) 00186-2

- Tanaka, M., Tanaka, K., Komori, M., and Saida, T. (2007). Anti-aquaporin 4 antibody in Japanese multiple sclerosis: the presence of optic spinal multiple sclerosis without long spinal cord lesions and anti-aquaporin 4 antibody. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 78, 990–992. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2006. 114165
- Thrane, A. S., Thrane, V. R., and Nedergaard, M. (2014). Drowning stars: reassessing the role of astrocytes in brain edema. *Trends Neurosci.* 37, 620–628. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2014.08.010
- Tokuriki, N., Kinjo, M., Negi, S., Hoshino, M., Goto, Y., Urabe, I., et al. (2004). Protein folding by the effects of macromolecular crowding. *Protein Sci.* 13, 125–133. doi: 10.1110/ps.03288104
- Trinh-Trang-Tan, M. M., Geelen, G., Teillet, L., and Corman, B. (2003). Urea transporter expression in aging kidney and brain during dehydration. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 285, R1355–R1365. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00207.2003
- Utsugisawa, K., Nagane, Y., Tohgi, H., Yoshimura, M., Ohba, H., and Genda, Y. (1999). Changes with aging and ischemia in nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit alpha7 mRNA expression in postmortem human frontal cortex and putamen. *Neurosci. Lett.* 270, 145–148. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3940(99)00473-5
- Vajda, T., and Perczel, A. (2014). Role of water in protein folding, oligomerization, amyloidosis and miniprotein. J. Pept. Sci. 20, 747–759. doi: 10.1002/psc.2671
- Wang, B. F., Cui, Z. W., Zhong, Z. H., Sun, Y. H., Sun, Q. F., Yang, G. Y., et al. (2015). Curcumin attenuates brain edema in mice with intracerebral hemorrhage through inhibition of AQP4 and AQP9 expression. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 36, 939–948. doi: 10.1038/aps.2015.47
- Warren, J. L., Bacon, W. E., Harris, T., McBean, A. M., Foley, D. J., and Phillips, C. (1994). The burden and outcomes associated with dehydration among US elderly, 1991. Am. J. Public Health. 84, 1265–1269. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.84. 8.1265
- Xiao, H., Barber, J., and Campbell, E. S. (2004). Economic burden of dehydration among hospitalized elderly patients. *Am. J. Health Syst. Pharm.* 61, 2534–2540.

- Xie, L., Kang, H., Xu, Q., Chen, M. J., Liao, Y., Thiyagarajan, M., et al. (2013). Sleep drives metabolite clearance from the adult brain. *Science* 342, 373–377. doi: 10.1126/science.1241224
- Yang, M., Gao, F., Liu, H., Yu, W. H., Zhuo, F., Qiu, G. P., et al. (2013). Hyperosmotic induction of aquaporin expression in rat astrocytes through a different MAPK pathway. J. Cell Biochem. 114, 111–119. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24308
- Yerbury, J. J., Stewart, E. M., Wyatt, A. R., and Wilson, M. R. (2005). Quality control of protein folding in extracellular space. *EMBO Rep.* 6, 1131–1136. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.7400586
- Zador, Z., Stiver, S., Wang, V., and Manley, G. T. (2009). Role of aquaporin-4 in cerebral edema and stroke. *Handb. Exp. Pharmacol.* 159–170. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-79885-9\_7
- Zhang, J., Yang, B., Sun, H., Zhou, Y., Liu, M., Ding, J., et al. (2016). Aquaporin-4 deficiency diminishes the differential degeneration of midbrain dopaminergic neurons in experimental Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 614, 7–15. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.12.057
- Zhang, N., Li, Y. J., Fu, Y., Shao, J. H., Luo, L. L., Yang, L., et al. (2015). Cognitive impairment in Chinese neuromyelitis optica. *Mult. Scler.* 21, 1839–1846. doi: 10.1177/1352458515576982
- Zhao, L., Li, W., and Tian, P. (2013). Reconciling mediating and slaving roles of water in protein conformational dynamics. *PLoS ONE* 8:e60553. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060553

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Sfera, Cummings and Osorio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Corpora Amylacea of Brain Tissue from Neurodegenerative Diseases Are Stained with Specific Antifungal Antibodies**

#### Diana Pisa<sup>1</sup>, Ruth Alonso<sup>1</sup>, Alberto Rábano<sup>2</sup> and Luis Carrasco<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Centro de Biología Molecular "Severo Ochoa," Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Madrid, Spain, <sup>2</sup> Department of Neuropathology and Tissue Bank, Unidad de Investigación Proyecto Alzheimer, Fundación Centro de Investigación de Enfermedades Neurologicas, Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Madrid, Spain

The origin and potential function of corpora amylacea (CA) remains largely unknown. Low numbers of CA are detected in the aging brain of normal individuals but they are abundant in the central nervous system of patients with neurodegenerative diseases. In the present study, we show that CA from patients diagnosed with Alzheimer's disease (AD) contain fungal proteins as detected by immunohistochemistry analyses. Accordingly, CA were labeled with different anti-fungal antibodies at the external surface, whereas the central portion composed of calcium salts contain less proteins. Detection of fungal proteins was achieved using a number of antibodies raised against different fungal species, which indicated cross-reactivity between the fungal proteins present in CA and the antibodies employed. Importantly, these antibodies do not immunoreact with cellular proteins. Additionally, CNS samples from patients diagnosed with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and Parkinson's disease (PD) also contained CA that were immunoreactive with a range of antifungal antibodies. However, CA were less abundant in ALS or PD patients as compared to CNS samples from AD. By contrast, CA from brain tissue of control subjects were almost devoid of fungal immunoreactivity. These observations are consistent with the concept that CA associate with fungal infections and may contribute to the elucidation of the origin of CA.

Keywords: corpora amylacea, neurodegenerative disease, fungal infection, Alzheimer's disease, amyotrophic

## INTRODUCTION

lateral sclerosis

Corpora amylacea (CA) are glycoproteinaceous inclusions that accumulate in the brain during the course of normal aging and to a greater extent in some neurodegenerative diseases, particularly Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Mrak et al., 1997; Keller, 2006; Song et al., 2014). Abundant CA are found in a subset of patients with temporal epilepsy, where extensive deposits of CA replace the pyramidal layers of the cornu ammonis (Nishio et al., 2001; Kovacs and Risser, 2014). In addition to the central nervous system (CNS), CA are found in other organs and tissues, such as normal prostate glands, prostate cancer and several other malignant tissues (Christian et al., 2005; Morales et al., 2005; Hechtman et al., 2013a,b; Badea et al., 2015). CA are amorphous rounded, laminated bodies approximately 10-50  $\mu$ m in diameter.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Megha Agrawal, University of Arkansas at Little Rock, USA

#### Reviewed by:

Isidro Ferrer, University of Barcelona, Spain Ian Paul Johnson, University of Adelaide, Australia

\*Correspondence:

Luis Carrasco lcarrasco@cbm.csic.es

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurodegeneration, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 18 December 2015 Accepted: 22 February 2016 Published: 08 March 2016

#### Citation:

Pisa D, Alonso R, Rábano A and Carrasco L (2016) Corpora Amylacea of Brain Tissue from Neurodegenerative Diseases Are Stained with Specific Antifungal Antibodies. Front. Neurosci. 10:86. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00086

The composition of CA has been analyzed in some detail. They mostly contain polyglucans (over 85% are hexoses) with a minor component (4%) of proteins (Robitaille et al., 1980; Nishimura et al., 2000; Sfanos et al., 2009). The rounded core is formed by different calcium salts, principally calcium phosphate and calcium oxalate depending on the bodies analyzed (Magura and Spector, 1979; Nakamura et al., 1995; Kodaka et al., 2008). A wide range of proteins are found in CA and a number of them have been characterized using specific antibodies (Singhrao et al., 1994). For example, ubiquitin, heatshock proteins, Bcl-2, and c-Jun (Martin et al., 1991; Cisse et al., 1993; Botez and Rami, 2001) in addition to tau and several blood proteins such as thrombospondin-1 and some complement components may be detected in CA (Singhrao et al., 1993, 1995; Meng et al., 2009; Day et al., 2015). A detailed characterization of prostate CA by proteomic analyses has confirmed that lactoferrin is the most abundant protein, together with myeloperoxidase, S100 calcium-binding proteins A8 and A9, which form human calprotectin, and  $\alpha$ -defensins, which form part of neutrophil granules (Sfanos et al., 2009). A number of \$100 proteins including calprotectin, an inflammatory protein, are also present in CA from normal human brains (Hoyaux et al., 2000). Indeed, immunohistochemistry analysis suggests that the source of calprotectin in CA is prostateinfiltrating neutrophils, leading to the concept that chronic inflammation results in prostate cancer (De Marzo et al., 2007; Sfanos et al., 2009, 2014). By contrast, the suggestion that CA are built up of breakdrown products from neurons and oligodendroglial cells has also been proposed (Singhrao et al., 1994). Along this line, proteomic analyses of brain CA from multiple sclerosis patients detected the presence of cytoskeleton proteins and glycolysis enzymes (Selmaj et al., 2008). A number of microorganisms are suggested as the potential source of the chronic inflammation that triggers the formation of CA. Among these, several bacteria such as Chlamydia trachomatis, Escherichia coli, and Pseudomonas spp., protozoa such as Trichomonas vaginalis and viruses known to contribute to different types of cancer, including human papillomavirus, have been considered (Sfanos et al., 2009, 2014). Furthermore, a correlation between fungal infection and prostatic cancer has been reported (Sutcliffe et al., 2014). Prostatic CA are thought to give rise to prostatic calculi, and electron microscopy examination suggests the presence of microbial infection (Dessombz et al., 2012). Therefore, the traditional notion that CA result from precipitated proteins of glandular secretions is being replaced by the concept that they represent a response to a microbial infection.

We have recently reported the presence of fungal proteins in CNS from AD patients (Alonso et al., 2014a; Pisa et al., 2015a,b), and also in patients diagnosed with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Alonso et al., 2015). Fungal infections elicit a neutrophil response, leading to the production of defensins and other molecules that participate in the innate immune response (Cunha et al., 2014; Lionakis, 2014). Neutrophils play a pivotal role against fungal infections (Lionakis, 2014). Undoubtedly, lactoferrin is considered a marker of inflammation and infiltration. Transferrin and lactoferrin are iron-binding proteins which function to maintain low levels of ferric ions in blood, mucus and tissues (Johnson and Wessling-Resnick, 2012). In this manner, some microbial infections are controlled since an increase in free iron leads to microbial growth (Samaranayake et al., 1997; Bullen et al., 2006; Mehra et al., 2012). Additionally, both myeloperoxidase and calprotectin are involved in the control of fungal infections (Murthy et al., 1993; Metzler et al., 2011). Finally, defensins are a family of small cationic peptides that can perturb the plasma membrane of C. albicans, leading to increased membrane permeability (Schroeder et al., 2011). As indicated above, polyglucans are the most abundant macromolecule in CA and interestingly these polysaccharides are also quite abundant in the fungal cell wall (Free, 2013). In the current study, we assessed the presence of fungal proteins in CA from different CNS regions obtained from control individuals and patients with several neurodegenerative diseases. Our findings provide strong evidence that fungal proteins are localized in the periphery of CA from patients diagnosed with neurodegenerative diseases.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Description of Control Subjects and Patients

We analyzed samples from patients diagnosed with AD, ALS, and Parkinson's disease (PD) in addition to control individuals without neurological disease. The age and gender of the subjects investigated in this study are listed in Supplementary Table 1. All samples were supplied by a brain bank (Banco de Tejidos CIEN) and were analyzed anonymously. The Ethics Committee of the Universidad Autónoma de Madrid approved the study. The transfer of samples was carried out according to national regulations concerning research on human biological samples. In all cases, written informed consent was obtained. For patients with dementia, informed consent for brain donation was given on a postmortem basis by a next-of-kin following the procedure established by the external ethical committee of the brain bank. Accordingly, a next-of-kin of the patient gave credit through an informed consent document to the fact that the patient had never opposed to be a brain donor during his/her life. An ethics committee external to the bank approved all ethico-legal documents, including written informed consent.

Brain samples were processed according to a common postmortem protocol followed by Banco de Tejidos CIEN. Briefly, rapid neuropathological autopsy was performed upon call by the donor's proxies (mean postmortem interval, 4.5 h). Immediately after extraction, the right half of the brain was sliced and frozen, while the left half was fixed by immersion in phosphate-buffered 4% formaldehyde for at least 3 weeks. A full neuropathological study was performed in the left half brain after fixation. Neuropathological diagnosis and staging of all disease entities was performed according to consensus criteria. Various neuropathological variables related to AD, vascular, Lewy and TDP (TAR DNA-binding protein) pathologies in addition to the presence of hippocampal sclerosis were recorded for full classification of cases.

## **Antifungal Antibodies**

Candida famata, C. albicans, C. glabrata, and Syncephalastrun racemosum were grown in YEP (yeast extract peptone) medium (1% yeast extract, 2% Bacto peptone) as described (Pisa et al., 2008). Fungal cells were centrifuged and washed in phosphatebuffered saline (PBS). Phoma betae was purchased from Allergon AB (Engelholm, Sweden). Fungal cells were autoclaved and lyophilized. Rabbit antisera against C. famata, C. albicans, C. glabrata, P. betae, and S. racemosum were obtained by inoculation of 1 or 2 mg of dried fungi in 0.5 ml PBS, previously mixed with an equal volume of Freund's adjuvant. Rabbits were inoculated up to three times every 3 weeks and the antibody titer and specificity of the sera were tested by immunohistochemistry and immunoblotting using fungal proteins. The protocols employed were approved by the ethics committee of Centro de Biologia Molecular "Severo Ochoa" (identification number: ES280790000180). The optimal dilution for immunofluorescence staining for each antibody was assayed using both isolated Candida spp.

The specificity of the antifungal antibodies obtained was tested by immunofluorescence against different *Candida* spp. The cross-reactivity of each antibody against the different fungal species can differ, for instance anti-*C. glabrata* antibody immunoreacted with *C. glabrata*, *C. albicans*, *C. tropicalis*, *C. parapsilosis*, and *C. Krusei*, whereas anti-*C. albicans* does not recognize *C. Parapsilosis* and *C. Krusei*. By contrast, anti-*S. racemosum* only immunoreacts with *C. Krusei*. Besides, none of the antifungal antibodies obtained immunoreacted with cultured human cells or human brain sections from healthy subjects (Pacheco et al., 2007; Pisa et al., 2015a,b).

#### Immunohistochemistry Analysis

CNS tissue was embedded in paraffin following standard techniques and cut into  $5-\mu$  m sections using a microtome (Microm HM355s, Walldorf, Germany). For immunohistochemical analysis, paraffin was removed and sections were rehydrated and boiled for 2 min in 10 mM citrate buffer and then incubated for 10 min with 50 mM ammonium chloride. Subsequently, tissue sections were incubated for 10 min with PBS/Triton X-100 (0.1%) followed by 20 min with 2% bovine serum albumin in PBS. Sections were incubated overnight at 4°C with a mouse monoclonal antibody raised against human α-tubulin (Sigma), human phospho-PHF-tau, clone AT100 (Thermo Scientific), or human neurofilament protein, clone 2F11 (Dako), all at 1:50 dilution, or a rabbit polyclonal antibody raised against proteins obtained from C. glabrata at 1:500 or C. famata, C. albicans, P. betae, and S. racemosum at 1:100 dilution. Thereafter, sections were washed with PBS and further incubated for 1 h at 37°C with donkey anti-mouse IgG secondary antibody conjugated to Alexa 555 (Invitrogen) at 1:500 for  $\alpha$ -tubulin, tau and neurofilament, and donkey anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody conjugated to Alexa 488 (Invitrogen) at 1:500 dilution for antifungal antibodies. To visualize nuclei, sections were then stained with DAPI (4,6diamino-2-fenilindol) (Merck) and treated with autofluorescence eliminator reagent (Merck). The use of this reagent is important to avoid autofluorescence, since there is lipofuschin in the aging brain. All images were collected and analyzed with a LSM710 confocal laser scanning microscope combined with the upright microscope stand AxioImager.M2 (Zeiss), running Zeiss ZEN 2010 software. The spectral system employed was Quasar + 2 PMTs. Images were deconvoluted using Huygens software (4.2.2 p0) and visualized with Fiji/ImageJ (NIH, Bethesda, MD) software.

## RESULTS

# Fungal Proteins Are Present in CA from AD Patients

A variety of cellular proteins constitute part of CA (Sfanos et al., 2009). To assess the presence of fungal proteins in CA, we carried out immunohistochemistry analysis using a specific rabbit polyclonal antibody raised against C. glabrata, which does not cross-react with human proteins (Pisa et al., 2015a,b). Initially, we tested this antibody on tissue sections from different CNS regions, including lateral frontal cortex (LFC), cerebellar córtex (CEC) and entorhinal cortex/hippocampus (ERH) from one AD patient. Double immunofluorescence staining was performed using a second antibody that detects tau protein. CA were more abundant in ERH regions than in LFC or CEC (Figure 1). CA from all three CNS regions (LFC, CEC, and ERH) stained positive with the anti-fungal antibody (Figure 1). The external laminar structures and the envelope surrounding the central core of CA were clearly immunoreactive for the C. glabrata antibody (green), revealing the presence of fungal proteins in this region (Figure 1). In some instances, the entire envelope was positive, while in other sections only a part of the external envelope was immunoreactive. By contrast, the anti-tau antibody (red) stained only some of the CA, particularly from CEC sections (Figure 1). This result is consistent with previous findings describing tau protein in CA (Singhrao et al., 1993; Day et al., 2015). Of note, not all CA contained tau protein inasmuch as it was undetectable in some CA sections analyzed by confocal microscopy. Thus, although tau can be detected in some CA, it is not an abundant protein.

To further assess the presence of fungal proteins in CA, tissue sections were immunolabeled with additional antibodies raised against C. famata, C. albicans. S. racemosum, and P. betae (green) together with a monoclonal antibody against neurofilaments (red). As shown in Figure 2, CA inclusions from the different CNS regions from AD patient 1 immunoreacted with all four antifungal antibodies, further supporting the existence of fungal proteins in CA. None of the antifungal antibodies recognize cellular proteins from neural cells in CNS sections (Pisa et al., 2015a,b). The localization of the immunopositive structures using the additional antibodies was similar to that observed with the C. glabrata antibody, strengthening the notion that fungal proteins are present in CA from different CNS regions. By contrast, neurofilament staining was more irregular, with strong immunoreactivity in some CA, and weaker or no staining in other CA inclusions. This was evident in CEC sections doublelabeled with the anti-C. albicans antibody and in LFC and CEC sections labeled with the anti-S. racemosum antibody; in



both cases, the neurofilament signal was more intense than the fungal signal, as manifested by the punctate yellow staining in merged images in some of the sections. The fact that neurofilaments are detected in some CA but not in others underscores the concept that the protein composition of CNS CA is nonhomogeneous. This lack of homogeneity can be revealed only by immunohistochemistry and not by proteomic analyses of purified CA.

We also analyzed ERH sections from other AD patients (AD2-AD11; Supplementary Table 1). Immunohistochemmistry was performed using anti-C. albicans and anti-P. betae antibodies (green) and anti-human  $\alpha$ -tubulin antibodies were used to mark microtuble structures (red). Of note, the anti-tubulin antibody immunoreacts not only with human cells but also with several eukaryotic species, including fungal cells. Consequently, in the instances where both green and red signals co-localized, it may be because of the presence of fungal tubulin. Fungal proteins were detected in ERH CA inclusions from all 10 additional AD patients (Figure 3). As the antifungal antibodies are polyclonal, they can cross-react with a number of fungal proteins. The positive immunoreactivity with one of these antibodies does not demonstrate that the fungal species present is the same as that employed to raise the antibody. However, since each antibody immunoreacts with different fungal antigens, differences in the

immunostaining provides a clue to indicate that the fungal species differ. Accordingly, this technique cannot establish the precise fungal species present in each sample and DNA sequencing would be required (Alonso et al., 2014a,b; Pisa et al., 2015b). The majority of the CA inclusions from different patients immunoreacted with both anti-C. albicans and anti-P. betae antibodies, although staining for P. betae was more robust in patients AD3, AD8, AD10, and AD11 than in the other patients (Figure 3). This finding suggests that the fungal species present in each patient differ. Additionally these results support the use of a panel of anti-fungal antibodies to comprehensively determine the presence or absence of fungal proteins in CA. An important conclusion from this analysis is that the location of fungal proteins in CA inclusions rules out the possibility that fungal infection was due to postmortem contamination since the formation of CA occurs over long time periods (months or even years).

#### Analysis of CA from ALS and PD Patients

Our recent finding of fungal infection in CNS from ALS patients (Alonso et al., 2015), prompted us to test for fungi in CA inclusions in ALS samples. We examined tissue sections from motor cortex (MC), medulla (MD) and different levels of the spinal cord (SC1, SC2, and SC3) of an ALS patient (ALS1)



figure. Immunohistochemistry analysis was carried out using a monoclonal antibody to human neurofilaments (red) and rabbit polyclonal antibodies raised against the following fungi: *C. famata, C. albicans. S. racemosum,* and *P. betae* (green). Sections were mounted and examined by confocal microscopy after incubation with the corresponding secondary antibodies. Orange/yellow corresponds to red and green pixels. DAPI (blue) and scale bar: 10 µm.

using anti-*C. albicans* and anti-*P. betae* antibodies. Double immunolabeling of the CNS from patient ALS1 with  $\alpha$ -tubulin (red) revealed fungal proteins (green) at the periphery of CA inclusions in different regions (**Figure 4**). Of note, CA inclusions were also detected in different regions of the CNS of this patient, including the spinal cord. The numbers of CA inclusions observed in these samples were, however, lower than those found in AD patients. We also tested tissue sections from different CNS regions of five additional ALS patients (ALS2-ALS6) using the same antibodies. CA inclusions were detected in all ALS patients examined and all were positive for fungal protein. For clarity, only one field with each antibody and only one CNS region for each ALS patient is shown (**Figure 4**). In general, fungal proteins (green) were detected at the periphery of CA inclusions, but in some instances fungal proteins were observed throughout CA bodies, including the central portion. Additionally, anti- $\alpha$ -tubulin (red), reactivity was in the main detected in association with material present in CA, but in a few instances  $\alpha$ -tubulin was detected in the surrounding areas. The observations in ALS tissue indicate that there is a similarity between ALS CA and AD CA



(Figures 1, 2), and also further support the concept of CA protein heterogeneity.

We also tested for fungal proteins in CA from brain samples of one PD patient. As before, several CNS regions were analyzed using antifungal antibodies (green) and anti- $\alpha$ -tubulin antibodies (red) (**Figure 5**). The CNS regions examined in this PD patient included pons (PN), mesencephalon (MSP), hypothalamus (HT), callosal body (CB), and caudate and lenticular nuclei (CLN). CA were also detected in this PD patient and were found in all CNS regions analyzed. Furthermore, immunoreactive fungal proteins were prominent in CA bodies and the distribution of the immunolabels was similar to those observed in ALS and AD patients. Similarly to ALS patients, the number of CA inclusions in the different regions examined in the PD patient was much less than in AD patients. Analysis of CNS samples from five additional PD patients using anti-*C. albicans* and anti-*P. betae* antibodies is shown in **Figure 5**. Once again, CA inclusions were detected in all PD patients analyzed and immunoreactivity to fungal proteins in these CA was revealed with the two antifungal antibodies employed. The location of fungal proteins (green) and the distribution of human  $\alpha$ -tubulin were again similar to the pattern observed with CA from ALS patients.

## Study of CA from Control Individuals

It is thought that the formation of CA inclusions are related to the aging process, even in healthy subjects (Song et al., 2014). We examined ERH sections from the CNS of five control subjects using the two antifungal antibodies indicated above. In general, CA inclusions were clearly much less abundant than those observed in CNS tissue from patients diagnosed with neurodegenerative diseases. Nevertheless, the CA inclusions in control subjects exhibited a modest immunoreactivity against the two antifungal antibodies employed. For example, CA from control subjects C2 and C3 immunoreacted with the



cortex (MC), medulla (MD) and different levels of the spinal cord (SC1, SC2, and SC3) (upper panels). Different regions of the CNS from five additional ALS patients (ALS2–ALS6) were also analyzed (lower panels). Sections were incubated with rabbit polyclonal antibodies against *C. albicans* and *P. betae* (green) and a monoclona antibody against α-tubulin (red). Sections were mounted and examined by confocal microscopy after incubation with the corresponding secondary antibodies. DAPI and scale bar as in **Figure 1**.

anti-C. albicans antibody, while C4 and, to a lesser extent, C3 immunoreacted with the anti-P. betae antibody (Figure 6). Similar to CA from neurodegenerative patients, the external perimeter of CA exhibited punctate immunoreactivity when detected; however, the labeling intensity was lower than that observed in AD patients. These findings indicate that in general the amount of fungal proteins in CA from control individuals is much lower than from equivalent neurodegenerative disease patients and in some cases no immunoreactivity is detected. The absence of fungal proteins in some CA might be determined by the particular section examined. Nevertheless, the amount of fungal proteins in control CA inclusions is very low. Alternatively, it is theoretically possible that the fungal proteins, if present, cannot be detected with the antibodies employed in this study. An estimation of the number and positiveness of CA in different patients and control subjects is shown in Figure 7. Certainly, the vast majority of CA from the different patients analyzed is stained with antifungal antibodies, whereas only a very minor portion of CA can be considered as positive in control subjects. On the other hand, in general this quantitation reveals higher numbers of CA in AD patients, particularly from ERC areas where CA are more abundant both in patients and controls. However, one limitation of this quantitation is that these numbers can vary depending on the specific tissue section analyzed. As previously noted by other researchers, the amount of CA is higher close to blood vessels (Nishio et al., 2001).

Collectively, these findings reveal the presence of CA inclusions in several regions of the CNS from patients with neurodegenerative diseases. CA are more abundant in the ERH of AD patients than in other regions but there are higher quantities of CA from ALS and PD samples than in controls. Importantly, fungal proteins are detected in CA from all patients with neurodegenerative diseases tested by means of specific antibodies.



## DISCUSSION

Although great progress has been made in our understanding of the protein composition of CA inclusions (Sfanos et al., 2014), a number of components remain unidentified. Furthermore, the precise origin and potential function of CA inclusions is obscure and subject to speculation (Mrak et al., 1997; Keller, 2006; Song et al., 2014). The proposal that CA originate through neurodegeneration is based on findings showing that several proteins from neural cells can be detected in CA (Singhrao et al., 1993; Selmaj et al., 2008). Along this line, CA are thought to be formed by cellular debris and/or breakdown products from brain cells since cleaved tau protein is found in CA (Day et al., 2015). Another suggestion is that CA arise from a conglomeration of proteins that interact after neuron degeneration and from extravasated blood proteins after breakdown of the hematoencephalic barrier (Meng et al., 2009). Following this idea, CA could be envisaged as aggregated proteins and polyglucans, which together with calcium salts accumulate extracellularly. Thus, some proteins may form insoluble aggregates that are integrated as the amyloid component of CA (Kimura et al., 1998; Vogl et al., 2012). The fact that glial CA inclusions contain heat-shock proteins, heme oxygenase-1 and ubiquitin suggests the existence of oxidative stress, perhaps mediated by advanced glycosylation of cellular proteins (Cisse et al., 1993; Lowe et al., 1993; Iwaki et al., 1996). The possibility that CA are formed from mitocondria inside cells and progressively increase in size leading to cell disruption has also been suggested (Schipper, 2004). Indeed, the expression of heme oxygenase-1 in cultured rat glial cells induces mitochondrial dysfunction and the formation of corpuscles reminiscent of CA (Sahlas et al., 2002; Schipper et al., 2006; Song et al., 2014).

Alternative proposals for the origin of CA center on the idea that microbial infection with concurrent inflammation is







antibodies. Wide fields were analyzed using 40x magnification. The sections examined were ERC from AD patients and control subjects, MD from ALS patients, PD3 and PD5 and MC from PD4. Red bar: total number of CA in the three fields; blue bar: positive CA with antifungal antibody.

an intrinsic component of CA formation (Heinonen et al., 1992; Sfanos et al., 2014). In this vein, the present study demonstrates the existence of fungal proteins in CA from the CNS, but predominantly in patients diagnosed with neurodegenerative diseases since the yield in control individuals is very low. These observations suggest that fungal infection is not necessarily involved in the formation of CA, however, microbial infections and particularly mycoses may enhance and/or trigger the build-up of CA inclusions. Alternatively, if fungal proteins do not participate in CA formation *per se*, it is possible that in tissues infected with fungi, some fungal proteins are conglomerated together with cellular proteins in these inclusions. As CA formation occurs progressively, and the location of these proteins is specific to the CA envelope, the possibility that fungal infection is caused by postmortem contamination is unlikely.

The possibility that CA play a role in the pathology of AD and other diseases has been raised in the literature (Mrak et al., 1997; Keller, 2006; Schipper et al., 2006; Sfanos et al., 2014). If correct, it is conceivable that fungal proteins are also implicated in the severity of symptoms in some of these diseases, mediated by the formation of larger amounts of CA. The possibility that

CA, at least in some cases, are formed by mycoses is supported by several lines of evidence. First, CA contain several salts, including calcium phosphate and calcium oxalate, and these salts have also been detected as deposits in fungal infections (Tanaka et al., 1993; Nakagawa et al., 1999; Modem et al., 2006; Rassaei et al., 2009). Second, proteins from neutrophil granules appear in CA and it is well established that fungal infections elicit a neutrophil response (Murthy et al., 1993; Metzler et al., 2011; Cunha et al., 2014). Third, polyglucans form a major component of CA inclusions and this macromolecule is also an integral constituent of the fungal cell wall and is secreted to the external medium (Chaffin et al., 1998; Free, 2013). The finding of keratan sulfate and high mannose glycoconjugates in CA inclusions was initially interpreted as the result of an accumulation of glycoconjugates normally present in the brain tissue matrix through aging (Liu et al., 1987). Nonetheless, it must also be considered that high mannose glycoconjugates are also produced by fungal cells (Chaffin et al., 1998). Therefore, the composition of CA does not discard the possibility that they are related to fungal infection; rather, it is quite feasible that they can originate from mycoses. The findings reported in the present study lend strong support to this possibility. Interestingly, calprotectin exhibits potent anti-Candida activity (Sohnle et al., 1996; Okutomi et al., 1998; De Marzo et al., 2007), and this is also the case for defensin (Schroeder et al., 2011), an additional component of CA. Given that amyloid  $\beta$  peptide, which is very abundant in senile plaques, has strong potency

#### REFERENCES

- Alonso, R., Pisa, D., Marina, A. I., Morato, E., Rabano, A., and Carrasco, L. (2014a). Fungal infection in patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 41, 301–311. doi: 10.3233/JAD-132681
- Alonso, R., Pisa, D., Marina, A. I., Morato, E., Rabano, A., Rodal, I., et al. (2015). Evidence for fungal infection in cerebrospinal fluid and brain tissue from patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 11, 546–558. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.11084
- Alonso, R., Pisa, D., Rabano, A., and Carrasco, L. (2014b). Alzheimer's disease and disseminated mycoses. Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 33, 1125–1132. doi: 10.1007/s10096-013-2045-z
- Badea, P., Petrescu, A., Moldovan, L., and Zarnescu, O. (2015). Structural heterogenity of intraluminal content of the prostate: a histochemical and ultrastructural study. *Microsc. Microanal.* 21, 368–376. doi: 10.1017/S1431927615000197
- Botez, G., and Rami, A. (2001). Immunoreactivity for Bcl-2 and C-Jun/AP1 in hippocampal corpora amylacea after ischaemia in humans. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 27, 474–480. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2990.2001.00362.x
- Bullen, J. J., Rogers, H. J., Spalding, P. B., and Ward, C. G. (2006). Natural resistance, iron and infection: a challenge for clinical medicine. J. Med. Microbiol. 55, 251–258. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.46386-0
- Chaffin, W. L., Lopez-Ribot, J. L., Casanova, M., Gozalbo, D., and Martinez, J. P. (1998). Cell wall and secreted proteins of Candida albicans: identification, function, and expression. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 62, 130–180.
- Christian, J. D., Lamm, T. C., Morrow, J. F., and Bostwick, D. G. (2005). Corpora amylacea in adenocarcinoma of the prostate: incidence and histology within needle core biopsies. *Mod. Pathol.* 18, 36–39. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.3 800250
- Cisse, S., Perry, G., Lacoste-Royal, G., Cabana, T., and Gauvreau, D. (1993). Immunochemical identification of ubiquitin and heat-shock proteins in corpora amylacea from normal aged and Alzheimer's disease brains. Acta Neuropathol. 85, 233–240. doi: 10.1007/BF00227716

against *C. albicans* (Soscia et al., 2010), it is conceivable that an antifungal response occurs in brains from patients diagnosed with some neurodegenerative diseases. Future work aimed at purifying and characterizing the range of polysaccharides present in CA may help to determine whether CA arise as a result of fungal infection.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

DP and RA carried out the experiments. AR managed the human brains and provided the tissue sections. LC designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript. All authors discussed the results obtained and participated in the correction of the manuscript.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The financial support of Fundación ONCE (Organización Nacional de Ciegos Españoles) is acknowledged. We acknowledge an institutional grant to Centro de Biología Molecular "Severo Ochoa" from the Fundación Ramón Areces.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnins. 2016.00086

- Cunha, C., Kurzai, O., Loffler, J., Aversa, F., Romani, L., and Carvalho, A. (2014). Neutrophil responses to aspergillosis: new roles for old players. *Mycopathologia* 178, 387–393. doi: 10.1007/s11046-014-9796-7
- Day, R. J., Mason, M. J., Thomas, C., Poon, W. W., and Rohn, T. T. (2015). Caspasecleaved tau co-localizes with early tangle markers in the human vascular dementia brain. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0132637. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132637
- De Marzo, A. M., Platz, E. A., Sutcliffe, S., Xu, J., Gronberg, H., Drake, C. G., et al. (2007). Inflammation in prostate carcinogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 7, 256–269. doi: 10.1038/nrc2090
- Dessombz, A., Meria, P., Bazin, D., and Daudon, M. (2012). Prostatic stones: evidence of a specific chemistry related to infection and presence of bacterial imprints. *PLoS ONE* 7:e51691. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051691
- Free, S. J. (2013). Fungal cell wall organization and biosynthesis. *Adv. Genet.* 81, 33–82. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-407677-8.00002-6
- Hechtman, J. F., Gordon, R. E., and Harpaz, N. (2013a). Intramuscular corpora amylacea adjacent to ileal low-grade neuroendocrine tumours (typical carcinoids): a light microscopic, immunohistochemical and ultrastructural study. J. Clin. Pathol. 66, 569–572. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2012-201415
- Hechtman, J. F., Gordon, R. E., McBride, R. B., and Harpaz, N. (2013b). Corpora amylacea in gastrointestinal leiomyomas: a clinical, light microscopic, ultrastructural and immunohistochemical study with comparison to hyaline globules. *J. Clin. Pathol.* 66, 951–955. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2013-201701
- Heinonen, O., Syrjanen, S., Mantyjarvi, R., Syrjanen, K., and Riekkinen, P. (1992). JC virus infection and Alzheimer's disease: reappraisal of an *in situ* hybridization approach. *Ann. Neurol.* 31, 439–441. doi: 10.1002/ana.410310415
- Hoyaux, D., Decaestecker, C., Heizmann, C. W., Vogl, T., Schafer, B. W., Salmon, I., et al. (2000). S100 proteins in Corpora amylacea from normal human brain. *Brain Res.* 867, 280–288. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(00)02393-3
- Iwaki, T., Hamada, Y., and Tateishi, J. (1996). Advanced glycosylation endproducts and heat shock proteins accumulate in the basophilic degeneration of the myocardium and the corpora amylacea of the glia. *Pathol. Int.* 46, 757–763. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1827.1996.tb03545.x

- Johnson, E. E., and Wessling-Resnick, M. (2012). Iron metabolism and the innate immune response to infection. *Microbes Infect.* 14, 207–216. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2011.10.001
- Keller, J. N. (2006). Age-related neuropathology, cognitive decline, and Alzheimer's disease. Ageing Res. Rev. 5, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2005.06.002
- Kimura, T., Takamatsu, J., Miyata, T., Miyakawa, T., and Horiuchi, S. (1998). Localization of identified advanced glycation end-product structures, N epsilon(carboxymethyl)lysine and pentosidine, in agerelated inclusions in human brains. *Pathol. Int.* 48, 575–579. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1827.1998.tb03953.x
- Kodaka, T., Hirayama, A., Sano, T., Debari, K., Mayahara, M., and Nakamura, M. (2008). Fine structure and mineral components of primary calculi in some human prostates. J. Electron Microsc. (Tokyo). 57, 133–141. doi: 10.1093/jmicro/dfn013
- Kovacs, G. G., and Risser, D. (2014). Clinical Neuropathology image 6-2014: corpora amylacea replacing cornu ammonis (CACA). *Clin. Neuropathol.* 33, 378–379. doi: 10.5414/NP300831
- Lionakis, M. S. (2014). New insights into innate immune control of systemic candidiasis. Med. Mycol. 52, 555–564. doi: 10.1093/mmy/myu029
- Liu, H. M., Anderson, K., and Caterson, B. (1987). Demonstration of a keratan sulfate proteoglycan and a mannose-rich glycoconjugate in corpora amylacea of the brain by immunocytochemical and lectin-binding methods. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 14, 49–60. doi: 10.1016/0165-5728(87)90100-7
- Lowe, J., Mayer, R. J., and Landon, M. (1993). Ubiquitin in neurodegenerative diseases. Brain Pathol. 3, 55–65. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.1993.tb00726.x
- Magura, C. E., and Spector, M. (1979). Scanning electron microscopy of human prostatic corpora amylacea and corpora calculi, and prostatic calculi. *Scan. Electron Microsc.* 3, 713–720.
- Martin, J. E., Mather, K., Swash, M., Garofalo, O., Leigh, P. N., and Anderton, B. H. (1991). Heat shock protein expression in corpora amylacea in the central nervous system: clues to their origin. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 17, 113–119. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.1991.tb00702.x
- Mehra, T., Koberle, M., Braunsdorf, C., Mailander-Sanchez, D., Borelli, C., and Schaller, M. (2012). Alternative approaches to antifungal therapies. *Exp. Dermatol.* 21, 778–782. doi: 10.1111/exd.12004
- Meng, H., Zhang, X., Blaivas, M., and Wang, M. M. (2009). Localization of blood proteins thrombospondin1 and ADAMTS13 to cerebral corpora amylacea. *Neuropathology* 29, 664–671. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1789.2009.01024.x
- Metzler, K. D., Fuchs, T. A., Nauseef, W. M., Reumaux, D., Roesler, J., Schulze, I., et al. (2011). Myeloperoxidase is required for neutrophil extracellular trap formation: implications for innate immunity. *Blood* 117, 953–959. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-290171
- Modem, R. R., Florence, R. R., Goulart, R. A., and Pantanowitz, L. (2006). Pulmonary Aspergillus-associated calcium oxalate crystals. *Diagn. Cytopathol.* 34, 692–693. doi: 10.1002/dc.20517
- Morales, E., Polo, L. A., Pastor, L. M., Santamaria, L., Calvo, A., Zuasti, A., et al. (2005). Characterization of corpora amylacea glycoconjugates in normal and hyperplastic glands of human prostate. *J. Mol. Histol.* 36, 235–242. doi: 10.1007/s10735-005-5784-z
- Mrak, R. E., Griffin, S. T., and Graham, D. I. (1997). Aging-associated changes in human brain. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 56, 1269–1275. doi: 10.1097/00005072-199712000-00001
- Murthy, A. R., Lehrer, R. I., Harwig, S. S., and Miyasaki, K. T. (1993). In vitro candidastatic properties of the human neutrophil calprotectin complex. J. Immunol. 151, 6291–6301.
- Nakagawa, Y., Shimazu, K., Ebihara, M., and Nakagawa, K. (1999). Aspergillus niger pneumonia with fatal pulmonary oxalosis. J. Infect. Chemother. 5, 97–100. doi: 10.1007/s101560050016
- Nakamura, K. T., Nakahara, H., Nakamura, M., Tokioka, T., and Kiyomura, H. (1995). Ultrastructure and x-ray microanalytical study of human pineal concretions. *Ann. Anat.* 177, 413–419. doi: 10.1016/S0940-9602(11) 80146-9
- Nishimura, A., Ikemoto, K., Satoh, K., Yamamoto, Y., Rand, S., Brinkmann, B., et al. (2000). The carbohydrate deposits detected by histochemical methods in the molecular layer of the dentate gyrus in the hippocampal formation of patients with schizophrenia, Down's syndrome and dementia, and aged person. *Glycoconj. J.* 17, 815–822. doi: 10.1023/A:1010996911581

- Nishio, S., Morioka, T., Kawamura, T., Fukui, K., Nonaka, H., and Matsushima, M. (2001). Corpora amylacea replace the hippocampal pyramidal cell layer in a patient with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 42, 960–962. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2001.01601.x
- Okutomi, T., Tanaka, T., Yui, S., Mikami, M., Yamazaki, M., Abe, S., et al. (1998). Anti-Candida activity of calprotectin in combination with neutrophils or lactoferrin. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 42, 789–793. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.1998.tb02353.x
- Pacheco, M., Pisa, D., Garcia-Gomez, P., Carrasco, L., and Juarranz, A. (2007). Attachment and entry of Candida famata in monocytes and epithelial cells. *Microsc. Res. Tech.* 70, 975–986. doi: 10.1002/jemt.20503
- Pisa, D., Alonso, R., Juarranz, A., Rabano, A., and Carrasco, L. (2015a). Direct visualization of fungal infection in brains from patients with Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 43, 613–624. doi: 10.3233/JAD-141386
- Pisa, D., Alonso, R., Rabano, A., Rodal, I., and Carrasco, L. (2015b). Different brain regions are infected with fungi in Alzheimer's disease. *Sci. Rep.* 5:15015. doi: 10.1038/srep15015
- Pisa, D., Ramos, M., Garcia, P., Escoto, R., Barraquer, R., Molina, S., et al. (2008). Fungal infection in patients with serpiginous choroiditis or acute zonal occult outer retinopathy. J. Clin. Microbiol. 46, 130–135. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02605-06
- Rassaei, N., Shilo, K., Lewin-Smith, M. R., Kalasinsky, V. F., Klassen-Fischer, M. K., and Franks, T. J. (2009). Deposition of calcium salts in a case of pulmonary zygomycosis: histopathologic and chemical findings. *Hum. Pathol.* 40, 1353–1357. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2009.01.022
- Robitaille, Y., Carpenter, S., Karpati, G., and DiMauro, S. D. (1980). A distinct form of adult polyglucosan body disease with massive involvement of central and peripheral neuronal processes and astrocytes: a report of four cases and a review of the occurrence of polyglucosan bodies in other conditions such as Lafora's disease and normal ageing. *Brain* 103, 315–336. doi: 10.1093/brain/103. 2.315
- Sahlas, D. J., Liberman, A., and Schipper, H. M. (2002). Role of heme oxygenase-1 in the biogenesis of corpora amylacea. *Biogerontology* 3, 223–231. doi: 10.1023/A:1016223109601
- Samaranayake, Y. H., Samaranayake, L. P., Wu, P. C., and So, M. (1997). The antifungal effect of lactoferrin and lysozyme on Candida krusei and Candida albicans. APMIS 105, 875–883. doi: 10.1111/j.1699-0463.1997. tb05097.x
- Schipper, H. M. (2004). Brain iron deposition and the free radical-mitochondrial theory of ageing. Ageing Res. Rev. 3, 265–301. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2004.02.001
- Schipper, H. M., Bennett, D. A., Liberman, A., Bienias, J. L., Schneider, J. A., Kelly, J., et al. (2006). Glial heme oxygenase-1 expression in Alzheimer disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Neurobiol. Aging* 27, 252–261. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.01.016
- Schroeder, B. O., Wu, Z., Nuding, S., Groscurth, S., Marcinowski, M., Beisner, J., et al. (2011). Reduction of disulphide bonds unmasks potent antimicrobial activity of human beta-defensin 1. *Nature* 469, 419–423. doi: 10.1038/nature09674
- Selmaj, K., Pawlowska, Z., Walczak, A., Koziolkiewicz, W., Raine, C. S., and Cierniewski, C. S. (2008). Corpora amylacea from multiple sclerosis brain tissue consists of aggregated neuronal cells. *Acta Biochim. Pol.* 55, 43–49.
- Sfanos, K. S., Hempel, H. A., and De Marzo, A. M. (2014). The role of inflammation in prostate cancer. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 816, 153–181. doi: 10.1007/978-3-0348-0837-8\_7
- Sfanos, K. S., Wilson, B. A., De Marzo, A. M., and Isaacs, W. B. (2009). Acute inflammatory proteins constitute the organic matrix of prostatic corpora amylacea and calculi in men with prostate cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 3443–3448. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810473106
- Singhrao, S. K., Morgan, B. P., Neal, J. W., and Newman, G. R. (1995). A functional role for corpora amylacea based on evidence from complement studies. *Neurodegeneration* 4, 335–345. doi: 10.1016/1055-8330(95)90024-1
- Singhrao, S. K., Neal, J. W., and Newman, G. R. (1993). Corpora amylacea could be an indicator of neurodegeneration. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 19, 269–276. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.1993.tb00437.x
- Singhrao, S. K., Neal, J. W., Piddlesden, S. J., and Newman, G. R. (1994). New immunocytochemical evidence for a neuronal/oligodendroglial origin for corpora amylacea. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 20, 66–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2990.1994.tb00958.x

- Sohnle, P. G., Hahn, B. L., and Santhanagopalan, V. (1996). Inhibition of Candida albicans growth by calprotectin in the absence of direct contact with the organisms. J. Infect. Dis. 174, 1369–1372. doi: 10.1093/infdis/174.6.1369
- Song, W., Zukor, H., Liberman, A., Kaduri, S., Arvanitakis, Z., Bennett, D. A., et al. (2014). Astroglial heme oxygenase-1 and the origin of corpora amylacea in aging and degenerating neural tissues. *Exp. Neurol.* 254, 78–89. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2014.01.006
- Soscia, S. J., Kirby, J. E., Washicosky, K. J., Tucker, S. M., Ingelsson, M., Hyman, B., et al. (2010). The Alzheimer's disease-associated amyloid beta-protein is an antimicrobial peptide. *PLoS ONE* 5:e9505. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009505
- Sutcliffe, S., De Marzo, A. M., Sfanos, K. S., and Laurence, M. (2014). MSMB variation and prostate cancer risk: clues towards a possible fungal etiology. *Prostate* 74, 569–578. doi: 10.1002/pros.22778
- Tanaka, H., Sakae, T., Mishima, H., and Yamamoto, H. (1993). Calcium phosphate in aspergillosis of the maxillary sinus. *Scanning Microsc* 7, 1241–1245. discussion: 1245–1246.

Vogl, T., Gharibyan, A. L., and Morozova-Roche, L. A. (2012). Pro-inflammatory S100A8 and S100A9 proteins: self-assembly into multifunctional native and amyloid complexes. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 13, 2893–2917. doi: 10.3390/ijms130 32893

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Pisa, Alonso, Rábano and Carrasco. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

